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FINANCIAL

HIGHLIGHTS

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
FUEL METRICS
Total retail gallons sold (in billions) 4.374 3.901 4.352 4.752 4.804
Retail fuel gallons sold (per store month) 248,258 219,520 229,404 244,582 242,026
Total fuel contribution (cents per gallon) 16.1 25.2 26.3 34.3 31.4
MERCHANDISE METRICS
Total merchandise sales ($ billions) S 2.620 S 2.955 S 3.678 S 3.903 S 4.089
Total merchandise margin dollars (per store month) S 23,798 S 25,850 S 35,607 S 38,025 S 39,124
Merchandise unit margins (%) 16.0% 15.6% 19.1% 19.7% 19.7%
Non-tobacco margin dollars (per store month) S 9,753 S 10,159 S 19,218 S 21,055 S 21,856
Total non-tobacco unit margins (%) 23.4% 22.0% 28.5% 29.4% 29.6%
FINANCIAL METRICS ($ MILLIONS)
Net income from continuing operations S 154.8 S 386.1 S 396.9 S 6729 S 556.8
Adjusted EBITDA* S 4226 S 7227 S 828.0 $1,190.9 $ 1,058.5
Cash and cash equivalents S 280.3 S 163.6 S 256.4 S 605 S 117.8
Capital spending S 2146 S 227.1 S 2775 S 305.8 S 3441
Long-term debt S 999.3 S 951.2 S 1,800.1 $1,791.9 S 1,784.7
Market capitalization $ 3,563.8 $ 3,566.0 S 4,968.1 $ 6,080.0 S 7,429.8
Ending share price ($ per share) S 117.00 S 130.87 S 199.24 $ 279.54 S 356.56
Murphy USA Stock Performance Total Shareholder Return, Annualized
Indexed from December 31, 2018 to December 31, 2023 From December 31, 2020 to December 31, 2023
Based on Ending Price of Each Period Based on 10-Day Average Price at End of Each Period
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!Please refer to the reconciliation in Appendix A of the Notice of

2023 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and Proxy Statement included herein.
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Letter To Shareholders - Giving You More

Our customer is the lifeblood of our
business. To better serve and provide
value to our customers, it is essential that
we understand who our customers are,
anticipate their needs, and provide them
with the products they want at affordable
prices. Murphy USA has successfully
delivered value to our customers for more
than a decade since our 2013 spinoff,

a decade that has seen our stock climb
from its $38 IPO price to over $400 as

of the date of this letter. While this is an
accomplishment to be proud of and a win
for our investors and all our stakeholders,
we are more proud of the fact that our
customers remain loyal and trust Murphy
USA as a brand that means value to them.

Our customer loyalty behavior translates
simply to getting more from our
customers. We serve the largest and
fastest-growing customer segment in
the country: Americans who are living
paycheck to paycheck. This segment
seeks out value and affordability in their
daily lives and we are ideally positioned
to serve them with our low prices and
friendly service. In fact, when we look

at a large panel of customers who have
been shopping with us every month since
2019, we see that they are spending 50%
more at Murphy USA stores in 2023,

or about $177 a month, representing

a significant share of their take-home
pay to meet their essential needs. In
short, our customers trust that we are
giving them the lowest prices, creating
loyalty to our brand and reinforcing to
them that Murphy represents value.
Even more encouraging, new customers
are spending more in our stores and
using more of the store to meet their
needs. New loyalty members that visited
us for the first time in 2023 are making
the same frequency of trips as the 2019
most loyal cohort, about five transactions
per month, they are spending at higher
levels, and they are shopping more of
the store, with 21% having bought fuel,
tobacco and non-tobacco each month.
In fact, the Murphy Drive Rewards
loyalty program has grown to over

eight million members and participants
since launch and has given back over $1
billion in discounts to our customers.

Stronger customer loyalty also translates
into getting more from our existing
stores as Murphy maintains higher

productivity compared to the NACS top
quartile retailers. We remain committed
to growing organically, building high-
performing new stores in strong markets
and razing and rebuilding older stores,
which adds higher-margin inside selling
space and helps us grow our merchandise
contribution dollars. We continue to
invest, re-invest, and upgrade the Murphy
USA network to improve the customer
experience, enhance returns, and leverage
our advantage for the long-term benefit
of all stakeholders. For example, we

are renovating our larger 2,800 square
foot stores to provide a better shopping
experience and more efficiently meet

the needs of our customers in key
merchandising areas, helping to gain share
in key categories beyond fuel and tobacco.

We are fortunate to have the financial
and human capital resources to invest

in new capabilities that will expand our
competitive moat versus the marginal
retailer and better position Murphy USA
to prosper over the next decade. We are
in the early stages of leveraging machine
learning to create personalized offers
based on shopping behavior, generating
an uplift in sales and providing customers
with more of what they want. We are
re-launching the QuickChek loyalty
program, featuring more center of store
merchandise versus prepared food and
beverage, and introducing smarter upsell
suggestions on the touchscreen through
sophisticated basket analysis. These
capability investments improve the appeal
of the store while generating strong
returns on our invested capital, allowing
us to better satisfy our existing customers
and attract more new customers.

Importantly, new customers and the share
gains that come with their loyalty create

a sustainable advantage resulting in more
productive and profitable stores, which
means more profits for Murphy USA and
less profits for others. This cycle inevitably
results in these disadvantaged retailers
raising fuel prices to replace their lost
profits, which further benefits Murphy
USA. The free cash flow we receive from
our high-performing network is available
to reinvest in our customers through
lower relative prices, our capabilities,

and most importantly, new store growth,
all of which will accelerate the future
earnings power of the business.

Since our spinoff in 2013, we have
maintained a balanced capital

allocation strategy focused on organic
growth investments in new stores and
repurchasing our shares at what we
believe to be a discount to fair value,

a strategy that has proven extremely
effective in driving shareholder returns.
In fact, we have spent over $3 billion
adding and improving our store network
while returning an additional $3 billion
to shareholders, primarily through share
repurchases since our spin, achieving an
~800% return over that time period. We
expect to continue this track record of
operational discipline, balanced capital
allocation, and ongoing commitment

to improving the business, which we
expect to generate attractive returns
for our investors over the next decade.
Getting more from our customers and
more from our highly productive stores
means we can give back more to our
customers in the form of lower prices,
and return more to you, as shareholders.
It is a good time to take stock and reflect,
put the tumultuous events, global
volatility, and the structural dynamics

of the past few years behind us. As we
close the door on 2023 and turn the
page in 2024, we have a new baseline
from which to springboard our future
growth, recognizing the multiple factors
that have re-shaped the current industry
dynamics have been uniquely accretive
to our model. We remain confident

in our belief that the virtuous cycle,
embracing and growing our advantage,
will allow us to meet our goals and
obligations of Giving More to all of our
stakeholders, including you, our investors.

D

R. Andrew Clyde
President and Chief Executive Officer
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Our commitment to organic growth continues
to enhance the quality and attractiveness

of our network, improve the customer
experience, further diversify our merchandise
mix, and provide both our customers and

our shareholders with more value.

STRATEGY GROW ORGANICALLY

In 2023, we added 22 new 2,800 square-foot
Murphy sites and six 5,400+ square-foot
QuickChek sites, growing the network to

Growth of Murphy Retail Stores 1,733 stores. With a multi-year development

Murphy USA, Murphy Express, and QuickChek Locations pipeline, we plan to build 31 new Murphy USA

B MURPHY USA stores and 4 QuickChek stores in 2024, as we

I QUICKCHEK expand the build program toward our target
1,712 1,733

1,679 of 50 new stores annually in the coming years.

Our raze and rebuild program, which replaces
a high-performing end-of-life kiosk with a
higher performing 1,400 square-foot store
continues to deliver strong returns. In

total, we have converted 210 small-format
kiosks into standalone stores, meaning

that since 2013, the network transformed
from nearly 70% kiosks to roughly 40%

in 2023. We plan to complete up to 40
additional raze and rebuilds in 2024.

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

WE PLAN TO BUILD
Raze & Rebuilds by Year
s Y . 31 MURPHY USA STORES
27 IN 2024 ALONG WITH FOUR
NEW QUICKCHEK SITES

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
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DIVERSIFY
MERCHANDISE MIX

STRATEGY

We delivered $36 million more merchandise
dollars in 2023, growing margin contribution 4.7%,
driven by strong gains in tobacco and non-tobacco
categories. The business benefited from the early
stages of initiatives to drive productivity, increase
throughput, and leverage enhanced capabilities
from our loyalty platform to help drive sales.

We expect these initiatives to have a bigger impact in
2024 as improvements are scaled across the network,
accelerating our long-term merchandise contribution
growth rate. Tobacco continues to benefit from share
gains and innovative promotional opportunities that
are generating more contribution dollars, but impacting
unit margins which were flat year-over-year as tobacco
dollars grow in tandem with non-tobacco dollars.

In 2024, we expect further expansion in merchandise
margin as we seek to create a better experience

for the customer, allowing us to get more from

our existing stores as initiatives scale from pilot to
full-launch. With this in mind, we expect to retrofit
approximately 50 large-format Murphy stores based
on the learnings from both the QuickChek acquisition
as well as our In-Store Experience campaign.

Merchandise Margin
SK Average Per Store Month $38.0% $39.1*

B NON-TOBACCO $35.6*
M TOBACCO

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

*Totals reflect the impact of MDR discounts and deferrals

Merchandise Unit Margin %
101%  197%  19.7%

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

2019

Merchandise Sales ($ in millions)

LTM Y-O-Y
2023 Change

Merchandise GM ($ in millions)

Note: 2021 figures include 11 months of QuickChek; 2022 and 2023 figures include a full-year of QuickChek
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GIVING YOU MORE

STRATEGY SUSTAIN COST LEADERSHIP

Store Operating Expenses Versus Industry Average
Store Operating Expenses,* SK Average Per Store Month

W MURPHY USA B QUICKCHEK IMPACT M INDUSTRY**

2019

2020 $63.1

2021

2022 $61.0

2023

*Store Operating Expense excludes SG&A, Field Admin cost, and payment fees.
**2023 Industry Store Operating Expense data not yet available, NACS store set differs from PY.

Coverage Ratio*

0
oaa  IBO% 102.1% 100.1% g5 0y
B (]

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

*Merchandise Margin/Store Operating Expense
plus allocated G&A and other expenses

Note: 2021 figures include 11 months of QuickChek; 2022-23 figures include a full-year of QuickChek

To successfully execute our everyday low-
price strategy, we must carefully control
the inflationary impacts on our business
and maintain a low-cost structure.

In 2023 we experienced a 4.9% increase
in per-store operating expenses, which
reflect both broader inflationary pressures
and the high-performing larger format
stores we are adding to the network.

The addition of larger stores comes with
higher per-store costs but also delivers
strong merchandise performance.
However, our low-cost structure remains
advantaged relative to the industry
average, allowing Murphy USA to be more
competitive as weaker retailers who lack
scale ultimately pass on incrementally
higher costs through higher prices.

The coverage ratio, which measures
merchandise margin over and above
store operating expense and allocated
GR&A, reflects these impacts as larger new
stores ramp to maturity. We expect the
coverage ratio to stabilize as recent build
classes mature and new store growth
ramps to 45-50 new stores per year.

OUR LOW-COST
STRUCTURE REMAINS
ADVANTAGED RELATIVE
TO THE INDUSTRY
AVERAGE
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Total Fuel Contribution
(in millions)

CREATE ADVANTAG = FROM Il PRODUCT SUPPLY AND WHOLESALE + RINS

B RETAIL
STRATEGY MARKET VOLATILITY

$1,630

More volatility typically translates to more fuel
contribution dollars for Murphy USA shareholders,
as evidenced over the past two years with total fuel
contribution dollars over $1.5 billion annually.

In 2023, price volatility waned slightly versus 2022, where
a significant downward move in prices boosted total fuel
margins to 34.3 cents per gallon. Nevertheless, total fuel
margins of 31.4 cents per gallon in 2023 show continued
strength versus prior periods and confirm our view that
inflationary pressures force weaker retailers to price
higher, compensating for lower volumes and incremental Note: 2021 figures include 11 months of QuickChek;
. 2022-23 figures include a full-year of QuickChek
cost pressures. With an advantaged cost structure
and EDLP value proposition, Murphy USA remains well

positioned to gain market share profitably. Total Fuel Margin
(cents per gallon)®

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

While future volatility and the factors that impact fuel

. . B PRODUCT SUPPLY AND WHOLESALE + RINS
prices can never be fully known, it is clear to us that B RETAIL
the structural factors impacting cpg margins for fuel
retailers will remain elevated, which will provide more fuel
contribution dollars for Murphy USA.

34.3

TOTAL FUEL MARGINS OF
31.4 CENTS PER GALLON IN 2023
SHOW CONTINUED STRENGTH
VERSUS PRIOR PERIODS

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

*Cents per gallon based on retail volumes, before corporate overhead
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INVEST FOR

STRATEGY THE LONG TERM

Annual Capital Expenditures
(in millions)

[ CORPORATE AND OTHER ASSETS
Il MAINTENANCE
Il GROWTH $344

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Earnings Per Share
Income from Continuing Operations—Diluted
$28.10

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

We allocate capital like we are owners,
building more stores and buying back
more of the company each year.

We have been deliberate and intentional in our
commitment to organic growth through high-
performing larger 2,800 square-foot format
Murphy USA stores and 5,500 square-foot
QuickChek sites with fuel and a best-in-class
prepared food offer. In 2023, we increased
our investment in Digital Transformation

and In-Store Experience campaigns to help
unlock higher returns for both brands through
improved center-of-store performance. These
investments will help further differentiate our
advantaged model over the next decade.

Given the stability and sustainability of earnings
the past two years, our balanced capital
allocation strategy continues to favor share
repurchase as a highly efficient way to build
long-term shareholder value. In fact, since our
2013 spin, we have repurchased approximately
58% of our original shares outstanding, a

trend that is continuing with the $1.5 billion
repurchase authorization in place through 2028.

Total Shares Outstanding
Fiscal Year End Since Spinoff
(in millions)

58% repurchased

2013 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
Spin

Note: 2021 figures include 11 months of QuickChek; 2022-23 figures include a full-year of QuickChek



At Murphy USA we know our Principles cultivate a culture of being Big-Hearted,
Empowered, and United. These characteristics drive our decisions to support our
communities and reflect our “We Are Murphy USA” brand in a way that represents
who we are today and the legacy we hope to leave in the future.
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Throughout our Great Futures
Fueled Here campaign, we focused
on what matters most, making
a marked difference in the lives of

youth in our communities.

The Murphy USA
Employee Disaster
Relief Foundation
assists our team
members experiencing
financial hardship
resulting from a
catastrophic event such
as a natural disaster.
Grants are funded by
employee contributions
and matched by
Murphy USA. In 2023,
employees donated

Our employees are BIG-HEARTED in their
continued commitment to serving others.
Through our Gift Matching Program,
Murphy USA matches employees’ donations
to qualifying nonprofits across the country.
Our employees make a direct impact by
deciding where our Foundation dollars go.

In 2023, our employees UNITED
with our customers to raise more than

>3.2

MILLION

In 2023, we donateqd Mmore than

for Boys & Girls Clubs of America
across the country.

throy
gh our Gift Matching program, raised since 2020.

including the company match.

SUSTAINABLE GROWTH UNDERPINNED BY FIVE ESG PILLARS

AFFORDABLE

Serve customers with
everyday low prices

for the fuels, merchandise
and food and beverage
products they need

RESPONSIBLE

Build trust with consumers,
regulators and partners by
exceeding expectations
in data protection, age
verification, and safety

ENGAGED

Empower our people
through an inclusive and
diverse culture, competitive
total rewards programs,
and fulfilling career
opportunities

COMMITTED

Invest our resources to
strengthen the communities
we serve and
their environment

ALIGNED

Ensure our credibility with
investors through strong
business ethics, good
corporate governance and
effective capital allocation



Notice of 2024 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders and Proxy Statement

YOUR VOTE IS IMPORTANT
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MURPHY

DEAR STOCKHOLDER:

The Board of Directors and management cordially
invite you to attend Murphy USA's Annual Meeting
of Stockholders to be held at 8:00 a.m., Central
Time, on Thursday, May 9, 2024 at Murphy USA’s
corporate headquarters, 200 East Peach Street, El
Dorado, Arkansas 71730. The formal notice of the
Annual Meeting of Stockholders and Proxy
Statement follow.

Whether or not you attend the Annual Meeting, it is
important that your shares are represented and
voted before or at the meeting. Therefore, we urge
you to vote promptly and submit your proxy via the
internet, by phone, or by signing, dating, and
returning the enclosed proxy card. If you attend the
Annual Meeting, you can vote in person, even if
you have previously submitted your proxy.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS, WE

WOULD LIKE TO EXPRESS OUR APPRECIATION
FOR YOUR INVESTMENT IN MURPHY USA.

Sincerely,

7 Pyt Pyt

R. Madison Murphy

Chairman of the Board of Directors
Murphy USA Inc.

March 28, 2024
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING

Thursday, May 9, 2024 Murphy USA Headquarters Record Date
8:00 a.m. Central Time 200 East Peach Street The close of business
El Dorado, Arkansas 71730 March 11, 2024

The Annual Meeting of Stockholders of Murphy USA Inc. (the “Company”) will be held at Murphy USA's corporate
headquarters, 200 East Peach Street, El Dorado, Arkansas 71730, on Thursday, May 9, 2024, at 8:00 a.m., Central Time,
for the following purposes:

1. Election of three Class Il directors whose current terms expire on the date of the 2024 Annual Meeting;

2. Ratification of the action of the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors in appointing KPMG LLP as the Company’s
independent registered public accounting firm for fiscal 2024;

3. Approval of executive compensation on an advisory, non-binding basis;
4.  Amend the Certificate of Incorporation to eliminate supermajority voting standards;

5. Amend the Certificate of Incorporation to eliminate the default supermaijority voting standard concerning certain
business combinations;

6. Amend the Certificate of Incorporation to limit certain liability of officers as permitted by Delaware law;
7.  If properly presented at the 2024 Annual Meeting, one stockholder proposal; and
8.  Such other business as may properly come before the meeting by or at the direction of the Board of Directors.

Only stockholders of record at the close of business on March 11, 2024, the record date fixed by the Board of Directors of
the Company, will be entitled to notice of and to vote at the meeting.

Cast Your Vote Right Away

It is very important that you vote. Please cast your vote right away on all of the proposals listed above to ensure that your
shares are represented. For specific instructions on how to vote your shares, please refer to the instructions on the Notice of
Internet Availability of Proxy Materials (“Notice”) you received in the mail or, if you requested to receive printed proxy
materials, on your enclosed proxy card or voting instruction form.

Notice and Access

Important Notice Regarding the Availability of Proxy Materials for
the 2024 Annual Stockholder Meeting To Be Held on May 9, 2024:

This Notice of the 2024 Annual Meeting, the 2024 Proxy Statement and the 2023 Annual Report
on Form 10-K are available, free of charge, at www.proxyvote.com.

We will be furnishing proxy materials over the internet to a number of our stockholders under the U.S. Securities and
Exchange Commission’s (“SEC”) notice and access rules. Many of our stockholders will receive the Notice in the mail
instead of a paper copy of this Proxy Statement, a proxy card or voting instruction card and our 2023 Annual Report. We
believe that this process will reduce the environmental impact of our Annual Meeting as well as reduce the costs of printing
and distributing our proxy materials. The Notice will instruct you as to how you may access and review all of the proxy
materials on the internet.

All stockholders who do not receive the Notice will receive a paper copy of the proxy materials and our 2023 Annual Report
by mail, unless they have previously elected to receive proxy materials by email. We remind stockholders who receive the
Notice that the Notice is not itself a proxy card and should not be returned with voting instructions. The Notice only presents
an overview of the more complete proxy materials. Stockholders should review the proxy materials before voting.

The Notice contains instructions on how to access our proxy materials and vote over the internet at www.proxyvote.com and
how stockholders may receive a paper copy of our proxy materials, including this Proxy Statement, a proxy card or voting
instruction card and our 2023 Annual Report. At www.proxyvote.com, stockholders may also request to receive future proxy
materials in printed form by mail or electronically by email.

By the Order of the Board of Directors.

Mo o0

Gregory L. Smith
Vice President, General Counsel
and Corporate Secretary

El Dorado, Arkansas
March 28, 2024
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PROXY STATEMENT

Solicitation

The solicitation of the enclosed proxy is made on
behalf of the Board of Directors of Murphy USA Inc.
(the “Board”) for use at the Annual Meeting of
Stockholders to be held on May 9, 2024, and Murphy
USA will bear the cost of this solicitation of proxies. It
is expected that the Notice will be mailed to
stockholders beginning on or about March 28, 2024.

The complete mailing address of the Company’s
principal executive office is 200 East Peach Street, El
Dorado, Arkansas 71730.

References in this Proxy Statement to “we,” “us,”
“our,” “the Company” and “Murphy USA” refer to
Murphy USA Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries.

Quorum and Voting Procedures

Quorum Requirement

A quorum of stockholders is necessary to hold a valid
meeting. The presence, in person or by proxy, of the
holders of a majority of the total voting power of all
outstanding shares of the Company’s stock entitled to
vote at a meeting of stockholders shall constitute a
quorum. Abstentions and “broker non-votes” are
counted as present for establishing a quorum. A
“broker non-vote” occurs on a proposal when brokers
or nominees who do not have discretionary power to
vote on a non-routine matter have not been given
voting instructions on a non-routine matter by the
beneficial owners or persons entitled to vote.

How to attend the Annual Meeting and how to vote

If you are a stockholder of record or a participant in a
Company Plan, you can vote your shares via the
internet or by telephone 24 hours a day by following
the instructions on your proxy card or in the Notice.
The website address for internet voting, and the
telephone number for telephone voting, are indicated
on your proxy card or in the Notice. If you are a
beneficial owner, or if you hold your shares in “street
name” (that is, through a bank, broker or other
nominee), please check your voting instruction form
or contact your bank, broker or nominee to determine
whether you will be able to vote via the internet or by
telephone.

If you requested printed proxy materials and choose
to vote by mail, you must complete, sign, date and
return your proxy card in the postage-paid envelope
provided if you are a stockholder of record, or your
voting instruction form if you hold your shares in
“street name.” Please promptly mail your proxy card

or voting instruction form to ensure that it is received
prior to the Annual Meeting.

To vote during the Annual Meeting, you must be in
attendance. You must bring a valid government
issued picture identification in order to attend the
Annual Meeting. Those in attendance will also have
an opportunity to ask questions during the Annual
Meeting. Even if you plan to participate in the Annual
Meeting, we recommend that you vote by proxy as
described above prior to the Annual Meeting, so that
your vote will be counted if you later decide not to
participate in the Annual Meeting. If you hold your
shares through a bank, broker or other nominee, you
must also bring a copy of a statement reflecting your
stock ownership as of the record date in order to
attend the Annual Meeting. You must also obtain a
legal proxy from your bank, broker or other nominee
and present it to the inspector of elections with your
ballot to be able to vote at the Annual Meeting.

Vote Necessary to Approve Proposals

General

Votes cast by proxy or in person at the meeting will
be counted by the persons appointed by the
Company to act as Inspectors of Election for the
Annual Meeting.

Your proxy will be voted at the meeting, unless you (i)
revoke it at any time before the vote by filing a
revocation with the Corporate Secretary of the
Company, (ii) duly execute a proxy card bearing a
later date, (iii) submit a later proxy by telephone or
internet, or (iv) appear at meeting and vote in person.
If you elect to vote your proxy by telephone or internet
before the meeting as described in the telephone/
internet voting instructions on your proxy card, the
Company will vote your shares as you direct. Your
telephone/internet vote authorizes the named proxies
to vote your shares in the same manner as if you had
marked, signed and returned your proxy card.

If you are a stockholder of record and sign, date and
return your proxy card but do not give voting
instructions, the shares represented by that proxy will
be voted as recommended by the Board.

The Board recommends that you vote:
* FOR all the director nominees (Proposal 1),

* FOR the approval of the Audit Committee in
appointing KPMG LLP as the Company's
independent registered public accounting firm
for fiscal 2024 (Proposal 2),

MURPHY USA INC. 2024 PROXY STATEMENT
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PROXY STATEMENT I VOTING SECURITIES

* FOR the approval of the compensation of the
Named Executive Officers, as disclosed in
this Proxy Statement (on an advisory, non-
binding basis) (Proposal 3),

+ FOR the management proposal to amend the
Company's  Amended  and Restated
Certificate of Incorporation (the "Certificate of
Incorporation”) to eliminate supermajority
voting standards (Proposal 4),

* FOR the management proposal to amend the
Certificate of Incorporation to eliminate the
default  supermajority  voting  standard
concerning certain business combinations
(Proposal 5),

+ FOR the management proposal to amend the
Certificate of Incorporation to limit certain
liability of officers as permitted by Delaware
law (Proposal 6),

* AGAINST the stockholder proposal - simple
maijority vote (Proposal 7).

Shares represented by properly executed proxies that
do not specify voting instructions will be voted in
accordance with the Board's recommendations.

Proposal 1 — Election of Three Class Il Directors
Whose Current Terms Expire on the Date of the 2024
Annual Meeting

The Class Il directors nominated in Proposal 1 shall
be elected by a majority of the votes cast at the
Annual Meeting so long as a quorum is present and
the election is not contested. You may vote “for,”
“against” or “abstain” on each director. Abstentions
and “broker non-votes” shall have no effect on the
outcome of this proposal. See "Director Nominees"
within  Proposal 1 for additional information
concerning Murphy USA's mandatory resignation
policy in the event an incumbent director nominees
fails to receive a majority of votes cast in an
uncontested election.

Proposals 2, 3 and 7

For Proposals 2, 3 and 7, the affirmative vote of a
majority of the shares of our capital stock present or
represented by proxy at the Annual Meeting and
entitled to vote on the subject matter is required for
approval. You may vote “for,” “against” or “abstain” on
these matters. If you vote to “abstain,” it will have the
same effect as a vote “against” for these proposals.
“Broker non-votes” shall have no effect on the
outcome of Proposals 2, 3 and 7.

Proposal 4

For Proposal 4, the affirmative vote of holders of not
less than 66 2/3% of the total voting power of all
outstanding securities of Murphy USA generally
entitled to vote thereon in the election of directors,
voting together as a single class, is required for
approval. You may vote "for," "against" or "abstain" on
these matters. If you vote to "abstain," it will have the
same effect as a vote "against" for this proposal.
"Broker non-votes" shall also count as a vote
"against" this proposal.

Proposals 5 and 6

For Proposals 5 and 6, the affirmative vote by a
majority of all outstanding common stock of Murphy
USA entitled to vote thereon is required for approval.
You may vote "for," "against" or "abstain" on these
matters. If you vote to "abstain," it will have the same
effect as a vote "against" for this proposal. "Broker
non-votes" shall also count as a vote "against" this
proposal.

Broker Voting

If your shares are held in the name of a bank, broker
or other holder of record (a “nominee”), you will
receive instructions from the nominee that you must
follow in order for your shares to be voted. Certain of
these institutions offer telephone and internet voting.
Under current New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”)
rules, the proposal to ratify the appointment of KPMG
LLP as the Company’s independent registered public
accounting firm for the current fiscal year (Proposal 2)
should be considered a routine matter, and your
broker is permitted to vote your shares without your
instruction only on this proposal.

Voting Securities

On March 11, 2024, the record date for the meeting,
the Company had 20,817,140 shares of common
stock outstanding, all of one class and each share
having one vote with respect to all matters to be
voted on at the meeting. Information as to common
stock ownership of certain beneficial owners and
management is set forth in the tables under “Security
Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners” and
“Security Ownership of Directors and Management”
included on pages 19-20 of this Proxy Statement.
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ELECTION OF THREE CLASS Il DIRECTORS

PROPOSAL 1

WHOSE CURRENT TERMS EXPIRE ON

THE DATE OF THE 2024 ANNUAL MEETING

The Board recognizes that it is important for the
Company’s directors to possess a diverse array of
backgrounds and skills, whether in terms of executive
management leadership, public company experience
or educational achievement. When considering new
candidates, the Nominating and Governance
Committee, with input from the Board, will seek to
ensure the Board reflects a range of talents, ages,
skills, diversity and expertise, particularly in the areas
of accounting and finance,  management,
government/regulation, leadership and convenience
store and other retail-related industries, sufficient to
provide sound and prudent guidance with respect to
our operations and interests. In addition, although it
does not have a separate policy with respect to
diversity, the Nominating and Governance Committee
considers the issue of diversity among the factors
used to identify nominees for directors and is
committed to seeking out a representative pool of
candidates for each board opening. The goal is to
assemble and maintain a Board comprised of
individuals that not only possess a high level of
business acumen, but who also demonstrate a
commitment to the Company’s Code of Business
Conduct and Ethics in carrying out the Board’s
responsibilities with respect to oversight of the
Company’s operations.

To the extent authorized by the proxies, the shares
represented by the proxies will be voted in favor of
the election of the three nominees for director whose
names are set forth below. If for any reason any of
these nominees is not a candidate when the election
occurs, the shares represented by the proxies will be
voted for the election of the other nominees named
and may be voted for any substituted nominees or the
Board size may be reduced.

All directors, other than Mr. Clyde (our President and
Chief Executive Officer), were determined to be
independent by the Board based on the rules of the
NYSE and the standards of independence included in
the Company’s Corporate Governance Guidelines.
As part of its independence recommendation to the
Board, the Nominating and Governance Committee at
its February meeting considered familial relationships
of certain directors (Mr. Murphy and Mr. Deming are
first cousins).

Mr. Murphy became the Non-Executive Chairman of
the Board in connection with the spin-off of the
Company from Murphy Oil Corporation (the “Spin-
Off”), which was completed on August 30, 2013. As
an independent chairman, he leads our regularly
scheduled meetings of independent directors in

executive session, held outside the presence of
Company management. These meetings occur at a
minimum of three Board meetings each year.

Stockholders and other interested parties may send
communications to the Board, specified individual
directors and the independent directors as a group
c/o the Corporate Secretary, Murphy USA Inc., 200
East Peach Street, El Dorado, Arkansas 71730.
Communications will be kept confidential and
forwarded to the specified director(s). Items that are
unrelated to a director’s duties and responsibilities as
a Board member, such as junk mail, may be excluded
by the Corporate Secretary. The names and relevant
detail of the nominees are listed below.

Director Nominees

Our Board is divided into three classes serving
staggered three-year terms. Messrs. Goebel and
Keyes and Ms. Landen, who are Class Il directors,
have been nominated for re-election at this Annual
Meeting of Stockholders. Mr. Holliger informed the
Board that he will retire as a Class Il director effective
as of the date of the 2024 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders. The Board thanks Mr. Holliger for his
years of service to the Company. Class lll and Class |
directors will serve until our annual meetings of
stockholders in 2025 and 2026, respectively. At each
annual meeting of stockholders, directors will be
elected for three-year terms to succeed the class of
directors whose terms have expired. This section
details the name, age, class, qualifications and
committee memberships of our directors as of the
2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

Pursuant to our Bylaws, in an uncontested election of
directors for which a quorum is present, should any
incumbent director nominee fail to receive a majority
of the votes cast, such director shall promptly tender
a resignation to the Board. The resignation will be
effective only upon the acceptance by the Board, and
the Nominating and Governance Committee will
promptly consider the tendered resignation and make
a recommendation to the Board on whether to accept
or reject the resignation. The Board must act on the
recommendation of the Nominating and Governance
Committee within ninety (90) days following
certification of the stockholder vote.

MURPHY USA INC. 2024 PROXY STATEMENT

PAGE 3



PROPOSAL 1 | ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

The following Class Il directors are nominated for re-election at this Annual Meeting of
Stockholders.

Chairman of the Board of Jack in the Box Inc. (a NASDAQ-listed operator and
franchisor of more than 2,800 restaurants) since 2020, Director since 2008;
Director of Wingstop Inc. (a NASDAQ-listed operator and franchisor of over
1,950 fast casual restaurant locations across the U.S. and internationally) since
2017; Partner and Faculty Member for The ExCo Group, LLC a worldwide firm
that provides peer-to-peer mentoring services for CEOs and senior business
executives; Chief Executive Officer of Applebee’s International, Inc. (a former
NASDAQ-listed operator of over 2,000 restaurants across the U.S. and

internationally) from 2006 to 2007

e f) Skills and Experience: More than 40 years of experience in retail, food service,
DAVID L. GOEBEL and hospitality provides Mr. Goebel with vast knowledge that benefits the Board.
Age: 73 Mr. Goebel brings unique knowledge to the Board from his service in capacities
Director since: October as CEO, Board Chair, and director with three well-known, public company
2021 restaurant chains, as well as his service on several private company boards,
Board Committees: including Quick Chek Corporation prior to its acquisition by the Company in
Audit Committee January 2021. His comprehensive experience in food and beverage, supply
Executive Compensation chain management, risk assessment, risk management, succession planning,
Committee executive development, executive compensation, and strategic planning enables

him to share valuable insights and perspectives with the Board.

Director of Andretti Acquisition Corp. (a NYSE-listed special purpose acquisition
company) since January 2022; Director of LightJump Acquisition Corporation (a
NASDAQ-listed special purpose acquisition company) from January 2021 until its
acquisition by Moolec Science, Ltd. in December 2022; Chief Executive Officer
of Fresh & Easy, LLC (an operator of a chain of grocery stores) from November
2012 to October 2015, which filed for reorganization under Chapter 11 of the US
Bankruptcy Code in October 2015; Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of
Blockbuster Inc. (a former NYSE-listed provider of home movie and video game
rental services) from 2007 to 2011; Chief Executive Officer of 7-Eleven, Inc. (a
former NYSE-listed operator and franchisor of convenience stores) from 2000 to

JAMES W. KEYES 2005

Age: 68 Skills and Experience: Mr. Keyes’ executive leadership experience includes
Director since: August serving as CEO of two Fortune 500 companies. While leading 7-Eleven, Inc., he
2013 spearheaded the introduction of fresh foods, building a nationwide network of
Board Committees: commissaries and a distribution system for daily fresh product delivery which
Executive Committee resulted in the growth of fresh food sales to over 20% of the product mix. In
Executive Compensation addition to his executive leadership experience, Mr. Keyes currently serves on
Committee one other public company board and has served on the boards of numerous

private companies in a variety of industries. Mr. Keyes’ industry knowledge and
business expertise are invaluable to our Board.
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PROPOSAL 1 | ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Owner and President of Vantage Communications, Inc. (a private company in
investment management, communications and broadcast property ownership
company) since 1990; Chairman and Executive Vice President of Noalmark
Broadcasting Corporation (a private radio and media company) since 2012;
Partner at Munoco Company L.C. (a private oil and gas exploration and
production company) from 2012 to 2023; Secretary and Director of Loutre Land
and Timber Company (a private natural resources company) from 1998 to 2021,
and served on its Executive and Nominating Committees

Skills and Experience: With over 30 years of experience in communications
- and broadcast property ownership and management, Ms. Landen brings a
DIANE N. LANDEN special set of skills to the Board. Ms. Landen has been an owner and served on

Age: 63 the boards of private companies involved in oil and gas exploration and
Director since: August production and timber. In addition, she is a managing member or owner of
2013 several private investment and real estate management companies. The Board
Board Committees: benefits from her asset management experience and unique insights into
Nominating and communications, media, and natural resources industries.

Governance Committee

(Chair)

Audit Committee
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PROPOSAL 1 | CONTINUING DIRECTORS

Continuing Directors

The following Class lll and Class | directors are not up for re-election at this Annual Meeting of Stockholders.
Class Il directors will be up for election at our Annual Meeting in 2025 and Class | directors will be up for
election at our Annual Meeting in 2026.

Class lll Directors (terms expiring at the 2025 Annual Meeting)

Chairman of the Murphy USA Board of Directors since August 2013; Director of
Murphy QOil Corporation (“Murphy Qil”) (a NYSE-listed oil and natural gas
exploration and production company) since 1993, Chairman of Finance
Committee as well as Chairman of the Board from 1994 to 2002 and Chief
Financial Officer from 1992 to 1994; Managing Member of Murphy Family
Management, LLC (manages investments, farm, timber and real estate) since
1998; Director of Deltic Timber Corporation (a former NYSE-listed natural
resources and timberland company) from 1996 until its merger with Potlatch
Corporation in February 2019; Director of BancorpSouth, Inc. (a NYSE-listed
financing holding company) from 2000 to 2011; Chairman of the Arkansas State
Highway Commission from 2011 to 2013, member from 2003 to 2013; Owner of
Presqu’ile Winery (a family-owned winery in the Santa Maria Valley) since 2008;

R. MADISON MURPHY

Age: 66 Chair of Hendrix Board of Trustees (a private liberal arts college in Conway,
Director since: August Arkansas) from 2001 to 2011, member since 1995; President of The Murphy
2013 Foundation (a private foundation in El Dorado, Arkansas) since 1988

Board Committees: Skills and Experience: Mr. Murphy has been involved in the energy sector for
Executive Committee more than 40 years. In addition to his executive leadership in finance, Mr.
(Chair) Murphy has served on the boards of three other public companies in the energy,
Ex-officio of all banking, and natural resources sectors, chairing one of these boards from 1994
Committees to 2002. As an owner and operator of a winery, Mr. Murphy has a robust

understanding of alcohol distribution regulations as well as sustainable practices.
This understanding further extends to wildlife and habitat conservation in his
farming operations which led the U.S. Department of the Interior to grant him a
National Wetlands Conservation Award in 2004. His experience in executive and
board leadership positions brings to the Board a unique business and financial
perspective.
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President and Chief Executive Officer of Murphy USA since its August 2013 spin-
off; Director and member of Audit Committee of The Federal Reserve Bank of St.
Louis since January 2021 (previously served two terms on the Little Rock
Branch); National Trustee for Boys & Girls Clubs of America since 2020; Partner
(Global Energy Practice), of Booz & Company (and prior to August 2008, Booz
Allen Hamilton) (a global management and strategy consulting firm) from 2000 to
2013 (joined 1993), where he held leadership roles as North American Energy
Practice Leader, Dallas office Managing Partner, and member of the Nominating
Committee; Prior public accounting experience with Arthur Andersen & Co. and

£ CPA (inactive)
R. ANDREW CLYDE Skills and Experience: As President and CEO, Mr. Clyde has led the
Age: 60 operational, cultural, and strategic transformation of Murphy USA since its public
Director since: August inception, leveraging his 20 years of management consulting experience serving
2013 integrated downstream and midstream energy firms, large independent c-store
Board Committees: chains and a variety of small-box retailers on similar engagements. Serving on
Executive Committee the St. Louis Federal Reserve Bank provides Mr. Clyde deep insights into the

macro economy, state of markets and consumers, and evolving payments
systems. In his prior consulting tenure, Mr. Clyde was a senior member of
multiple global human capital leadership committees, providing insights for many
of the foundational design elements of Murphy USA’s talent and culture strategy,
which in turn supports Board succession planning. Mr. Clyde also serves on a
mix of local and national not-for-profit organizations which provide insights into
the challenges facing the communities Murphy USA serves. His broad industry
knowledge, analogous strategic and transformational experiences and insights
into Murphy USA’s customers and markets make Mr. Clyde a valuable member
of our Board.
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Co-Founder and Partner of EnCap Investments L.P. (‘EnCap”) (a leading
provider of growth capital to independent energy companies) since 1988;
President of PMC Reserve Acquisition Company (a partnership jointly owned by
EnCap and Pitts Energy Group) from 1988 to 1996; Co-Chief Executive Officer
and Co-Founder of MAZE Exploration Inc. (a Denver-based oil and gas
company) from 1981 to 1988; Chair of Southern Methodist University Board of
Trustees (a nationally ranked private university in Dallas, Texas), member since
2008

Skills and Experience: Having started his professional career in the banking
industry, Mr. Miller provides considerable expertise to the Board in the areas of

DAVID B. MILLER banking and finance. His executive leadership experience includes serving as
Age: 74 the Managing Partner of a private equity firm that he co-founded. In that capacity,
Director since: January Mr. Miller directly engaged with institutional investors on ESG practices in the
2016 energy industry, including numerous large pension funds and university
Board Committees: endowments. In addition to having served on the boards of four other publicly
Executive Compensation traded companies in the energy sector, Mr. Miller has served on the boards of
Committee numerous private oil and gas exploration and production companies. He is also a
Nominating and member of the National Petroleum Council, an advisory committee to the
Governance Committee Secretary of Energy. Mr. Miller’'s broad energy industry knowledge and his

leadership experience and expertise in business valuation, capital structure and
strategic relationships complement the collective strength and leadership of our
Board.

Director of TFI International (a NYSE-listed North American leader in the
transportation and logistics industry) since 2020; Director of Core-Mark Holding
Company, Inc. (a former NASDAQ-listed convenience store wholesale
distributor) from May 2021 until its acquisition by Performance Food Group, Inc.
in September 2021; 40-year career with United Parcel Service, Inc. (“UPS”) (a
NYSE-listed multinational shipping and receiving and supply chain management
company) retiring as President of Northern California in 2019; Director of San
Francisco Federal Reserve Board, which she formerly Chaired in 2021; Director
of SCAN Health Plan (one of the largest Medicare Advantage plans in the nation
with revenues of over $4 billion) since 2021; Director of The Bougs Company (a
leading online floral retailer that delivers fresh flowers from eco-friendly,
sustainable farms) since 2020; Director of the Philadelphia Federal Reserve

ROSEMARY L. TURNER

Sge: 62 ince: Octob Board from 2010 to 2013; Senior Advisor to Oaktree Infrastructure Fund (an
2(|)r2e10tor since: October infrastructure core fund managed by Oaktree Capital Management) since 2020

Board Committees: Skills and Experience: Ms. Turner has an impressive history in the logistics and
Audit Committee distribution industry. In her distinguished executive career, she served as
Nominating and president of various UPS divisions for 22 years, applying her strengths in
Governance Committee business development, relationship management and operational stewardship.

At UPS, Rosemary was responsible for the largest East and West territories with
an average of 25k employees and revenues in excess of $2 billion. Ms. Turner
has also served as director of two other publicly traded companies that are
leaders in the logistics and distribution industry. Through her experience with the
Philadelphia Federal Reserve Board and the San Francisco Federal Reserve
Board which she chaired in 2021, Ms. Turner has an excellent understanding of
the macroeconomy state of marketing and consumers, and evolving payment
systems. Our Board benefits from her deep experience in supply chain and
logistics and finance.
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Class | Directors (terms expiring at the 2026 Annual Meeting)

Chairman of the Board of Murphy Oil (a NYSE-listed oil and natural gas
exploration and production company) since 2012; President and Chief
Executive Officer of Murphy Oil from October 1994 through December 2008

Skills and Experience: Mr. Deming brings over 40 years of experience in
the oil and gas industry to the Board. While CEO of Murphy Oil, Mr. Deming
established the initial relationship with Walmart Inc. that underpins the
Murphy USA brand. In addition to his executive leadership experience, Mr.
Deming has served on the boards of two other public companies in the
energy sector, chairing one of these boards since 2012. He is the former
chair of an advisory committee to the Secretary of Energy. Mr. Deming has
served in an advisory role with private firms providing strategic and financial

Ade: 69 advice to investors, management teams, boards of directors, governmental

.ge. ) bodies, and other professionals and participants in the global energy
Director since: August 2013 industry. Mr. Deming is also a licensed attorney and has served on numerous
Board Committees: private and state boards. His deep understanding of the energy sector and
Executive Compensation strategy strengthens the Board’s collective knowledge.

Committee (Chair)
Executive Committee

Senior Consultant for Hunt Consolidated, Inc. (one of the largest privately-
held family of companies in the U.S. involved in oil and gas exploration and
production, real estate, and investment management) since 2023; 20-year
career with Hunt Consolidated, Inc., including serving as Senior Vice
President, Corporate Engagement and International Relations and President
of Hunt Global Partnerships, Inc. (Hunt Oil Company’s corporate social
responsibility program); U.S. Permanent Representative to the Organization
for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) with rank of U.S.
Ambassador in Paris from 2001 to 2003

Skills and Experience: The Honorable Ms. Jeanne Phillips brings unique
HON. JEANNE L. PHILLIPS experience to the Board in the areas of governmental affairs and public

Age: 70 policy after having served in varying capacities at the state, national, and
Director since: November international levels. In addition, as an executive with a large, privately-held
2018 energy company, she has extensive experience in the areas of corporate
Board Committees: leadership, corporate communications, crisis management, and sustainability
Audit Committee which bolsters the Board’s ability to react to an ever-changing business
Nominating and Governance environment.

Committee
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Director of Genesis Energy LP (a NYSE-listed midstream energy master
limited partnership) since 2013 and member of the Audit and Governance,
Compensation and Business Development Committees; Director of Sempra
(a NYSE-listed Fortune 500 energy services company) since 2013 and
member of the Executive, Audit and Compensation and Talent Development
Committees; Chief Operating Officer - Americas and Executive Vice Chair of
U.S. Operations for KPMG, LLP (one of the world’s largest audit, tax, and
advisory firms) from 2005 to 2010

Skills and Experience: Mr. Taylor, a certified public accountant, has
= extensive experience with financial and public accounting issues as well as
JACKT. TAYLOR deep knowledge of the energy industry. He was a partner at KPMG, LLP for

Age: 72 29 years. As an executive leader, Mr. Taylor was responsible for the
Director since: August 2013 execution of global strategy within all KPMG member firms in North and
Board Committees: South America, encompassing more than 40,000 employees and $8 billion in
Audit Committee (Chair) revenue. Mr. Taylor sponsored and chaired KPMG’s Diversity Advisory Board
Executive Compensation upon its formation and early development. At KPMG, Mr. Taylor has
Committee extensive experience in capital markets activities with involvement in SEC

registration statements, mergers and acquisitions, corporate recovery and
bankruptcies. He has served on the audit committees of two other publicly
traded energy companies for over a decade, currently serving as chair of one
of these committees. Mr. Taylor lends considerable expertise to our Board in
finance, accounting, and energy matters.
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PROPOSAL 1 | ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

DIRECTOR SKILLS AND EXPERIENCE

Murphy Clyde Deming Goebel Keyes Landen Miller Phillips Taylor Turner

Current or Former Public Company CEO
Other Public Company Board Experience
(Current of Former)
Finance / Accounting / Financial Reporting
Human Capital Management
Public Policy/Government Affairs
Supply Chain Distribution / Logistics
Capital Markets / Asset Management / Banking
Consumer Products / Retail
Media and Communication / Crisis Management

BOARD DEMOGRAPHICS

TENURE AGE GENDER DIVERSITY

» 4

@ 0-4 YEARS @ <60 YEARS @® WOMEN @ MINORITY
5-10 YEARS 61-65 YEARS MEN OTHER
266 YEARS
8.35 YEARS 67.8 YEARS 30% 10%
Average Tenure Average Age Of Directors Of Directors
Are Women Racially/Ethnically
Diverse
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BOARD AND GOVERNANCE MATTERS

Board Leadership Structure

The positions of Chairman of the Board and Chief
Executive Officer of Murphy USA are currently held
by two individuals. Mr. Murphy serves as our
Chairman of the Board as a non-executive and
independent director. Mr. Clyde serves as our
President & Chief Executive Officer, and also serves
as a director. Along with Messrs. Murphy and Clyde,
other directors bring different perspectives and roles
to the Company’s management, oversight and
strategic development. The Company’s directors
bring experience and expertise from both inside and
outside the Company and industry, while the
President & Chief Executive Officer is most familiar
with the Company’s business and industry, most
involved in the Company’s day-to-day operations and
most capable of leading the execution of the
Company’s strategy. The Board believes that having
separate roles of Chairman and President & Chief
Executive Officer is in the best interest of
stockholders at this time because it facilitates
independent oversight of management.

Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG)

The Nominating and Governance Committee is
responsible for reviewing the Company’s strategy,
initiatives, policies and practices on ESG matters,

including climate-related matters, that are significant
to the Company, as well as the Company’s reporting
of its ESG performance.

Our ESG strategy is overseen by the ESG Steering
Committee, a group comprised of our CEO, Executive
Vice Presidents and Senior Vice Presidents. This
ESG strategy is implemented at a functional level by
an ESG working group, which is comprised of cross-
functional subject matter experts from across the
business.

As part of our commitment to ESG, we are also
focused on transparently reporting on our progress. In
2023, we published our second Environmental, Social
and Governance Summary that considered
internationally recognized standards and frameworks,
such as the Value Reporting Foundation’s
Sustainability Accounting Standards Board (SASB)
standards. This summary represents our continued
commitment to report on the sustainability of our
business strategy and other important ESG topics. In
addition, in 2023, we issued a report on our 2022
Scope 1 and Scope 2 greenhouse gas emissions
(GHG). We will also continue to annually disclose our
EEO-1 report on our website.

For more information about our ESG program please
visit our website. https:/ir.corporate.murphyusa.com'”

Guided by our Principles of Integrity, Respect, Citizenship, and Spirit:

ESG

We are committed to the greater good for our environment, communities, employees,

MISSION

STATEMENT

company, customers, suppliers, and other stakeholders

We embrace diversity as an essential component of the way we do business

We are ethical and transparent corporate citizens

The pillars below highlight our framework for, and approach to, continuing our ESG journey.

AFFORDABLE RESPONSIBLE ENGAGED COMMITTED ALIGNED
Serve customers with Build trust with Empower our people Invest our resources Ensure our credibility
everyday low prices consumers, regulators through an to strengthen with investors through

for the fuels,
merchandise and
food and beverage
products they need

and partners by
exceeding expectations
in areas including
data protection,
age verification,
and safety
I

inclusive and diverse
culture, competitive
total rewards
programs, and fulfilling
career opportunities

the communities
we serve and
their environment

strong business ethics,
good corporate
governance and
effective capital
allocation

(1) Web addresses to our website throughout this document are provided for convenience only. Nothing on our website, including our impact report or our
ESG Summary, shall be deemed part of, or incorporated by reference into, this Proxy Statement. Some of these statements and reports contain
cautionary statements regarding forward-looking information that should be carefully considered. Our statements and our reports about our objectives may
include statistics or metrics that are estimates, make assumptions based on developing standards that may change, and provide aspirational goals that
are not intended to be promises or guarantees. Inclusion of metrics or other information in such reports is not intended to imply that such information is
material to the Company. The statements and reports may also change at any time and we undertake no obligation to update them, except as required by

law.
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BOARD AND GOVERNANCE MATTERS | RISK MANAGEMENT

Risk Management

Our Company’s management is responsible for the
day-to-day management of risks to the Company. The
Board has broad oversight responsibility for our risk
management programs.

The Board exercises risk management oversight and
control both directly and indirectly, the latter through
various board committees as discussed below. The
Board regularly reviews information regarding the
Company’s credit, liquidity and operations, including
the risks associated with each. The Executive
Compensation Committee is responsible for
overseeing the management of risks relating to the
Company’s executive compensation plans and
arrangements. The Audit Committee is responsible
for oversight of financial and cybersecurity risks and
the ethical conduct of the Company’s business,

including the steps the Company has taken to monitor
and mitigate these risks. The Nominating and
Governance Committee, in its role of reviewing and
maintaining the Company’s Corporate Governance
Guidelines, manages risks associated with the
independence of the Board and potential conflicts of
interest, along with the Company’s ESG process and
governance. While each committee is responsible for
evaluating certain risks and overseeing the
management of these risks, the entire Board is
regularly informed through committee reports and by
the President & Chief Executive Officer about the
known risks to the strategy and the business. The
Board of Directors does not believe that its role in
risk-oversight has been affected by having separate
roles of Chairman and President & Chief Executive
Officer.

MURPHY USA INC. 2024 PROXY STATEMENT
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BOARD AND GOVERNANCE MATTERS | COMMITTEES

Committees

Our Board has established several standing committees in connection with the discharge of its responsibilities.
The following table presents the standing committees of the Board and the current membership of the
committees and the number of times each committee met in 2023.

EXECUTIVE NOMINATING AND

NOMINEE / DIRECTOR AUDIT EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION GOVERNANCE
R. Madison Murphy X® N X® X
R. Andrew Clyde X

Claiborne P. Deming X XM

David L. Goebel X X

Fred L. Holliger X X
James W. Keyes X X

Diane N. Landen X X
David B. Miller X X
Hon. Jeanne L. Phillips X X
Jack T. Taylor xM X

Rosemary L. Turner X X
Number of meetings in 2023 7 7 4 2

(1) Committee Chair
(2) Ex-Officio
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BOARD AND GOVERNANCE MATTERS | COMMITTEES

Audit Committee — The Audit Committee has the sole
authority to appoint or replace the Company’s
independent registered public accounting firm, which
reports directly to the Audit Committee. The Audit
Committee also assists the Board with its oversight of
the integrity of the Company’s financial statements,
the independent registered public accounting firm’s
qualifications, independence and performance, the
performance of the Company’s internal audit function,
the compliance by the Company with legal and
regulatory requirements, the management of major
financial risk and the review of programs related to
compliance with the Company’s Code of Business
Conduct and Ethics. Additionally, the Audit Committee
reviews cybersecurity risks through regular updates
from management, and it monitors the status of
ongoing projects to strengthen existing controls and
mitigate the risk of cybersecurity incidents. The Audit
Committee meets with representatives of the
independent registered public accounting firm and
with members of Internal Audit for these purposes.
The Board has designated Messrs. Taylor and
Murphy as its Audit Committee Financial Experts as
defined in Item 407 of Regulation S-K. All of the
members of the Audit Committee are independent
under the rules of the NYSE and the Company’s
independence standards. For more information about
Audit Committee procedures see pages 21-22.

Executive Committee — The Executive Committee is
vested with the authority to exercise certain functions
of the Board when the Board is not in session. The
Executive Committee is also in charge of all general
administrative affairs of the Company, subject to any
limitations prescribed by the Board.

Executive Compensation Committee — The Executive
Compensation Committee oversees the
compensation of the Company’s executives and
directors and administers the Company’s annual
incentive compensation plan, its equity incentive
compensation plans and its compensation clawback
policies.

The Executive Compensation Committee consists
entirely of independent directors, each of whom
meets the NYSE listing independence standards and

the Company’s independence standards. See
“Compensation Discussion and Analysis” for
additional  information about the  Executive

Compensation Committee. In carrying out its duties,
the Executive Compensation Committee has direct
access to outside advisors, independent
compensation consultants and others to assist them.

Nominating and Governance Committee — The
Nominating and Governance Committee identifies
and recommends potential director candidates,
makes annual independence recommendations as to
each director, recommends appointments to Board
committees, oversees the self-evaluation process of
the Board’'s performance and reviews and assesses
the Corporate Governance Guidelines of the
Company. Information regarding the process for
evaluating and selecting potential director candidates,
including those recommended by stockholders, is set

out in the Company’s Corporate Governance
Guidelines.
Stockholders desiring to recommend director

candidates for consideration by the Nominating and
Governance Committee will be able to address their
recommendations to: Nominating and Governance
Committee of the Board of Directors, c/o Corporate
Secretary, Murphy USA Inc., 200 East Peach Street,
P.O. Box 7300, El Dorado, Arkansas 71731-7300. As
a matter of policy, director candidates recommended
by stockholders will be evaluated on the same basis
as candidates recommended by the directors,
executive search firms or other sources. The
Corporate Governance Guidelines also provide a
mechanism by which stockholders may send
communications to directors.

The Nominating and Governance Committee consists
entirely of independent directors, each of whom
meets the NYSE listing independence standards and
the Company’s independence standards. This
committee coordinates with the Chairperson for each
other Board committee to discuss and identify
succession planning issues and makes
recommendations to the full Board as needed. The
Nominating and Governance Committee is also
responsible for reviewing the Company’s strategy,
initiatives, policies and practices on ESG matters,
including climate-related matters, that are significant
to the Company, as well as the Company’s reporting
of its ESG performance.

Charters for the Audit, Executive, Executive
Compensation and Nominating and Governance
Committees, along with the Corporate Governance
Guidelines and the Code of Business Conduct and
Ethics, are available on the Company’s website at
https.//ir.corporate.murphyusa.com.

MURPHY USA INC. 2024 PROXY STATEMENT
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BOARD AND GOVERNANCE MATTERS I MEETINGS AND ATTENDANCE

Meetings and Attendance

During fiscal year 2023, there were five meetings of
the Board. All nominees’ attendance exceeded 75%
of the total number of meetings of the Board and
committees on which they served. Pursuant to the
Company’s Corporate Governance Guidelines, non-
employee directors, all of whom are independent,
must meet in executive session, without
management, in conjunction with at least three
regularly scheduled Board meetings per year, and did
so in 2023. Mr. Murphy, in his role as Chairman of the
Board, presided at these executive sessions. Also, as
set forth in the Company’s Corporate Governance
Guidelines, all Board members are expected to
attend the Annual Meeting of Stockholders, and all
did so in 2023.

Compensation of Directors

Directors who are employees of Murphy USA do not
receive compensation for their services on the Board.
Our Board determines annual retainers and other
compensation for non-employee directors. The
primary elements of our non-employee director
compensation program include a combination of cash
and equity. In 2023, the cash component consisted of
an annual retainer for each non-employee director in
the amount of $100,000, plus an additional annual
retainer for each chair as follows:

« Chairman of the Board: $170,000
+ Audit Committee Chair: $25,000

» Executive Compensation Committee Chair:
$20,000

*  Nominating & Governance Committee Chair:
$15,000

All elements of cash components are paid in quarterly
installments. The Company also reimburses directors
for travel, lodging and other related expenses they
incur in attending Board and Committee meetings.

In addition to the cash component, the non-employee
directors receive an annual grant of time-based
restricted stock units which, beginning with grants
made in 2023, cliff vest after one year. Each non-
employee director received a restricted stock unit
grant with a target value of $160,000 on February 9,
2023. In connection with the Company’s adoption of a
quarterly dividend, commencing in December 2020,
the Executive Compensation Committee approved
the issuance of dividend equivalent units to the non-
employee directors holding outstanding restricted
stock units to be paid upon the issuance of shares of
the Company’s common stock in settlement of the
underlying restricted stock unit.

Non-employee directors may elect to defer his or her
annual cash retainers into fully vested restricted stock
units issued under the 2023 Omnibus Incentive Plan,
with settlement upon termination of Board service.
Likewise, time-based restricted stock units awarded
in connection with the annual equity component of the
Director compensation package may also be
deferred, with settlement upon termination of service.
Upon separation from service, shares and dividend
equivalent units accrued with respect to restricted
stock units are issued. The election to defer is made
in the year preceding the calendar year in which the
compensation is earned (or, in the case of a new
director, within 30 days after their date of
appointment, if later).

Further information regarding non-employee director
compensation is set forth in the following table.
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2023 Non-Employee Director Compensation Table

FEES EARNED OR

PAID IN CASH"

NAME ($)

R. Madison Murphy 270,245
Claiborne P. Deming 120,491
David L. Goebel 100,245
Fred L. Holliger(4) 100,245
James W. Keyes 100,245
Diane N. Landen 115,245
David B. Miller 100,451
Hon. Jeanne L. Phillips 100,451
Jack T. Taylor 125,501
Rosemary L. Turner 100,245

(1)  The amounts shown reflect the cash retainers paid during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023, including cash retainers which the director elected to

receive in the form of restricted stock units.

(2) The amounts shown reflect the aggregate grant date fair value, as computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718 regarding stock compensation, for
restricted stock unit awards and dividend equivalent units granted to the non-employee directors in 2023. The aggregate number of restricted stock units
including restricted stock units awarded in lieu of annual cash retainers, was 2,814 for Mr. Taylor, 2,802 for Mr. Deming, 1,609 for Mr. Goebel and Ms.

Turner, and 2,502 for each other non-employee director.

(3) The amounts shown represent contributions made on behalf of Mr. Murphy, Mr. Deming, Ms. Landen and Mr. Taylor to charitable organizations under our

gift matching program.

(4) Mr. Holliger will retire from the Board on the date of our 2024 Annual Meeting.

The column above showing “All Other Compensation” represents the incremental cost of matching gifts. The
non-employee directors are eligible to participate in our gift matching program on the same terms as Murphy
USA employees. Under this program, an eligible person’s total gifts of up to $25,000 per calendar year will
qualify. The Company will contribute to qualified educational institutions and hospitals in an amount equal to
twice the amount contributed by the eligible person. The Company will contribute to qualified welfare and

STOCK

AWARDS?

($)
163,007
163,007
161,657
163,007
163,007
163,007
163,007
163,007
163,007
161,657

ALL OTHER
COMPENSATION®

($)
25,000

25,000

25,000

25,000

cultural organizations in an amount equal to the contribution made by the eligible person.

TOTAL
($)
458,252
308,498
261,902
263,252
263,252
303,252
263,458
263,458
313,508
261,902

MURPHY USA INC. 2024 PROXY STATEMENT
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NON-EMPLOYEE DIRECTOR STOCK
OWNERSHIP GUIDELINES AND PLEDGING

Non-Employee Director Stock Ownership
Guidelines and Pledging

The Board established stock ownership guidelines for
non-employee directors of the Company. Directors
are expected to achieve stock ownership of at least
three times their annual cash retainer within five
years of beginning their service. A director may not
pledge Company securities either by purchasing
Company securities on margin or holding Company
securities in a margin account, until he or she has
achieved the applicable stock ownership target
specified in the guidelines above. Once such stock
ownership target has been achieved, a director is
permitted to pledge Company securities in
compliance with applicable law (including disclosure
of such pledging in the Company’s proxy statement,
as required by SEC regulations), so long as all stock
owned to satisfy the applicable stock ownership
target remains unpledged. Any pledging of shares
must be disclosed to the Board and pre-approved by
the General Counsel in advance of such pledging.
These guidelines are designed to ensure that
directors display confidence in the Company through
the ownership of a significant amount of our stock. As
of December 31, 2023, all of our directors had met or
were on track to comply with these stock ownership
guidelines within the applicable five-year period.

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

Executive officers and directors are governed by the
Company’s written Code of Business Conduct and
Ethics, which provides that waivers of any part of the
Code for directors or executive officers may only be
granted by the Board of Directors or a Board
committee and must be promptly disclosed to
stockholders. No such waivers were granted nor
applied for in fiscal year 2023. The Company intends
to disclose any waivers of or amendments to the
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that apply to
our directors or executive officers on its website at
https://ir.corporate.murphyusa.com. The Company’s
Corporate Governance Guidelines require that all
directors recuse themselves from any discussion or
decision affecting their personal, business or
professional interests.

Review, Approval or Ratification of
Transactions with Related Persons

During 2023, the Company did not engage in any
related-person transactions involving members of the
Board or executive officers. Conflicts of interest
subject to the Company’s written Code of Business
Conduct and Ethics that constitute a Related Party
Transaction, as defined under the rules of the SEC,
shall be reviewed by the Nominating and Governance
Committee of the Board.

The Nominating and Governance Committee reviews
ordinary course of business transactions with firms
associated with directors and nominees for director.
The Company’s management also monitors these
transactions on an ongoing basis.
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OWNERSHIP OF MURPHY USA COMMON STOCK

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners

The following are known to the Company to be the beneficial owners of more than five percent of the
Company’s common stock (as of the most recent date of such stockholder’s Schedule 13G filing for Murphy
USA with the SEC):

AMOUNT AND
NATURE
OF BENEFICIAL
NAME AND ADDRESS OF BENEFICIAL OWNER OWNERSHIP™" PERCENTAGE®
BlackRock, Inc.
55 East 52" Street 1,998,637 9.6%

New York, NY 10055%®

The Vanguard Group
100 Vanguard Blvd. 1,984,888 9.5%
Malvern, PA 19355%

FMR LLC
245 Summer Street 1,100,079 5.3%
Boston, MA 02210©

(1)  Includes common stock for which the indicated owner has sole or shared voting or investment power and is based on the indicated owner’s Schedule 13G
filing for Murphy USA for the period ended December 31, 2023.

(2) Percentage based on 20,817,140 shares of common stock outstanding as of the record date.

(3) Total includes 1,904,126 shares with sole voting power, zero shares with shared voting power, 1,998,637 shares with sole dispositive power and zero
shares with shared dispositive power.

(4) Total includes zero shares with sole voting power, 8,899 shares with shared voting power, 1,954,701 shares with sole dispositive power and 30,187 shares
with shared dispositive power.

(5) Total includes 1,090,417 shares with sole voting power, zero shares with shared voting power, 1,100,079 shares with sole dispositive power and zero
shares with shared dispositive power.
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SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF DIRECTORS AND
MANAGEMENT

OWNERSHIP OF MURPHY USA COMMON STOCK

Security Ownership of Directors and Management

The following table sets forth information, as of the record date, concerning the number of shares of Common
Stock of the Company beneficially owned by all directors and nominees, each of the Named Executive Officers
(as listed in the first table of the Compensation Discussion and Analysis section of this Proxy) and directors and
executive officers as a group.

PERSONAL AEI(V):I;I-DYS PERCENT OF

WITH FULL VOTING AND WHICH MAY OUTSTANDING

VOTING AND PERSONAL AS INVESTMENT SETTLE (IF GREATER

INVESTMENT BENEFICIARY POWER WITHIN 60 THAN ONE

POWER"® OF TRUSTS ONLY DAYS PERCENT)

Claiborne P. Deming 269,764 394,884 — 385 665,033 3.19%
David L. Goebel 205 — — 611 816 (4)
Fred L. Holliger — 17,607%) — — 17,607 4)
James W. Keyes 18,114 — — — 18,114 (4)
Diane N. Landen 67,293 76,837 8,991© — 153,121 (4)
David B. Miller 45,139 — — 321 45,460 (4)
R. Madison Murphy — 413,139 164,171 — 577,310 2.77%
Hon. Jeanne L. Phillips 2,669 — — 932 3,601 (4)
Jack T. Taylor 12,220 9,786 — 401 22,407 (4)
Rosemary L. Turner 205 — — 611 816 (4)
R. Andrew Clyde 201,087 — — 129,750 330,837 1.59%
Mindy K. West 113,474 — — 33,200 146,674 (4)
Renee M. Bacon 5,927 — — 9,400 15,327 (4)
Robert J. Chumley 6,448 — — 5,700 12,148 (4)
Chris A. Click 2,413 — — 1,200 3,613 (4)

Directors & executive officers

750,078 912,253 173,162 189,261 2,024,754 9.73%

as a group (17 persons)

(1) Includes Murphy USA Savings 401(k) Plan shares in the following amounts: Mr. Clyde 1,525 qualified shares and Ms. West 838 qualified shares. Excludes
shares of common stock underlying phantom stock units held under the Murphy USA Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan in the following amounts:
Mr. Clyde 19,235 shares.

(2) Includes shares of common stock held by spouse and other household members as follows: Mr. Deming 12,110 shares held by spouse; Ms. Landen 2,043
shares owned jointly with spouse and children.

(3) Includes 17,607 shares of common stock held by trust for which Mr. Holliger and his spouse are the beneficiaries and trustees.

(4) Lessthan 1%.

(5) Includes 9,786 shares of common stock held by trust for which Mr. Taylor and his spouse are the beneficiaries and trustees.

(6) Includes 8,991 shares of common stock held by trusts for which Ms. Landen is the trustee.

(7) Includes (i) 70,297 shares of common stock held by a private foundation of which Mr. Murphy is President for which beneficial ownership is expressly

disclaimed, (ii) 41,379 shares of common stock held in trust for children in which spouse is Trustee, (iii) includes 42,216 shares owned by The 2011
Murphy Family Trust beneficial ownership expressly disclaimed, (iv) includes 8,316 shares owned by The Suzanne and Madison Murphy Grandchildren’s
Trust, beneficial ownership expressly disclaimed, (v) includes 1,963 shares of common stock held in trust for grandchildren in which spouse is Trustee,
beneficial ownership is expressly disclaimed.
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RATIFICATION OF APPOINTMENT OF

PROPOSAL 2 INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC

ACCOUNTING FIRM FOR FISCAL 2024

The Audit Committee and the Board have approved
the engagement of KPMG LLP as Murphy USA’s
independent registered public accounting firm for
2024. Representatives of that firm are expected to be
present at the Annual Meeting and will have an
opportunity to make a statement if they desire to do
so and to be available to respond to appropriate
questions.

Ratification of the selection of accountants requires
approval by a majority of the votes cast by the
stockholders of Murphy USA Common Stock, which
votes are cast “for” or “against” the ratification.
Murphy USA's Board is requesting stockholder
ratification as a matter of good corporate practice. If
the stockholders do not ratify the selection, the Audit
Committee will reconsider whether or not to retain
KPMG LLP. Even if the selection is ratified, the Audit
Committee in its discretion may change the
appointment at any time during the year if it
determines that such change would be in the best
interests of Murphy USA and its stockholders.

The Audit Committee evaluates the qualifications,
performance, and independence of the independent
auditor, including the lead partner, on an annual basis
(in each case in light of SEC and NYSE
independence and other applicable standards then in
effect). The Audit Committee ensures the regular
rotation of the lead audit partner as required by law
and is involved in the selection of the lead audit
partner. In addition, the Audit Committee receives
periodic reports on the hiring of KPMG LLP partners
and other professionals (if hired) to help ensure
KPMG LLP satisfies applicable independence rules.

KPMG LLP has served as Murphy USA’s independent
registered accounting firm since the Spin-Off in 2013
and prior to that served as the auditor to Murphy
USA's former parent for more than 60 years. KPMG
LLP reports directly to the Audit Committee of Murphy
USA. In selecting KPMG LLP as Murphy USA’s
independent registered accounting firm for 2024, the
Audit Committee considered a number of factors,

including:
+ the quality of its ongoing discussions with KPMG
LLP, including the professional resolution of

accounting and financial reporting matters with
its national office,

» the professional qualifications of KPMG LLP, the
lead audit partner and other key engagement
partners,

« KPMG LLP’s independence program and its
processes for maintaining its independence,

* KPMG LLP’s depth of understanding of Murphy
USA’s businesses, accounting policies and
practices and internal control over financial
reporting,

» the appropriateness of KPMG LLP’s fees for
audit and non-audit services (on both an
absolute basis and as compared to its peer
firms),

« consideration of KPMG LLP’s known legal risks
and significant proceedings that may impair their
ability to perform Murphy USA’s annual audit,

» the most recent PCAOB inspection report on
KPMG LLP and the results of “peer review” and
self-review examinations, and

* the results of management's and the Audit

Committee’s annual evaluations of the
qualifications, performance and independence of
KPMG LLP.

In addition, the Audit Committee periodically

considers the appropriateness of a rotation of the
independent registered accounting firm. At this time,
the Audit Committee and the Board believe that the
continued retention of KPMG LLP as Murphy USA's
independent registered public accounting firm is in
the best interests of Murphy USA and its
stockholders. Under Murphy USA’s policy for pre-
approval of audit and permitted non-audit services by
KPMG LLP, the Audit Committee has delegated the
right to pre-approve services between meeting dates
to the Chair of the Committee, subject to ratification of
the full Committee at the next scheduled meeting.
The Committee evaluates all services, including those
engagements related to tax and internal control over
financial reporting, considering the nature of such
services in light of auditor independence, in
accordance with the rules of the PCAOB.

MURPHY USA INC. 2024 PROXY STATEMENT
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PROPOSAL 2 | AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

Audit Committee Report

Management is responsible for the preparation,
presentation and integrity of Murphy USA's financial
statements, for its accounting and financial reporting
principles and for the establishment and effectiveness
of internal controls and procedures designed to
ensure compliance with accounting standards and
applicable laws and regulations. The independent
auditors are responsible for performing an
independent audit of the financial statements in
accordance with the standards of the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States) (PCAOB), expressing an opinion as to the
conformity of such financial statements with generally
accepted accounting principles in the United States of
America and expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of internal control over financial
reporting. The independent auditors have free access
to the Audit Committee to discuss any matters they
deem appropriate.

Committee Organization and Operation

The Audit Committee’s function is to assist the Board
in its oversight of:
 The integrity of Murphy USA's
statements;
* Murphy USA’s internal control over financial
reporting;
* Murphy USAs compliance with
regulatory requirements;
 The independent accountants’ qualifications,
independence and performance;
* The performance of Murphy USA’s internal audit
function; and
* Murphy USAs IT
cybersecurity risks.

financial

legal and

risk exposure, including

The Audit Committee is also directly responsible for
the appointment, compensation, retention and
oversight of Murphy USA’'s independent registered
public accounting firm. The Audit Committee’s charter
is available in the Corporate Governance section of
Murphy USA's corporate website at https:/
ir.corporate.murphyusa.com.

The Audit Committee held seven meetings during
2023. The Audit Committee Chair and members of
the Audit Committee also held numerous additional
meetings throughout 2023 with members of Murphy
USA corporate, business segment and internal audit
management and with Murphy USA’'s independent
registered public accounting firm, KPMG LLP. The
Committee believes that these meetings were helpful
in discharging its oversight responsibilities, including

with respect to financial reporting and disclosure, risk
management and internal controls.

Independence

The Board, on the recommendation of the Nominating
and Corporate Governance Committee, has
determined that all members of the Audit Committee
are independent, as required by NYSE listing
standards and SEC rules, and that they each met the
Company’s enhanced independent standard for
membership on the Company’s Audit Committee.

Expertise

The Board has also determined, on the
recommendation of the Nominating and Governance
Committee, that all members of the Audit Committee
are financially literate and have accounting or related
financial management expertise, each as defined by
NYSE listing standards. Mr. Taylor and Mr. Murphy
have been designated as the “audit committee
financial experts,” as defined under SEC rules. The
Audit Committee’s assistance in the Board oversight
of Murphy USA’s compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements primarily focuses on the effect of such
matters on Murphy USAs financial statements,
financial reporting and internal control over financial
reporting.

Audited Financial Statements

In the performance of its oversight function, the Audit
Committee has considered and discussed the 2023
audited financial statements with management and
KPMG LLP, including a discussion of the quality, and
not just the acceptability, of the accounting principles,
the reasonableness of significant judgments, clarity of
the disclosures and the condition of internal control
over financial reporting. The Audit Committee has
reviewed with the Head of Internal Audit and the
KPMG LLP engagement team the scope and plans
for their respective audits and has met with each of
the Head of Internal Audit and the senior engagement
partner of KPMG LLP, with and without management
present, to discuss audit results, their evaluations of
Murphy USA’s internal controls and the overall quality
of Murphy USA's financial reporting. The Audit
Committee has also discussed with KPMG LLP the
matters required to be discussed by the applicable
requirements of the PCAOB and the SEC. Finally, the
Audit Committee has received the written disclosures
and the letter from KPMG LLP required by applicable
requirements of the PCAOB regarding KPMG LLP’s
communications with the Audit Committee concerning
independence, and has discussed with KPMG LLP its
independence.
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PROPOSAL 2 | FEES PAID TO KPMG LLP

Fees Paid to KPMG LLP

The table below shows the fees paid by Murphy USA
to KPMG LLP in 2023 and 2022.

2023 2022
(IN
THOUSANDS)

(IN
THOUSANDS)

Fees paid by Murphy

USA:

Audit fees'" $1,348 $1,175
Audit-related fees — —
Tax fees — —
All other fees®? 7 46
Total Fees $1,355 $1,221

(1) Audit fees include fees for the audit of Murphy USA's consolidated
financial statements, as well as subsidiary and statutory audits directly
related to the performance of the Murphy USA consolidated audit. Audit
fees include out-of-pocket expenses of $33 in 2023 and $35 in 2022.

(2) Al other fees include payments related to miscellaneous IT consulting
costs in 2023 and 2022.

All of the services provided by KPMG LLP and the

fees paid by Murphy USA were authorized and

approved by the Audit Committee in compliance with
the pre-approval policy and procedures described
above. The Audit Committee considers the non-audit
services rendered by KPMG LLP during the most

recently completed fiscal its annual

independence evaluation.

If you do not ratify the appointment of KPMG LLP, the
Audit Committee will reconsider its appointment.
Even if you do ratify the appointment, the Audit
Committee retains its discretion to reconsider its
appointment if it believes necessary in the best
interest of the Company and the stockholders.

year in

Conclusion

Based on the review and discussions described in
this report, the Audit Committee, in accordance with
its responsibilities, recommended to the Board, and
the Board approved, the inclusion of the audited
financial statements for the year ended December 31,
2023 in Murphy USA’'s 2023 Annual Report on Form
10-K.

Audit Committee:

Jack T. Taylor (Chair)
David L. Goebel

Diane N. Landen

R. Madison Murphy
Hon. Jeanne L. Phillips
Rosemary L. Turner

THE BOARD RECOMMENDS THAT STOCKHOLDERS VOTE “FOR” RATIFICATION OF THE
APPOINTMENT OF KPMG LLP AS THE COMPANY’S INDEPENDENT REGISTERED
PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM FOR THE FISCAL YEAR 2024.

MURPHY USA INC. 2024 PROXY STATEMENT
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APPROVAL OF EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
ON AN ADVISORY, NON-BINDING BASIS

PROPOSAL 3

The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer
Protection Act (“the Dodd-Frank Act”) enables the
Company’s stockholders to vote to approve, on an
advisory (non-binding) basis, the compensation of the
Named Executive Officers as disclosed in this Proxy
Statement in accordance with the SEC'’s rules.

As described in detail under the heading
“Compensation Discussion and Analysis,” the
Company’s executive compensation programs are
designed to attract, motivate and retain the Named
Executive Officers, who are critical to the Company’s
success. Under these programs, the Named
Executive Officers are rewarded for the achievement
of specific annual, long-term and strategic goals,
corporate goals and the realization of increased
stockholder value. Please read the “Compensation
Discussion and Analysis” along with the information in
the compensation tables for additional details about
the executive compensation programs, including
information about the fiscal year 2023 compensation
of the Named Executive Officers.

Stockholders are asked to indicate their support for
the Named Executive Officer compensation as
described in this Proxy Statement. This proposal,
commonly known as a “Say-on-Pay” proposal, gives
stockholders the opportunity to express their views on
the Named Executive Officers’ compensation. This

vote is being provided as required pursuant to
Section 14A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
This vote is not intended to address any specific item
of compensation, but rather the overall compensation
of the Named Executive Officers and the philosophy,
policies and practices described in this Proxy
Statement. Stockholders are requested to vote
“FOR?” the following resolution at the Annual Meeting:

“RESOLVED, that the Company’s stockholders
approve, on an advisory basis, the compensation of
the Named Executive Officers, as disclosed in the
Company’s Proxy Statement for the 2024 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders pursuant to the
compensation disclosure rules of the SEC, including
the Compensation Discussion and Analysis, the 2023
Summary Compensation Table and the other related
tables and disclosures.”

The Say-on-Pay vote is advisory, and therefore not
binding on the Company, the Executive
Compensation Committee or the Board. The Board
and the Executive Compensation Committee value
the opinions of stockholders and will consider
stockholders’ views and the Executive Compensation
Committee will evaluate whether any actions are
necessary to address those views. We currently
anticipate that the next Say-on-Pay vote will be held
at our 2025 annual general meeting of stockholders.

THE BOARD RECOMMENDS A VOTE “FOR” THE NON-BINDING APPROVAL OF THE COMPENSATION
OF THE COMPANY’S NAMED EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, AS DISCLOSED IN THIS PROXY STATEMENT
PURSUANT TO THE COMPENSATION DISCLOSURE RULES OF THE SEC.

PAGE 24



COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The following Compensation Discussion and Analysis
provides an overview of the compensation provided
to our CEO, CFO" and three most highly
compensated executive officers during the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2023:

NAME TITLE

President & Chief Executive
R. Andrew Clyde Officer (CEO)

EVP & Chief Operating
Officer (COO) (formerly EVP
Fuels, CFO & Treasurer)

SVP S&O0 & Chief
Merchandising Officer
(CMO)

SVP & Chief Digital Officer
(CDO)

EVP Strategy, Growth &
Innovation (formerly SVP
Strategy & Development)

Mindy K. West"

Renee M. Bacon
Robert J. Chumley

Chris A. Click"®

(1) During 2023, Ms. West served as EVP Fuels, CFO and Treasurer and
Mr. Click served as SVP, Strategy and Development. Each were
promoted to the titles listed above effective March 1, 2024.

(2) Mr. Click has not previously been an NEO of the Company, and
accordingly historical compensation for Mr. Click is generally not
presented in this CD&A or the tables that follow.

The five individuals above are collectively referred to

herein as our “Named Executive Officers” or “NEOs.”

To further illustrate the concepts in this Compensation
Discussion and Analysis, we have included charts
and tables where we believe appropriate to enhance
our stockholders’ understanding of the compensation
of our NEOs. This Compensation Discussion and
Analysis should be read in conjunction with this
tabular information beginning on page 41 in this
Proxy Statement.

Overview

Murphy USA operates one of the nation’s largest
convenience store chains, with more than 1,730
stores in 27 states, located primarily in the
Southwest, Southeast, Midwest and Northeast United
States as of December 31, 2023, the majority of
which are located in close proximity to Walmart
Supercenters. The Company also markets gasoline
and other products at standalone stores under the
Murphy and QuickChek brands.

Executive Compensation Philosophy and
Objectives

The Executive Compensation Committee (referred to
as the “Committee” in this section) bases its
executive compensation decisions on principles
designed to align the interests of our executives with
those of our stockholders. The Committee believes
compensation should provide a direct link with the
Company’s values, objectives, business strategies
and financial results. In order to motivate, attract, and
retain key executives who are critical to its long-term
success, the Company aims to provide compensation
packages that are competitive with others in the retail
industry. In addition, the Company believes that
executives should be rewarded for both the short-
and long-term success of the Company and,
conversely, be subject to a degree of downside risk in
the event that the Company does not achieve its
performance objectives.

Aligning Pay with Performance

The Committee believes our compensation programs
provide a strong “pay for performance” link between
the compensation provided to our executives and the
Company’s performance, both on an absolute basis
and relative to its peers. Consistent with the
fundamental principle that compensation programs
should pay for performance, the Company’s strong
performance during 2023 directly impacted
compensation decisions and pay outcomes. Annual
incentives for NEOs were earned at 128.4% of target,
reflecting the Company’s 2023 performance relative
to predefined targets. See pages 31-34 for additional
information. Performance stock units (“PSUs”) linked
to the Company’s performance for the three-year
period ended in 2023 were earned at 200% of target.
See page 37 for additional information.

We view performance in two ways: (1) the Company’s
operating performance, including results against
short- and long-term growth targets; and (2) return to
stockholders over time, both on an absolute basis
and relative to other companies, including both our
peers and the S&P 500.

MURPHY USA INC. 2024 PROXY STATEMENT
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COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS | 2023 BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS

2023 Business Highlights

We measure our operating performance relative to the execution of a proven strategy that reflects five coherent
themes that leverage our differentiated strengths and capabilities. This “5-Point Strategy” supports a business
model which is both enduring in a highly volatile industry and difficult for competitors to replicate. Our strategy
creates a unique way to compete for customers, workforce talent, supplier-partner support and stockholder
capital. We take none of these stakeholders for granted and our goal is to create sustained value for all of them
while making a positive impact in the communities we serve. Highlighted accomplishments among the 5-Point
Strategy for 2023 include:

GROW

ORGANICALLY

EXPANDED
PORTFOLIO TO
1,733 STORES

» Added 22 new
Murphy-branded stores
and 6 QuickChek stores

* Completed 31 Raze and
Rebuild stores an
additional 9 retrofits

DIVERSIFY
MERCHANDISE
MIX

GENERATED
OVER $800M IN
MERCHANDISE

CONTRIBUTIONIN

« Generated over $4B in

Merchandise Sales
(growth of 4.8%)

* Increased non-tobacco

sales dollars by 5.0%,
including 5.8% growth for
food and beverage

¢
\ l\\ LEADERSHIP
A N

SUSTAIN
COST

\

MAINTAINED D

+ Leveraged scale and
relationships to limit
vendor cost inflation

* Managed Store Operating

Expense to year-over-year
increase of 4.9% APSM as
we build larger stores

" VOLATILITY

CREATE
ADVANTAGE
FROM
MARKET

* Maintained low-cost

position and grew overall
gallons 1.1% to over 4.8B

+ Retained majority of

2-year same-store share
gains while achieving
30 CPG all-in margins

INVEST
FOR THE

LONG-TERM

REPURCHASED
OVER 1M
SHARES

* Repurchased over $300M

worth of stock while
growing the per-share
dividend ~22% in 2023

* Repurchased nearly 58%

of the original share
count since spin
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COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS | RETURN TO STOCKHOLDERS

Return to Stockholders

Since inception, the Company has delivered consistent returns to our stockholders. In May 2023, the Board
authorized a share repurchase program of up to $1.5 billion to begin upon completion of the 2021 $1 billion
authorization and to be executed by December 31, 2028. The new authorization reaffirms the Company’s
commitment to supplement organic growth initiatives with shareholder distributions, including its dividend growth
plan, to maximize value creation over time.

In 2023, total share repurchases were $333 million. Shares repurchased included $214 million completing the
2021 authorization and $119 million under the 2023 authorization, leaving approximately $1.4 billion remaining
under the 2023 authorization.

In total, we have completed over $3.0 billion in share repurchases and have reduced the original share count by
nearly 58% in a little more than 10 years of operation.

Additionally, the Company’s strong financial performance in recent years has allowed us to continue to grow the
dividend for seven consecutive quarters, resulting in a compound average annual growth rate of over 20% per
year since 2021.

YOY Dividend Growth Since 2021
$2.00 -

$1.50
$1.00

$0.50

$0.00

2021 2022 2023
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COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS | 2023 "SAY-ON-PAY" VOTE RESULT

Our three-year annualized total shareholder return (TSR) for the period ending December 31, 2023 of
approximately 41% outpaced the median TSR of our peer group (discussed in the “Role of Market Data” section
included on page 29 in this Proxy Statement).

Annualized Total Shareholder Return
50% -

40%

30%

20%

10%

0%

Murphy USA Peer Group S&P 500
Median Index

2023 “Say-on-Pay” Vote Result

The Committee carefully considered the results of our May 2023 Say-on-Pay vote on NEO compensation, in
which 95.4% of the advisory votes cast were in support of the Company’s Say-on-Pay proposal and executive
compensation programs for our NEOs as described in our 2023 Proxy Statement. The Committee interpreted
this level of support as affirmation by our stockholders of the design and overall execution of our executive
compensation programs.

Throughout the past year, the Company engaged in dialogue with our largest stockholders about various
corporate governance topics, including executive compensation. The Company values these discussions and
encourages our stockholders to provide feedback about our executive compensation programs.

Based on the results of the 2023 vote and our ongoing dialogue with our stockholders, as well as a
consideration of evolving best practices, the Committee continues to examine our compensation programs to
ensure alignment with stockholder interests remains strong.
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COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

COMPENSATION DESIGN PRINCIPLES AND
GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Compensation Design Principles and Governance Practices

The Committee intends for its compensation design principles to protect and promote our stockholders’
interests. We believe our NEO compensation programs are consistent with best practices for sound corporate

governance.

. weoo | WE DO NOT

v Pay for performance — a large majority of
compensation is performance-based and at-
risk

v' Mitigate undue business risk in compensation
programs and perform an annual
compensation risk assessment

v Utilize an independent compensation
consultant

v" Maintain stock ownership guidelines and
restrict pledging for executives and Directors

v’ Utilize multi-year vesting periods for annual
equity-based compensation

v" Maintain a Dodd-Frank mandated clawback
policy and include expanded “clawbacks” in our
supplemental clawback policy and annual and
long-term incentive plans, which allow for the
recoupment of compensation in the event of a
financial restatement as a result of negligent,
intentional or gross misconduct

Role of the Committee

The Committee has responsibility for discharging the
Board's responsibilities with respect to compensation
of the Company’s executives. In particular, the
Committee annually reviews and approves corporate
goals and objectives relevant to CEO compensation,
evaluates the CEO’s performance in light of those
goals and objectives, and determines and approves
the CEO’s compensation based on this evaluation. In
doing so, the Committee reviews all elements of the
CEO’s compensation. The Committee also approves
executive compensation for the Company’s other
executive officers, approves and administers
incentive compensation and equity-based plans,
monitors compliance of directors and executive
officers with Company stock ownership requirements

X Maintain employment agreements
X Provide excessive perquisites
X Permit hedging transactions

X Maintain separate change-in-control ("CIC")
agreements other than with the CEO

X Provide excise tax gross-ups on CIC benefits

X Provide tax gross-ups on perquisites, except in
connection with relocation assistance

X Allow repricing or cash buyout of underwater
options

Allow current payment of dividends or dividend
equivalents on unearned long-term incentives

X Provide single trigger equity vesting for new
equity awards. Effective with annual equity
awards granted in 2023 under our current
equity plan and all equity grants to our
employees under the Murphy USA, Inc. 2023
Plan, employ a “modified double trigger” for
equity awards following a CIC

and administers our compensation clawback policies.
Pursuant to its charter, the Committee has the sole
authority to retain and terminate compensation
consultants as well the sole authority to approve their
fees and other retention terms. The Committee also
has the authority to obtain advice and assistance
from internal or external legal, accounting or other
advisors. For additional information on the
responsibilities of the Committee, see the
“Committees—Executive Compensation Committee”
section included on page 15 in this Proxy Statement.

Role of Market Data

The Committee adopted a peer group for purposes of
reviewing and approving 2023 compensation. Due to
the relatively small number of publicly-traded retail
convenience store competitors, the group was

MURPHY USA INC. 2024 PROXY STATEMENT
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COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS | ROLE OF THE CEO IN COMPENSATION DECISIONS

broadened to include other companies in similar
industries with which Murphy USA competes for
executive talent in order to create a sufficient sample
of companies against which compensation can be
compared. The peer group was developed based on
certain attributes including:

* Industry Sector: Direct motor fuel and
convenience retailers, retailers exposed to
vehicle miles traveled, and other small box,
common goods retailers (e.g., quick service
restaurants)

» Scale of Operation: Revenue, non-fuel revenue,
earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation,
and amortization, market capitalization, number
of employees, and store count

* Method of Operation: Company-operated sites
and direct-owned real estate

The 2023 compensation peer group consists of the
following companies:

* Alimentation Couche- * Dollar General
Tard * Dollar Tree

* Advance Auto Parts * Five Below

* Arko * Foot Locker

* AutoZone * Monro

* O'Reilly Automotive

* Sally Beauty

» TravelCenters of
America

* Ulta Beauty

* Brinker

* Casey’s General Stores
* Chipotle Mexican Group
* Cracker Barrel

The performance peer group used to assess relative
TSR performance under the Company’s PSU
program is identical to the 2023 compensation peer

group.

In addition to comparator company information, the
Committee uses several industry compensation
surveys to determine competitive market pay levels
for the NEOs.

Base salaries and total target direct compensation for
the Company’s NEOs were compared to the median
of the market data to determine whether the
Company’s compensation practices were in
alignment with market pay levels. When making
compensation-related decisions, the Committee aims
to set compensation levels for executive officers
based on a deliberate review of market compensation
for a particular position as well as each individual's
possession of a unique skill or knowledge set, proven
leadership capabilities or experience and Company
performance. Based on such factors, the Committee
may determine with respect to one or more
individuals that it is appropriate for compensation to
meet, exceed, or fall below the median of the market
data for a particular compensation element or total
compensation.

Role of the CEO in Compensation Decisions

The CEO periodically reviews the performance of
each of the NEOs, excluding himself, develops
preliminary recommendations regarding salary
adjustments and annual and long-term award
amounts, and provides recommendations to the
Committee. The Committee can exercise its
discretion to modify any recommendations and make
final decisions. The CEO does not participate in
Committee discussions regarding CEO
compensation.
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COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS | ELEMENTS OF COMPENSATION

Elements of Compensation

Our compensation program is primarily comprised of three key components, each designed to be market-
competitive and to help attract, motivate, retain and reward our NEOs.

ELEMENT KEY CHARACTERISTICS OBJECTIVES
* Fixed minimum level of compensation » Reward the executive for day-to-day
execution of primary duties and
responsibilities
Base . } . i . .
sal » Reviewed annually and adjusted if and » Provide a foundation level of compensation
alary when appropriate upon which incentive opportunities can be
added to provide the motivation to deliver
superior performance
» Variable cash compensation component » Motivate and reward NEOs for achieving
annual business goals
» Performance-based award opportunity + Align executives’ interests with the interests
Annual based on annual operational and individual of stockholders
Incentives performance
+ Drive the achievement of key business
results on an annual basis and recognize
individual contributions
» Variable equity-based compensation  Align executives’ interests with the interests
component of stockholders
Long-term » Performance-based award opportunity + Reinforce the critical objective of building
Incentives based on long-term performance stockholder value over the long term
» Focus management attention upon the
execution of the long-term business strategy
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COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS | TARGET COMPENSATION MIX

The maijority of our NEO compensation is performance-based and is issued in the form of both annual and long-
term incentives. Individuals in a position to influence the growth of stockholder value have larger portions of
their total compensation delivered in the form of equity-based long-term incentives. The target mix of the
elements of the compensation program for the CEO and other NEOs is shown in the following charts which
outline the size, in percentage terms, of each element of target compensation.

Target Compensation Mix

CEO Other NEOs

Wl Salary I Annual Incentives [7] Long-term Incentives ] Performance Based
Compensation

Base Salary

Base salary is designed to provide a competitive fixed rate of pay recognizing each employee’s level of
responsibility and performance. In setting base salary levels for NEOs, the Committee considers competitive
market data in addition to other factors such as duties and responsibilities, experience, individual performance,
retention concerns, internal equity considerations, Company performance, general economic conditions and
marketplace compensation trends.

Base salaries are reviewed annually. In 2023, the Committee adjusted salaries awarded to each NEO reflecting
performance in the role and to bring salaries closer to competitive market levels for similar positions.

The following table shows the annual base salary rates for each of the NEOs effective February 1, 2022 and
February 1, 2023:

2022 2023

SALARY SALARY
NAME TITLE ($) ($)
R. Andrew Clyde President & CEO 1,235,000 1,272,050

. EVP & COO

ol LS e (formerly EVP Fuels, CFO & Treasurer) 725,000 750,000
Renee M. Bacon SVP S&0 & CMO 460,000 485,000
Robert J. Chumley SVP & CDO 455,000 470,000
Chris A. Click EVP, Strategy, Growth & Innovation 430,000 470,000

(formerly SVP Strategy & Development)
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COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS | ANNUAL INCENTIVE PLAN

Annual Incentive Plan

We provide annual incentives for our executive officers through our Murphy USA Inc. 2019 Annual Incentive
Plan, as amended and restated (the “AlIP”). The primary objective of the AIP is to align corporate and individual
goals with stockholder interests and Company strategy and to reward employees for their performance relative
to those goals. Murphy USA targets the median of market pay levels for target annual incentive compensation.

The actual bonus earned by executives may be above or below the median of market pay levels based on
actual Murphy USA performance.

The Committee reviews market data annually with respect to competitive pay levels and sets specific bonus
opportunities for each of our NEOs. The annual bonus target for Mr. Clyde was increased for 2023 to better
align with similarly situated positions within the peer group. Outside of Mr. Clyde, no adjustments were made to
the NEOs' annual bonus target for 2023. The following table shows target bonuses as a percentage of base
salary for each of the NEOs in 2023:

TARGET BONUS AS A
NAME TITLE % OF SALARY
R. Andrew Clyde President & CEO 150
. EVP & COO
7L UGS (formerly EVP Fuels, CFO & Treasurer) 85
Renee M. Bacon SVP S&0 & CMO 70
Robert J. Chumley SVP & CDO 70
Chris A. Click EVP, Strategy, Growth & Innovation 70

(formerly SVP Strategy & Development)

Each NEO’s actual AIP bonus payment is determined by multiplying their target bonus amount by the corporate
performance weighted performance score, as described below. The Committee has the authority to exercise
negative discretion to reduce an NEO’s bonus payout based on subjective individual criteria to determine the
final payout amount. The NEO’s actual AIP bonus payment may not exceed 200% of their target amount.

2023 Corporate Performance

For 2023, the AIP metrics for the Company consisted of Adjusted EBITDA, Fuel Volume, Fuel Margin
Contribution, Merchandise Margin Contribution, and profitability as measured by Coverage Ratio. The
Committee believes the combination of these metrics reflected the overall key goals and objectives for the
Company for 2023.

The Company delivered strong results in 2023, exceeding its targets for Adjusted EBITDA and Fuel
Contribution.
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COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS | ANNUAL INCENTIVE PLAN

The following table summarizes the AIP performance metrics and corresponding weightings used in determining
annual incentive award payouts for our NEOs and the weighted performance scores for each based on actual
performance during 2023:

PAYOUT WEIGHTED
THRESHOLD TARGET MAXIMUM % OF PERFORMANCE
WEIGHTING (50% (100% (200% TARGET SCORE
METRIC (%) PAYOUT) PAYOUT) PAYOUT) ACTUAL (%) (%)
Adjusted EBITDA ($MMm)" 40 800.0 950.0 1,100.0 1,0585 172.4 68.9
Fuel Volume (K-gal APSM)? 20 236.0 244.6 252.0 242.0 85.1 17.0
Fuel Contribution ($MM)® 10 1,173.0 1,408.0 1,512.0 1,507.6 1958 19.6
Merchandise Contribution 15 789.0 8050 8210 8034 949 14.2
($MM)
Coverage Ratio (%) 15 97.7 99.6 101.5 98.0 57.9 8.7
Total 100 128.4

(1) Adjusted EBITDA is computed by adding net income (loss) plus net interest expense, plus income tax expense, depreciation and amortization, and
Adjusted EBITDA adds back (i) other non-cash items (e.g., impairment of properties and accretion of asset retirement obligations) and (ii) other items that
management does not consider to be meaningful in assessing our operating performance (e.g., (income/loss) from discontinued operations, net
settlement proceeds, (gain) loss on sale of assets, transaction and integration costs related to acquisitions and other non-operating (income) expense).
Please refer to the reconciliation in Appendix A.

(2) Thousands of gallons average per store month (APSM) for all stores in full month of operation.

(38) Fuel Contribution means the overall profit (margin) made on fuel volume sold after applicable expenses are paid and is calculated (i)(A) petroleum product
sales plus (B) RINs and other, less (ii) petroleum product cost of goods sold.

(4) Merchandise Contribution means the overall profit (margin) made on merchandise sales after applicable cost of goods sold.

(5) Coverage Ratio is computed by dividing Merchandise Contribution by OpEx plus allocated G&A and other expenses.

Individual Performance Overall Performance and Payouts

In addition to the corporate performance component
for 2023, the AIP permitted the Committee to exercise
its discretion to adjust an NEO’s award based on the
Committee’s subjective review of his or her
performance relative to the achievement of the
metrics outlined above, business plan execution and
other qualitative results. We believe that it is
important to include this component in our AIP in
order to take into account NEO performance that, in
the Committee’s opinion, justifies an adjustment in
the amount otherwise payable to a NEO based on
objective corporate performance. Overall, amounts
earned under the AIP cannot exceed 200% of target.
In 2023, the Committee believed that our NEOSs’
individual performance was appropriately reflected in
our corporate performance results. Thus, the
Committee opted not to make any adjustments to the
awards earned by our NEOs and payable under the
AIP based on our corporate performance.

After certifying the results relative to our performance
metrics and  considering each individual's
contributions throughout the year, the Committee
approved the following payments for our NEOs for
2023:

BONUS ACTUAL
TARGET AIP % BONUS

NAME ($) ACHIEVED ($)
R. Andrew Clyde 1,893,152 128.4 2,430,808
Mindy K. West 635,730 128.4 816,277
Renee M. Bacon 338,042 128.4 434,046
Robert J. Chumley 328,125 128.4 421,313
Chris A. Click 326,667 128.4 419,440
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COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LONG-TERM INCENTIVE COMPENSATION

Long-Term Incentive Compensation

In 2023, we provided share based, long-term
incentive compensation to our executive officers
through our stockholder-approved Murphy USA Inc.
2013 Long-Term Incentive Plan, as amended and
restated effective as of February 9, 2017 (the “2013
Plan”). Following the approval by our stockholders
of the Murphy USA Inc. 2023 Omnibus Incentive
Plan (the “2023 Plan”) at our 2023 Annual Meeting,
equity awards granted to our executive officers are
made under the 2023 Plan.

Long-term incentive levels for Murphy USA's
officers are targeted at the median of competitive
market pay levels. The program provides for a
variety of stock and share-based awards, including
stock options and RSUs, each of which vests over
a three-year period, as well as PSUs that are
earned based on the Company’s achievement of
two equally-weighted objective performance goals
over a three-year period. We believe that these

awards create a powerful link between the creation
of stockholder value and executive pay delivered. In
addition, we believe that the balance between
absolute and relative performance achieved
through the use of stock options, return on average
capital employed ROACE-based PSUs and relative
TSR-based PSUs is appropriate and complement
the performance measures we utilize under our AlP.
In order for executives to fully realize their targeted
opportunities, Murphy USA must both successfully
achieve its long-term goals and outperform its
peers.

Effective with awards granted in 2023, outstanding
equity awards will vest on a modified “double-
trigger basis” in the event of a change in control,
meaning equity awards will only accelerate in the
event the award recipient experiences a qualifying
termination within two years of a change in control
or if the acquiring entity fails to assume or
substitute such awards.

MURPHY USA INC. 2024 PROXY STATEMENT
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COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

STOCK OPTIONS

RESTRICTED STOCK UNITS

LONG-TERM INCENTIVE COMPENSATION

PERFORMANCE STOCK UNITS

Weighting 25% 25% 50%

» Provide a direct link between Drive behaviors to create value |« Align executives’ interests with
executive officer compensation for stockholders by linking the interests of stockholders
and Iirr:e I\éalue delivered to execI:(utl\{e comr?ensatlon to - Reinforce the critical objective
stockholders stock price performance of building stockholder value

Objectives Encourage retention over the long term
* Focus management attention
upon the execution of the long-
term business strategy
While no express performance While no express performance |+ 50% - ROACE
ponditions, stock options are cqnditiong RSU§ are inherently |, 50% - TSR relative to our
Perf inherently performance-based, aligned with the interests of our performance peer group
Ce g_rtr_nance as option holders only realize stockholders because their
onditions benefits if the value of our ultimate value is directly linked
stock increases following the to future appreciation in our
grant date share price
Term Seven years Three years * Three years
Vest in two equal installments Cliff vest on the third « CIiff vest after three years upon
Vesting on the second and third anniversary of the grant date certification of results
anniversaries of the grant date
Upon exercise, participant Participant acquires unrestricted [+ Payment made in unrestricted
acquires net common shares at shares of common stock upon shares of common stock at the
the previously defined exercise vesting end of three years upon
price approval of performance
results by the Committee
Payout + Payouts at 50% of target for
threshold level of performance
» Maximum payouts capped at
200% of target
* N/A * Dividend equivalent units are » Dividend equivalent units are
accumulated during the 3 year accumulated during the
Dividend vesting period and pay out only performance period and pay
lvidends if the underlying RSUs vest out only to the extent that the
underlying PSUs vest and are
earned
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COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS | EMPLOYEE BENEFITS AND PERQUISITES

Performance Stock Units

Vesting for 50% of the PSUs granted in 2023 will be
based on Murphy USA's TSR performance between
2023 and 2025 relative to the Company’s
performance peer group (which is the same as the
compensation peer group on page 30). The
Committee considers relative TSR an appropriate
metric as it aligns the pay for our officers to the
appreciation (or reduction) our stockholders receive
in their investment in Murphy USA. TSR
achievement and corresponding payout levels are
as follows:

PERCENTILE

RANK PAYOUT
RELATIVE % OF
ACHIEVEMENT LEVEL TO PEERS TARGET™"
Maximum >75th 200
Target 50th 100
Threshold 25th 50
Below Threshold <25th 0

(1) Payout will be interpolated on a linear basis for performance
between levels of achievement

THRESHOLD

WEIGHTING (50%
METRIC (%)
ROACE (%) 50 10.0
Relative TSR (Percentile Rank) 50 25th
Total 100

Employee Benefits and Perquisites

Murphy USA's executives are provided usual and
customary employee benefits available to all
employees (except certain hourly retail employees).
These include a qualified defined contribution plan
(401(k)) (“Savings Plan”), health insurance, life
insurance, accidental death and dismemberment
insurance, medical and dental insurance, vision
insurance and long-term disability insurance.

The purpose of the Savings Plan, a tax-qualified
defined contribution retirement plan, is to provide
retirement benefits for all the employees of Murphy
USA who participate. All employees are allowed to
contribute on a pre-tax basis up to 25 percent of their
eligible pay. The Company matches contributions,
dollar-for-dollar, up to the first six percent of base pay.
Participating employees, including the NEOs, are
immediately vested in all employee and Company-
matched contributions.

PAYOUT)

Vesting for the remaining 50% of the PSUs granted
in 2023 will be based on Murphy USA’s three-year
average ROACE performance between 2023 and
2025 as compared to the Company’s three-year
ROACE target set by the Committee at the
beginning of the performance period.

Earned Amounts of 2021 to 2023 Annual PSUs

In February 2024, the Committee certified the
performance results for the 2021 PSUs for the
three-year performance period that ended
December 31, 2023. Under the provisions of these
awards, the PSUs were subject to two equally-
weighted metrics, ROACE and TSR relative to our
peer group. As a result of the Company’s strong
performance, the PSUs were earned at 200% of
target.

The following table summarizes the final
performance metrics and corresponding weightings
used in determining the number of PSUs earned
and the weighted performance scores for each
based on actual performance during the three-year
period:

PAYOUT WEIGHTED
TARGET MAXIMUM % OF PERFORMANCE
(100% (200% TARGET SCORE
PAYOUT) PAYOUT) ACTUAL (%) (%)
115 13.0 26.5 200.0 100.0
50th 75th 941 200.0 100.0
200.0%

Murphy USA provides a Supplemental Executive
Retirement Plan  (“Murphy USA SERP”), a
nonqualified deferred compensation plan, to eligible
executives, including the NEOs. The Murphy USA
SERP is intended to restore qualified defined
contribution (Savings Plan and profit-sharing) plan
benefits restricted under the Internal Revenue Code
of 1986 (the “IRC”) to certain highly-compensated
individuals. The Company funds the Murphy USA
SERP through the use of a rabbi trust. The
Company’s obligations under the Murphy USA SERP
are recorded in the financial statements and in the
event of the Company’s bankruptcy or insolvency, the
assets held by the rabbi trust could become subject to
the claims of the Company’s creditors.

Murphy USA offers limited perquisites to our NEOs
consistent with those offered by our peer group. To
maximize productivity during travel time of our CEO,
the Board has authorized up to 50 hours annually of
personal use of Company aircraft for our CEO as part
of his total compensation package. The value of such
personal use is periodically reported to the

MURPHY USA INC. 2024 PROXY STATEMENT
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COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS | OTHER POLICIES

Committee and is reported as taxable income to the
CEO, with no income tax assistance or gross-ups
provided by the Company.

Reportable values for such personal use is based on
the incremental costs to the Company, as provided in
the “All Other Compensation” column of the Summary
Compensation Table included on page 41 in this
Proxy Statement.

Other Policies
Severance and Change-in-Control Protection

The Company has not entered into any employment,
CIC or termination agreements with its NEOs, other
than with the CEO.

Mr. Clyde is party to a Severance Protection
Agreement (the “SPA”) which was inherited from our
predecessor, Murphy Oil. The SPA provides Mr. Clyde
with certain severance benefits if his employment is
terminated under certain circumstances within 24
months following a CIC. If Mr. Clyde’s employment is
terminated by Murphy USA “without cause” or by Mr.
Clyde for “good reason” within this 24-month window,
Mr. Clyde will be entitled to his earned but unpaid
compensation, a lump-sum severance payment equal
to three times the sum of his base salary and the
average of his last three annual bonuses prior to the
termination date (or, if higher, prior to the CIC),
accelerated vesting of his outstanding equity-based
awards (provided that any performance-based
awards will be paid assuming the target level of
performance), and continued life, accident and health
insurance benefits for 36 months. Mr. Clyde will not
be entitled to any “golden parachute” excise tax
gross-up payments. The SPA provides for an excise
tax cut back to reduce payments to a level such that
the excise tax under Sections 280G and 4999 of the
IRC will not apply (unless Mr. Clyde would receive a
greater amount of severance benefits on an after-tax
basis without a cutback, in which case the cutback
would not apply). Pursuant to the SPA, Mr. Clyde will
be subject to a non-disclosure covenant and non-
solicitation and non-competition restrictive covenants
for 12 months following any such termination.

Effective with awards granted in 2023 under the 2013
Plan and awards granted under the 2023 Plan, in the
event of a CIC, outstanding equity awards which are
assumed or replaced by the acquiring entity will vest
in the event the award recipient experiences a
qualifying termination within two years of a CIC or if
the acquiring entity fails to assume or substitute such
awards (commonly referred to as a modified "double-
trigger" basis). For awards granted prior to 2023,

under the terms of the 2013 Plan, unless otherwise
set forth in an applicable award agreement, in the
event of a CIC, all outstanding equity awards will
vest, become immediately exercisable or payable and
have all restrictions lifted. Any performance-based
awards will be paid assuming the target level of
performance.

Stock Ownership Guidelines

To further align the interests of our officers with those
of our stockholders, the Board expects all officers to
display confidence in the Company through the
ownership of a significant amount of our stock. Under
these guidelines as set forth in the Company’s
Corporate Governance Guidelines, officers, including
our NEOs, are expected to hold Murphy USA
common stock having a value that is equivalent to a
multiple of each officer’s annualized base salary
within five years of assuming their position or, in
some cases, a shorter period of time as determined
by the Executive Compensation Committee. The
targeted multiples vary among the executives
depending upon their position:

* CEO: 5x annual salary
*  EVPs: 3x annual salary
*  SVPs: 2x annual salary
* VPs: 1x annual salary

Because the stock ownership guidelines are a
multiple of each officer’s annualized salary, the value
that must be maintained will increase proportionally
with salary increases. Officers are expected to
achieve targets within five years of assuming their
positions. Shares owned directly by the officers,
including shares underlying RSUs, those owned
indirectly, assuming the officer has an economic
interest in the shares, and shares held through our
employee benefit plans, including the Savings Plan
and deferred compensation plan for executives, are
included in calculating ownership levels. Shares
underlying stock options and unearned PSUs do not
count toward the ownership guidelines. At December
31, 2023, all of our NEOs had met or were on track to
comply with these stock ownership guidelines within
the applicable five-year period.

Likewise, each non-employee director of our Board is
expected to achieve ownership of at least three times
their annual cash retainer within five years of service
as discussed in the Non-Employee Director Stock
Ownership Guidelines and Pledging section of this
Proxy Statement on page 18. As noted above, at
December 31, 2023, all of our directors had met or
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were on track to comply with these stock ownership
guidelines within the applicable five-year period.

The Committee will periodically assess these
guidelines, monitor director and executive officer
ownership levels relative to these guidelines and
make recommendations as appropriate.

Pledging Policy

A director or executive officer may not pledge
Company securities, including by purchasing
Company securities on margin or holding Company
securities in a margin account, until he or she has
achieved the applicable stock ownership target
specified in the Corporate Governance Guidelines.
Once such stock ownership target has been
achieved, such director or executive officer is
permitted to pledge Company securities in
compliance with applicable law, so long as all stock
owned to satisfy the applicable stock ownership
target remains unpledged. Any pledging of shares
must be disclosed to the Corporate Secretary and to
the Board in advance of such pledging. All of our
directors and executive officers are in compliance
with our pledging policy.

Prohibition on Hedging

To ensure that Murphy USA directors and executive
officers, including our NEOs, bear the full risks of
Murphy USA common stock ownership, the Company
has adopted a policy that prohibits all directors,
officers and employees from entering into hedging
transactions that are designed to hedge or speculate
on any change in the market value of the Company’s
securities.

Recoupment and Clawback Policy

In August 2023, the Board adopted a Dodd-Frank Act
mandated compensation recovery policy, providing
for the recovery of applicable incentive-based
compensation from current and former Section 16
officers of the Company in the event the Company is
required to restate its financial results due to the
Company’s material non-compliance with any
financial reporting requirement under the federal
securities laws as required by the Dodd-Frank Act
and corresponding New York Stock Exchange listing
standards.

In addition, our officers are subject to our
Supplemental Compensation Recoupment Policy and

recoupment provisions in the AIP, 2013 Plan and the
2023 Plan in the case of certain forfeiture events.
Pursuant to such arrangements, if the Company
restates its financial statements as a result of
negligent, intentional or gross misconduct by the
recipient, the Committee may, in its discretion, require
that the recipient reimburse the Company with
respect to certain cash and/or equity incentive
compensation. In addition, pursuant to the
Company's Supplemental Compensation
Recoupment Policy, if the Company restates its
financial statements, the Committee may, in its
discretion, recoup excess incentive-based
compensation from certain senior employees. These
misconduct clawback provisions are in addition to our
Dodd-Frank Act clawback policy. In addition to the
clawback policies described above, our CEO and
CFO are subject to any clawbacks that may be
required under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Tax Policy

Section 162(m) of the IRC generally limits the tax
deductibility of compensation paid to NEOs to $1
million annually.

The Committee has and will continue to retain the
flexibility to design and maintain the executive
compensation programs in a manner that is most
beneficial to stockholders, emphasizing our pay for
performance philosophy, including the payment of
compensation that is subject to the deduction limits
under Section 162(m).

Role of the Compensation Consultant

The Committee has retained Mercer (US) LLC
(“Mercer’) as its independent compensation
consultant. Mercer provides executive and director
compensation consulting services to the Committee,
regularly attends Committee meetings, reports
directly to the Committee on matters relating to
compensation for our NEOs and participates in
executive sessions without management present.
Mercer provides advice and analyses to the
Committee on the design and level of executive and
director compensation. In connection with their
services to the Committee, Mercer works with
executive management and the corporate human
resources team to formalize proposals for the
Committee. The Committee has assessed the
independence of Mercer pursuant to SEC rules and
concluded that Mercer’s work for the Committee does
not raise any conflicts of interest.
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Compensation-Based Risk Assessment

In February 2024, the Committee completed a review
of the Company’s policies and practices of
compensating its employees (including non-
executives) as they relate to the Company’s risk
management profile to determine whether these
policies and practices create risks that are reasonably
likely to have a material adverse effect on the
Company. As a result of this review, the Committee
concluded that any risks arising from the Company’s
compensation policies and practices for its
employees were not reasonably likely to have a
material adverse effect on the Company.

Compensation Committee Report

The Executive Compensation Committee has
reviewed and discussed with management the
foregoing Compensation Discussion and Analysis.
Based on the review and discussions, the Executive
Compensation Committee recommended to the

Board that the Compensation Discussion and
Analysis be included in the Company’s Proxy
Statement.

Executive Compensation Committee:
Claiborne P. Deming (Chair)

David L. Goebel

Fred L. Holliger

James W. Keyes

David B. Miller

R. Madison Murphy

Jack T. Taylor
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Further information with respect to the compensation paid to the NEOs is set forth in the following tables:

2023 Summary Compensation Table

CHANGE IN
PENSION VALUE
AND
NONQUALIFIED
NON-EQUITY DEFERRED
STOCK OPTION INCENTIVE PLAN COMPENSATION ALL OTHER

NAME AND SALARY BONUS AWARDS!! AWARDS® COMPENSATION® EARNINGS®  COMPENSATION®  TOTAL
PRINCIPAL POSITION (%) (%) (%) (%) (%) (%) (%) ($)
R. Andrew Clyde 2023 1,268,963 — 4,928,555 1,531,569 2,430,808 — 398,234 10,558,129
President & CEO 2022 1235000 — 4,537,169 1,332,814 2,694,384 — 558,008 10,357,375

2021 1,232,084 — 3,888,885 1,171,200 1,904,493 — 441,495 8,638,157
Mindy K. West 2023 747917 — 1,071,425 336,414 816,277 66,737 204,725 3,243,495
EVP & COO 2022 722917 — 963372 288176 960,431 — 184,953 3,119,849
(formerly EVP Fuels,
CFO & Treasurer) 2021 697,917 — 966,966 291,200 676,027 5,639 168,215 2,805,964
Renee M. Bacon 2023 482,917 — 514284 150,501 434,046 — 109,616 1,691,364
SVP S&0 & CMO 2022 458751 — 435071 133796 501,919 — 103,061 1,632,598

2021 442,917 — 420,420 128,000 354,998 — 90,143 1,436,478
Robert J. Chumley 2023 468,750 — 471,427 150,501 421,313 — 96,795 1,608,786
SVP & CDO 2022 454167 — 466,148 133,796 496,904 — 95,005 1,646,020

2021 444167 — 462,462 140,800 356,000 — 87,774 1,491,203
Chris A. Click 2023 466,667 — 471,427 150,501 419,440 — 87,952 1,595,987
EVP Strategy, Growth &
Innovation
(formerly SVP Strategy
& Development)

(1) The amounts shown represent the grant date fair value of both PSU, RSU and dividend equivalent unit awards granted in 2021, 2022 and 2023 as
computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718, excluding the effect of estimated forfeitures, as more fully described in the Incentive Plans footnote to
the consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the years ended December 31, 2021, December 31, 2022, and
December 31, 2023. Amounts shown relating to PSUs and related dividend equivalent units were calculated based on the probable outcome of
performance conditions as of the grant date, which was the target level, computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718 excluding the effect of
estimated forfeitures. For the 2023 grant, if the maximum payout were shown for the PSUs and related dividend equivalent units, the expense amounts
that would be recognized would be: $4,928,555 for Mr. Clyde, $1,071,425 for Ms.West, $514,284 for Ms. Bacon, $471,427 for Mr. Chumley, and $471,427
for Mr. Click, although the value of the actual payout to the NEO would depend on the stock price at the time of the payout. If the minimum payout were
used, the amounts for PSUs and related dividend equivalent units would be reduced to zero. The RSUs and related dividend equivalent units generally
vest three years from the date of grant of the RSUs. The PSUs and related dividend equivalent units vest three years from the date of grant of the PSUs
based on the Company’s performance relative to two equally-weighted metrics, ROACE and TSR relative to its peers. There is no assurance that the
value realized by the executive will be at or near the value included in the table.

(2) The amounts shown represent the grant date fair value as computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718, excluding the effect of estimated
forfeitures, as more fully described in the Incentive Plans footnote to our consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the years ended December 31, 2021, December 31, 2022, and December 31, 2023. Options granted generally vest in two equal installments on the
second and third anniversaries of the grant date. The options are exercisable for a period of seven years from the date of grant. The actual value, if any,
an executive may realize will depend on the excess of the stock price over the exercise price on the date the option is exercised. There is no assurance
that the value realized by each NEO will be at or near the value disclosed.

(3)  Amounts shown for 2023 reflect payments under our AIP, which were paid in March 2024. Amounts shown for 2022 reflect payments under our AIP, which
were paid in February 2023. Amounts shown for 2021 reflect payments under our AIP, which were paid in February 2022.

(4) The amounts shown in this column reflect for Ms. West the annual change in accumulated benefits under her accounts in the Murphy Oil Supplemental
Executive Retirement Plan (“Murphy Oil SERP”), liability for which was assumed by Murphy USA in connection with the Spin-Off. See Pension Benefits
Table included on page 46 in this Proxy Statement for more information. There are no deferred compensation earnings reported in this column, as the
Company’s non-qualified deferred compensation plans do not provide above-market or preferential earnings. See the 2023 Non-qualified Deferred
Compensation Table included on page 47 in this Proxy Statement for more information. Where the annual change in accumulated benefits was negative, it
was excluded from this column and from the Summary Compensation Table Total column.

(5) We offer limited perquisites to our NEOs which, together with Company contributions to our qualified savings and nonqualified defined contribution plans,
comprise the All Other Compensation column. In 2023, the total amounts were as follows:
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TOTAL CONTRIBUTION

TO DC PLANS® TERM LIFE® OTHER®

($) ($) ($)
R. Andrew Clyde 295,953 540 101,741
Mindy K. West 170,846 540 33,339
Renee M. Bacon 85,988 540 23,088
Robert J. Chumley 84,888 540 11,367
Chris A. Click 77,212 540 10,200

(@) Company contributions to qualified and nonqualified defined contribution plans.

(b) Benefit attributable to Company-provided term life insurance policy.

(c) Amounts reported in this column for 2023 for our NEOs reflect payments made by the Company related to supplemental insurance premiums,
contributions made by the company on the NEOs’ behalf to charitable organizations under the Company's gift matching program, as well as health and
welfare benefits including annual executive physicals that are offered to all of our NEOs. For Mr. Clyde, the amount shown includes $57,891, for personal
use of corporate aircraft based on the aggregate incremental cost to the Company. The aggregate incremental cost to the Company is calculated by
multiplying, for each trip, the statutory miles times the 12-month average direct cost per statutory mile for the airplane used. The direct costs utilized in the
calculation include: travel expenses for the aviation crew, communications expenses, landing fees, fuel and lubrication, contract maintenance and repairs,
and the provision allocated for the overhaul of the engines. For Mr. Clyde and Ms.West, the amount shown includes contributions made on their behalf to
charitable organizations under the Company’s gift matching program of $37,596 and $32,500, respectively. For Ms. Bacon, the amount shown includes
the value associated with the personal use of a company vehicle.
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Grants of Plan-Based Awards in 2023

The following table provides information regarding both equity and non-equity incentive plan awards granted to
each NEO during 2023. All awards are described in more detail in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis
section beginning on page 25 in this Proxy Statement.

ALL OTHER ALL OTHER

INCENTIVE PLAN AWARDS!") INCENTIVE PLAN AWARDS® Ss%)%isoo; Usr\llil:?::[IY-IIEISG Pgﬁfo?f A?qESoTr?T?(I)(N
GRANT THRESHOLD TARGET MAXIMUM THRESHOLD TARGET MAXIMUM  UNITS® OPTIONS  AWARDS  AWARDS"
DATE ($) ($) ($) (#) (#) (#) (#) (#) ($/SH) ($)
R. Andrew Clyde 946,576 1,893,152 3,786,304
02/08/23 5,750 11,500 23,000 3,413,545
02/08/23 5,750 1,515,010
02/08/23 17,300 263.48 1,531,569
Mindy K. West 317,865 635,730 1,271,460
02/08/23 1,250 2,500 5,000 742,075
02/08/23 1,250 329,350
02/08/23 3,800 263.48 336,414
Renee M. Bacon 169,021 338,042 676,084
02/08/23 600 1,200 2,400 356,196
02/08/23 600 158,088
02/08/23 1,700 263.48 150,501
Robert J. 164,063 328,125 656,250
Chumley
02/08/23 550 1,100 2,200 326,513
02/08/23 550 144,914
02/08/23 1,700 263.48 150,501
Chris A. Click 163,334 326,667 653,334
02/08/23 550 1,100 2,200 326,513
02/08/23 550 144,914
02/08/23 1,700 263.48 150,501

(1)  Threshold and maximum awards are based on the provisions in our AIP. Actual awards earned can range from 0 to 200 percent of the target awards. The
Committee retains the authority to make awards under the program and to use its judgment in adjusting awards downward. Actual payouts for 2023 are
reflected in the “Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation” column of the “Summary Compensation Table” included in this Proxy Statement.

(2) Threshold and maximum awards are based on the provisions of the PSU award agreements. Actual PSU awards earned can range from 0 to 200 percent
of the target awards.

(3) Amounts reflect time-based RSUs, which generally cliff-vest three years after their grant date.

(4) The amounts in this column in respect of the RSUs, PSUs and stock option awards reflect their aggregate grant-date fair values, calculated in accordance
with FASB ASC Topic 718, excluding the effect of estimated forfeitures. The amounts in this column in respect of the PSUs were calculated based on the
probable outcome of the performance condition as of the grant date, which is at the target level, in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. For option
awards, these amounts represent the grant-date fair value of the option awards using a Black-Scholes-Merton based methodology. The actual value
realized by each NEO for these annual equity awards depends on market prices at the time of exercise. There is no assurance that the value realized by
each NEO will be at or near the value included in the table. Assumptions used in the calculation of these amounts are more fully described in the Incentive
Plans footnote to our consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023.
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Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year End 2023

The following table illustrates outstanding Murphy USA annual equity awards

for each NEO as of December 31, 2023.

R. Andrew Clyde 02/06/19
02/05/20
02/10/21
02/09/22
02/08/23
02/10/21
02/09/22
02/08/23
02/10/21
02/09/22
02/08/23

NUMBER OF
SECURITIES
UNDERLYING
UNEXERCISED
OPTIONS
EXERCISABLE
(#)

44,600
35,600
18,300

OPTION AWARDS

NUMBER OF
SECURITIES

UNDERLYING

UNEXERCISED OPTION OPTION

OPTIONS EXERCISE EXPIRATION

UNEXERCISABLE™" PRICE (MM/DD/YY)
(#) $) DATE

— 76.15 02/06/26

= 106.72 02/05/27

126.00 02/10/28

181.18 02/09/29

263.48 02/08/30

NUMBER OF
SHARES OR
UNITS OF
STOCK
THAT
HAVE NOT
VESTED®
(#)

9,409

7,374

5,780
37,634

(stock options, RSUs and PSUs)

STOCK AWARDS

EQUITY
INCENTIVE
PLAN
AWARDS:
MARKET NUMBER OF
VALUE UNEARNED
OF SHARES OR  SHARES, UNITS
UNITS OF OR OTHER
STOCK RIGHTS THAT
THAT HAVE HAVE NOT
NOT VESTED® VESTED®
($) (#)

3,354,873

2,629,273

2,060,917

13,418,779
29,496
23,120

EQUITY
INCENTIVE PLAN
AWARDS:
MARKET OR
PAYOUT VALUE
OF UNEARNED
SHARES, UNITS
OR OTHER
RIGHTS THAT
HAVE NOT
VESTED®
($)

10,517,094
8,243,667

Mindy K. West 02/06/19
02/05/20
02/10/21
02/09/22
02/08/23
02/10/21
02/09/22
02/08/23
02/10/21
02/09/22
02/08/23

12,100
9,200
4,550

— 76.15 02/06/26
. 106.72

4,550

02/05/27
02/10/28
02/09/29

126.00

5,600 181.18

3,800 263.48 02/08/30

2,340
1,566
1,257

9,356

834,350
558,373
448,196
3,335,975
6,264
5,028

2,233,492
1,792,784

Renee M. Bacon 02/05/20
02/10/21
02/09/22
02/08/23
02/10/21
02/09/22
02/08/23
02/10/21
02/09/22
02/08/23

4,100
2,000

— 106.72 02/05/27

2,000 126.00 02/10/28

2,600 181.18 02/09/29

1,700 263.48 02/08/30

1,018
708
604

4,068

362,978
252,444
215,362
1,450,486
2,832
2,416

1,009,778
861,449

Robert J. Chumley 02/06/19
02/05/20
02/10/21
02/09/22
02/08/23
02/10/21
02/09/22
02/08/23
02/10/21
02/09/22

02/08/23

6,100
4,600
2,200

— 76.15 02/06/26

— 106.72 02/05/27

2,200 126.00 02/10/28

2,600 181.18 02/09/29

1,700 263.48 02/08/30

1,119
758
553

4,474

398,991
270,272
197,178
1,595,249
3,032
2,212

1,081,090
788,711
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OPTION AWARDS STOCK AWARDS
EQUITY EQUITY
INCENTIVE  INCENTIVE PLAN
PLAN AWARDS:
AWARDS: MARKET OR
NUMBER OF MARKET NUMBER OF  PAYOUT VALUE
NUMBER OF NUMBER OF SHARES OR VALUE UNEARNED OF UNEARNED
SECURITIES SECURITIES UNITS OF OF SHARES OR  SHARES, UNITS  SHARES, UNITS
UNDERLYING UNDERLYING STOCK UNITS OF OR OTHER OR OTHER
UNEXERCISED UNEXERCISED OPTION OPTION THAT STOCK RIGHTS THAT RIGHTS THAT
OPTIONS OPTIONS EXERCISE EXPIRATION  HAVE NOT THAT HAVE HAVE NOT HAVE NOT
EXERCISABLE UNEXERCISABLE!" PRICE (MM/DD/YY) VESTED® NOT VESTED® VESTED® VESTED®
#) #) $) DATE #) $) #) $)
Chris A. Click 02/10/21 — 1,700 126.00 02/20/28
02/09/22 — 2,400 181.18 02/09/29
02/08/23 — 1,700 263.48 02/08/30
02/10/21 865 308,424
02/09/22 708 252,444
02/08/23 553 197,178
02/10/21 3,458 1,232,984
02/09/22 2,832 1,009,778
02/08/23 2,212 788,711

(1) Stock options vest 50 percent on the two-year anniversary of the original grant date with the remaining 50 percent vesting on the three-year anniversary of
the original grant date. All options expire seven years after the original grant date.

(2) RSUs generally vest on the three-year anniversary of the date on which they were originally granted.

(3) Value was determined based on a December 29, 2023 closing stock price of $356.56 per share.

(4) The amounts shown represent the number of outstanding PSUs that remain subject to performance conditions. These numbers represent PSUs that each
NEO would receive assuming the performance conditions are achieved at maximum (200 percent). The actual numbers of PSUs earned at the end of the
performance period will be based on Company performance. To the extent earned, these outstanding PSUs will cliff-vest on the three-year anniversary of
the grant date once results have been certified.

(5) Reflects the number of PSUs determined to be earned for the performance period ended December 31, 2023, which were vested and settled early in
2024.
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Option Exercises and Stock Vested in 2023

The following table summarizes the value received by each NEO from stock option exercises and stock grants
that vested during 2023.

OPTION AWARDS STOCK AWARDS
NUMBER OF NUMBER OF
SHARES VALUE SHARES VALUE
ACQUIREDON REALIZEDON ACQUIREDON  REALIZED ON
EXERCISE EXERCISE™" VESTING VESTING®
(#) ($) (#) ($)
R. Andrew Clyde 38,400 9,444,864 47,905 12,528,978
Mindy K. West — — 24,974 7,203,942
Renee M. Bacon — — 5,575 1,458,075
Robert J. Chumley 6,700 1,446,128 6,335 1,656,844
Chris A. Click 1,700 296,820 — —

(1)  The value shown reflects the pre-tax gain realized upon the exercise of options, which is the difference between the fair market value on the date of
exercise and the exercise price of the options.

(2) The amounts shown in this column reflect the pre-tax gain realized upon vesting of RSUs and PSUs, which is the fair market value of the shares on the
date of vesting.

2023 Pension Benefits Table

The following table presents the value of the frozen accrued benefits of the NEOs under the defined benefit
portion of the Murphy Oil SERRP, liability for which was assumed by Murphy USA in connection with the Spin-Off.
Murphy Oil remains responsible for all accrued benefits to our NEOs under the tax-qualified Murphy Oil
Retirement Plan.

NUMBER OF PRESENT
YEARS OF VALUE OF PAYMENTS

CREDITED ACCUMULATED DURING LAST
SERVICE® BENEFIT FISCAL YEAR
PLAN NAME®" (#) ($) ($)
R. Andrew Clyde — — — —

Mindy K. West Murphy USA Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan 17.247 754,157 —

Renee M. Bacon — — — _
Robert J. Chumley — — — —
Chris A. Click — — — _

(1) Liabilities for benefits accrued for NEOs and other executive employees under the defined contributions portion of the Murphy Oil SERP were transferred
to the Murphy USA SERP effective on the date of the Spin-Off and are included in the “2023 Non-Qualified Deferred Compensation Table” that follows.

(2) The number of years of credited service reflects the frozen number of years of service credited under the Murphy Oil SERP through the date of the Spin-
Off.

The accrued benefits presented above are based on a final-average-earning calculation. Frozen final average

earnings which could not be included under a tax-qualified retirement plan were as follows: Ms. West, $286,153.

The following assumptions were used in determining the present value amounts at December 31, 2023:

» Discount Rate — 5.33%

* Mortality Table — Pri-2012 White Collar Amount- Weighted Mortality Table projected generationally with
MP-2021 mortality improvement scale

* Assumed retirement date at age 62
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2023 Non-Qualified Deferred Compensation Table

The following table includes the value of the accrued benefits of the NEOs under the defined contribution
portion of the Murphy Oil SERRP, liability for which was assumed by Murphy USA in connection with the Spin-Off,
as well as the benefits accrued by the NEOs under the Murphy USA SERP from the date of the Spin-Off,

through December 31, 2023.

EXECUTIVE

CONTRIBUTIONS CONTRIBUTIONS
IN LAST
FISCAL YEAR®

IN LAST

FISCAL YEAR"
($)

REGISTRANT

R. Andrew Clyde 291,862
Mindy K. West 59,834
Renee M. Bacon 289,461
Robert J. Chumley 89,007
Chris A. Click 7,000

254,803
128,846
44,838
43,738
36,062

AGGREGATE
EARNINGS AGGREGATE AGGREGATE
IN LAST WITHDRAWALS/ BALANCE AT
FISCAL YEAR DISTRIBUTIONS LAST FYE®
($) ($) ($) ($)
1,701,120 — 9,817,790
286,247 — 1,888,055
175,623 — 1,299,447
96,766 — 791,475
7,685 — 74,374

(1)  The executive contributions in the last fiscal year have been included in the “Salary” column for the NEO in the 2023 Summary Compensation Table.
(2) The registrant contributions in the last fiscal year have been included in the “All Other Compensation” for the NEO in the 2023 Summary Compensation

Table.

Potential Payments Upon Termination or
Termination in Connection with a Change-in-
Control

The Company does not have employment, CIC or
termination agreements with its NEOs other than the
SPA with the CEO, which was inherited by Murphy
USA in connection with the Spin-Off from prior parent
Murphy Oil. Effective with annual equity awards
granted in 2023, in the event of a CIC, all outstanding
equity awards which are assumed or replaced by the
acquiring entity will not vest unless the award
recipient also experiences a qualifying termination
within two years of a CIC commonly referred to as a
"modified double-trigger" basis. However, for awards
granted prior to 2023, upon a CIC, all outstanding
equity awards shall vest and become immediately
exercisable or payable, or have all restrictions lifted
that apply to the type of award, with any performance-
based awards being be paid at the target level of
performance.

The SPA with Mr. Clyde provides certain severance
benefits if Mr. Clyde’s employment is terminated
within 24 months following a CIC. If his employment
is terminated by Murphy USA without “Cause” or by
Mr. Clyde for “Good Reason” within this 24-month
window, Mr. Clyde will be entitled to his earned but
unpaid compensation, a lump-sum severance
payment equal to three times the sum of his base
salary and the average of his last three annual
bonuses prior to the termination date (or, if higher,
prior to the CIC), accelerated vesting of his
outstanding equity-based awards (provided that any
performance-based awards be paid assuming the
target level of performance) and continued life,

accident and health insurance benefits for 36 months.
Mr. Clyde will not be entitled to any “golden
parachute” excise tax gross-up payments. The SPA
provides for an excise tax cut back to reduce
payments to a level such that the excise tax under
Sections 280G and 4999 of the IRC will not apply
(unless Mr. Clyde would receive a greater amount of
severance benefits on an after-tax basis without a
cutback, in which case the cutback will not apply).
Pursuant to the SPA, Mr. Clyde will be subject to a
non-disclosure covenant and non-solicitation and
non-competition restrictive covenants for 12 months
following any such termination.

Pursuant to the terms of the applicable annual equity
award agreements, the NEOs are entitled to
accelerated vesting of all or a portion of their
outstanding annual equity awards in the event of
certain qualifying terminations of employment outside
the context of a CIC. These termination provisions
are consistent with the termination provisions
included in annual equity awards with non-NEO
award recipients. In the event of an NEO’s involuntary
termination without cause, RSUs granted in 2023 will
accelerate on a pro-rata basis and all other unvested
annual equity awards (including options, PSUs and
RSUs granted prior to 2023) will be forfeited. In the
event of an NEO’s termination due to death or
disability, (i) RSUs granted in 2023 will accelerate in
full and all other unvested RSUs (including those
granted prior to 2023) will accelerate on a pro-rata
basis, (ii) PSUs will vest on a pro-rata basis, subject
to actual performance measured at the end of the
applicable performance period, and (iii) stock options
granted in 2023 will accelerate in full and all other
unvested stock options (including unvested stock
options granted prior to 2023) will be forfeited. In the
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POTENTIAL PAYMENTS UPON TERMINATION OR TERMINATION
IN CONNECTION WITH A CHANGE-IN-CONTROL

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION |

event of an NEO'’s retirement, then (i) RSUs granted
in 2023 will accelerate in full (so long as such
retirement is more than one year from the grant date
(or else the award is forfeited), and all other unvested
RSUs (including RSUs granted prior to 2023) will
accelerate on a pro-rata basis, (i) PSUs will vest on
a pro-rata basis, subject to actual performance
measured at the end of the applicable performance
period, and (iii) stock options granted in 2023 will
accelerate in full (so long as such retirement is more
than one year from the grant date (or else the award
is forfeited)) and all other unvested stock options
(including unvested stock options granted prior to
2023) will be forfeited.

The Company has no other agreement, contract, plan
or arrangement, written or unwritten, that provides for
potential payments to any other NEOs upon
termination or a CIC.
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The following table presents estimated amounts that would have been payable to our NEOs if the described
event had occurred on December 31, 2023, the last business day of the last fiscal year. Benefits that would be
available generally to all salaried employees are not included in the amounts shown.

CHANGE OF QUALIFIED
CONTROL TERMINATION TERMINATION
(NO QUALIFIED WITH A CHANGE DEATH OR WITHOUT
TERMINATION) OF CONTROL DISABILITY RETIREMENT CAUSE
CATEGORY ($) ($) ($) ($) ($)
R. Andrew Clyde | Severance!" — 10,838,192 — — —
Non-Equity Compensation® 2,430,808 2,430,808 2,430,808 2,430,808 2,430,808
Unvested & Accelerated®
Full Value Awards 17,591,669 24,133,412 18,143,933 16,082,995 629,685
Stock Options 8,761,590 10,371,874 1,610,284 — —
Mindy K. West Non-Equity Compensation® 816,277 816,277 816,277 — 816,277
Unvested & Accelerated®
Full Value Awards 4,177,185 5,521,042 4,223,923 — 136,919
Stock Options 2,031,176 2,384,880 353,704 — —
Renee M. Bacon | Non-Equity Compensation® 434,046 434,046 434,046 — 434,046
Unvested & Accelerated®
Full Value Awards 1,844,356 2,489,407 1,887,640 — 65,607
Stock Options 917,108 1,075,344 158,236 — —
Robert J. Non-Equity Compensation® 421,313 421,313 421,313 — 421,313
Chumley
Unvested & Accelerated®
Full Value Awards 2,007,180 2,598,476 1,999,453 — 60,259
Stock Options 963,220 1,121,456 158,236 — —
Chris A. Click Non-Equity Compensation® 419,440 419,440 419,440 — 419,440
Unvested & Accelerated®
Full Value Awards 1,681,154 2,272,451 1,700,712 — 60,259
Stock Options 812,864 971,100 158,236 — —

Mr. Clyde does not participate in our health insurance program.

Represents three times the sum of base salary, the average of his last three bonus payouts and the cost of Company-provided term life insurance policy.

(2) Non-equity compensation is calculated under the terms of the AIP. Although actual awards, if any, are subject to attaining certain performance-based
targets, for purposes of this table, non-equity compensation is calculated based on actual awards earned in 2023.
(3) Reflects accelerated vesting of unvested equity awards under the applicable scenario, as described in more detail above.

2023 Pay Ratio Disclosure

Pay Ratio

In accordance with the requirements of Section
953(b) of the Dodd-Frank Act and Item 402(u) of
Regulation S-K (which we collectively refer to as the
“Pay Ratio Rule”), we are providing the following
estimated information for 2023:

« the median of the annual total compensation of
all of our employees (except our Chief
Executive Officer) was $19,314; our median
employee is a part-time store employee;

« the annual total compensation of our Chief
Executive Officer was $10,558,129; and

« the ratio of these two amounts was 547 to 1;
we believe that this ratio is a reasonable
estimate calculated in a manner consistent with
the requirements of the Pay Ratio Rule.

SEC rules for identifying the median employee and
calculating the pay ratio allow companies to apply
various  methodologies and apply various
assumptions and, as a result, the pay ratio reported
by us may not be comparable to the pay ratio
reported by other companies.

Methodology for Identifying Our “Median Employee"

To identify the median of the annual total
compensation of all of our employees (other than our
Chief Executive Officer), we first identified our total
employee population from which we determined our
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“‘median employee.” We selected our "median
employee" as of December 31, 2023, from our
employee population of approximately 15,667
individuals. As a marketer of retail motor fuel products
and convenience merchandise through retail stores,
over one-half of our employee population on this date
was comprised of part-time employees.

To identify our “median employee” from our total
employee population, we compared our employees’
total cash compensation for 2023 (which included
base wages and any additional cash awards). In
making this determination, we annualized the
compensation of full-time and part-time employees
who were hired in 2023 but did not work for us for the
entire fiscal year. We identified our “median
employee” using this compensation measure, which
was consistently applied to all our employees
included in the calculation.

Determination of Annual Total Compensation of Our
“‘Median Employee” and Our CEO

Once we identified our “median employee,” we then
calculated such employee’s annual total
compensation for 2023 using the same methodology
we used for purposes of determining the annual total
compensation of our NEOs for 2023 (as set forth in
the 2023 Summary Compensation Table on page 41
of this Proxy Statement).

Our CEO’s annual total compensation for 2023 for
purposes of the Pay Ratio Rule is equal to the
amount reported in the “Total” column in the 2023
Summary Compensation Table.

Pay Versus Performance

The following table sets forth the compensation for
our Principal Executive Officer (“PEO” or “CEQ”) and
the average compensation for our four other NEOs
(non-PEO NEOs), both as reported in the Summary
Compensation Table (“SCT”) and with certain
adjustments to reflect the “compensation actually
paid” (“CAP”) to such individuals, as defined under

SEC rules, for of the years ended December 31,
2023, 2022, 2021 and 2020. The table also provides
information on our cumulative total stockholder return
(“TSR”), the cumulative TSR of our peer group, Net
Income and our Company Selected Measure,
Adjusted EBITDA, over these years in accordance
with SEC rules.

Murphy USA's compensation program is focused on
aligning pay with performance. Adjusted EBITDA,
which encompasses all the moving parts of our
business, serves as the largest component of the AIP,
and half of our PSU program, and is a driving factor
in ROACE. For detail on our executive compensation
programs, see the Compensation Discussion and
Analysis section beginning on page 25.

CAP, like compensation disclosed in the Summary
Compensation Table, does not necessarily reflect the
target value of compensation as approved by our
Executive Compensation Committee or value of
compensation realized by our executives based on
Company and individual performance. Our Executive
Compensation Committee has not used CAP as a
basis for making compensation decisions. In addition,
a significant portion of the CAP amounts shown relate
to changes in values of unvested awards since they
were awarded due to changes in our stock price.
These unvested awards remain subject to significant
risk from forfeiture conditions and possible future
changes in value based on changes in our stock
price. As described in detail in the Compensation
Discussion and Analysis, our PSUs are subject to
multi-year performance conditions tied to two
performance metrics and all of our annual equity
awards are subject to time vesting conditions. The
ultimate values actually realized by our NEOs from
unvested annual equity awards, if any, will not be
determined until the awards fully vest. Please refer to
the Compensation Discussion and Analysis for a
discussion of our executive compensation program
objectives and the ways in which we align executive
compensation with performance.
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VALUE OF INITIAL FIXED $100

INVESTMENT BASED ON:
AVERAGE
SUMMARY AVERAGE
SUMMARY COMPENSATION  COMPENSATION PEER GROUP NET INCOME  ADJUSTED
COMPENSATION  COMPENSATION TABLE TOTAL ACTUALLY PAID TOTAL TOTAL (IN EBITDA (IN
TABLE TOTAL ACTUALLY PAID FOR NON-PEO TO NON-PEO SHAREHOLDER ~ SHAREHOLDER  MILLIONS)®  MILLIONS)”
FOR PEO" ($) TO PEO® ($) NEOs® ($) NEOs“ ($) RETURN® ($) RETURN® ($) ($) ($)
2023 10,558,129 24,863,240 2,034,908 4,042,881 308.75 168.04 556.8 1,058.5
2022 10,357,375 30,079,550 2,014,941 4,755,789 242.30 138.26 672.9 1,190.9
2021 8,638,157 26,515,786 1,929,664 3,839,836 171.82 202.49 396.9 828.0
2020 8,240,299 15,114,368 1,837,547 2,664,564 112.06 141.63 386.1 722.8

(1) Compensation for our PEO, R. Andrew Clyde, reflects the amounts reported in the “Summary Compensation Table” for the respective years.

(2) The dollar amounts shown in this column reflect “compensation actually paid” for the PEO calculated in accordance with SEC rules. As required, the dollar
amounts include (among other items) unpaid amounts of equity compensation that may be realizable in future periods, and as such, the dollar amounts
shown do not fully represent the actual final amount of compensation earned or actually paid to the individual during the applicable years. The
adjustments made to Mr. Clyde’s total compensation for each year to determine CAP are shown in tables below. For information regarding the decisions
made by our Executive Compensation Committee in regards to the Mr. Clyde’s compensation for fiscal year 2023, see the Compensation Discussion and
Analysis section beginning on page 25.

PEO — Reconciliation of SCT Total to CAP Total®

MINUS: GRANT DATE MINUS: CHANGE IN
FAIR VALUE OF PLUS: FAIR VALUE OF ACTUARIAL VALUE OF
AWARDS GRANTED EQUITY CALCULATED USING PENSION BENEFITS
SCT TOTAL ($) DURING YEAR® ($) SEC METHODOLOGY ($) DURING YEAR ($) CAP TOTAL ($)
2023 10,558,129 6,460,124 20,765,235 — 24,863,240
2022 10,357,375 5,869,983 25,592,158 — 30,079,550
2021 8,638,157 5,060,085 22,937,714 — 26,515,786
2020 8,240,299 4,366,338 11,240,407 — 15,114,368

(a) As shown in these tables, the CAP totals represent the SCT totals for the applicable year, but adjusted as required by SEC rules to (1) include the fair
value of current and prior year annual equity awards that are outstanding, vested or forfeited during the applicable year, instead of the grant date value of
awards granted during the applicable year, and (2) exclude any positive aggregate change in the actuarial present value of all defined benefit pension plan
benefits for the applicable year. We note the SEC rules also require CAP to include any actuarially determined service cost or prior service cost under
pension plans for services rendered by the executive during the applicable year. However, our PEO has never participated in any pension plans while with
the Company.

(b) Represents the total of the amounts reported in Stock Awards and Option Awards columns of the SCT for the applicable year.

(c) The fair value of equity component of the CAP calculation was determined in accordance with SEC methodology for this disclosure. Unlike the SCT on
page 41, which requires us to show the grant date value of annual equity awards granted during the applicable year, the CAP table requires us to
calculate equity fair value as follows:

« for awards granted during the applicable year (and which are still outstanding and unvested), the year-end fair value; plus

» for awards granted during prior years that were still outstanding and unvested as of the applicable year-end, the change in fair value as of the
applicable year-end compared against the prior year-end; plus

» for awards granted in prior years that vested during the applicable year, the change in fair value as of the vesting date compared against the prior
year-end; plus

» for any awards granted in the applicable year that vested during the applicable year, the fair value as of the vesting date; plus

+ the dollar value of any dividends or other earnings paid on stock or option awards in the covered fiscal year prior to the vesting date that are not
otherwise included in the total compensation for the covered fiscal year; minus

« for awards granted in prior years that were forfeited during the applicable year, the fair value as of the prior year-end.
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PEO — CAP Fair Value of Equity Calculation

PLUS: CHANGE  PLUS: FAIR VALUE MINUS: FAIR
YEFAIR  PLUS: CHANGE  IN FAIR VALUE AS OF VESTING VALUE AS OF
VALUE OF INFAIRVALUE AS OF VESTING DATE FOR PLUS: DIVIDEND PRIOR YE FOR
CURRENT ASOFYEFOR DATEFORPRIOR CURRENTYEAR  EQUIVALENTS PAID  PRIOR YEAR VALUE
YEAR PRIORYEAR  YEAR AWARDS AWARDS DURING THE YEAR AWARDS OF EQUITY
AWARDS AWARDS THAT VESTED THAT VESTED NOT OTHERWISE FORFEITED FOR CAP
UNVESTED  UNVESTED AS DURING THE DURING THE INCLUDED IN TOTAL  DURING THE  PURPOSES
AS OF YE ($) OF YE ($) YEAR ($) YEAR ($) COMPENSATION ($) YEAR ($) ($)
2023 12,282,968 9,574,342 (1,264,654) — 172,579 — 20,765,235
2022 13,688,240 13,509,920 (1,701,122) — 95,120 — 25,592,158
2021 11,894,697 11,368,046 (333,974) — 8,945 — 22,937,714
2020 6,923,704 3,916,631 400,072 — — — 11,240,407

(38) Reflects the average total compensation for non-PEO NEOs as calculated in the SCT for each of the years shown. Our non-PEO NEOs included in the
table above includes the following named executive officers: (i) in 2023 Mindy K. West, Renee M. Bacon, Robert J. Chumley and Chris A. Click, (ii) in
2022 Mindy K. West, Renee M. Bacon, Robert J. Chumley and Blake H. Segal and (iii) in 2021, Mindy K. West, Terry P. Hatten, Renee M. Bacon, Robert
J. Chumley, and John A. Moore and (iv) in 2020, Mindy K. West, Renee M. Bacon, Robert J. Chumley and John A. Moore.

(4) The dollar amounts shown in this column reflect average “compensation actually paid” for the non-PEO NEOs calculated in accordance with SEC rules.
As required, the dollar amounts include (among other items) unpaid amounts of equity compensation that may be realizable in future periods, and as
such, the dollar amounts shown do not fully represent the actual final amount of compensation earned or actually paid to the individual during the
applicable years. The adjustments made to the non-PEO NEOs total compensation for each year to determine CAP are shown in tables below. For
information regarding the decisions made by our Executive Compensation Committee in regards to the non-PEO NEOs compensation for fiscal year 2023,
see the Compensation Discussion and Analysis section beginning on page 25.

Non-PEO NEOs (Average) — Reconciliation of SCT Total to CAP Total®

MINUS: GRANT DATE MINUS: CHANGE IN
FAIR VALUE OF PLUS: FAIR VALUE OF ACTUARIAL VALUE OF
AWARDS GRANTED EQUITY CALCULATED USING PENSION BENEFITS

SCT TOTAL ($) DURING YEAR® ($) SEC METHODOLOGY® ($) DURING YEAR ($) CAP TOTAL ($)
2023 2,034,908 829,120 2,853,777 16,684 4,042,881
2022 2,014,941 746,020 3,486,868 — 4,755,789
2021 1,929,664 684,245 2,595,545 1,128 3,839,836
2020 1,837,547 663,051 1,562,894 72,826 2,664,564

(@) The CAP total figures were calculated using the same methodology described above in footnote (a) to the PEO “Reconciliation of SCT Total to CAP Total”
tables shown above. The aggregate change in actuarial present value of accumulated benefit under pension plans reflects the amount reported for the
applicable year in the SCT; the amounts shown reflect the annual change in accumulated benefits for the applicable non-PEO NEOs’ accounts in the
Murphy Oil Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (“Murphy Oil SERP”), liability for which was assumed by Murphy USA in connection with the Spin-
Off. However, given that the Murphy Oil SERP has been frozen, there is no applicable service cost or prior service cost to report under the plan.

(b) Represents the average total of the amounts reported in the Stock Awards and Option Awards columns of the SCT for these NEOs for the applicable year.

(c) The fair value of equity component of the CAP calculation was determined using the same methodology described above in footnote (c) to the PEO
“Reconciliation of SCT Total to CAP Total” table shown above, using averages for the included non-PEO NEOs. The specific calculations for the included
non-PEO NEOs for the relevant years are shown in the table below.
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Non-PEO NEOs (Average) — CAP Fair Value of Equity Calculation

PLUS: CHANGE  PLUS: FAIR VALUE MINUS: FAIR
YEFAIR  PLUS: CHANGE  IN FAIR VALUE AS OF VESTING VALUE AS OF
VALUE OF INFAIRVALUE AS OF VESTING DATE FOR PLUS: DIVIDEND PRIOR YE FOR
CURRENT ASOFYEFOR DATEFORPRIOR CURRENTYEAR  EQUIVALENTS PAID  PRIOR YEAR VALUE OF
YEAR PRIORYEAR  YEAR AWARDS AWARDS DURING THE YEAR AWARDS EQUITY
AWARDS AWARDS THAT VESTED THAT VESTED NOT OTHERWISE FORFEITED FOR CAP
UNVESTED  UNVESTED AS DURING THE DURING THE INCLUDED IN TOTAL  DURING THE  PURPOSES
AS OF YE ($) OF YE ($) YEAR ($) YEAR ($) COMPENSATION ($) YEAR ($) ($)
2023 1,576,396 1,290,150 (51,915) — 39,146 — 2,853,777
2022 1,740,793 1,951,451 (217,606) — 12,230 — 3,486,868
2021 1,389,396 1,583,283 (48,393) — 1,346 330,087 2,595,545
2020 1,051,474 665,982 (154,562) — — — 1,562,894

(5) Pursuant to SEC rules, the TSR figures assume an initial investment of $100 on December 31, 2019, the last trading day before the earliest fiscal year
reported in this table. As permitted by SEC rules, the peer group referenced for purpose of the TSR comparison is the group of companies included in the
S&P 500 Retail Select Industry Index calculated in accordance with Item 201(e) of Regulation S-K. The separate peer group used by the Compensation
Committee for purposes of determining compensation paid to our executive officers is described on page 30.

(6) Reflects “Net Income” in the Company’s Consolidated Income Statements included in the Company’s Annual Reports on Form 10-K for each of the years
ended December 31, 2023, 2022, 2021 and 2020.

(7) Adjusted EBITDA is computed by adding net income (loss) plus net interest expense, plus income tax expense, depreciation and amortization, and
Adjusted EBITDA adds back (i) other non-cash items (e.g., impairment of properties and accretion of asset retirement obligations) and (ii) other items that
management does not consider to be meaningful in assessing our operating performance (e.g., (income/loss) from discontinued operations, net
settlement proceeds, (gain) loss on sale of assets, transaction and integration costs related to acquisitions and other non-operating (income) expense).
Please refer to the reconciliation in Appendix A.

Required Tabular Disclosure of Most Important Measures Linking Compensation Actually Paid
During 2023 to Company Performance

The following table sets forth an unranked list of the financial performance measures that we view as the “most
important” measures used to determine our PEO’s and non-PEO NEOs’ Compensation Actually Paid. For
additional information illustrating the link between pay and performance at Murphy USA, please see the
Compensation Discussion and Analysis beginning on page 25.

Performance Measure

Adjusted EBITDA

Relative TSR

Return on Average Capital Employed
Fuel Volume

Fuel Margin Contribution
Merchandise Margin Contribution
Coverage Ratio

Required Disclosure of the Relationship Between Compensation Actually Paid and Financial Performance
Measures

The graphs below compare the compensation actually paid to our PEO and the average of the compensation
actually paid to our non-PEO NEOs, with (i) our TSR, (ii) our Net Income, and (iii) Adjusted EBITDA, which is
our Company Selected Measure, for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, 2021 and 2020. In
addition, the graphs below compare our TSR with our Peer Group TSR. Our performance has positively
impacted our share price and as a result, compensation actually paid amounts for the PEO and non-PEO NEOs
were higher in 2021 and 2022 as equity incentives, which comprise the largest portion of compensation for our
executives, increase in value with the corresponding increase in the underlying stock price. For additional
information illustrating how we link pay and performance at Murphy USA, please see the Compensation
Discussion and Analysis beginning on page 25.
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Compensation Actually Paid vs. MUSA and Peer TSR
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Compensation Actually Paid vs. Adjusted EBITDA*

$35,000 $1,400

g $30,000 $1,200
g 830 r ’
£ >
T $25,000 l $1,000 &
o g
= g
= $20,000 $800
=)
= @
[&] =
< $15,000 $600 o
S >
8 $10,000 sa00 £
3
§  $5,000 $200
O

$0 $0

2020 2021 2022 2023
Fiscal Year
I CEO Pay Average Other NEOs Adjusted EBITDA

*

Please refer to the reconciliation in Appendix A.
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PROPOSAL 4 AMEND THE CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION TO

ELIMINATE SUPERMAJORITY VOTING STANDARDS

Background

Nearly all matters submitted to a vote of stockholders can be approved by a simple majority vote of
stockholders. However, our Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws currently provide that the affirmative vote of
the holders of not less than 66 2/3% of the total voting power of all outstanding securities of Murphy USA
generally entitled to vote in the election of directors, voting together as a single class (the “66 2/3% Threshold”),
is required to amend, alter or repeal certain provisions of our Certificate of Incorporation and for stockholders to
amend any provision within our Bylaws.

In particular, pursuant to Article 9 of the Company’s Certificate of Incorporation, without achieving the 66 2/3%
Threshold, stockholders cannot amend, alter or repeal the sections of the Company’s Certificate of
Incorporation that pertain to: the voting rights of the common stock and any preferred stock (Article 4 Section B);
the Bylaws (Article 5); the powers, size, election, removal and other matters concerning the Board (Article 6); or
stockholder meetings and the rights of stockholders as it relates to special meetings and actions by written
consent (Article 7). In addition, Article 5 of the Company’s Certificate of Incorporation imposes the 66 2/3%
Threshold for stockholders to amend, alter or repeal any section of the Company’s Bylaws.

Rationale and Proposed Change

After a review of evolving corporate governance practices and in response to the stockholder proposal
(Proposal 7), our Board has approved and declared that it is advisable and in the best interests of the Company
and its stockholders to adopt an amendment to the Certificate of Incorporation and recommend that
stockholders approve this proposal. As proposed, Article 5 would be amended to change the voting standard
that applies with respect to stockholder amendments to the Bylaws from the 66 2/3% Threshold to majority of
the total voting power of all outstanding securities of the Company generally entitled to vote in the election of
directors, voting together as a single class (the "Majority of Outstanding Threshold"). In addition, Article 9 would
be amended so that all provisions of the Certificate of Incorporation could be amended by stockholders upon
achieving the Majority of Outstanding Threshold. As required by Delaware law, any amendments to the
Certificate of Incorporation also require the approval of the Board.

The Board has also unanimously adopted a resolution to amend the Bylaws to replace the 66 2/3% Threshold
voting requirements in Section 6.07 thereof with a Majority of Outstanding Threshold. The effectiveness of the
amendment to Section 6.07 of the Bylaws is contingent upon the effectiveness of the amendments
contemplated by this Proposal 4.

If this proposal is adopted, then in the future the stockholders may amend our Bylaws, and amendments to the
Certificate of Incorporation may be approved and adopted by stockholders, if the action is approved by the
Maijority of Outstanding Threshold.

Certificate of Incorporation Amendment

The Board proposes to amend the Certificate of Incorporation by changing the 66 2/3% Threshold in Article 5
and Article 9 to the Majority of Outstanding Threshold, as set forth in Appendix B hereto. For Proposal 4, the
affirmative vote of holders of not less than 66 2/3% of the total voting power of all outstanding securities of
Murphy USA generally entitled to vote in the election of directors, voting together as a single class, is required
for approval.

The foregoing description of the amendment to the Certificate of Incorporation pursuant to this proposal is
qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of Appendix B. Appendix B also includes the amendments to
the Company’s Bylaws that would become effective upon the effectiveness of the amendments contemplated by
this Proposal 4. The Board reserves the ability to abandon these amendments before they become effective,
even if approved by the stockholders, provided the Board publicly discloses that action.

Stockholders are also asked to consider Proposals 5 and 6, which relate to amendments to the Certificate of
Incorporation to eliminate the default supermajority voting standard concerning certain business combinations
and limit certain liability of officers as permitted by Delaware law, respectively. Proposals 4, 5 and 6 are
independent of each other. If Proposals 4, 5 and 6 are each approved by the stockholders, then the Company
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PROPOSAL 4 AMEND THE CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION TO

ELIMINATE SUPERMAJORITY VOTING STANDARDS

intends to file a certificate of amendment to our Certificate of Incorporation that implements all of the
amendments contemplated by Appendix B, C and D. If only one or two, but not all, of these proposals are
approved by the stockholders, then we will file a certificate of amendment that implements only the
amendments to our Certificate of Incorporation that were approved by stockholders.

THE BOARD RECOMMENDS A VOTE “FOR” THE AMENDMENTS TO THE
CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION TO ELIMINATE SUPERMAJORITY VOTING STANDARDS.
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D CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION TO
NATE THE DEFAULT SUPERMAJORITY

PROPOSAL 5 G STANDARD CONCERNING CERTAIN
NESS COMBINATIONS

Background

As discussed in Proposal 4, nearly all matters submitted to a vote of stockholders can be approved by a simple
majority vote of stockholders. However, because our Certificate of Incorporation is silent with respect to certain
business combinations, we are subject to a default provision under Section 203 of the Delaware General
Corporation Law (the “DGCL”). Section 203 requires a supermajority stockholder vote for certain business
combinations between the Company and an "interested stockholder," which is defined to include a person who
acquires ownership of 15% or more of the Company's voting stock, unless the Board approves either the
business combination or the person's 15% or more stock acquisition before the person becomes an interested
stockholder. When the interested stockholder supermajority vote applies, the business combination must be
approved by the holders of at least two-thirds of the voting stock of the Company that is not owned by the
interested stockholder (the "DGCL Threshold").

Rationale and Proposed Change

After a review of evolving corporate governance practices and in response to the stockholder proposal
(Proposal 7), our Board has approved and declared that it is advisable and in the best interests of the Company
and its stockholders to amend the Certificate of Incorporation to remove the DGCL Threshold described above
and to change the voting standard that applies to certain business combinations with interested stockholders to
a majority of the outstanding voting stock of the Company that is not owned by the interested stockholder. If this
proposal is approved, provisions that are substantially similar to Section 203 will be added to the Certificate of
Incorporation, except that the DGCL Threshold will be replaced by a provision requiring an approval by a
majority of the outstanding voting stock of the Company that is not owned by the interested stockholder.

Certificate of Incorporation Amendment

The Board proposes to amend the Certificate of Incorporation by adding Article 10. The affirmative vote by a
majority of all outstanding common stock of Murphy USA entitled to vote thereon is required for approval.

The foregoing description of the amendment to the Certificate of Incorporation in this Proposal 5 is qualified in
its entirety by the full text of the amendment, which is included in Appendix C hereto. The Board reserves the
ability to abandon this amendment before it becomes effective, even if approved by the stockholders, provided
that the Board pubilicly discloses that action.

Stockholders are also asked to consider Proposals 4 and 6, which relate to amendments to the Certificate of
Incorporation to eliminate supermajority voting standards and limit certain liability of officers as permitted by
Delaware law, respectively. Proposals 4, 5 and 6 are independent of each other. If Proposals 4, 5 and 6 are
each approved by the stockholders, then the Company intends to file a certificate of amendment to our
Certificate of Incorporation that implements all of the amendments contemplated by Appendix B, C and D. If
only one or two, but not all, of these proposals are approved by the stockholders, then we will file a certificate of
amendment that implements only the amendments to our Certificate of Incorporation that were approved by
stockholders.

THE BOARD RECOMMENDS A VOTE “FOR” THE AMENDMENTS TO THE
CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION TO ELIMINATE THE DEFAULT SUPERMAJORITY VOTING
STANDARD CONCERNING CERTAIN BUSINESS COMBINATIONS.
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AMEND CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION
PROPOSAL 6 TO LIMIT CERTAIN LIABILITY OF OFFICERS

AS PERMITTED BY DELAWARE LAW

Background

As permitted by Section 102(b)(7) of the DGCL, Article 8, Section (A) of our Certificate of Incorporation provides
that, to the fullest extent permitted by the DGCL, no director of Murphy USA will be liable to Murphy USA or its
stockholders for monetary damages for a breach of the fiduciary duty of care. Pursuant to and consistent with
Section 102(b)(7) of the DGCL, our exculpation provision does not eliminate the liability for any breach of the
duty of loyalty to Murphy USA or its stockholders, any acts or omissions not in good faith or that involve
intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of the law, or any transaction from which a director derived an
improper personal benefit.

Effective August 2022, Section 102(b)(7) of the DGCL was amended to authorize corporations to adopt a
provision in their certificates of incorporation to extend the same exculpation of liability to certain officers, which
include: (a) the president, chief executive officer, chief operating officer, chief financial officer, chief legal officer,
controller, treasurer or chief accounting officer, (b) “named executive officers” identified in a corporation’s filings
with this SEC, and (c) others who have agreed to be identified as officers of the corporation for purposes of the
Delaware long-arm jurisdiction statute.

Rationale and Proposed Change

After a review of evolving corporate governance practices, our Board has approved and declared that it is
advisable and in the best interests of the Company and its stockholders to amend the Certificate of
Incorporation pursuant to and consistent with Section 102(b)(7) of the DGCL to provide for the elimination of
monetary liability of certain officers of Murphy USA in certain limited circumstances (the “Exculpation
Amendment”). The Board believes that there is a benefit to providing Murphy USA’s current and future officers
with protection from certain liabilities and expenses that might otherwise dissuade them from accepting or
continuing their position. Officers, like directors, must make time-sensitive and sometimes challenging
decisions, which can create a risk of investigations, claims or suits to impose liability when evaluated in
hindsight. Pursuant to and consistent with Section 102(b)(7) of the DGCL as currently in effect, the Exculpation
Amendment will generally align the protections available to officers with those available to directors, however, it
will not apply to any claim brought by or on behalf of Murphy USA (such as derivative claims) and instead will
only apply to direct claims brought by stockholders. The Board considered the narrow class and type of claims
for which officers’ liability would be eliminated and concluded that the Exculpation Amendment will not
negatively impact stockholder rights. Finally, Murphy USA is not proposing the Exculpation Amendment in
anticipation of any specific litigation confronting Murphy USA or its officers.

When considering the recommendation of the Board that our stockholders approve this proposal, our
stockholders should be aware that certain directors and executive officers of the Company, such as our
President and Chief Executive Officer and our other “named executive officers”, have interests in the proposal
that may be different from, or in addition to, the interests of our stockholders more generally because they will
receive the liability exculpation protections afforded by the Exculpation Amendment if it is adopted. The Board
was aware of these interests and considered them, among other matters, in reaching its decision to approve the
Exculpation Amendment.

Certificate of Incorporation Amendment

The Board proposes to amend Article 8, Section (A) of the Certificate of Incorporation to eliminate the monetary
liability of certain officers of Murphy USA to the fullest extent permitted by the DGCL. The affirmative vote by a
majority of all outstanding common stock of Murphy USA entitled to vote thereon is required for approval.

The foregoing description of the Exculpation Amendment described within this Proposal 6 is qualified in its
entirety by the full text of the amendment, which is included in Appendix D hereto. The Board reserves the
ability to abandon these amendments before they become effective, even if approved by the stockholders,
provided that the Board publicly discloses that action.

Stockholders are also asked to consider Proposals 4 and 5, which relate to amendments to the Certificate of
Incorporation to eliminate supermajority voting standards and to eliminate the default supermajority voting
standard concerning certain business combinations, respectively. Proposals 4, 5 and 6 are independent of each
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AMEND CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION

PROPOSAL 6 TO LIMIT CERTAIN LIABILITY OF OFFICERS
AS PERMITTED BY DELAWARE LAW

other. If Proposals 4, 5 and 6 are each approved by the stockholders, then the Company intends to file a
certificate of amendment to our Certificate of Incorporation that implements all of the amendments contemplated
by Appendix B, C and D. If only one or two, but not all, of these proposals are approved by the stockholders,
then we will file a certificate of amendment that implements only the amendments to our Certificate of
Incorporation that were approved by stockholders.

THE BOARD RECOMMENDS A VOTE “FOR” THE EXCULPATION AMENDMENT TO LIMIT
CERTAIN LIABILITY OF OFFICERS AS PERMITTED UNDER DELAWARE LAW.
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STOCKHOLDER PROPOSAL - SIMPLE
MAJORITY VOTE

PROPOSAL 7

John Chevedden, 2215 Nelson Avenue, No. 205, Redondo Beach, California, 90278, who owns 50 shares of
Murphy USA common stock, has notified Murphy USA that he intends to present the following proposal at the
2024 Annual Meeting. This Proposal 7 will be voted on at our 2024 Annual Meeting if properly presented by the
stockholder proponent or a by a qualified representative on behalf of the stockholder proponent. Murphy USA is
not responsible for the contents of the proposal or supporting statement.

Proposal 7 — Simple Majority Vote

Shareholder
@ = Rights

Shareholders request that our board take each step necessary so that each voting requirement in our charter
and bylaws (that is explicit or implicit due to default to state law) that calls for a greater than simple majority vote
be replaced by a requirement for a majority of votes cast for an against applicable proposals, or a simple
majority in compliance with applicable laws. If necessary this means the closest standard to a majority of the
votes cast for and against such proposals consistent with applicable laws. This includes making the necessary
changes in plain English.

Shareholders are willing to pay a premium for shares of companies that have excellent corporate governance.
Supermajority voting requirements have been found to be one of 6 entrenching mechanisms that are negatively
related to company performance according to “What Matters in Corporate Governance” by Lucien Bebchuk,
Alma Cohen and Allen Ferrell of the Harvard Law School. Supermajority requirements are used to block
initiatives supported by most shareowners but opposed by a status quo management.

This proposal topic won from 74% to 88% support at Weyerhaeuser, Alcoa, Waste Management, Goldman
Sachs, FirstEnergy, McGraw-Hill and Macy’s. These votes would have been higher than 74% to 88% if more
shareholders had access to independent proxy voting advice. This proposal topic also received overwhelming
98%-support each at the 2023 annual meetings of American Airlines (AAL) and The Carlyle Group (CG).

This is a corporate governance improvement proposal that the Murphy USA Board of Directors should have put
to a shareholder vote on its own initiative years ago.

Please vote yes:
Simple Majority Vote — Proposal 7

BOARD’S STATEMENT IN OPPOSITION TO STOCKHOLDER PROPOSAL 7 - SIMPLE MAJORITY VOTE

The Board recommends that stockholders vote “AGAINST” this proposal. The Board has carefully considered
this proposal and concluded that its adoption is unnecessary in light of the majority voting standards that we are
asking stockholders to adopt in Proposals 4 and 5.

The Company’s own Proposals 4 and 5 will have the effect of eliminating the supermajority voting standards in
our governing documents, making this proposal unnecessary. As described in Proposals 4 and 5, nearly all
matters submitted to a vote of stockholders can be approved by a simple majority of stockholders. However, our
Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws currently impose a 66 2/3% Threshold to amend, alter or repeal our
Bylaws or certain provisions of our Certificate of Incorporation. Moreover, because our Certificate of
Incorporation is silent with respect to business combinations, we are subject to a default provision under Section
203 of the DGCL which relates to stockholder approval of certain business combinations. The Board cannot
unilaterally remove these explicit and implicit supermajority voting standards, as stockholder approval is
required to amend the Certificate of Incorporation under Delaware law. For this reason, as set forth in Proposals
4 and 5, the Board has recommended that stockholders approve amendments to eliminate the supermajority
voting standards within the Certificate of Incorporation, and has adopted a resolution to remove the
supermajority voting standards within the Bylaws, upon stockholder approval of Proposal 4. We believe that the
Company’s Proposals 4 and 5 and the accompanying amendments to the Certificate of Incorporation and the
Bylaws are drafted in a manner that is consistent with market practice. Proposals 4 and 5 align the voting
standards under the Company’s governing documents to a majority of the outstanding voting stock of the
Company voting standard, thereby making this stockholder proposal redundant and unnecessary.

THE BOARD RECOMMENDS A VOTE “AGAINST” STOCKHOLDER PROPOSAL 7 - SIMPLE
MAJORITY VOTE

MURPHY USA INC. 2024 PROXY STATEMENT PAGE 61



SUBMISSION OF STOCKHOLDER PROPOSALS FOR THE 2025 ANNUAL MEETING

Stockholder proposals submitted pursuant to Rule
14a-8 to be included in the proxy statement and
presented at the 2025 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders must be received by the Company at its
principal executive office on or before November 28,
2024 in order to be considered for inclusion in the
proxy materials.

Our Bylaws permit a stockholder, or a group of up to
20 stockholders, owning 3% or more of the
Company’s outstanding common stock continuously
for at least three years, to nominate and include in the
Company’s proxy materials directors constituting up
to the greater of two or 20% of board seats, if the
stockholder(s) and the nominee(s) meet the

requirements set forth in the Company’s Bylaws.
Notice of director nominations submitted under these
proxy access Bylaw provisions must be received no
earlier than October 29, 2024 and no later than
November 28, 2024. Any such nomination is subject
to the proxy access provisions and other
requirements in the Company’s Bylaws.

Other director nominations outside of “proxy access”
and proposals of other business outside of Rule
14a-8 are subject to the advance notice provisions
and other requirements of the Company’s Bylaws. In
the case of the 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders,
notice must be received by the Company at its
principal executive office no earlier than January 9,
2025, and no later than February 8, 2025.

ELECTRONIC AVAILABILITY OF PROXY MATERIALS FOR 2024 ANNUAL MEETING

Important Notice Regarding the Availability of
Proxy Materials for the 2024 Annual Stockholder
Meeting To Be Held on May 9, 2024. This 2024
Proxy Statement and the 2023 Annual Report on
Form 10-K are available, free of charge, at https://
www.proxyvote.com.

In addition, the Company will provide without charge,
upon the written request of any stockholder, a copy of
the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K,
including the financial statements and the financial
statement schedules, required to be filed with the
SEC for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023.

Requests should be directed to Murphy USA Inc.,
Attn: Investor Relations Department, 200 East Peach
Street, El Dorado, Arkansas 71730 or to https:.//
www.proxyvote.com.

The Company will also deliver promptly upon written
or oral request a separate copy of the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K and the Company’s
Proxy Statement, to any stockholder who shares an
address with other stockholders and where only one
(1) set of materials were sent to that address to be
shared by all stockholders at that address.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The management of the Company knows of no
business other than that described above that will be
presented for consideration at the meeting. If any
other business properly comes before the meeting, it
is the intention of the persons named in the proxies to
vote such proxies thereon in accordance with their
judgment.

The expense of this solicitation, including cost of
preparing and mailing this Proxy Statement, will be
paid by the Company. Such expenses may also
include the charges and expenses of banks,
brokerage houses and other custodians, nominees or
fiduciaries for forwarding proxies and proxy material
to beneficial owners of shares.

“Householding” occurs when a single copy of our
annual report, proxy statement and Notice of Internet
Availability of Proxy Materials is sent to any
household at which two or more stockholders reside if
they appear to be members of the same family.
Although we do not “household” for registered
stockholders, a number of brokerage firms have
instituted householding for shares held in street
name. This procedure reduces our printing and
mailing costs and fees. Stockholders who participate
in householding will continue to receive separate
proxy cards, and householding will not affect the
mailing of account statements or special notices in
any way. If you wish to receive a separate copy of our
annual report, proxy statement or Notice of Internet
Availability of Proxy Materials than that sent to your
household, either this year or in the future, you may
contact the Company in the manner provided below

and the Company will promptly send you a separate
copy of our annual report, Proxy Statement or Notice
of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials. If members
of your household receive multiple copies of our
annual report, Proxy Statement or Notice of Internet
Availability of Proxy Materials, you may request
householding by contacting the Company in the
manner provided below.

Requests in this regard should be addressed to:

Gregory L. Smith

Vice President, General Counsel
and Corporate Secretary
Murphy USA Inc.

200 East Peach Street

El Dorado, Arkansas 71730
(870) 875-7600

On March 28, 2024, the Company first mailed the
Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials to
stockholders. The Notice contains instructions about
how to access our proxy materials and vote online or
by telephone. If you would like to receive a paper
copy of our proxy materials, please follow the
instructions included in the Notice.

The above Notice and Proxy Statement are sent by
order of the Board of Directors.

Gregory L. Smith
Vice President, General Counsel
and Corporate Secretary

El Dorado, Arkansas
March 28, 2024

You are urged to follow the instructions for voting contained in the Notice Regarding Availability of Proxy Materials or, if you
received a paper copy of the Proxy Materials, to date, sign and return your proxy card promptly to make certain your shares
will be voted at the Annual Meeting, even if you plan to attend the meeting. If you desire to vote your shares at the meeting,
your proxy may be revoked. If you are receiving a printed copy of the proxy materials, a pre-addressed and postage paid
envelope has been enclosed for your convenience in returning the proxy card.

MURPHY USA INC. 2024 PROXY STATEMENT
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APPENDIX A

NON-GAAP RECONCILIATION

The following table sets forth the Company’s EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA for the five years ended December
31, 2023. EBITDA means net income (loss) plus net interest expense, plus income tax expense, depreciation
and amortization, and Adjusted EBITDA adds back (i) other non-cash items (e.g., impairment of properties and
accretion of asset retirement obligations) and (ii) other items that management does not consider to be
meaningful in assessing our operating performance (e.g., (income) from discontinued operations, net settlement
proceeds, (gain) loss on sale of assets, loss on early debt extinguishment, transaction and integration costs
related to acquisition, and other non-operating (income) expense). EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA are not
measures that are prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted principles (GAAP).

The reconciliation of net income to EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA is as follows:

(Millions of dollars)

Net income
Income tax expense (benefit)
Interest expense, net of interest income
Depreciation and amortization
EBITDA
Net settlement proceeds
Accretion of asset retirement obligations
(Gain) loss on sale of assets
Loss on early debt extinguishment
Acquisition-related costs
Other nonoperating (income) expense
ADJUSTED EBITDA

For the Years Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
$ 5568 $ 6729 § 3969 $ 3861 $ 154.8
177.6 210.9 125.0 123.0 47.6
91.6 82.3 82.3 50.2 51.7

2287 2204 2126 1610 1522
10547 111865 8168 7203  406.3
— — — — (0.1)

3.0 2.7 2.5 2.3 2.1
0.8 (2.1) (1.5) (1.3) (0.1)
— — — — 14.8
— 15 10.4 1.7 —
— 2.3 (0.2) (0.3) (0.4)

$1,0585 $1,190.9 § 828.0 § 7227 § 4226
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APPENDIX B

Proposed amendments to the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Murphy USA, Inc.
pursuant to Proposal 4.

Each of Article 5 and Article 9 of the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation shall be amended
as follows. The text of the proposed amendment is marked to reflect the proposed changes.

ARTICLE 5
Bylaws

The Board of Directors shall have the power to adopt, amend or repeal the bylaws of the Corporation (the
“Bylaws”) solely by resolution adopted by the affirmative vote of a majority of the Whole Board (as defined
below).

The stockholders may adopt, amend or repeal the Bylaws only with the affirmative vote of the holders of net-
less-than-66-2/3%_a majority of the total voting power of all outstanding securities of the Corporation generally
entitled to vote in the election of directors, voting together as a single class.

ARTICLE 9
Amendments

The Corporation reserves the right to amend this-Amended-and-Restated-Certificate-of Incorporation-the

Certificate of Incorporation in any manner permitted by the Delaware Law and all rights and powers conferred

upon stockholders, directors and officers herein are granted subject to this reservation. Notwithstanding the

foregoing, the-provisions-setforth-in-Articles 4(B);— 5,6, 7-and-this-Article 9 no provision within this

Certificate of Incorporation may net-be repealed or amended in any respect, and no other provision may be

adopted amended or repealed wh|ch would have the effect of modlfylng or permitting the circumvention of-the

55 any provision within this Certificate

of Incorporation, unless such action is approved by the affirmative vote of the holders of not less than 66-2/3% _
a majority of the total voting power of all outstanding securities of the Corporation generally entitled to vote in

the election of directors, voting together as a single class.

Proposed amendment to the Bylaws of Murphy USA, Inc. to become effective upon stockholder approval of
Proposal 4.

Section 6.07 of the Company’s Bylaws would be amended as follows. The text of the amendment is marked
to reflect the proposed changes.

Section 6.07 Amendments. These Bylaws or any of them, may be altered, amended or repealed, or new
Bylaws may be made, by the stockholders entitled to vote thereon at any annual or special meeting thereof or
by the Board of Directors. Unless a higher percentage is required by the Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation as to any matter that is the subject of these Bylaws, all such amendments must be approved by
the affirmative vote of the holders of netless-than-66-2/3% a majority of the total voting power of all
outstanding securities of the Corporation generally entitled to vote in the election of directors, voting together as
a single class, or by a majority of the Whole Board.
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APPENDIX C

Proposed amendments to the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Murphy USA, Inc. pursuant
to Proposal 5.

The following Article 10 shall be added to the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation as
follows:

ARTICLE 10
BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

(A) Election Not to Be Governed by Section 203. The Corporation hereby expressly elects not to be
subject to Section 203 of the Delaware Law.

(B) Business Combinations.

1. Notwithstanding any other provision in this Certificate of Incorporation to the contrary, the
Corporation shall not engage in any Business Combination (as defined hereinafter) with any Interested
Stockholder (as defined hereinafter) for a period of three years following the time that such stockholder became
an Interested Stockholder, unless:

(a) prior to such time the Board of Directors approved either the Business Combination or the
transaction which resulted in such stockholder becoming an Interested Stockholder;

(b) upon consummation of the transaction which resulted in such stockholder becoming an
Interested Stockholder, such stockholder owned at least eighty-five percent (85%) of the Voting Stock (as
defined hereinafter) of the Corporation outstanding at the time the transaction commenced, excluding for
purposes of determining the Voting Stock outstanding (but not the outstanding Voting Stock owned by such
stockholder) those shares owned (i) by Persons (as defined hereinafter) who are directors and also officers of
the Corporation and (ii) employee stock plans of the Corporation in which employee participants do not have the
right to determine confidentially whether shares held subject to the plan will be tendered in a tender or
exchange offer; or

(c) at or subsequent to such time the Business Combination is approved by the Board of Directors
and authorized at an annual or special meeting of stockholders by the affirmative vote of at least a majority of
the outstanding Voting Stock which is not owned by such stockholder.

2. The restrictions contained in this Section (B) shall not apply if:

(a) a stockholder becomes an Interested Stockholder inadvertently and (i) as soon as practicable
divests itself of ownership of sufficient shares so that the stockholder ceases to be an Interested Stockholder;
and (ii) would not, at any time within the three-year period immediately prior to a Business Combination
between the Corporation and such stockholder, have been an Interested Stockholder but for the inadvertent
acquisition of ownership; or

(b) the Business Combination is proposed prior to the consummation or abandonment of and
subsequent to the earlier of the public announcement or the notice required hereunder of a proposed
transaction which (i) constitutes one of the transactions described in the second sentence of this paragraph; (ii)
is with or by a Person who either was not an Interested Stockholder during the previous three years or who
became an Interested Stockholder with the approval of the Board of Directors; and (iii) is approved or not
opposed by a majority of the directors then in office (but not less than one) who were directors prior to any
Person becoming an Interested Stockholder during the previous three years or were recommended for election
or elected to succeed such directors by a majority of such directors. The proposed transactions referred to in
the preceding sentence are limited to (x) a merger or consolidation of the Corporation (except for a merger in
respect of which, pursuant to Section 251(f) of the DGCL, no vote of the stockholders of the Corporation is
required); (y) a sale, lease, exchange, mortgage, pledge, transfer or other disposition (in one transaction or a
series of transactions), whether as part of a dissolution or otherwise, of assets of the Corporation or of any
direct or indirect majority-owned subsidiary of the Corporation (other than to any direct or indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary or to the Corporation) having an aggregate market value equal to fifty percent (50%) or more of either
that aggregate market value of all of the assets of the Corporation determined on a consolidated basis or the
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aggregate market value of all the outstanding Stock (as defined hereinafter) of the Corporation; or (z) a
proposed tender or exchange offer for fifty percent (50%) or more of the outstanding Voting Stock of the
Corporation. The Corporation shall give not less than 20 days’ notice to all Interested Stockholders prior to the
consummation of any of the transactions described in clause (x) or (y) of this paragraph.

3. As used in this Section (B) only, and unless otherwise provided by the express terms of this
Section (B), the following terms shall have the meanings ascribed to them as set forth in this paragraph 3:

(a) “Affiliate” means a Person that directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries,
controls, or is controlled by, or is under common control with, another Person;

(b) “Associate”, when used to indicate a relationship with any Person, means: (i) any corporation,
partnership, unincorporated association or other entity of which such Person is a director, officer or partner or is,
directly or indirectly, the owner of twenty percent (20%) or more of any class of Voting Stock; (ii) any trust or
other estate in which such Person has at least a twenty percent (20%) beneficial interest or as to which such
Person serves as trustee or in a similar fiduciary capacity; and (iii) any relative or spouse of such Person, or any
relative of such spouse, who has the same residence as such Person;

(c) “Business Combination” means:

(i) any merger, consolidation, statutory conversion or domestication of the Corporation (other than
a merger effected pursuant to Section 253 or Section 267 of the DGCL) or any direct or indirect majority-owned
subsidiary of the Corporation with (aa) the Interested Stockholder, or (bb) with any Person if the merger,
consolidation, statutory conversion or domestication is caused by the Interested Stockholder and as a result of
such act or transaction paragraph 1 of this Section (B) is not applicable to the surviving entity;

(ii) any sale, lease, exchange, mortgage, pledge, transfer or other disposition (in one transaction or
a series of transactions), except proportionately as a stockholder of the Corporation, to or with the Interested
Stockholder, whether as part of a dissolution or otherwise, of assets of the Corporation or of any direct or
indirect majority-owned subsidiary of the Corporation which assets have an aggregate market value equal to ten
percent (10%) or more of either the aggregate market value of all the assets of the Corporation determined on a
consolidated basis or the aggregate market value of all the outstanding Stock of the Corporation;

(iii) any transaction which results in the issuance or transfer by the Corporation or by any direct or
indirect majority-owned subsidiary of the Corporation of any Stock of the Corporation or of such subsidiary to
the Interested Stockholder, except: (aa) pursuant to the exercise, exchange or conversion of securities
exercisable for, exchangeable for or convertible into Stock of the Corporation or any such subsidiary which
securities were outstanding prior to the time that the Interested Stockholder became such; (bb) pursuant to a
merger under Section 251(g), 253 or 267 of the DGCL; (cc) pursuant to a dividend or distribution paid or made,
or the exercise, exchange or conversion of securities exercisable for, exchangeable for or convertible into Stock
of the Corporation or any such subsidiary which security is distributed, pro rata to all holders of a class or series
of Stock of the Corporation subsequent to the time the Interested Stockholder became such; (dd) pursuant to an
exchange offer by the Corporation to purchase Stock made on the same terms to all holders of such Stock; or
(ee) any issuance or transfer of Stock by the Corporation; provided however, that in no case under items (cc)
through (ee) of this subparagraph shall there be an increase in the Interested Stockholder’s proportionate share
of the Stock of any class or series of the Corporation or of the Voting Stock of the Corporation (except as a
result of immaterial changes due to fractional share adjustments);

(iv) any transaction involving the Corporation or any direct or indirect majority-owned subsidiary of
the Corporation which has the effect, directly or indirectly, of increasing the proportionate share of the Stock of
any class or series, or securities convertible into the Stock of any class or series, of the Corporation or of any
such subsidiary which is owned by the Interested Stockholder, except as a result of immaterial changes due to
fractional share adjustments or as a result of any purchase or redemption of any shares of Stock not caused,
directly or indirectly, by the Interested Stockholder; or

(v) any receipt by the Interested Stockholder of the benefit, directly or indirectly (except
proportionately as a stockholder of the Corporation), of any loans, advances, guarantees, pledges or other
financial benefits (other than those expressly permitted in the immediately preceding subparagraphs (i) through
(iv)) provided by or through the Corporation or any direct or indirect majority-owned subsidiary of the
Corporation.
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(d) “Control”, including the terms “controlling”, “controlled by” and “under common control with”,
means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management
and policies of a Person, whether through the ownership of stock or other equity interests, by contract or
otherwise. A Person who is the owner of twenty percent (20%) or more of the outstanding Voting Stock of any
corporation, partnership, unincorporated association or other entity shall be presumed to have control of such
entity, in the absence of proof by a preponderance of the evidence to the contrary; notwithstanding the
foregoing, a presumption of control shall not apply where such Person holds Voting Stock, in good faith and not
for the purpose of circumventing this Section (B), as an agent, bank, broker, nominee, custodian or trustee for
one or more owners who do not individually or as a group have control of such entity;

(e) “Interested Stockholder” means any Person (other than the Corporation and any direct or
indirect majority-owned subsidiary of the Corporation) that (i) is the owner of fifteen percent (15%) or more of
the outstanding Voting Stock of the Corporation, or (ii) is an Affiliate or Associate of the Corporation and was the
owner of fifteen percent (15%) or more of the outstanding Voting Stock of the Corporation at any time within the
three-year period immediately prior to the date on which it is sought to be determined whether such Person is
an Interested Stockholder, and the Affiliates and Associates of such Person. Notwithstanding anything in this
Section (B) to the contrary, the term “Interested Stockholder” shall not include any Person whose ownership of
shares in excess of the fifteen percent (15%) limitation set forth herein is the result of action taken solely by the
Corporation, provided that, for purposes of this sentence, such Person shall be an Interested Stockholder if
thereafter such Person acquires additional shares of Voting Stock of the Corporation, except as a result of
further action by the Corporation not caused, directly or indirectly, by such Person;

) “Owner”, including the terms “own” and “owned”, when used with respect to any Stock, means a
Person that individually or with or through any of its affiliates or associates beneficially owns such Stock, directly
or indirectly; or has (i) the right to acquire such Stock (whether such right is exercisable immediately or only
after the passage of time) pursuant to any agreement, arrangement or understanding, or upon the exercise of
conversion rights, exchange rights, warrants or options, or otherwise; provided, however, that a Person shall not
be deemed the owner of Stock tendered pursuant to a tender or exchange offer made by such Person or any of
such Person’s Affiliates or Associates until such tendered Stock is accepted for purchase or exchange; or (ii) the
right to vote such Stock pursuant to any agreement, arrangement or understanding; provided, however, that a
Person shall not be deemed the owner of any Stock because of such Person’s right to vote such Stock if the
agreement, arrangement or understanding to vote such Stock arises solely from a revocable proxy or consent
given in response to a proxy or consent solicitation made to 10 or more Persons; or has any agreement,
arrangement or understanding for the purpose of acquiring, holding, voting (except voting pursuant to a
revocable proxy or consent as described in clause (ii) of this paragraph), or disposing of such Stock with any
other Person that beneficially owns, or whose affiliates or associates beneficially own, directly or indirectly, such
Stock; provided, that, for the purpose of determining whether a Person is an Interested Stockholder, the Voting
Stock of the Corporation deemed to be outstanding shall include Stock deemed to be owned by the Person
through application of this definition of “owned” but shall not include any other unissued Stock of the
Corporation which may be issuable pursuant to any agreement, arrangement or understanding, or upon
exercise of conversion rights, warrants or options, or otherwise;

(9) “Person” means any individual, corporation, partnership, unincorporated association or other
entity;

(h) “Stock” means, with respect to any corporation, capital stock and, with respect to any other
entity, any equity interest; and

(i) “Voting Stock” means, with respect to any corporation, Stock of any class or series entitled to
vote generally in the election of directors and, with respect to any entity that is not a corporation, any equity
interest entitled to vote generally in the election of the governing body of such entity. Every reference to a
percentage of Voting Stock shall refer to such percentage of the votes of or voting power conferred by such
Voting Stock.
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APPENDIX D

Proposed amendments to the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Murphy USA, Inc.
pursuant to Proposal 6.

Article 8, Section (A) of the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation shall be amended as
follows. The text of the proposed amendment is marked to reflect the proposed changes.

ARTICLE 8
Indemnification

(A) Limited Liability. A No director or officer of the Corporation shall net be liable to the Corporation or its
stockholders for monetary damages for breach of fiduciary duty as a director or officer, as applicable, to the
fullest extent permitted by Delaware Law. Solely for the purposes of this Section (A), “officer” shall have

the meaning provided in Section 102(b)(7) of Delaware Law, as amended from time to time.
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Part |
Item 1. BUSINESS

Murphy USA Inc. ("Murphy USA", the "Company", "we", "us", or "our") was incorporated in Delaware on
March 1, 2013 and holds, through its subsidiaries, the former U.S. retail marketing business of its former parent
company, Murphy Oil Corporation (“Murphy Oil”), plus other assets and liabilities of Murphy Oil that supported
the activities of the U.S. retail marketing operations. In addition, on January 29, 2021, the Company acquired
Quick Chek Corporation ("QuickChek"), a privately held convenience store chain.

Our business consists primarily of the marketing of retail motor fuel products and convenience
merchandise through a network of 1,733 (as of December 31, 2023) retail stores located in 27 states, of which,
1,577 were branded as Murphy stores and 156 were branded as QuickChek stores. The majority of our existing
and new-to-industry ("NTI") retail gasoline stores operate under the brand names of Murphy USA and Murphy
Express. Plans are under development to transition all Murphy Express branded stores to the Murphy USA
brand name. These locations operate within close proximity to Walmart stores or within preferred markets
across 25 states in the Southeast, Southwest, and Midwest areas of the United States. We also operate a
combination of convenience stores and convenience stores with retail gasoline under the brand name of
QuickChek, which are located in New Jersey and New York. In addition, we market fuel to unbranded
wholesale customers through a mixture of Company owned and third-party product distribution terminals and
pipeline positions. We are an independent publicly traded company, with low-price, high volume fuel retail
outlets selling convenience merchandise through low-cost small store formats and kiosks, as well as larger
format stores that have a broader range of merchandise and food and beverage offerings which are driven by
key strategic relationships and experienced management.

Our business is subject to various risks. For a description of these risks, see “Risk Factors” and
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” included elsewhere
in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Information about our operations, properties and business segments, including revenues by class of
products and financial information by geographic area, are provided on pages 33 through 48, F-12, F-13, F-15,
and F-38 through F-39 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Our Competitive Strengths

Our business foundation is built around five reinforcing strengths which we believe provide us a
competitive advantage over our peers. These strengths support our Company vision which is to “Deliver every
day the quickest, most friendly service and a low-price value proposition to our growing customer base for the
products and markets we serve.”

Strategic proximity to and complementary relationship with Walmart

Of our network of 1,733 retail stores (as of December 31, 2023), the majority are situated on prime
locations located near Walmart stores. We believe our proximity to Walmart stores generates significant traffic
to our existing retail stores while our competitively priced gasoline and convenience offerings appeal to our
shared customers. We continue to collaborate with Walmart on fuel discount programs, mainly Walmart+, which
we believe enhances the customer value proposition as well as the competitive position of both Murphy USA
and Walmart.

Winning proposition with value-conscious consumers

Our competitively priced fuel is a compelling offering for value-conscious consumers. Despite a flat
long-term outlook in overall gasoline demand (increased vehicle miles traveled in a normal economy essentially
offsetting increased fuel efficiency), we believe value-conscious consumers that prefer convenience and service
are a growing demand segment. In combination with our high traffic locations, our competitive gasoline prices
drive high fuel volumes and gross profit. In addition, we believe we are an industry leader in per-store tobacco
sales with our low-priced tobacco products and in total store sales per square foot as we also sell a growing
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assortment of single-serve/immediate consumption items. We continue to provide value opportunities to our
customers through our Murphy Drive Rewards and QuickChek Rewards loyalty programs which reward
customers with discounted and free items based on purchases of qualifying fuel and merchandise, as
applicable.

Low cost retail operating model

We operate our Murphy USA and Murphy Express retail gasoline stores with a strong emphasis on fuel
sales complemented by a focused convenience offering that allows for a smaller store footprint than most of our
competitors. We build a mix of raze-and-rebuild 1,400 square foot stores and NTI 2,800 square foot Murphy
stores which we believe have low capital expenditure, maintenance and utility requirements relative to our
competitors. Many of our Murphy stores require only one or two associates to be present during business hours
and 75% of our stores are located on Company-owned property and do not incur any rent expense. The
combination of a focused convenience offering and standardized smaller footprint stores of our Murphy USA
and Express brands allow us to achieve lower overhead costs and on-site costs compared to competitors with a
much larger store format. Our low cost operating model translates into a low cash fuel breakeven requirement
that allows us to weather extended periods of low fuel margins and which has improved by more than 3 cents
per gallon ("cpg") since our spin-off in 2013.

Distinctive fuel supply chain capabilities

We source fuel at competitive industry benchmark prices due to the diversity of fuel options available to
us in the bulk and rack product markets, our shipper status on major pipeline systems, and our access to
numerous terminal locations. In addition, we have a strong distribution system in which we leverage our scale
and ratability to deliver the most favorably priced products for our Murphy stores and QuickChek stores with
gasoline, further reducing our fuel product costs. By participating in the broader fuel supply chain, we believe
our business model provides additional upside exposure to opportunities to enhance margins and volume, such
as shifting non-contractual wholesale volumes to protect retail fuel supply during periods of constrained supply
and elevated margins. These activities demonstrate our belief that participating in the broader fuel supply chain
provides us with added flexibility to ensure reliable low-cost fuel supply in various market conditions especially
during periods of significant price volatility or delivery difficulties. It would take substantial time and investment,
both in expertise and assets, for a competitor to replicate our existing position, and we believe this continues to
be a significant barrier to any attempt to emulate our business model.

Resilient financial profile and engaged team

Our predominantly fee-simple asset base, ability to generate attractive gross margins through our low-
price, high-volume strategy, and our low overhead costs should help us endure prolonged periods of
unfavorable commodity price movements and compressed fuel margins. We also believe our conservative
financial structure further protects us from the inherently volatile fuel environment. We expect that our strong
cash position combined with availability under our credit facility will continue to provide us with a significant level
of liquidity to help maintain a disciplined capital expenditure program focused on growing ratably through
periods of both high and low fuel margins.

We have acquired through share repurchases approximately $3.0 billion of our common stock in a little
more than ten years of operation. During the year 2023, we repurchased a total of 1,026,300 common shares
for $333.2 million, for an average price of $324.62 per share. Repurchases in 2023 were made pursuant to our
now completed $1 billion 2021 authorization and our $1.5 billion 2023 authorization. As of December 31, 2023,
we had approximately $1.4 billion remaining under our 2023 authorization. Additionally, in order to provide a
consistent and meaningful return of capital to shareholders independent of share repurchases, we raised our
quarterly dividend four times during 2023 from $0.35 per share in Q4 2022 to $0.41 per share, or $1.64 per
share on an annualized basis as of Q4 2023.

We have approximately 15,600 dedicated and hardworking employees as of December 31, 2023, that
are actively engaged to serve the customer, whether it is the external retail consumer or their internal co-
workers. We believe our sustainable business model and organic growth opportunities support an employee
value proposition that makes Murphy USA an attractive place to work.



Our Business Strategy

Our business strategy reflects a set of coherent choices that leverage our differentiated strengths and
capabilities.

Grow organically

We intend for our evolving NTI real estate strategy to be a key driver of our organic growth over the
next several years, which is demonstrated by the over 500 stores that have been added to Murphy USA since
our 2013 spin-off from Murphy Oil Corporation. We expect to build at least 30 to 35 NTI locations and at least
35 raze-and-rebuilds in 2024 and are targeting at least 45 NTI and at least 35 raze-and-rebuilds per year in
future periods, focusing on high-return locations either in high traffic areas, near Walmart Supercenters as a
complement to higher performing existing stores in smaller markets, or by strategic infill in our core market
areas complemented by our supply chain capabilities. While we were previously focused on smaller store size,
we now expect to build more Murphy branded NTI stores that are 2,800 square feet or larger, as well as our NTI
QuickChek branded locations in their existing footprint, which average between 5,000 to 7,000 square feet in
size. Our real estate development team works to maintain a multi-year pipeline of projects that supports
continued ratable expansion in these high-return locations.

Diversify merchandise mix

We plan to continuously evaluate our remaining kiosk strategy in an effort to maximize our store
economics and return on investment. Complementary to that strategy, we are continually refining Murphy
branded 1,400 square foot and 2,800 square foot designs to create a foundation for increasing higher-margin
non-tobacco sales and diversifying our merchandise offerings. Key to achieving the highest potential returns
from our large and small format stores is the development and execution of enhanced food and beverage
("F&B") capabilities by leveraging QuickChek's F&B offering. We expect to further expand merchandise
revenue and margins through our primary supplier relationship with Core-Mark Holding Company, Inc. ("Core-
Mark") and in addition, to optimize our promotional planning, merchandise assortment, and pricing
effectiveness, in order to help boost overall store returns.

Sustain cost leadership position

We believe that sustaining our low cost position is a strategic advantage as a retailer of commodity
products. We are undertaking several initiatives for the purpose of increasing efficiency which should allow us
to continue to beat inflation on per-store operating costs to help sustain low store-level costs. We also believe
that through our planned growth and efficiency initiatives, we can control overhead costs to support an overall
improvement in store returns and keep costs properly scaled as we grow organically. In order to do this
successfully, we will focus on the continued development of our employees and foster an operating culture
aligned with business performance, including cost leadership.

Create advantage from market volatility

We plan to continue to focus our product supply and wholesale efforts on activities that enhance our
ability to be a low-price retail fuel leader and our ability to take advantage of fuel price volatility. We will
continue to invest in capabilities and asset positions that support our supply chain strategy. Our distinctive
business model and supply chain advantage allows us to deliver consistent margins over time and withstand
periods of volatility and uncertainty.

Invest for the long term

We maintain a portfolio of predominantly fee-simple assets and utilize what we believe to be an
appropriate debt structure that will allow us to be resilient during times of volatility in fuel demand, price, and
margin. We believe our strong financial position should allow us to profitably execute our low-cost, high volume
retail strategy through periods of both high and low fuel margins while preserving the ability to re-invest in and
grow our existing stores, brand image and supporting capabilities such as enhancing our food and beverage
offerings. Furthermore, in addition to our store-development capital and investments in new capabilities, we



have diversified our shareholder distribution mechanism to provide consistent return of capital through quarterly
cash dividends and meaningful share repurchase programs as we continue to focus on maximizing shareholder
value.

Industry Trends

We operate within the large, growing, competitive and highly fragmented U.S. retail fuel and
convenience store industry. Several key industry trends and characteristics, include:

» Sensitivity to gas prices among cost conscious consumers, and increasing customer demand
for low-priced fuel;

» Highly fragmented nature of the industry providing larger chain operators like Murphy USA with
significant scale advantage;

« Significantly increased fuel capacity in the marketplace by the addition of NTI retail fuel and
convenience stores, and

+ High levels of consumer traffic around supermarkets and large format hypermarkets, supporting
complementary demand at nearby and cross-promoted retail fuel stores.

Corporate Information

Murphy USA was incorporated in Delaware on March 1, 2013 and our business consists of U.S. retail
marketing operations. Our Murphy USA headquarters is located at 200 Peach Street, El Dorado, Arkansas
71730 and our general telephone number is (870) 875-7600. Our Internet website is
www.murphyusa.com. Our website and the information contained on that site, or connected to that site, are not
incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Shares of Murphy USA common stock are
traded on the NYSE under the ticker symbol “MUSA”.

Description of Our Business

We market fueling products and convenience merchandise through a network of Company retail stores.
We also market to unbranded wholesale customers through a mixture of Company owned and third-party
terminals. During 2023, the Company sold approximately 4.8 billion gallons of motor fuel through our retail
outlets. Below is a table that lists the states where we operate our stores at December 31, 2023 and the
number of stores in each state.

State No. of stores State No. of stores State No. of stores
Alabama 81  Kentucky 48 New York 20
Arkansas 69 Louisiana 80 North Carolina 91
Colorado 37  Michigan 27  Ohio 44
Florida 142  Missouri 50 Oklahoma 55
Georgia 99  Mississippi 55  South Carolina 72
lowa 22  Nebraska 5 Tennessee 93
lllinois 43 Nevada 4 Texas 365
Indiana 39 New Jersey 136 Utah 5
Kansas 7  New Mexico 21 Virginia 23

Total 1,733




The following table provides a history of our store count during the three-year period ended December
31, 2023:
Years Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
Start of period 1,712 1,679 1,503
Acquired — — 156
New construction 28 36 23
Closed or sold (7) (3) (3)
End of period 1,733 1,712 1,679

The following table present the numbers of our owned and leased stores at December 31, 2023:

Located on
Located on Leased

Owned land Property>® Total Stores
Murphy branded’ 1,293 185 1,478
Leased from Walmart? — 99 99
QuickChek*** 10 — 10
Stores with leased land — 39 39
Stores with leased land and buildings — 107 107
Total stores operated 1,303 430 1,733

"Leases for Murphy branded stores are operating leases

2This table excludes 3 locations that were disposed of in prior years but remain subleased from Walmart to the buyer
3Operating leases have an average remaining term, including renewals, of 26 years

“Leases for QuickChek land are operating leases and QuickChek store buildings are finance leases

®Finance leases have an average remaining term, including renewals, of 23 years

We have purchased from Walmart the properties underlying many of our stores, and each of these
properties that were purchased from Walmart are subject to Easements and Covenants with Restrictions
Affecting Land (“ECRs”), which impose customary restrictions on the use of such properties, which Walmart has
the right to enforce. In addition, pursuant to the ECRSs, certain transfers involving these properties are subject to
Walmart's right of first refusal or right of first offer. Also pursuant to the ECRs, we are prohibited from
transferring such properties to a competitor of Walmart.

For risks related to our agreements with Walmart, including the ECRs, see “Risk Factors—Risks
Relating to Our Business—Walmart retains certain rights in its agreements with us, which may adversely impact
our ability to conduct our business.”

For the remaining stores located on or adjacent to Walmart property that are not owned, we have a
master lease agreement that allows us to rent land from Walmart. The master lease agreement contains
general terms applicable to all rental stores on Walmart property in the United States. The term of the leases is
ten years at each store, with us holding four successive five-year extension options at each site. Approximately
half of the leased sites have over 10 years of term remaining, including renewals, should the Company decide
to exercise the renewal options. The agreement permits Walmart to terminate it in its entirety, or only as to
affected sites, at its option under customary circumstances (including in certain events of bankruptcy or
insolvency), or if we improperly transfer the rights under the agreements to another party. In addition, the
master lease agreement prohibits us from selling a leased store or allowing a third party to operate a leased
store without written consent from Walmart.

For more information about our operating leases, see Note 20 "Leases" to the accompanying audited
consolidated financial statements for the three years ended December 31, 2023.



We have numerous sources for our retail fuel supply, including nearly all of the major and large oil
companies operating in the U.S. We purchase fuel from oil companies, independent refiners, and other
marketers at rates that fluctuate with market prices and generally are reset daily, and we sell fuel to our
customers at prices that we establish daily. All fuel is delivered by the truckload as needed to replenish supply
at our Company stores. Our retail inventories of fuel turn approximately once daily. By establishing motor fuel
supply relationships with several alternate suppliers for most locations, we believe we are able to effectively
create competition for our purchases among various fuel suppliers. We also believe that purchasing
arrangements with multiple fuel suppliers may help us avoid product outages during times of motor fuel supply
disruptions. At some locations, however, there are limited suppliers for fuel in that market and we may have
only one supplier. Our refined products are distributed through a few product distribution terminals that are
wholly owned and operated by us and from numerous terminals owned by others. About half of our wholly
owned terminals are supplied by marine transportation and the rest are supplied by pipeline. We also receive
products at terminals owned by others either in exchange for deliveries from our terminals or by outright
purchase.

In addition to the motor fuel sold at our Company stores, our stores carry a broad selection of snacks,
beverages, tobacco products and non-food merchandise, as well as a greater food and beverage offering at our
QuickChek locations. In 2023, we purchased more than 77% of our merchandise from a single vendor, Core-
Mark, with whom we renewed a new five-year supply agreement in January 2021.

A statistical summary of key operating and financial indicators for each of the five years ended
December 31, 2023 are reported below.

As of December 31,

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

Branded retail outlets:

Murphy USA® and Murphy Express 1,577 1,555 1,521 1,503 1,489

QuickChek® 156 157 158 — —

Total 1,733 1,712 1,679 1,503 1,489

Retail marketing:
Total fuel contribution (cpg)’ 31.4 34.3 26.3 25.2 16.1
Retail fuel margin per gallon (cpg)’ 27.6 29.6 21.9 22.9 13.8
Gallons sold per store month (in

thousands) 242.0 2446 2294 219.5 248.3
Merchandise sales revenue per store

month (in thousands) $ 1991 $ 1935 $ 1867 $ 1663 $ 148.7
Merchandise margin as a percentage of

merchandise sales 19.7% 19.7% 19.1% 15.6% 16.0%

' Represents net sales prices for fuel less purchased cost of fuel.

Our business is organized into one reporting segment (Marketing). The Marketing segment includes our retail
marketing stores and product supply and wholesale assets. For operating segment information, see Note 22
“Business Segments” in the accompanying audited consolidated financial statements for the three-year period
ended December 31, 2023.

Competition

The U.S. petroleum business is highly competitive, particularly with regard to accessing and marketing
petroleum and other refined products. We compete with other chains of retail fuel stores for fuel supply and in
the retail sale of refined products to end consumers, primarily on the basis of price, but also on convenience
and consumer appeal. In addition, we may also face competition from other retail fueling stores that adopt
marketing strategies similar to ours by associating with non-traditional retailers, such as quick service
restaurants, supermarkets, discount club stores and hypermarkets, particularly in the geographic areas in which
we operate. We expect that our industry will continue to trend toward this model, resulting in increased
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competition to us over time. Moreover, because we do not produce or refine any of the petroleum or other
refined products that we market, we compete with retail gasoline companies that have ongoing supply
relationships with affiliates or former affiliates that manufacture refined products. We also compete with
integrated companies that have their own production and/or refining operations that are at times able to offset
losses from marketing operations with profits from producing or refining operations and may be better
positioned to withstand periods of depressed retail margins or supply shortages. In addition, we compete with
other retail and wholesale gasoline marketing companies that have more extensive retail outlets and greater
brand name recognition. Some of our competitors have been in existence longer than we have and have
greater financial, marketing and other resources than we do. As a result, these competitors may have a greater
ability to bear the economic risks inherent in all phases of our business and may be able to respond better to
changes in the economy and new opportunities within the industry.

The retail gasoline industry in the United States is highly competitive due to ease of entry and constant
change in the number and type of retailers offering similar products and services. With respect to merchandise,
our retail stores compete with other convenience store chains, independently owned convenience stores,
supermarkets, drugstores, discount clubs, gasoline service stores, mass merchants, fast food operations and
other similar retail outlets. Non-traditional retailers, including supermarkets, discount club stores and mass
merchants, now compete directly with retail gasoline stores. These non-traditional gasoline retailers have
obtained a significant share of the gasoline market, and their market share is expected to grow, and these
retailers may use promotional pricing or discounts, both at the fuel pump and in the convenience store, to
encourage in-store merchandise sales and gasoline sales. In addition, some large retailers and supermarkets
are adjusting their store layouts and product prices in an attempt to appeal to convenience store customers.
Major competitive factors are: location, ease of access, product and service selection, gasoline brands, pricing,
customer service, store appearance, cleanliness and safety.

Market Conditions and Seasonality

Market conditions in the oil and gas industry are cyclical and subject to global economic and political
events, such as Russia's invasion of Ukraine, that upset global supply and demand and impact the price of
crude oil and to new and changing governmental regulations. Our operating results are affected by price
changes in crude oil, natural gas and refined products, pandemics that may lead to travel restrictions or
changed customer behavior, and changes in competitive conditions in the markets we serve.

Oil prices, wholesale motor fuel costs, motor fuel sales volumes, motor fuel gross margins and
merchandise sales can be subject to seasonal fluctuations. Consumer demand for motor fuel typically
increases during the summer driving season, and typically falls during the winter months. Travel, recreation and
construction are typically higher in these months in the geographic areas in which we operate, increasing the
demand for motor fuel and merchandise that we sell. Therefore, our revenues and sales volumes are typically
higher in the second and third quarters of our fiscal year. A significant change in any of these factors, including
a significant decrease in consumer demand (other than typical seasonal variations), could materially affect our
motor fuel and merchandise volumes, motor fuel gross profit and overall customer traffic, which in turn could
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Trademarks

In the highly competitive business in which we operate, our trade names, service marks and trademarks
are important to distinguish our products and services from those of our competitors. We sell gasoline primarily
under the Murphy USA® and Murphy Express brands, which we acquired from Murphy Oil. We acquired
ownership of the QuickChek® trademark and others as a result of the QuickChek acquisition. We are not aware
of any facts which would negatively impact our continuing use of any of the above trade names, service marks
or trademarks.

Technology Systems

All of our Company stores use a standard hardware and software platform for point-of-sale (“POS”) that
facilitates item level scanning of merchandise for sales and inventory, and the secure acceptance of all major
payment methods — cash, check, credit, debit, fleet and mobile. In addition, our QuickChek stores have self-



service checkouts and support third-party delivery services. Our standard approach to large scale and
geographically dispersed deployments reduces total technology cost of ownership for the POS and inherently
makes the system easier to use, support, and replace. This POS technology strategy reflects close alignment
with our growth plan.

We use a combination of software as a service, commercial off-the-shelf software, and custom software
applications developed using modern industry standard tools and methodologies to manage and run our
business. For our financial systems, we use enterprise class systems which provide significant flexibility in
managing corporate and store operations, as well as scalability for growth.

We invest in disaster recovery, system backups, redundancy, firewall, remote access security and virus
and spam protection to promote a high level of system security and availability. We have systems, business
policies and processes around access controls, password expirations and file retention to promote a high level
of control within our technology network. See Item 1C. "Cybersecurity" for additional information.

Environmental

We are subject to numerous federal, state and local environmental laws, regulations and permit
requirements. Such environmental requirements have historically been subject to frequent change and have
tended to become more stringent over time. While we strive to comply with these environmental requirements,
any violation of such requirements can result in litigation, increased costs or the imposition of significant civil
and criminal penalties, injunctions or other sanctions. Compliance with these environmental requirements
affects our overall cost of business, including capital costs to construct, maintain and upgrade equipment and
facilities, and ongoing operating expenditures. We maintain sophisticated leak detection and remote monitoring
systems for underground storage tanks at most of our retail fueling stores and install up-to-date tank, piping,
and monitoring systems at our new stores. We operate above ground bulk petroleum tanks at our terminal
locations and have upgraded certain product lines and conduct annual monitoring to help mitigate the risk of
potential soil and groundwater contamination. We allocate a portion of our capital expenditure program to
comply with environmental laws and regulations, and such capital expenditures are projected to be
approximately $7.1 million in 2024.

We could be subject to joint and several as well as strict liability for environmental contamination.
Some of our current and former properties have been operated by third parties whose handling and
management of hazardous materials were not under our control, and substantially all of them have or previously
had motor fuel or petroleum product storage tanks. Pursuant to certain environmental laws and regulations, we
could be responsible for investigating and remediating contamination relating to such stores, including impacts
attributable to prior site occupants or other third parties, and for implementing remedial measures to mitigate the
risk of future contamination. We may also have liability for contamination and violations of environmental laws
and regulations under contractual arrangements with third parties, such as landlords and former owners of our
sites, including at our sites in close proximity to Walmart stores. Contamination has been identified at certain of
our current and former terminals and retail fueling stores, and we are continuing to conduct investigation and
remediation activities in relation to such properties. The discovery of additional contamination or the imposition
of further investigation or remediation obligations at these or other properties could result in significant costs. In
some cases, we may be eligible to receive money from state “leaking petroleum storage tank” trust funds to
help fund remediation. However, receipt of such payments is subject to stringent eligibility requirements and
other limitations that can significantly reduce the availability of such trust fund payments and may delay or
increase the duration of associated cleanups. We could also be held responsible for contamination relating to
third-party sites to which we or our predecessors have sent hazardous materials for recycling or disposal. We
are currently identified as a potentially responsible party ("PRP") in connection with one such disposal site. Any
such contamination, leaks from storage tanks or other releases of regulated materials could result in claims
against us by governmental authorities and other third parties for fines or penalties, natural resource damages,
personal injury, and property damage. From time to time, we are subject to legal and administrative
proceedings governing the investigation and remediation of contamination or spills from current and past
operations, including from our terminal operations and leaking petroleum storage tanks.

Consumer demand for our products may be adversely impacted by fuel economy standards as well as
greenhouse gas (“GHG”) vehicle emission reduction measures. The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency



(“EPA”) and the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration (“NHTSA”) issued Corporate Average Fuel
Economy ("CAFE") standards in 2012 that set fuel economy standards and regulated emissions of GHGs for
fleets of 2017-2025 model year cars and light duty trucks. In 2016, the NHTSA finalized a rule imposing stricter
penalties against those who exceed CAFE standards. In December 2021, the EPA finalized standards for
2023-2026 model years that are more stringent than those in prior standards from 2020. In March 2022 NHTSA
finalized CAFE standards addressing the 2024-2026 model years that are more stringent than those in prior
standards from 2020. In July 2023, NHTSA proposed CAFE standards for passenger cars and light trucks built
in model years 2027-2032, and new fuel efficiency standards for heavy-duty pickup trucks and vans built in
model years 2030-2035. The proposal would require an industry fleet-wide average of approximately 58 miles
per gallon for passenger cars and light trucks in MY 2032, by increasing fuel economy by 2% year over year for
passenger cars and by 4% year over year for light trucks. For heavy-duty pickup trucks and vans, the proposal
would increase fuel efficiency by 10% year over year. The EPA and NHTSA also regulate GHG emission and
fuel efficiency standards for medium and heavy-duty vehicles and in August 2016, jointly finalized "Phase 2"
vehicle and engine performance standards covering model years 2021 through 2027, which apply to semi-
trucks, large pick-up trucks and vans, and all types and sizes of buses and work trucks. In December 2022, the
EPA finalized a rule that sets more stringent standards to reduce pollution from heavy duty vehicles and engines
beginning with model year 2027; this was the first rulemaking under the EPA's Clean Trucks Plan, which is an
EPA regulatory initiative to reduce GHG emissions and other harmful air pollutants from heavy-duty trucks via
various rulemakings. On April 12, 2023, the EPA announced new, more ambitious proposed standards to
further reduce air pollutant emissions from light-duty and medium-duty vehicles staring with model year 2027.
These and any future increases in or changes to fuel economy standards or GHG emission reduction
requirements could decrease demand for our products.

Air emissions from our facilities are also subject to regulation. For example, certain of our fueling stores
may be required to install and maintain vapor recovery systems to control emissions of volatile organic
compounds to the air during the vehicle fueling process. Although the EPA declined to revise national ambient
air quality standards for ground level ozone in December 2020, the EPA under a President Biden administration
may revise such standards, which could require additional equipment upgrades and operating controls that
could increase our capital and operating expenses. Any other future environmental regulatory changes
applicable to our business or operations may also result in increased compliance costs.

Our business is also subject to increasingly stringent laws and regulations governing the content and
characteristics of fuel. For example, the gasoline we sell generally must meet increasingly rigorous sulfur and
benzene standards. In addition, renewable fuel standards generally require refiners and gasoline blenders to
meet certain volume quotas or obtain representative trading credits for renewable fuels that are established as a
percentage of their finished product production. Such fuel requirements and renewable fuel standards may
adversely affect our wholesale fuel purchase costs.

Sale of Regulated Products

In certain areas where our retail stores are located, state or local laws limit the hours of operation for
the sale of alcoholic beverages and restrict the sale of alcoholic beverages and tobacco products to persons
younger than a certain age. State and local regulatory agencies have the authority to approve, revoke, suspend
or deny applications for and renewals of permits and licenses relating to the sale of alcoholic beverages, as well
as to issue fines to convenience stores for the improper sale of alcoholic beverages and tobacco products.
Failure to comply with these laws may result in the loss of necessary licenses and the imposition of fines and
penalties on us. Such a loss or imposition could have a material adverse effect on our business, liquidity and
results of operations. In many states, retailers of alcoholic beverages have been held responsible for damages
caused by intoxicated individuals who purchased alcoholic beverages from them. While the potential exposure
for damage claims as a seller of alcoholic beverages and tobacco products is substantial, we have adopted
procedures intended to minimize such exposure. We also adhere to the rules governing lottery sales as
determined by state lottery commissions in each state in which we make such sales.
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Safety

We are subject to the requirements of the federal Occupational Safety and Health Act (“OSHA”) and
comparable state statutes that regulate the protection of the health and safety of workers. In addition, the
OSHA hazard communication standard requires that certain information be maintained about hazardous
materials used or produced in our operations and that this information be provided to employees, state and local
government authorities and citizens.

Other Regulatory Matters

Our retail stores are also subject to regulation by federal agencies and to licensing and regulations by
state and local health, sanitation, fire and other departments relating to the development and operation of retail
stores, including regulations relating to zoning and building requirements and the preparation and sale of food.
Difficulties in obtaining or failures to obtain the required licenses or approvals could delay or prevent the
development of a new retail store in a particular area.

Our operations are also subject to federal and state laws governing such matters as wage rates,
overtime and citizenship requirements. At the federal and state levels, there are proposals under consideration
from time to time to increase minimum wage rates and periods of protected leaves. Increases in wages,
overtime pay, or benefits due to changes in the statutory minimum salary requirements or minimum wage rates
or mandated health benefits would result in an increase in our labor costs. Such cost increases, or the
penalties for failing to comply, could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
We monitor such changes to ensure our continued compliance with these ever-changing regulations.

Human Capital

At Murphy USA, we know that the strength of our workforce is critical to our long-term success and we
strive to build upon this through the foundation laid by our Principles. As of December 31, 2023, Murphy USA
had approximately 15,600 employees, including 5,900 full-time employees, and 9,700 part-time employees
working at our stores, support centers, and corporate headquarters.

Murphy USA is committed to the attraction, development, retention, and safety of our employees. Our
initiatives for fiscal year 2023 addressed, among other things, (i) Our Principles, (ii) Inclusion and Diversity, (iii)
Talent Management, (iv) Total Rewards, and (v) Workforce Safety.

Our Principles are the heart of our rich culture, creating the foundation of how we operate at Murphy
USA. They are the values that shape the strong character of our company. The basis for our human capital
management focus is driven by our core Principles of Integrity, Respect, Citizenship, and Spirit.

Integrity Respect Citizenship Spirit
Be persistently ethical |Value and appreciate Believe in the power of |Strive to be the best. We
and honest to foster others. We en_courage good actions. We are are highly engaged and
E)rt?rssglv\(/avsev‘\iﬁlzrg Uit g”drggocrﬂg;eig';ﬁrgfr committed to the greater  |truly care about what we
confidence becat?se we thpopughts, ideas and good for our employees, do anq how we are
know that — in the long | actions. We understand | €omMpany, customers, perceived. We have a
run — our character will |the value gained through |suppliers and other strong desire to exceed
speak for itself. We embracing the strengths, |stakeholders. We are our customers’
always do the right experiences, and responsible and involved |expectations. We work
thing, even when no one | perspectives of others.  |in the communities in closely with each other to

is watching. which we live and work as |drive our success through

ambassadors of Murphy [reliable and consistent
USA. execution.
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We are committed to living our Principles, specifically, the principle of "Respect” as it relates to inclusion
and diversity. We are intentional about working towards increasing visible and invisible diversity throughout
Murphy USA through several talent initiatives:

* We invest in established partnerships with HBCUs.
¢ We identify critical roles and potential successors with our succession management program.

¢ We strive to lift up talent through differentiated and personalized development opportunities.

We employ thoughtful talent management strategies, including annual succession planning, semi-
annual people reviews, promotion review committees, mid-year and annual performance reviews, and cohort
performance review calibrations.

We are dedicated to helping our employees succeed professionally by offering a robust suite of learning
and development opportunities.
¢ Our field teams have comprehensive functional training programs at each level.
¢ We have individual development plans (IDPs) and an eLearning platform to support employee-
driven development.
»  We offer a formal stretch role and assignment process to support development at all levels.
* We have a mentorship process.
* Leadership development opportunities are available for all leaders.

¢ We provide tuition reimbursement for home office employees, store managers, and assistant
store managers.

* We sponsor employees seeking to earn their GED.

We have demonstrated a history of investing in our employees by offering competitive salaries and
wages. We offer comprehensive benefit packages designed to support employees' overall well-being. We have
benefit packages available at all levels of the organization. The benefits package offered to our full-time
employees includes:

* Comprehensive health benefits (both in-person and telehealth), flex spending accounts &
health savings accounts, prescription, dental, and vision benefits.

« Life insurance, accident and hospital indemnity insurance and critical illness insurance.
* Long-term disability and short-term disability, leave of absence benefits.

* Parental leave available to all new parents for birth, adoption or foster placement.

* An Employee Assistance Program.

* 401K program with company match.

* Paid time off including: vacation, sick, parental, bereavement, and holidays.

A thoughtful and well-planned approach has been taken to evaluate and execute benefits consolidation
between Murphy USA and QuickChek, where appropriate. At present, several QuickChek benefit programs and
vendors have been consolidated with Murphy USA's, including medical, dental, vision, flexible spending, and
retirement. We continue to evaluate QuickChek's benefit plans, and such evaluation could lead to additional
consolidation with the Murphy USA plans in the future.

We are committed to keeping our employees and customers safe through fostering and maintaining a
strong safety culture and emphasizing the importance of our employees’ role in identifying, mitigating and
communicating safety risks. We have continued to build our rapid response program to ensure safety events
(i.e., slip and falls, medical emergencies, and vehicle accidents) are escalated quickly and responded to
efficiently.
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Properties

Our headquarters of approximately 120,000 square feet is located at 200 Peach Street, El Dorado,
Arkansas. We also own and operate two other office buildings in El Dorado, Arkansas that house our store
support center and technology services personnel, and we own and operate an office building and training
center in Whitehouse Station, New Jersey for our QuickChek store support personnel. We have numerous
owned and leased properties for our retail fueling stores as described under “Description of Our Business,” as
well as wholly-owned product distribution terminals.

Website access to SEC Reports

Interested parties may obtain the Company’s public disclosures filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (SEC), including Form 10-K, Form 10-Q, Form 8-K and other documents, by accessing the
Investor Relations section of Murphy USA Inc.’s website at ir.corporate.murphyusa.com.

Our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and
any amendments to these reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities and
Exchange Act of 1934 are available on our website, free of charge, as soon as reasonably practicable after such
reports are filed with, or furnished to, the SEC. Alternatively, you may access these reports at the SEC’s
website at http://www.sec.gov. The information contained on these websites referenced herein is not
incorporated by reference into this filing.

Item 1A. RISK FACTORS

You should carefully consider each of the following risks and all of the other information contained in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Our business, prospects, financial condition, results of operations or cash flows could be materially and
adversely affected by any of these risks, and, as a result, the trading price of our common stock could decline.

Risks Relating to our Company

Our business and our reputation could be adversely affected by the failure to protect sensitive
customer, employee or vendor data or to comply with applicable regulations relating to data security
and privacy.

In the normal course of our business as a gasoline and merchandise retailer, we obtain large amounts
of personal data, including credit and debit card information from our customers. We also engage third-party
vendors that provide technology, systems, and services to facilitate our collection, retention, processing and
transmission of this information. A breakdown or a breach in our systems or in the systems of our third-party
vendors that results in the unauthorized release of individually identifiable customer or other sensitive data
could have a material adverse effect on our reputation, operating results and financial condition. Such a
breakdown or breach could also materially increase the costs we incur to protect against such risks. Also, a
material failure on our part, or the part of our vendors, to comply with regulations relating to our obligation to
protect such sensitive data or the privacy rights of our customers, employees and others could subject us to
fines or other regulatory sanctions and potentially to lawsuits and adversely affect our brand name.

Our operations present hazards and risks, which may not be fully covered by insurance, if
insured. If a significant accident or event occurs for which we are not adequately insured, our
operations and financial results could be adversely affected.

The scope and nature of our operations are subject to a variety of operational hazards and risks,
including explosions, fires, toxic emissions, and natural catastrophes that must be managed through continual
oversight and control. These and other risks are present throughout our operations. As protection against
these hazards and risks, we maintain insurance against many, but not all, potential losses or liabilities arising
from such risks. Uninsured losses and liabilities arising from operating risks could reduce the funds available to
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us for capital and investment spending and could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows.

Our indebtedness could restrict our business and adversely impact our financial condition,
results of operations or cash flows; our leverage could increase the overall cost of debt funding and
decrease the overall debt capacity and commercial credit available to us in the future.

We have debt obligations that could restrict our business and adversely impact our financial condition,
results of operations or cash flows. This outstanding indebtedness could have significant consequences to our
future operations, including:

* making it more difficult for us to meet our payment and other obligations under our outstanding
debt;

« resulting in an event of default if we fail to comply with the financial and other restrictive
covenants contained in our debt agreements, which event of default could result in all of our
debt becoming immediately due and payabile;

* reducing the availability of our cash flow to fund working capital, capital expenditures,
acquisitions and other general corporate purposes, and limiting our ability to obtain additional
financing for these purposes;

» limiting our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, and increasing our vulnerability to, changes
in our business, the industry in which we operate and the general economy; and

+ placing us at a competitive disadvantage compared to our competitors that have less debt or
are less leveraged.

Any of the above-listed factors could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

In addition, our credit facilities and the indentures that govern the notes include restrictive covenants
that, subject to certain exceptions and qualifications, restrict or limit our ability and the ability of our restricted
subsidiaries to, among other things, incur additional indebtedness, pay dividends, make certain investments,
sell certain assets and enter into certain strategic transactions, including mergers and acquisitions. These
covenants and restrictions could affect our ability to operate our business, and may limit our ability to react to
market conditions or take advantage of potential business opportunities as they arise.

Our leverage may increase the overall cost of debt funding and decrease the overall debt capacity and
commercial credit available to us. Our leverage could increase with additional borrowings on our shelf
registration statement. We have below investment-grade ratings on our notes from Moody’s and S&P while our
credit facilities are rated investment grade. Our credit ratings could be lowered or withdrawn entirely by a
ratings agency if, in its judgment, the circumstances warrant. If our existing ratings are lowered, or otherwise
we do not obtain an investment grade rating in the future for the notes, or if we do and a rating agency were to
downgrade us again to below investment grade, our borrowing costs would increase and our funding sources
could decrease. Actual or anticipated changes or downgrades in our ratings, including any announcement that
our ratings are under review for a downgrade, could adversely affect our business, cash flows, financial
condition and operating results.

Our ability to meet our payment obligations under the notes and our other debt depends on our
ability to generate significant cash flow in the future.

Our ability to meet our payment and other obligations under our debt instruments, including the notes,
depends on our ability to generate significant cash flow in the future. This, to some extent, is subject to general
economic, financial, competitive, legislative and regulatory factors as well as other factors that are beyond our
control. We cannot provide assurance that our business will generate cash flow from operations, or that future
borrowings will be available to us under our credit agreement or any future credit facilities or otherwise, in an
amount sufficient to enable us to meet our payment obligations under the notes and our other debt and to fund
other liquidity needs. If we are not able to generate sufficient cash flow to service our debt obligations, we may
need to refinance or restructure our debt, including the notes, sell assets, reduce or delay capital investments,
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or seek to raise additional capital. If we are unable to implement one or more of these alternatives, we may not
be able to meet our payment obligations under the notes and our other debt.

Despite our current indebtedness levels, we may be able to incur substantially more debt. This
could exacerbate further the risks associated with our leverage.

We and our subsidiaries may incur substantial additional indebtedness, including secured
indebtedness, in the future, subject to the terms of the indentures governing the notes and our credit agreement
that limit our ability to do so. Such additional indebtedness may include additional notes, which will also be
guaranteed by the guarantors, to the extent permitted by the indentures and our credit agreement. Although the
indentures limit our ability and the ability of our subsidiaries to create liens securing indebtedness, there are
significant exceptions to these limitations that will allow us and our subsidiaries to secure significant amounts of
indebtedness without equally and ratably securing the notes. If we or our subsidiaries incur secured
indebtedness and such secured indebtedness is either accelerated or becomes subject to a bankruptcy,
liquidation or reorganization, our and our subsidiaries' assets would be used to satisfy obligations with respect
to the indebtedness secured thereby before any payment could be made on the notes that are not similarly
secured. In addition, the indentures governing the Senior Notes will not prevent us or our subsidiaries from
incurring other liabilities that do not constitute indebtedness. If new debt or other liabilities are added to our
current debt levels, the related risks that we now face could intensify.

Failure to maintain the quality and safety of our food products could adversely impact our
reputation and business.

As we continue to focus on enhancing our food and beverage offerings, concerns regarding the quality
or safety of our food products or our food supply chain, even if factually incorrect or based on isolated incidents,
could hurt our sales of prepared food products and possibly lead to product liability and personal injury claims,
litigation, government agency investigations and damages.

We may need to recognize impairment charges related to goodwill, identified intangible assets
and fixed assets.

We have balances of goodwill and intangible assets as a result of the QuickChek acquisition. We are
required to test goodwill and any other intangible assets with an indefinite life for possible impairment on the
same date each year and on an interim basis if there are indicators of a possible impairment. We are also
required to evaluate amortizable intangible assets and fixed assets for impairment if there are indicators of a
possible impairment.

There is significant judgement required in the analysis of a potential impairment of goodwill, identified
intangible assets and fixed assets. If, as a result of a general economic slowdown, deterioration in one or more
of the markets in which we operate or impairment in our financial performance and/or future outlook, the
estimated fair value of our long-lived assets decreases, we may determine that one or more of our long-lived
assets is impaired. An impairment charge would be determined based on the estimated fair value of the assets
and any such impairment charge could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

In connection with our Separation from Murphy Oil, Murphy Oil has agreed to indemnify us for
certain liabilities and we have agreed to indemnify Murphy Oil for certain liabilities. If we are required to
act under these indemnities to Murphy Oil, we may need to divert cash to meet those obligations and
our financial results could be negatively impacted. The Murphy Oil indemnity may not be sufficient to
insure us against the full amount of liabilities for which it will be allocated responsibility, and Murphy
Oil may not be able to satisfy its indemnification obligations to us in the future.

Pursuant to the Separation and Distribution Agreement ("the Separation") and certain other agreements
with Murphy Oil, Murphy Oil has agreed to indemnify us for certain liabilities, and we have agreed to indemnify
Murphy Oil for certain liabilities. Indemnities that we may be required to provide Murphy Oil are not subject to
any cap, may be significant and could negatively impact our business, particularly indemnities relating to our
actions that could impact the tax-free nature of the distribution. Third parties could also seek to hold us
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responsible for any of the liabilities that Murphy Oil has agreed to retain, and under certain circumstances, we
may be subject to continuing contingent liabilities of Murphy Oil following the Separation. Further, Murphy Oil
may not be able to fully satisfy its indemnification obligations. Moreover, even if we ultimately succeed in
recovering from Murphy Oil any amounts for which we are held liable, we may be temporarily required to bear
these losses ourselves. Each of these risks could negatively affect our business, results of operations and
financial condition.

The anticipated benefits of the QuickChek acquisition may not be realized or those benefits may
take longer to realize than expected.

The long-term success of the QuickChek acquisition will depend on our ability to realize the forecasted
benefits and cost savings from our acquisition of QuickChek. We may not be able to maintain the growth rate,
levels of revenue, earnings, or operating efficiency that we and QuickChek have achieved to-date, or might
have achieved separately.

Many factors affecting our ability to realize anticipated benefits are outside of our control and any one
of them could result in increased costs, decreases in the amount of expected revenues, and could materially
impact our business, financial condition, and results of operations. In addition, even upon fully integrating
QuickChek into our operations, the full benefits of our acquisition may not be realized, including the synergies,
cost savings, or sales or growth opportunities as originally anticipated. An inability to realize the full extent of, or
any of, the anticipated benefits of the QuickChek acquisition could have an adverse effect on our financial
condition, results of operations, and cash flows.

Risks Relating to Our Business

Volatility in the global prices of oil and petroleum products and general economic conditions that
are largely out of our control, as well as seasonal variations in fuel pricing, can significantly affect our
operating results.

Our net income is significantly affected by changes in the margins on retail and wholesale gasoline
marketing operations. Oil and domestic wholesale gasoline markets are volatile. General political conditions,
acts of war or terrorism and instability in oil producing regions, particularly in the Middle East and South
America, and the value of U.S. dollars relative to other foreign currencies, particularly those of oil producing
nations, have significantly affected and in the future could significantly affect oil supplies and wholesale gasoline
costs. In addition, the supply of gasoline and our wholesale purchase costs can be adversely affected in the
event of a shortage, which could result from, among other things, lack of capacity at oil refineries, sustained
increase in global demand or the fact that our gasoline contracts do not guarantee an uninterrupted, unlimited
supply of gasoline. Our wholesale purchase costs could also be adversely affected by increasingly stringent
regulations regarding the content and characteristics of fuel products. Significant increases and volatility in
wholesale gasoline costs could result in lower gasoline gross margins per gallon. This volatility makes it
extremely difficult to predict the effect that future wholesale cost fluctuations will have on our operating results
and financial condition in future periods.

Except in limited cases, we typically do not seek to hedge any significant portion of our exposure to the
effects of changing prices of commodities. Dramatic increases in oil prices reduce retail gasoline gross
margins, because wholesale gasoline costs typically increase faster than retailers are able to pass them along
to customers. We purchase refined products, particularly gasoline, needed to supply our retail stores.
Therefore, our most significant costs are subject to volatility of prices for these commodities. Our ability to
successfully manage operating costs is important because we have little or no influence on the sales prices or
regional and worldwide consumer demand for oil and gasoline. Furthermore, oil prices, wholesale motor fuel
costs, motor fuel sales volumes, motor fuel gross margins and merchandise sales can be subject to seasonal
fluctuations. For example, consumer demand for motor fuel typically increases during the summer driving
season, and typically falls during the winter months. Travel, recreation and construction are typically higher in
these months in the geographic areas in which we operate, increasing the demand for motor fuel and
merchandise that we sell. Therefore, our revenues and/or sales volumes are typically higher in the second and
third quarters of our fiscal year. A significant change in any of these factors, including a significant decrease in
consumer demand (other than typical seasonal variations), could materially affect our motor fuel and
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merchandise volumes, motor fuel gross profit and overall customer traffic, which in turn could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Further, recessionary economic conditions, higher interest rates, higher gasoline and other energy
costs, inflation, increases in commodity prices, higher levels of unemployment, higher consumer debt levels,
higher tax rates and other changes in tax laws or other economic factors may affect consumer spending or
buying habits, and could adversely affect the demand for products we sell at our retail stores. Unfavorable
economic conditions, higher gasoline prices and unemployment levels can affect consumer confidence,
spending patterns and vehicle miles driven. These factors can lead to sales declines in both gasoline and
general merchandise, and in turn have an adverse impact on our business, financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows.

We are exposed to risks associated with the interruption of supply and increased costs as a result
of our reliance on third-party supply and transportation of refined products.

We utilize key product supply and wholesale assets, including our pipeline positions and product
distribution terminals, to supply our retail fueling stores. Much of our competitive advantage arises out of these
proprietary arrangements which, when disrupted, have in the past and could in the future adversely affect us,
and such effects could be material. In addition to our own operational risks discussed above, we could
experience interruptions of supply or increases in costs to deliver refined products to market if the ability of the
pipelines or vessels to transport petroleum or refined products is disrupted because of weather events,
accidents, governmental regulations or third-party actions. Furthermore, at some of our locations there are very
few suppliers for fuel in that market.

An inability to maintain a multi-year new store project pipeline may cause our Company's growth
to slow in 2024 and beyond.

Our ability to grow by at least 30 to 35 new stores and at least 35 raze-and-rebuild stores in 2024 and by
at least 45 NTI stores and at least 35 raze-and-rebuild stores in future years relies on the continued growth of
our project pipeline and the building material supply chain. We have a very active Asset Development group
that works to focus on our key target areas to locate suitable traffic count locations for this future growth. If the
Asset Development group is unable to locate suitable locations or is unable to close the purchase for those
locations in a timely fashion, the Company could find that it does not have sufficient land to fulfill its pipeline.
Further, permitting delays due to local government agency ability to timely respond to our requests or
construction delays from supply chain or labor constraints could also negatively impact our project pipeline.

We currently have one primary supplier for over 77% of our merchandise. A disruption in supply
could have a material effect on our business.

In 2023, over 77% of our merchandise, including most tobacco products and grocery items, was
purchased from a single wholesale grocer, Core-Mark. In January 2021, we renewed and extended for another
five years a supply contract with Core-Mark. If Core-Mark is unable to fulfill its obligations under our contract,
alternative suppliers that we could use in the event of a disruption may not be immediately available or offer
merchandise on similar commercial terms. A disruption in supply could have a material effect on our business,
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Changes in credit card expenses could reduce our profitability, especially on gasoline.

A significant portion of our retail sales involve payment using credit cards. We are assessed credit card
fees as a percentage of transaction amounts and not as a fixed dollar amount or percentage of our gross
margins. Higher gasoline prices result in higher credit card expenses, and an increase in credit card use or an
increase in credit card fees would have a similar effect. Therefore, credit card fees charged on gasoline
purchases that are more expensive as a result of higher gasoline prices are not necessarily accompanied by
higher gross margins. In fact, such fees may cause lower profitability. Lower income on gasoline sales caused
by higher credit card fees may decrease our overall profitability and could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
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Walmart continues to be a key relationship with regard to our Murphy USA network.

At December 31, 2023, most of our Murphy branded stores were located in close proximity to Walmart
Supercenter stores and we participate with the Walmart+ program. Therefore, our relationship with Walmart,
the continued goodwill of Walmart and the integrity of Walmart’'s brand name in the retail marketplace are all
important drivers for our business. Any deterioration in our relationship with Walmart could have an adverse
effect on operations of the stores that are branded Murphy USA and participate in a discount. In addition, our
competitive posture could be weakened by negative changes at Walmart. Many of our Company stores benefit
from customer traffic generated by Walmart retail stores, and if the customer traffic through these host stores
decreases due to the economy or for any other reason, our sales could be materially and adversely affected.

Walmart retains certain rights in its agreements with us, which may adversely impact our ability to
conduct our business.

Our owned properties that were purchased from Walmart are subject to Easements with Covenants and
Restrictions Affecting Land (the “ECRs”) between us and Walmart. The ECRs impose customary restrictions on
the use of our properties, which Walmart has the right to enforce. The ECRs also provide that if we propose to
sell a fueling store property or any portion thereof (other than in connection with the sale of all or substantially all
of our properties that were purchased from Walmart or in connection with a bona fide financing), Walmart has a
right of first refusal to purchase such property or portion thereof on similar terms. Subject to certain exceptions
(including a merger in which we participate, the transfer of any of our securities or a change in control of us), if
we market for sale to a third party all or substantially all of our properties that were purchased from Walmart, or
if we receive an unsolicited offer to purchase such properties that we intend to accept, we are required to notify
Walmart. Walmart then has the right, within 90 days of receipt of such notice, to make an offer to purchase
such properties. If Walmart makes such an offer, for a period of one year we will generally only be permitted to
accept third-party offers where the net consideration to us would be greater than that offered by Walmart.

The ECRs also prohibit us from transferring all or substantially all of our fueling store properties that
were purchased from Walmart to a “competitor” of Walmart, as reasonably determined by Walmart. The term
“competitor” is generally defined in the ECRs as an entity that owns, operates or controls grocery stores or
supermarkets, wholesale club operations similar to that of a Sam’s Club, discount department stores or other
discount retailers similar to any of the various Walmart store prototypes or pharmacy or drug stores.

Similarly, some of our leased properties are subject to certain rights retained by Walmart. Our master
lease agreement states that if Murphy Oil USA, Inc. is acquired or becomes party to any merger or
consolidation that results in a material change in the management of the stores, Walmart will have the option to
purchase the stores at fair market value. The master lease also prohibits us from selling all or any portion of a
store without first offering to sell all or such portion to Walmart on the same terms and conditions. These
provisions may restrict our ability to conduct our business on the terms and in the manner we consider most
favorable and may adversely affect our future growth.

The current level of revenue that is generated from RINs may be highly variable.

Murphy USA's business is impacted by its ability to generate revenues from capturing and subsequently
selling Renewable Identification Numbers ("RINs"), a practice enabled through the blending of petroleum-based
fuels with renewable fuels. The market price for RINs fluctuates based on a variety of factors, including but not
limited to governmental and regulatory action and market dynamics. In 2023, the market price continued to
fluctuate but was lower on average than the prior year. Variations in the market price of RINs can also have an
impact on our cost of goods sold for petroleum products, which can be positive or negative depending on the
movement of the market prices of RINs. Although a decline in the market prices could have a material impact
on the Company's revenues, Murphy USA's business model is not dependent on its ability to generate revenues
from this portion of other operating income.

Current litigation and future rule making could impact the Renewable Fuel Standard ("RFS") program.
The RFS program is the regulatory means by which the federal government requires the introduction of an
increasing amount of renewable fuel into the fuel supply. As it is, refiners are obligated to obtain—either by
blending biofuels into petroleum-based fuels or through purchase on the open market—and then retire with the
federal government RINs to satisfy their individual obligations. On June 21, 2023, the EPA announced a final
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rule to establish biofuel volume requirement and associated percentage standards for cellulosic biofuel,
biomass-based diesel, advanced biofuel, and total renewable fuel for 2023-2025. The rule includes steady
growth of biofuels for use in the United States' fuel supply for 2023, 2024, and 2025, however the projected
growth of Renewable Diesel production could outstrip the statutory mandated biofuel blending requirements. As
a result, the amount of renewable credits available could outpace the demand, resulting in lower prices.

We could be adversely affected if we are not able to attract and retain qualified personnel.

We are dependent on our ability to attract and retain qualified personnel. If, for any reason, we are not
able to attract and retain qualified personnel, our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows could be adversely affected.

Capital financing may not always be available to fund our activities.

We usually must spend and risk a significant amount of capital to fund our activities. Although most
capital needs are funded from operating cash flow, the timing of cash flows from operations and capital funding
needs may not always coincide, and the levels of cash flow may not fully cover capital funding requirements.

From time to time, we may need to supplement our cash generated from operations with proceeds from
financing activities. We have entered into a credit facility to provide us with available financing for working
capital and other general corporate purposes. This credit facility is intended to meet any ongoing cash needs in
excess of internally generated cash flows. Uncertainty and volatility in financial markets may materially impact
the ability of the participating financial institutions to fund their commitments to us under our credit facility.
Accordingly, we may not be able to obtain the full amount of the funds available under our credit facility to
satisfy our cash requirements, and our failure to do so could have a material adverse effect on our operations
and financial position.

Risks Relating to Our Industry

We operate in a highly competitive industry, which could adversely affect us in many ways,
including our profitability, our ability to grow, and our ability to manage our businesses.

We operate in the oil and gas industry and experience intense competition from other independent retail
and wholesale gasoline marketing companies. The U.S. petroleum marketing business is highly competitive,
particularly with regard to accessing and marketing petroleum and other refined products. We compete with
other chains of retail fuel stores for fuel supply and in the retail sale of refined products to end consumers,
primarily on the basis of price, but also on the basis of convenience and consumer appeal. In addition, we may
also face competition from other retail fueling stores that adopt marketing strategies similar to ours by
associating with non-traditional retailers, such as supermarkets, discount club stores and hypermarkets,
particularly in the geographic areas in which we operate. We expect that our industry will continue to trend
toward this model, resulting in increased competition to us over time. Moreover, because we do not produce or
refine any of the petroleum or other refined products that we market, we compete with retail gasoline companies
that have ongoing supply relationships with affiliates or former affiliates that manufacture refined products. We
also compete with integrated companies that have their own production and/or refining operations that are at
times able to offset losses from marketing operations with profits from producing or refining operations and may
be better positioned to withstand periods of depressed retail margins or supply shortages. In addition, we
compete with other retail and wholesale gasoline marketing companies that have more extensive retail outlets
and greater brand name recognition. Some of our competitors have been in existence longer than we have and
have greater financial, marketing and other resources than we do. As a result, these competitors may have a
greater ability to bear the economic risks inherent in all phases of our business and may be able to respond
better to changes in the economy and new opportunities within the industry. Such competition could adversely
affect us, including our profitability, our ability to grow and our ability to manage our business.

In addition, the retail gasoline industry in the United States is highly competitive due to ease of entry
and constant change in the number and type of retailers offering similar products and services. With respect to
merchandise, our retail stores compete with other convenience store chains, independently owned convenience
stores, supermarkets, drugstores, discount clubs, gasoline service stores, mass merchants, fast food operations
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and other similar retail outlets. Non-traditional retailers, including supermarkets, discount club stores and mass
merchants, now compete directly with retail gasoline stores. These non-traditional gasoline retailers have
obtained a significant share of the gasoline market, and their market share is expected to grow, and these
retailers may use promotional pricing or discounts, both at the fuel pump and in the convenience store, to
encourage in-store merchandise sales and gasoline sales. In addition, some large retailers and supermarkets
are adjusting their store layouts and product prices in an attempt to appeal to convenience store customers.
Major competitive factors include: location, ease of access, product and service selection, gasoline brands,
pricing, customer service, store appearance, cleanliness and safety. Competition from these retailers may
reduce our market share and our revenues, and the resulting impact on our business and results of operations
could be materially adverse.

Future tobacco legislation and/or regulation, potential court rulings affecting the tobacco
industry, campaigns to discourage smoking, increases in tobacco taxes and wholesale cost increases
of tobacco products could have a material adverse impact on our retail operating revenues and gross
margin.

Sales of tobacco products have historically accounted for an important portion of our total sales of
convenience store merchandise. Significant increases in wholesale cigarette costs and tax increases on
tobacco products, as well as future legislation and/or regulation, potential rulings in court cases impacting the
tobacco industry, and national and local campaigns to discourage smoking in the United States, may have an
adverse effect on the demand for tobacco products, and therefore reduce our revenues and profits. Also,
increasing regulations, including those for e-cigarettes, vapor products, and new tobacco products could offset
some of the recent gains we have experienced from selling these products. Governing bodies continue to
consider banning flavored tobacco products and have done so in some instances. If such efforts continue to be
successful, it could have a further negative impact on our tobacco sales. These factors could materially and
adversely affect our retail price of cigarettes, tobacco unit volume and sales, merchandise gross margin and
overall customer traffic. Reduced sales of tobacco products or smaller gross margins on the sales we make
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Currently, major cigarette manufacturers offer substantial rebates to retailers unless prohibited by state
or local laws. We include these rebates as a component of our gross margin. In the event these rebates are no
longer offered, or decreased, our profit from cigarette sales will decrease accordingly. In addition, reduced retail
display allowances on cigarettes offered by cigarette manufacturers would negatively affect gross margins.
These factors could materially affect our retail price of cigarettes, cigarette unit volume and revenues,
merchandise gross margin and overall customer traffic, which could in turn have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Changes in consumer behavior and travel as a result of changing economic conditions, the
development of alternative energy technologies or otherwise could affect our business.

In the retail gasoline industry, customer traffic is generally driven by consumer preferences and
spending trends, growth rates for commercial truck traffic and trends in travel and weather. Changes in
economic conditions generally, or in the regions in which we operate, could adversely affect consumer spending
patterns and travel in our markets. In particular, weakening economic conditions may result in decreases in
miles driven and discretionary consumer spending and travel, which affect spending on gasoline and
convenience items. In addition, changes in the types of products and services demanded by consumers may
adversely affect our merchandise sales and gross margin. Additionally, negative publicity or perception
surrounding gasoline suppliers could adversely affect their reputation and brand image, which may negatively
affect our gasoline sales and gross margin. Our success depends on our ability to anticipate and respond in a
timely manner to changing consumer demands and preferences while continuing to sell products and services
that remain relevant to the consumer and thus will positively impact overall retail gross margin.

Similarly, advanced technology, improved fuel efficiency and increased use of “green” automobiles (e.g.,
those automobiles that do not use gasoline or that are powered by hybrid engines) will reduce demand for
gasoline and could otherwise change our customers' shopping habits or lead to new forms of fueling
destinations or new competitive pressures. Developments regarding climate change and the effects of
greenhouse gas emissions on climate change and the environment have led to increased use of “green”
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automobiles. In addition, in August 2021, the Biden Administration issued an executive order which set a target
to make half of all new vehicles sold in 2030 zero emission vehicles. Other market and social initiatives such as
public and private initiatives that aim to subsidize the development of non-fossil fuel energy sources may also
reduce the competitiveness of gasoline. Consequently, the increased adoption of "green" automobiles and
general attitudes toward gasoline and its relationship to the environment may significantly affect our sales and
ability to market our products. Reduced consumer demand for gasoline could have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Our operations and earnings have been and will continue to be affected by worldwide political
developments.

Many governments, including those that are members of the Organization of Petroleum Exporting
Countries (“OPEC”), unilaterally intervene at times in the orderly market of petroleum and natural gas produced
in their countries through such actions as setting prices, determining rates of production, and controlling who
may buy and sell the production. In addition, prices and availability of petroleum, natural gas and refined
products could be influenced by political unrest and by various governmental policies to restrict or increase
petroleum usage and supply. Other governmental actions that could affect our operations and earnings include
tax changes, royalty increases and regulations concerning: currency fluctuations, protection and remediation of
the environment, concerns over the possibility of global warming being affected by human activity including the
production and use of hydrocarbon energy, restraints and controls on imports and exports, safety, and
relationships between employers and employees. As a retail gasoline marketing company, we are significantly
affected by these factors. Because these and other factors are subject to changes caused by governmental
and political considerations and are often made in response to changing internal and worldwide economic
conditions and to actions of other governments or specific events, it is not practical to attempt to predict the
effects of such factors on our future operations and earnings.

Our business is subject to operational hazards and risks normally associated with the marketing
of petroleum products.

We operate in many different locations around the United States. The occurrence of an event, including
but not limited to acts of nature such as hurricanes, floods, earthquakes and other forms of severe weather, and
mechanical equipment failures, industrial accidents, fires, explosions, acts of war and intentional terrorist
attacks could result in damage to our facilities, and the resulting interruption and loss of associated revenues;
environmental pollution or contamination; and personal injury, including death, for which we could be deemed to
be liable, and which could subject us to substantial fines and/or claims for punitive damages.

We store gasoline in storage tanks at our retail stores. Our operations are subject to significant hazards
and risks inherent in storing gasoline. These hazards and risks include, but are not limited to, fires, explosions,
spills, discharges and other releases, any of which could result in distribution difficulties and disruptions,
environmental pollution, fines imposed by governmental agencies or cleanup obligations, personal injury or
wrongful death claims and other damage to our properties and the properties of others. Any such event could
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Certain of our assets such as gasoline terminals and certain retail fueling stores lie near the U.S.
coastline and are vulnerable to hurricane and tropical storm damages, which may result in shutdowns. The
U.S. hurricane season runs from June through November, but the most severe storm activities usually occur in
late summer. Moreover, it should be noted that some scientists have predicted that increasing concentrations of
greenhouse gases in the earth's atmosphere may produce climate changes that have significant physical
effects, such as increased frequency and severity of storms, droughts, and floods and other climatic events,
which could adversely impact our operations. Although we maintain insurance for certain of these risks as
described below, due to policy deductibles and possible coverage limits, weather-related risks are not fully
insured.
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We are subject to various environmental laws, regulations and permit requirements, which
could expose us to significant expenditures, liabilities or obligations and reduce product demand.

We are subject to stringent federal, state and local environmental laws and regulations governing,
among other things, the generation, storage, handling, use and transportation of petroleum products and
hazardous materials; the emission and discharge of such substances into the environment; the content and
characteristics of fuel products; the process safety of our facilities; and human health and safety. Pursuant to
such environmental laws and regulations, we are also required to obtain permits from governmental authorities
for certain of our operations. While we strive to abide by these requirements, we cannot assure you that we
have been or will be at all times in compliance with such laws, regulations and permits. If we violate or fail to
comply with these requirements, we could be subject to litigation, costs, fines or other sanctions. Environmental
requirements, and the enforcement and interpretation thereof, change frequently and have generally become
more stringent over time. Compliance with existing and future environmental laws, regulations and permits may
require significant expenditures. In addition, to the extent fuel content and characteristic standards increase our
wholesale purchase costs, we may be adversely affected if we are unable to recover such costs in our pricing.

We could be subject to joint and several as well as strict liability for environmental contamination,
without regard to fault or the legality of our conduct. In particular, we could be liable for contamination relating
to properties that we own, lease or operate or that we or our predecessors previously owned, leased or
operated. Substantially all of these properties have or in the past had storage tanks to store motor fuel or
petroleum products. Leaks from such tanks may impact soil or groundwater and could result in substantial
costs. We could also be held responsible for contamination relating to third-party sites to which we or our
predecessors have sent regulated materials. In addition to potentially significant investigation and remediation
costs, any such contamination, leaks from storage tanks or other releases of regulated materials can give rise to
claims from governmental authorities and other third parties for fines or penalties, natural resource damages,
personal injury and property damage.

Our business is also affected by fuel economy standards and GHG vehicle emission reduction
measures. As such fuel economy and GHG reduction requirements become more stringent over time, demand
for our products may be adversely affected. In addition, some of our facilities are subject to GHG regulation.
We are currently required to report annual GHG emissions from certain of our operations, and additional GHG
emission-related requirements that may affect our business have been finalized or are in various phases of
discussion or implementation. Any existing or future GHG emission requirements could result in increased
operating costs and additional compliance expenses.

Our expenditures, liabilities and obligations relating to environmental matters could have a material
adverse effect on our business, product demand, reputation, results of operations and financial condition.

We rely on our technology systems and network infrastructure to manage numerous aspects of
our business, and a disruption of these systems could adversely affect our business.

We depend on our technology systems and network infrastructure to manage numerous aspects of our
business and provide analytical information to management. These systems are an essential component of our
business and growth strategies, and a serious disruption to them could significantly limit our ability to manage
and operate our business efficiently. These systems are vulnerable to, among other things, damage and
interruption from power loss or natural disasters, computer system and network failures, loss of
telecommunications services, physical and electronic loss of data, security breaches and computer viruses,
which could result in a loss of sensitive personal data, including credit and debit card information from our
customers, sensitive business information, systems interruption or the disruption of our business operations. To
protect against unauthorized access or attacks, we have implemented infrastructure protection technologies
such as theft and disaster recovery plans, but there can be no assurance that a technology systems breach or
systems failure, which may occur and go undetected, will not have a material adverse effect on our financial
condition or results of operations.
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Our retail operations are subject to extensive government laws and regulations, and the cost of
compliance with such laws and regulations can be material.

Our retail operations are subject to extensive local, state and federal governmental laws and regulations
relating to, among other things, the sale of alcohol, tobacco, lottery and lotto, employment conditions, including
minimum wage requirements, and public accessibility requirements. The cost of compliance with these laws
and regulations can have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations
and cash flows. In addition, failure to comply with local, state and federal laws and regulations to which our
operations are subject may result in penalties and costs that could adversely affect our business, financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows.

In certain areas where our retail stores are located, state or local laws limit the retail stores’ hours of
operation or sale of alcoholic beverages, tobacco products, possible inhalants and lottery tickets, in particular to
minors. Failure to comply with these laws could adversely affect our revenues and results of operations
because these state and local regulatory agencies have the power to revoke, suspend or deny applications for
and renewals of permits and licenses relating to the sale of these products or to seek other remedies, such as
the imposition of fines or other penalties.

Regulations related to wages also affect our business. Any appreciable increase in the statutory
minimum wage or changes in overtime rules would result in an increase in our labor costs and such cost
increase, or the penalties for failing to comply with such statutory minimums, could adversely affect our
business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Any changes in the laws or regulations described above that are adverse to us and our properties could
affect our operating and financial performance. In addition, new regulations are proposed from time to time
which, if adopted, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations
and cash flows.

Future consumer or other litigation could adversely affect our business, financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows.

Our retail operations are characterized by a high volume of customer ftraffic and by transactions
involving a wide array of product selections. These operations carry a higher exposure to consumer litigation
risk when compared to the operations of companies operating in many other industries. Consequently, we have
been, and may in the future be from time to time, involved in lawsuits seeking cash settlements for alleged
personal injuries, property damages and other business-related matters, as well as energy content, off-
specification gasoline, products liability and other legal actions in the ordinary course of our business. While
these actions are generally routine in nature and incidental to the operation of our business, if our assessment
of any action or actions should prove inaccurate, our business, financial condition, results of operations and
cash flows could be adversely affected. For more information about our legal matters, see Note 19
“Contingencies” to the consolidated historical financial statements for the three years ended December 31, 2023
included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Further, adverse publicity about consumer or other litigation may
negatively affect us, regardless of whether the allegations are true, by discouraging customers from purchasing
gasoline or merchandise at our retail stores.

Compliance with and changes in tax laws could adversely affect our performance.

We are subject to extensive tax liabilities imposed by multiple jurisdictions, including income taxes,
indirect taxes (excise/duty, sales/use and gross receipts taxes), payroll taxes, franchise taxes, withholding taxes
and ad valorem taxes. Tax laws and regulations are dynamic and subject to change as new laws are passed
and new interpretations of existing laws are issued and applied. This activity could result in increased
expenditures for tax liabilities in the future. Many of these liabilities are subject to periodic audits by the
respective taxing authority. Subsequent changes to our tax liabilities as a result of these audits may subject us
to interest and penalties.
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Pandemics or disease outbreaks, such as COVID-19, may disrupt consumption and trade patterns,
supply chains and normal business activities, which could materially affect our operations and results
of operations.

Pandemics or disease outbreaks, such as COVID-19, have in the past and may in the future cause
depressed demand for our fuel and convenience merchandise products because quarantines may inhibit the
ability or need for our customers to shop with us. We also may experience disruptions of logistics necessary to
obtain and deliver products to our stores and our customers as we rely on third parties to perform these vital
functions to our business.

In addition, we could again experience issues with our workforce that limit our ability to continue to
operate our stores at their normal hours of operations or experience government intervention that requires us to
reduce hours or close certain locations. If a significant percentage of our workforce is unable to work, including
because of iliness or travel or government restrictions in connection with pandemics or disease outbreaks, our
operations may be negatively impacted. In addition, pandemics or disease outbreaks could result in an
economic downturn that could adversely affect the economies and financial markets, resulting in an economic
downturn that could affect customers' demand for our products and services. We have had to reduce hours of
operation in some stores temporarily, but this has not had a material impact on our financial results.

Risks Relating to Our Common Stock

The price of our common stock may fluctuate significantly and if securities or industry analysts
publish unfavorable research reports about our business or if they downgrade their rating on our
common stock, the price of our common stock could decline.

The price at which our common stock trades may fluctuate significantly. The trading price of our
common stock could be subject to wide fluctuations in response to a number of factors, including, but not limited
to:

« fluctuations in quarterly or annual results of operations, especially if they differ from our
previously announced guidance or forecasts made by analysts;

* announcements by us of anticipated future revenues or operating results, or by others
concerning us, our competitors, our customers, or our industry;

* our ability to execute our business plan;

+ competitive environment;

* regulatory developments; and

« changes in overall stock market conditions, including the stock prices of our competitors.

Provisions in our Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws and certain provisions of Delaware law
could delay or prevent a change in control of us.

The existence of some provisions of our Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws and Delaware law
could discourage, delay or prevent a change in control of us that a stockholder may consider favorable. These
include provisions:

« providing for a classified board of directors;
«  providing that our directors may be removed by our stockholders only for cause;

« establishing super majority vote requirements for our shareholders to amend certain provisions
of our Certificate of Incorporation and our Bylaws;

« authorizing a large number of shares of stock that are not yet issued, which would allow our
board of directors to issue shares to persons friendly to current management, thereby
protecting the continuity of our management, or which could be used to dilute the stock
ownership of persons seeking to obtain control of us;

»  prohibiting stockholders from calling special meetings of stockholders or taking action by written
consent; and
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» establishing advance notice requirements for nominations of candidates for election to our
board of directors or for proposing matters that can be acted on by stockholders at the annual
stockholder meetings.

In addition, we are subject to Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which may have
an anti-takeover effect with respect to transactions not approved in advance by our board of directors, including
discouraging takeover attempts that could have resulted in a premium over the market price for shares of our
common stock.

These provisions apply even if a takeover offer may be considered beneficial by some stockholders and
could delay or prevent an acquisition that our board of directors determines is not in our and our stockholders’
best interests.

We may issue preferred stock with terms that could dilute the voting power or reduce the value of
our common stock.

Our Certificate of Incorporation authorizes us to issue, without the approval of our stockholders, one or
more classes or series of preferred stock having such designations, powers, preferences and relative,
participating, optional and other rights, and such qualifications, limitations or restrictions as our board of
directors generally may determine. The terms of one or more classes or series of preferred stock could dilute
the voting power or reduce the value of our common stock. For example, we could grant holders of preferred
stock the right to elect some number of our directors in all events or on the happening of specified events or the
right to veto specified transactions. Similarly, the repurchase or redemption rights or dividend, distribution or
liquidation preferences we could assign to holders of preferred stock could affect the residual value of the
common stock.

Our Bylaws designate a state or federal court located within the State of Delaware as the sole and
exclusive forum for certain types of actions and proceedings that may be initiated by our stockholders,
which could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a preferred judicial forum for disputes with us or
our directors, officers or other employees.

Our Bylaws provide that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the sole
and exclusive forum for (i) any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf, (ii) any action asserting a
claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any director, officer or other employee to us or our stockholders, (iii)
any action asserting a claim arising pursuant to any provision of Delaware General Corporation Law, our
Certificate of Incorporation (including any certificate of designations for any class or series of our preferred
stock) or our Bylaws, in each case, as amended from time to time, or (iv) any action asserting a claim governed
by the internal affairs doctrine shall be a state or federal court located within the State of Delaware, in all cases
subject to the court’s having personal jurisdiction over the indispensable parties named as defendants. Unless
we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the sole and exclusive forum for the resolution of
any action asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act will be the federal district courts of the
United States of America, to the fullest extent permitted by law. Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise
acquiring any interest in shares of our capital stock is deemed to have received notice of and consented to the
foregoing provision. This forum selection provision may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial
forum that it finds favorable or cost-effective for disputes with us or our directors, officers or other employees,
which may discourage such lawsuits against us and our directors, officers and employees. Conversely, if a
court were to find our choice of forum provision inapplicable to, or unenforceable in respect of, one or more of
the specified types of actions or proceedings, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving such
matters in other jurisdictions and we may not obtain the benefits of limiting jurisdiction to the courts selected.

Iltem 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

The Company had no unresolved comments from the staff of the U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission as of December 31, 2023.
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Iltem 1C. CYBERSECURITY

The Board of Directors (the Board) exercises cybersecurity oversight and control both directly and
indirectly. The Board has designated the Audit Committee as the governing committee for the oversight of
Murphy USA's major information technology risk exposures, including those related to cybersecurity, data
privacy and data security, and to oversee the steps management has taken to monitor and mitigate such risk
exposures. The Audit Committee reviews cybersecurity risks through regular updates from management as
needed with no fewer than two reports from management per year, and it monitors the status of ongoing
projects to enhance existing information security controls and practices and mitigate the potential risk from
evolving cybersecurity threats.

While the Audit Committee is responsible for evaluating cyber-risks and overseeing the management of
these risks, the entire Board is briefed periodically and considers cyber-risk within the context of enterprise risk
facing the organization. Our cyber risk management program is based on recognized best practices for
cybersecurity and information technology including the National Institute of Standards and Technology (“NIST”)
Cyber Security Framework (“CSF”) and Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard (“PCI DSS”).

We have implemented an information security program, which is overseen by our CIO and our Sr.
Director, Security & Infrastructure, that consists of controls designed to prevent, detect, and manage reasonably
foreseeable cybersecurity risks and threats. Both our CIO and our Sr. Director, Security & Infrastructure each
have extensive experience assessing and managing cybersecurity programs and cybersecurity risk across a
mix of public and large, private enterprises in the retail space. Our Sr. Director, Security & Infrastructure has
over 25-years of industry experience, including serving in similar roles leading and overseeing cybersecurity
programs at other public companies. Leaders and team members who support our information security
program have relevant education and industry experience, including various cybersecurity industry
certifications.

Together with a third-party, we operate a 24/7 Security Operations Center ("SOC") to monitor the
cybersecurity environment and coordinate escalation and remediation of alerts. Any identified incidents are
documented and reviewed in accordance with the Company's Incident Response Plan. This Plan lays out the
criteria for classification of risk associated with identified issues based on the potential impact and likelihood of a
material, adverse impact on the business, financial condition, results from operation, cash flows or reputation.
IT leadership initially reviews these incidents, and this information is shared with our Cyber Disclosure
Committee, as required. The Cyber Disclosure Committee is comprised of the Company's VP & General
Counsel, the Senior Director, Security & Infrastructure, and the VP & Controller. The process requires that any
incidents deemed to be potentially material under the Incident Response Plan are immediately escalated in
accordance with the Plan to the CEO, other senior leaders of the organization, the Audit Committee Chair, and
the full Board as appropriate to formalize the materiality assessment and apprise them of the situation.

We utilize a variety of methods performed both internally and by third-parties to assess the Company's
cyber risk management program including penetration tests, risk assessments and evaluation against the NIST
CSF. The effectiveness of controls and safeguards are evaluated on an on-going basis to address current and
emerging cyber-risks. We engage an external auditor to conduct an annual payment card industry data security
standard review of our security controls protecting payment information. Our Internal Audit function also
regularly reviews various elements of our program utilizing third-party subject matter experts in IT and cyber
issues to ensure we are complying with our internal controls and staying abreast of best practices in the
industry. We incorporate many resources and tools on both an ad hoc and planned cadence to maintain
readiness to withstand and respond to a cyber incident including incident response tabletop exercises, system
recovery exercises, simulated phishing email exercises and security awareness training throughout the
organization.

Murphy USA relies on numerous third-parties to deliver the goods and services offered to our
customers. We maintain a third-party risk management program to evaluate, prioritize, mitigate and remediate
risks associated with third-parties; however, we rely on those third-parties to implement security programs
commensurate with their risk and we cannot ensure in all circumstances that their efforts will be successful.
See Item 1A. "Risk Factors" for a discussion of cybersecurity risks. For the 2023 period presented within this
Annual Report, Murphy USA is not aware of any threats or cybersecurity incidents that have or are reasonably
likely to materially affect our strategy, results of operations or financial condition.
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Iltem 2. PROPERTIES

See Item 1 "Description of the Business" and "Properties” for this information in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K beginning on page 2.

Iltem 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Murphy USA and its subsidiaries are engaged in a number of legal proceedings, all of which have
arisen in the ordinary course of business. See Note 19 “Contingencies” in the accompanying consolidated
financial statements for the three years ended December 31, 2023. Based on information currently available to
the Company, the ultimate resolution of matters referred to in this item is not expected to have a material
adverse effect on the Company’s net income, financial condition, or liquidity in a future period.

Litigation

The City of Charleston, South Carolina and the state of Delaware have filed lawsuits against energy
companies, including the Company. These lawsuits allege damages as a result of climate change and the
plaintiffs are seeking unspecified damages and abatement under various tort theories.

27



SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION; Information About Our Executive Officers

The age at January 1, 2024, present corporate office and length of service in office of each of the
Company’s executive officers, as of December 31, 2023, are reported in the following listing. Executive officers
are elected annually but may be removed from office at any time by the Board of Directors.

R. Andrew Clyde — Age 60; President and Chief Executive Officer, Director and Member of the
Executive Committee since August 2013. Mr. Clyde has led Murphy USA's successful value-creation strategy
since its spin-off in 2013. Mr. Clyde served Booz & Company (and prior to August 2008, Booz Allen Hamilton) in
its global energy practice. He joined the firm in 1993, was elected vice president in 2000 and held leadership
roles as North American Energy Practice Leader and Dallas office Managing Partner and served on the firm’s
Board Nominating Committee. Mr. Clyde received a master’s degree in Management with Distinction from the
Kellogg Graduate School of Management at Northwestern University. He received a BBA in Accounting and a
minor in Geology from Southern Methodist University.

Mindy K. West — Age 54; Executive Vice President, Fuels, Chief Financial Officer, and Treasurer since
August 2013. Ms. West joined Murphy Oil in 1996 and has held positions in Accounting, Employee Benefits,
Planning and Investor Relations. In 2007, she was promoted to Vice President & Treasurer for Murphy Oil. She
holds a bachelor’s degree in Finance from the University of Arkansas and a bachelor’s degree in Accounting
from Southern Arkansas University. She is a Certified Public Accountant (inactive) and a Certified Treasury
Professional.

Robert J. Chumley — Age 59; Senior Vice President, Chief Digital Officer, since June 2022, and was
Senior Vice President of Merchandising and Marketing from September 2016. Mr. Chumley joined the
Company from 7-Eleven Inc., where he served as Senior Product Director, Vice President of Merchandising and
Senior Vice President of Innovation. His previous experience includes Sales and Marketing leadership roles
with Procter and Gamble, Coca-Cola, Kellogg's and Gillette. Mr. Chumley graduated from the Royal Military
College of Canada with a Bachelors of Engineering degree. After graduation he served as a commissioned
officer in the Royal Canadian Navy. Mr. Chumley also holds an MBA from Dalhousie University.

Renee M. Bacon — Age 54; Senior Vice President, Sales and Operations and Chief Merchandising
Officer, since June 2022. Ms. Bacon joined Murphy USA in 2016 as Regional Vice president, Sales and
Operations. In 2018, she was promoted to National Vice President, Sales and Operations and in 2019 was
promoted to Senior Vice President, Sales and Operations. She holds a Bachelor of Business Administration
degree from the University of Texas--Austin. Ms. Bacon also holds a Master of Business Administration from
the University of Houston and a Doctorate of Jurisprudence from the University of Tennessee.

Christopher A. Click — Age 51; Senior Vice President, Strategy and Development since December
2020. Mr. Click joined the Company from KPMG LLP where he served as a Principal in the firm's Energy and
Infrastructure Strategy practice. His previous experience includes ten years with Booz & Company (and prior to
August 2008, Booz Allen Hamilton) where he served in its global energy practice and was elected Vice
President in 2011. Mr. Click received a Master's degree in Management from the Kellogg Graduate School of
Management at Northwestern University. He holds a bachelor of arts degree from Texas A & M University.

Blake Segal — Age 43; Senior Vice President, QuickChek since September 2021. Mr. Segal joined the
Company from Caesars Entertainment Inc., where he served as Senior Vice President of Operations. His
previous roles within Caesars included Vice President of Operations and Vice President of Analytics. He also
has experience as an independent advisor to Apollo Global Management's private equity unit and has served on
the boards of Opportunity Village, Laughlin (NV) Tourism Commission and Mohave (AZ) Airport Authority. Mr.
Segal holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Management from the A. B. Freeman School of Business at
Tulane University.

Jennifer R. Bridges — Age 55; Senior Vice President, Asset Development since February 2022. Ms.
Bridges joined the Company in 2017 as Vice President, Asset Development and was promoted to Senior Vice
President, Asset Development in 2022. Her previous experience includes 14 years in planning, store
development, and property management at 7-Eleven, including 5 years at Vice President. Prior to retail, she
was a management consultant in the Energy practice of Booz Allen Hamilton. Ms. Bridges holds a Masters of
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Public Affairs and a Masters of Business Administration, both from the University of Texas at Austin, and a
Bachelor of Arts degree from Stanford University.

Item 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable
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Part I

Iltem 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

The Company’s common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange using “MUSA” as the trading
symbol. There were 1,517 stockholders of record as of December 31, 2023.

The declaration and amount of any dividends to holders of our common stock will be at the discretion of
our board of directors and will depend upon many factors, including our financial condition, earnings, cash
flows, capital requirements of our business, covenants associated with our debt obligations, legal requirements,
regulatory constraints, industry practice and other factors the board of directors deem relevant.

We are a holding company and have no direct operations. As a result, we are able to pay dividends on
our common stock only from available cash on hand and distributions received from our subsidiaries. We
declared and paid dividends of $1.55 per share during 2023, $1.27 per share in 2022, $1.04 per share in 2021,
and we expect to continue quarterly dividend payments in the future.

The indenture governing the Senior Notes and the credit agreement governing our credit facilities and
term loan contain restrictive covenants that limit, among other things, the ability of Murphy USA and the
restricted subsidiaries to make certain restricted payments, which as defined under both agreements, include
the declaration or payment of any dividends of any sort in respect of its capital stock and repurchase of shares
of our common stock. See “Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Operating
Results—Capital Resources and Liquidity—Debt” and Note 9 “Long-Term Debt” to the accompanying audited
consolidated financial statements for the three years ended December 31, 2023 for additional information.

On December 1, 2021, our Board of Directors approved a share repurchase authorization of up to $1
billion that we began to utilize upon the completion of our 2020 $500 million share repurchase authorization.
The 2021 authorization was completed in October 2023. On May 2, 2023, the Board of Directors approved a
new share repurchase authorization of up to $1.5 billion to be executed by December 31, 2028. The
authorization value excludes any excise tax that may be incurred. Purchases may be affected in the open
market, through privately negotiated transactions, through one or more accelerated stock repurchase programs,
through a combination of the foregoing or in any other manner in the discretion of management. Purchases will
be made subject to available cash, market conditions and compliance with our financing arrangements at any
time during the period of authorization. We may use cash from operations as well as draws under our credit
facilities to effect purchases.

During the year 2023, we repurchased a total of 1,026,300 common shares for $333.2 million, for an
average price of $324.62 per share. Repurchases in 2023 were made pursuant to both the now completed
2021 authorization and our 2023 authorization. As of December 31, 2023, we had approximately $1.4 billion
remaining under our 2023 authorization.
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Below is detail of the company's common share repurchases during the fourth quarter of 2023.

October 1, 2023 to
October 31, 2023

November 1, 2023 to
November 30, 2023

December 1, 2023 to
December 31, 2023

Three Months Ended
December 31, 2023

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Total Number
of Shares

Purchased as

Approximate
Dollar Value of
Shares That May

Total Number Average Part of Publicly Yet Be Purchased
of Shares Price Paid Announced Plans Under the Plans
Purchased Per Share or Programs or Programs '
116,743  $ 358.04 116,743  $ 1,499,151,826
172,011 367.32 172,011 1,435,968,888
153,460 361.40 153,460 1,380,508,754
442214 $ 362.81 442214 $ 1,380,508,754

"Terms of the repurchase plan authorized by the Murphy USA Inc. Board of Directors and announced on May 2, 2023 include authorization
for the Company to acquire up to $1.5 billion of its common shares by December 31, 2028. During the fourth quarter of 2023, a total of
113,989 common shares were repurchased pursuant to the now completed 2021 authorization and 328,225 common shares were
repurchased pursuant to the 2023 authorization.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The table below contains information about securities authorized for issuance under equity
compensation plans. The features of these plans are discussed further in Note 12 “Incentive Plans” to our
audited consolidated financial statements.

Number of securities remaining
Number of securities to be Weighted-average exercise available for future issuance
issued upon exercise of price of outstanding under equity compensation plans
outstanding options, warrants options, warrants and (excluding securities reflected in
Plan category and rights (1) rights column (a)) (2)
(a) (b) (c)
Equity compensation plans
approved by security
holders 531,086 $139.07 3,154,683
Equity compensation plans
not approved by security
holders — — —
Total 531,086 $139.07 3,154,683

(1)
)

Amounts in this column include outstanding restricted stock units.
Number of shares available for issuance as of December 31, 2023 includes 2,995,854 available shares under the 2013 Long-Term

Incentive Plan plus 157,285 available shares under the 2013 Stock Plan for Non-Employee Directors plus 1,544 available shares under
the 2023 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan. Assumes each restricted stock unit is equivalent to one share and each performance

unit is equal to two shares.
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SHAREHOLDER RETURN PERFORMANCE PRESENTATION

The following graph presents a comparison of cumulative total shareholder returns (including the
reinvestment of dividends) as if a $100 investment was made on December 31, 2018 for the Company, the
Standard and Poor’s 500 Stock Index Fund (S&P 500 Index) and the S&P Retail Select Index. This
performance information is “furnished” by the Company and is not considered as “filed” with this Annual Report
on Form 10-K and is not incorporated into any document that incorporates this Annual Report on Form 10-K by
reference.

Murphy USA Inc.
Comparison of Cumulative Shareholder Returns
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Shareholder Return Performance Table
S&P Retail Select

Murphy USA Inc. S&P 500 Index Index
December 31, 2018 $ 100 $ 100 $ 100
December 31, 2019 $ 153 § 129 § 112
December 31, 2020 $ 171 $ 150 $ 157
December 31, 2021 $ 260 $ 190 $ 223
December 31, 2022 $ 365 $ 153 §$ 150
December 31, 2023 $ 465 $ 190 $ 180

Item 6. RESERVED
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Iltem 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS
OF OPERATIONS

Overview

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Condition
(“Management’s Discussion and Analysis”) is the Company’s analysis of its financial performance and of
significant trends that may affect future performance. It should be read in conjunction with the consolidated
financial statements and notes included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. This section of this Form 10-K
generally discusses 2023 and 2022 items and the year-to-year comparison between 2023 and 2022.
Discussions of 2021 items and the year-to-year comparisons between 2022 and 2021 are not included in this
Form 10-K and can be found in the Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022, filed on February 15,
2023.

For purposes of this Management’s Discussion and Analysis, references to “Murphy USA”, the

» o

“Company”, “‘we”, “our”, and "us" refer to Murphy USA Inc. and its subsidiaries on a consolidated basis.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis is organized as follows:

»  Executive Overview — This section provides an overview of our business and the results of operations
and financial condition for the periods presented. It includes information on the basis of presentation
with respect to the amounts presented in the Management’s Discussion and Analysis and a discussion
of the trends affecting our business.

* Results of Operations — This section provides an analysis of our results of operations, including the
results of our business segments for the two years ended December 31, 2023.

» Capital Resources and Liquidity — This section provides a discussion of our financial condition and
cash flows as of and for the two years ended December 31, 2023. It also includes a discussion of our
capital structure and available sources of liquidity.

»  Critical Accounting Policies — This section describes the accounting policies and estimates that we
consider most important for our business and that require significant judgment.

Executive Overview

Our Business

The Company owns and operates a chain of retail stores that market gasoline and other merchandise
under the brand names of Murphy USA® and Murphy Express, most of which are located in close proximity to
Walmart stores, principally in the Southeast, Midwest and Southwest areas of the United States. We also have
a mix of convenience stores and retail gasoline stores located in New Jersey and New York that operate under
the brand name of QuickChek®. At December 31, 2023, we had a total of 1,733 Company stores in 27 states,
of which 1,577 were Murphy branded and 156 were QuickChek brand. We also market petroleum products to
unbranded wholesale customers through a mixture of Company-owned and third-party terminals.

Basis of Presentation

Murphy USA was incorporated in March 2013, and until the separation from Murphy Oil Corporation
was completed on August 30, 2013, it had not commenced operations and had no material assets, liabilities or
commitments. The financial information presented in this Management's Discussion and Analysis is derived
from the consolidated financial statements of Murphy USA Inc. and its subsidiaries for all periods presented.
Our QuickChek subsidiaries use a weekly retail calendar where each quarter typically has 13 weeks. For 2023,
the QuickChek results cover the period December 31, 2022 to December 29, 2023. For 2022, the QuickChek
results cover the period January 1, 2022 to December 30, 2022. For 2021, the QuickChek results cover the
period January 29, 2021 (date of acquisition) to December 31, 2021. The difference in the timing of the period
ends is immaterial to the overall consolidated results.
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Trends Affecting Our Business

Our operations are significantly impacted by the gross margins we receive on our fuel and merchandise
sales. The fuel gross margins are commodity-based, change daily and are volatile. While we generally expect
our volumes and gross margins to remain stable in a normalized environment, they can change rapidly due to
many factors. These factors include, but are not limited to, the price of refined products, geopolitical events that
disrupt the global supply, overall demand, and prices of crude oil, interruptions in our fuel and merchandise
supply caused by severe weather or pandemics, the effects from pandemics such as travel restrictions and
stay-at-home orders imposed during a pandemic, new or changing legislation around tobacco and e-cigarettes
as well as fuel economy and vehicle emission standards, severe refinery mechanical failures for an extended
period of time, cyber-attacks against the Company or our vendors, changing economic conditions that lower
consumer purchasing power such as inflation, and competition in the local markets in which we operate.

The cost of our main fuel products, gasoline and diesel, is greatly impacted by the cost of crude oil in
the United States. Historically, a rising price environment for crude oil increases the Company’s cost for
wholesale fuel products purchased and increases retail fuel prices. Rising prices can cause consumers to
reduce discretionary fuel consumption, however our low-price model can serve as a hedge to draw new
customers which can offset the potential loss of discretionary volumes. Crude oil prices in 2023 continued to be
volatile during the year with prices ranging from $67 per barrel to $94 per barrel, with an average price of $78
per barrel, compared to prices in 2022 that ranged from $71 per barrel to $124 per barrel with an average of
$95 per barrel. Total fuel contribution (retail fuel margin plus product supply and wholesale ("PS&W") results
which include Renewable Identification Numbers ("RINs")) was 31.4 cpg in 2023, compared to 34.3 cpg in 2022.

Our revenues are impacted by our ability to leverage our diverse supply infrastructure in pursuit of
obtaining the lowest cost of fuel supply available; for example, activities such as blending bulk fuel with
renewable fuels (ethanol and biodiesel) to capture and subsequently sell RINs. Under the Energy Policy Act of
2005, the Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA") is authorized to set annual quotas establishing the
percentage of motor fuels consumed in the United States that must be attributable to renewable fuels.
Obligated parties are required to demonstrate that they have met any applicable quotas by submitting a certain
number of RINs to the EPA. RINs in excess of the set quota can then be sold in a market for RINs at then-
prevailing prices. The market price for RINs fluctuates based on a variety of factors, including but not limited to
governmental and regulatory action. On June 21, 2023, EPA announced a final rule to establish biofuel volume
requirements and associated percentage standards for cellulosic biofuel, biomass-based diesel, advanced
biofuel, and total renewable fuel for 2023—-2025. The rule includes steady growth of biofuels for use in the
United States' fuel supply for 2023, 2024, and 2025, however the projected growth of Renewable Diesel
production could outstrip the statutory mandated biofuel blending requirements. As a result, the amount of
renewable credits available could outpace the demand, resulting in lower prices. Litigation and potentially
changing political regimes could impact the RFS program as well as the successful completion or abandonment
of planned renewable fuel production expansion. There are other market related factors that can offset the
revenue received for RINs on a company-wide basis either favorably or unfavorably. The Renewable Fuel
Standard ("RFS") program continues to be unpredictable and prices received by us for ethanol RINs averaged
$1.35 per RIN for the year 2023 compared to $1.42 per RIN in 2022 but exited the year around $0.80 per RIN.
Our business model does not depend on our ability to generate revenues from RINs, and we have historically
observed that changes in revenue are typically coupled with offsetting changes in cost of goods that minimizes
the majority of any revenue movement. Revenue from the sales of RINs is included in “Other operating
revenues” in the Consolidated Income Statements.

As of December 31, 2023, we had $1.3 billion of Senior Notes and a $390 million term loan outstanding.
We believe that we will generate sufficient cash from operations to fund our ongoing operating requirements
and service our debt obligations. At December 31, 2023, we had additional available capacity under the
committed $350 million cash flow revolving credit facility, with none drawn. We expect to use the credit facilities
to provide us with available financing to meet any short-term ongoing cash needs in excess of internally
generated cash flows. To the extent necessary, we will borrow under these facilities to fund our ongoing
operating requirements. There can be no assurances, however, that we will generate sufficient cash from
operations or be able to draw on the credit facilities, obtain commitments for our incremental facility, or obtain
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and draw upon other credit facilities. For additional information, see Significant Sources of Capital in the Capital
Resources and Liquidity section.

The Company currently anticipates total capital expenditures (including land for future development) for
the full year 2024 to range from approximately $400 million to $450 million depending on how many new stores
are completed. We intend to fund our capital program in 2024 primarily using operating cash flow but will
supplement funding where necessary through borrowings under our revolving credit facility.

We believe that our business will continue to grow in the future as we expand additional capabilities
such as food and beverage within our network. We maintain a pipeline of desirable future store locations for
development. The pace of this growth is continually monitored by our management, and these plans can be
altered based on operating cash flows generated and the availability of debt facilities.

Seasonality

Our business has inherent seasonality due to the concentration of our retail stores in certain geographic
areas, as well as customer behaviors during different seasons. In general, sales volumes and operating
incomes are typically highest in the second and third quarters during the summer-activity months and lowest
during the winter months.

Business Segments

The Company has one operating segment which is Marketing. The Marketing segment includes our
retail marketing stores and product supply and wholesale assets. For operating segment information, see Note
22 “Business Segments” in the accompanying audited consolidated financial statements for the three-year
period ended December 31, 2023. Our QuickChek subsidiaries use a weekly retail calendar where each quarter
has 13 weeks. For 2023, the QuickChek results cover the period December 31, 2022 to December 29, 2023
and for 2022, the QuickChek results cover the period January 1, 2022 to December 30, 2022 and for 2021
covered the period January 29, 2021 (date of acquisition) to December 31, 2021. The difference in the timing of
the period ends is immaterial to the overall consolidated results.

Results of Operations
Consolidated Results

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company reported net income of $556.8 million, or $25.49
per diluted share, on revenue of $21.5 billion. Net income was $672.9 million for 2022, or $28.10 per diluted
share, on revenue of $23.4 billion.

A summary of the Company’s earnings by business segment follows:

Year ended December 31,

(millions of dollars) 2023 2022 2021

Marketing $ 6309 $ 7409 $ 472.8

Corporate and other assets (74.1) (68.0) (75.9)
Net income $ 556.8 $ 6729 $ 396.9

Net income for 2023 decreased compared to 2022, primarily due to:

» Lower all-in fuel contribution;

» Higher store operating expenses, excluding payment fees;

* Higher interest expense;

* Higher depreciation and amortization expense;

» Higher selling, general and administrative ("SG&A") expenses
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The items below partially offset the decrease in earnings in the current period:

* Higher merchandise contribution;
* Lower income tax expense;
* Lower payment fees

Financial Summary of 2023 Compared to 2022

Revenues for the year ended December 31, 2023 decreased $1.9 billion, or 8.2%, compared to
2022. The decrease was due to lower average retail fuel prices which decreased 45 cpg, or 12.3%, lower
PS&W revenues, which were partially offset by a 1.1% increase in retail fuel volumes sold and a 4.8% increase
in merchandise sales revenues.

Cost of sales decreased $1.8 billion, or 8.7%, compared to 2022, due to the lower average cost of fuel,
which decreased 11.1%, and was partially offset by the 1.1% increase in retail fuel volumes sold and a 4.8%
increase in merchandise cost of goods sold.

Store and other operating expenses increased $38.3 million, or 3.9%, in 2023 due primarily to higher
employee related costs, increased store maintenance expenses, higher inventory shrink, and were partially
offset by lower payment fees. On an average per store month ("APSM") basis, store operating expenses
excluding credit card fees and rent increased 4.7% in 2023 when compared to 2022.

Depreciation and amortization expense in 2023 increased $8.3 million due primarily to the increased
number of Murphy branded stores with larger formats.

Selling, general and administrative expenses for 2023 were higher by $8.0 million primarily due to
increased employee related and incentive expenses, and expenses associated with professional and
technology services for business improvement initiatives, which were partially offset by lower charitable
contributions.

Interest expense in 2023 increased by $13.2 million compared to 2022 due to an increase in variable
interest rates on the term loan during the year.

The effective income tax expense rate in 2023 was 24.2% compared to 23.9% for 2022.

Segment Results
Marketing
Income before income taxes in the Marketing segment for 2023 decreased $139.1 million, or 14.3%,
from 2022 due primarily to lower all-in fuel contribution, higher store and other operating costs, increased

selling, general and administrative costs, and depreciation, partially offset by higher merchandise contribution.

The tables below show the results for the Marketing segment for the three years ended December 31,
2023, along with certain key metrics for the segment.

(Millions of dollars, except revenue per store month (in

thousands) and store counts) Years Ended December 31,
Marketing Segment 2023 2022 2021
Operating revenues
Petroleum product sales $ 17,1044 $ 19,230.1 § 13,410.8
Merchandise sales 4,089.3 3,903.2 3,677.7
Other operating revenue 335.2 3121 271.4
Total operating revenues 21,528.9 23,4454 17,359.9
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(Millions of dollars, except revenue per store month (in

thousands) and store counts) Years Ended December 31,
Marketing Segment 2023 2022 2021
Operating expenses
Petroleum product cost of goods sold 15,929.7 17,910.1 12,535.5
Merchandise cost of goods sold 3,285.9 3,136.1 2,976.1
Store and other operating expenses 1,014.6 976.5 827.1
Depreciation and amortization 211.9 204.8 197.3
Selling, general and administrative 240.5 232.5 193.6
Accretion of asset retirement obligations 3.0 2.7 25
Total operating expenses 20,685.6 22,462.7 16,7321
Gain (loss) on sale of assets (0.7) (0.7) 1.6
Income (loss) from operations 842.6 982.0 629.4
Other income (expense)
Interest expense (8.9) (9.0) (8.1)
Other nonoperating income 0.2 — —
Total other income (expense) (8.7) (9.0) (8.1)
Income (loss) before income taxes 833.9 973.0 621.3
Income tax expense (benefit) 203.0 232.1 148.5
Net Income (loss) from operations $ 6309 $ 7409 $ 472.8
Total tobacco sales revenue per same store sales™? $ 1272 % 1233 $ 120.2
Total non-tobacco sales revenue per same store
sales'? 72.6 69.7 48.6
Total merchandise sales revenue per same store
sales? $ 199.8 $ 193.0 $ 168.8

12022 and 2021 amounts not revised for 2023 raze-and-rebuild activity (see SSS definition below)

2Includes store-level discounts for Murphy Drive Reward ("MDR") redemptions and excludes change in value of unredeemed MDR points

Store count at end of period 1,733 1,712 1,679
Total store months during the period 20,535 20,172 19,702

Average Per Store Month ("APSM") metric includes all stores open through the date of the calculation, including
stores acquired during the period.

Same store sales ("SSS") metric includes aggregated individual store results for all stores open throughout both
periods presented. For all periods presented, the store must have been open for the entire calendar year to be
included in the comparison. Remodeled stores that remained open or were closed for just a very brief time
(less than a month) during the period being compared remain in the same store sales calculation. If a store is
replaced either at the same location (raze-and-rebuild) or relocated to a new location, it will be excluded from
the calculation during the period it is out of service. Newly constructed stores do not enter the calculation until
they are open for each full calendar year for the periods being compared (open by January 1, 2022, for the
stores being compared in the 2023 versus 2022 comparison). Acquired stores are not included in the
calculation of same stores for the first 12 months after the acquisition. When prior period SSS volumes or sales
are presented, they have not been revised for current year activity for raze-and-rebuilds and asset dispositions.
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Fuel

Key Operating Metrics
Total retail fuel contribution ($ Millions)
Total PS&W contribution ($ Millions)

RINs and other (included in Other operating
revenues on Consolidated Income Statement)
($ Millions)

Total fuel contribution ($ Millions)

Retail fuel volume - chain (Million gal)

Retail fuel volume - per store (K gals APSM)’
Retail fuel volume - per store (K gal SSS)?
Total fuel contribution (cpg)

Retail fuel margin (cpg)

PS&W including RINs contribution (cpg)

'APSM metric includes all stores open through the date of calculation

22022 and 2021 amounts not revised for 2023 raze-and-rebuild activity

Twelve Months Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
$ 1,324.0 $ 1,4050 $ 951.3
(144.9) (80.8) (72.3)
328.6 305.8 265.3
$ 1,507.7 $ 1,630.0 $ 1,144.3
4,803.7 47515 4,352.2
242.0 244.6 229.4
237.8 240.9 225.8
31.4 34.3 26.3
27.6 29.6 21.9
3.8 4.7 4.4

The reconciliation of the total fuel contribution to the Consolidated Income Statements is as follows:

(Millions of dollars)
Petroleum product sales
Less Petroleum product cost of goods sold

Plus RINs and other (included in Other Operating

Revenues line)
Total fuel contribution

Merchandise

Key Operating Metrics
Total merchandise contribution ($ Millions)
Total merchandise sales ($ Millions)
Total merchandise sales (3K SSS)"?
Merchandise unit margin (%)
Tobacco contribution (3K SSS)"2
Non-tobacco contribution ($K SSS)"?
Total merchandise contribution ($K SSS)'2

2022 and 2021 amounts not revised for 2023 raze-and-rebuild activity

Twelve Months Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
$ 17,1044 § 19,2301 $ 13,410.8
(15,929.7) (17,910.1) (12,535.5)
333.0 310.0 269.0
$ 1,507.7 $ 1,630.0 $ 1,144.3
Twelve months ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021
$ 803.4 $ 7671 $ 701.6
$ 4,089.3 $ 3,903.2 $ 3,677.7
$ 199.8 $ 193.0 $ 168.8
19.7% 19.7% 19.1%
$ 18.4 $ 17.7 $ 16.7
$ 21.3 $ 20.2 $ 10.8
$ 39.7 $ 37.9 $ 27.5

2Includes store-level discounts for MDR redemptions and excludes change in value of unredeemed MDR points
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Same store sales information compared to APSM metrics:

Variance from prior year periods

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021

Sss' APSM? Sss’ APSM? SSS' APSM?
Fuel gallons per month (1.8)% (1.0)% 5.4 % 6.6 % 3.0 % 4.5 %
Merchandise sales 2.7 % 2.9 % 2.9 % 3.7 % 1.0 % 12.2 %
Tobacco sales 3.5 % 2.9 % 2.9 % 2.3 % (0.4)% (0.8)%
Non tobacco sales 1.4 % 3.1% 3.1% 6.3 % 4.5 % 46.2 %
Merchandise margin 3.0% 29 % 51 % 6.8 % 3.5% 37.7 %
Tobacco margin 4.3 % 2.7 % 5.5 % 4.2 % 2.3 % 4.3 %
Non tobacco margin 1.9 % 3.8 % 4.7 % 9.6 % 5.4 % 89.2 %

"Includes store-level discounts for MDR redemptions and excludes change in value of unredeemed MDR points

2Includes all MDR activity

Financial Summary of 2023 Compared to 2022

The Marketing segment had total revenues of $21.5 billion in 2023 compared to $23.4 billion in 2022, a
decrease of $1.9 billion, due primarily to a lower average retail fuel sales price, partially offset by increased
retail fuel volumes sold and higher merchandise sales. Revenue amounts included excise taxes collected and
remitted to government authorities of $2.3 billion in 2023 and $2.2 billion in 2022.

Total fuel contribution for the year ended December 31, 2023, was $1.5 billion, a decrease of $0.1
billion or 7.5%, compared to 2022. This reduction was due to lower retail fuel contribution, combined with lower
contribution from PS&W margin, and was partially offset by slightly higher fuel volumes sold for the year. Retalil
fuel margin on a cpg basis decreased 6.8% in 2023 to 27.6 cpg, compared to 29.6 cpg in the prior year. Total
retail fuel volumes increased 1.1%, while fuel sales on an SSS basis decreased 1.8%. Total product supply and
wholesale contribution dollars decreased $41.3 million in the current year due to lower unbranded margins
combined with timing and price-related impacts. During 2023, other operating revenue included the sale of
242.7 million RINs compared to the sale of 215.6 million in 2022.

Merchandise sales were up 4.8% in 2023 to $4.1 billion due to higher sales volumes and prices. Total
merchandise contribution in 2023 increased $36.3 million, or 4.7%, to $803.4 million compared to $767.1 million
in 2022. Merchandise unit margins were flat at 19.7% in both 2023 and 2022. On an SSS basis, total
merchandise sales were up 2.7%, due to a 1.4% increase in non-tobacco sales and an increase of 3.5% in
tobacco products. Total margins on a SSS basis for 2023 improved 3.0%, tobacco margins were higher by
4.3%, and non-tobacco margins increased 1.9%, mainly from increased beverage and snack categories.

Store and other operating expenses increased $38.1 million in 2023 compared to 2022 levels, an
increase of 3.9%. This increase in total dollars was due primarily to employee related expenses, maintenance
expenses, inventory shrink, and licenses and permits, and was partially offset by lower payment fees.
Excluding credit card fees and rent on an APSM basis, store and other operating expenses at the retail level
were 4.7% higher in 2023 compared to 2022 levels.

Depreciation and amortization increased $7.1 million in 2023, an increase of 3.5%. This increase was
due primarily to more stores with larger formats operating in the 2023 period.
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Selling, general and administrative expenses ("SG&A") increased $8.0 million in 2023 compared to
2022, primarily due to higher employee related and incentive expenses and expenses associated with
professional and technology fees from business improvement initiatives, which were partially offset by lower
charitable contributions in the current year.

Corporate and Other Assets

Loss from continuing operations for Corporate and other assets in 2023 was $74.1 million, compared to
a loss of $68.0 million in 2022. The $6.1 million increase from the previous year was mainly due to $13.7 million
more in interest expense, $2.8 million less in gain on the sale of assets, and was partially offset by $4.2 million
less in income tax benefits, a $3.9 million increase in investment income and a $2.2 million decrease in other
nonoperating expenses.

Non-GAAP Measures

The following table sets forth the Company’s EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA for the three years ended
December 31, 2023. EBITDA means net income (loss) plus net interest expense, plus income tax expense,
depreciation and amortization, and Adjusted EBITDA adds back (i) other non-cash items (e.g., impairment of
properties and accretion of asset retirement obligations) and (ii) other items that management does not consider
to be meaningful in assessing our operating performance (e.g., (income) from discontinued operations, net
settlement proceeds, (gain) loss on sale of assets, loss on early debt extinguishment, transaction and
integration costs related to acquisitions, and other non-operating (income) expense). EBITDA and Adjusted
EBITDA are not measures that are prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles
(GAAP).

We use Adjusted EBITDA in our operational and financial decision-making, believing that the measure
is useful to eliminate certain items in order to focus on what we deem to be an indicator of ongoing operating
performance and our ability to generate cash flow from operations. Adjusted EBITDA is also used by many of
our investors, research analysts, investment bankers, and lenders to assess our operating performance. We
believe that the presentation of Adjusted EBITDA provides useful information to investors because it allows
understanding of a key measure that we evaluate internally when making operating and strategic decisions,
preparing our annual plan and evaluating our overall performance. However, non-GAAP measures are not a
substitute for GAAP disclosures, and EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA may be prepared differently by us than by
other companies using similarly titted non-GAAP measures.

The reconciliation of net income to EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA is as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

(Millions of dollars) 2023 2022 2021

Net income $ 556.8 $ 6729 $ 396.9
Income tax expense (benefit) 177.6 210.9 125.0
Interest expense, net of investment income 91.6 82.3 82.3
Depreciation and amortization 228.7 220.4 212.6

EBITDA 1,054.7 1,186.5 816.8
Accretion of asset retirement obligations 3.0 2.7 2.5
(Gain) loss on sale of assets 0.8 (2.1) (1.5)
Acquisition and integration related costs — 1.5 10.4
Other nonoperating (income) expense — 2.3 (0.2)

Adjusted EBITDA $ 1,058.5 § 1,190.9 $ 828.0
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Capital Resources and Liquidity
Significant Sources of Capital

As of December 31, 2023, we had $117.8 million of cash and cash equivalents and total marketable
securities of $11.5 million. Our cash management policy provides that cash balances in excess of a certain
threshold are reinvested in certain types of low-risk investments. We have a committed cash flow revolving
credit facility (the "revolving facility") of $350 million, which was undrawn at December 31, 2023, which can be
utilized for working capital and other general corporate purposes, including supporting our operating model as
described herein. Additional borrowing capacity under the revolving facility may be extended at our request and
with the consent of the participating lenders.

We also have a shelf registration on file with the SEC for an indeterminate amount of debt and equity
securities for future issuance, subject to our internal limitations on the amount of debt to be issued under this
shelf registration statement.

We believe our short-term and long-term liquidity is adequate to fund not only our operations, but also
our anticipated near-term and long-term funding requirements, including capital spending programs, execution
of announced share repurchase programs, dividend payments, repayment of debt maturities and other amounts
that may ultimately be paid in connection with contingencies.

Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities was $784.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 and
was $994.7 million in 2022, a decrease of $210.7 million, or 21.2% The decrease was mainly due to a decrease
in net income of $116.1 million in 2023, a decrease in the amount of cash provided from changes in noncash
working capital in 2023 of $86.9 million, and lower deferred and noncurrent tax changes of $29.5 million,
partially offset by increased depreciation of $8.3 million and an increase of $10.6 million in cash provided by
other operating activities. For the current year, operating cash required by changes in non-cash operating
working capital of $42.1 million was due to an increase of $56.3 million in accounts receivable due to the timing
of receipts, an increase of $22.1 million in inventories due to higher prices and volumes, a decrease of $12.0
million in accounts payable and accrued liabilities which was due to the timing of payments, and was partially
offset by a decrease of $25.2 million in prepaid expenses and other current assets, of which $22.2 million was
related to prepaid income taxes as well as an increase of $23.1 million in income taxes payable, due to the
timing of payments. See also Note 16 "Other Financial Information” in the accompanying audited consolidated
financial statements for the three-year period ended December 31, 2023.

Investing Activities

For the year ended December 31, 2023, cash required by investing activities was $323.6 million
compared to cash required by investing activities of $319.3 million in 2022. The increase in cash required by
investing activities of $4.3 million compared to the previous year was primarily due to the increase in capital
expenditures of $30.3 million, lower proceeds from the sale of assets of $6.4 million, and cash required for other
investing activities which were higher by $1.0 million. The increase in cash required by investing activities was
partially offset by the change in redemptions of marketable securities net of new investments of $33.4 million.

Financing Activities

Financing activities in the year ended December 31, 2023 required net cash of $403.1 million
compared to net cash required of $871.3 million in 2022. The $468.2 million decrease in financing cash
required was due to a decrease of $473.2 million in share repurchases, which was partially offset by an
increase of $3.5 million in cash dividends paid, and an increase of $1.3 million in amounts related to share-
based compensation. During 2023 there were net repayments of borrowings of $15.4 million compared to net
repayments of $15.2 million in 2022.
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Dividends

The Company paid dividends of $1.55 per common share during 2023 for total payments of $33.4
million, compared to $1.27 per common share, or $29.9 million in 2022. As part of our capital allocation
strategy, the Company's intention is to deliver targeted double-digit growth in the per share dividend over time.

On February 15, 2024, the Board of Directors declared a quarterly cash dividend of $0.42 per common
share, or $1.68 per share on an annualized basis. The dividend is payable on March 7, 2024, to shareholders
of record as of February 26, 2024.

Share Repurchase Program

On December 1, 2021, our Board of Directors approved a share repurchase authorization of up to $1
billion, that we began to utilize upon the completion of our 2020 $500 million share repurchase authorization.
The 2021 authorization was completed in October 2023. On May 2, 2023, the Board of Directors approved a
new share repurchase authorization of up to $1.5 billion to be executed by December 31, 2028. The
authorization value excludes any excise tax that may be incurred. Purchases may be effected in the open
market, through privately negotiated transactions, through one or more accelerated stock repurchase programs,
through a combination of the foregoing or in any other manner in the discretion of management. Purchases will
be made subject to available cash, market conditions and compliance with our financing arrangements at any
time during the period of authorization. We may use cash from operations as well as draws under our credit
facilities to effect purchases.

During the year 2023, we repurchased a total of 1,026,300 common shares for $336.2 million, at an
average price of $327.55 per share, including any excise tax. Repurchases in 2023 were made pursuant to
both the now completed 2021 authorization and our 2023 authorization. As of December 31, 2023, we had
approximately $1.4 billion remaining under our 2023 authorization.

Debt

Our long-term debt at December 31, 2023 and 2022 was as set forth below:

December 31,

(Millions of dollars) 2023 2022

5.625% senior notes due 2027 (net of unamortized discount of $1.3 at

2023 and $1.6 at 2022) $ 2987 § 298.4

4.75% senior notes due 2029 (net of unamortized discount of $3.6 at

2023 and $4.2 at 2022) 496.4 495.8

3.75% senior notes due 2031 (net of unamortized discount of $4.4 at

2023 and $5.1 at 2022) 495.6 494.9

Term loan due 2028 (effective interest rate of 7.23% at 2023 and 5.95%

at 2022) net of unamortized discount of $0.6 at 2023 and $0.7 at 2022 389.4 393.3

Capitalized lease obligations, autos and equipment, due through 2027 3.1 2.3

Capitalized lease obligations, buildings, due through 2059 123.6 131.3

Unamortized debt issuance costs (7.1) (9.1)

Total long-term debt 1,799.7 1,806.9
Less current maturities 15.0 15.0

Total long-term debt, net of current $ 1,784.7 $ 1,791.9

Senior Notes

On April 25, 2017, Murphy Oil USA, Inc. ("MOUSA"), our primary operating subsidiary, issued $300
million of 5.625% Senior Notes due 2027 (the "2027 Senior Notes") under its existing shelf registration
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statement. The 2027 Senior Notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by the Company and by the
Company's subsidiaries that guarantee our Credit Facilities (as defined below). The indenture governing the
2027 Senior Notes contains restrictive covenants that limit, among other things, the ability of the Company,
MOUSA, and the restricted subsidiaries to incur additional indebtedness or liens, dispose of assets, make
certain restricted payments or investments, enter into transactions with affiliates or merge with or into other
entities.

On September 13, 2019, MOUSA issued $500 million of 4.75% Senior Notes due 2029 (the “2029
Senior Notes”). The net proceeds from the issuance of the 2029 Senior Notes were used to fund, in part, the
tender offer and redemption of a prior note issuance. The 2029 Senior Notes are fully and unconditionally
guaranteed by the Company and by the Company's 100% owned subsidiaries that guarantee our Credit
Facilities. The indenture governing the 2029 Senior Notes contains restrictive covenants that are essentially
identical to the covenants for the 2027 Senior Notes.

On January 29, 2021, MOUSA issued $500 million of 3.75% Senior Notes due 2031 (the "2031 Senior
Notes" and, together with the 2027 Senior Notes and the 2029 Senior Notes, the "Senior Notes"). The net
proceeds from the issuance of the 2031 Senior Notes were used, in part, to fund the acquisition of QuickChek
and other obligations related to that transaction. The 2031 Senior Notes are fully and unconditionally
guaranteed by the Company and by the Company's subsidiaries that guarantee our Credit Facilities. The
indenture governing the 2031 Senior Notes contains restrictive covenants that are essentially identical to the
covenants for the 2027 and 2029 Senior Notes.

The Senior Notes and related guarantees rank equally with all of our and the guarantors’ existing and
future senior unsecured indebtedness and effectively junior to our and the guarantors’ existing and future
secured indebtedness (including indebtedness with respect to the Credit Facilities) to the extent of the value of
the assets securing such indebtedness. The Senior Notes are structurally subordinated to all of the existing and
future third-party liabilities, including trade payables, of our existing and future subsidiaries that do not
guarantee the notes.

Revolving Credit Facility and Term Loan

Our credit agreement consists of both a cash flow revolving credit facility and a senior secured term
loan.

The credit agreement provides for a senior secured term loan in an aggregate principal amount of $400
million (the “Term Facility”) (which was borrowed in full on January 29, 2021) and revolving credit commitments
in an aggregate amount equal to $350 million (the “Revolving Facility”, and together with the Term Facility, the
“Credit Facilities”). The outstanding balance of the term loan was $390 million at December 31, 2023. The term
loan is due January 2028, and we are required to make quarterly principal payments of $1 million, which began
on July 1, 2021. As of December 31, 2023, we had no outstanding borrowings under the Revolving Facility and
had $6.2 million in outstanding letters of credit (which reduces the amount available to borrow under the
Revolving Facility).

Interest payable on the Term Facility is based on either:

« the term overnight financing rate, plus the applicable Alternative Reference Rate Committee ("ARRC")
recommended credit spread adjustment (the “Adjusted Term SOFR Rate”);

or
+ the Alternate Base Rate, which is defined as the highest of (a) the rate of interest last quoted by The
Wall Street Journal as the “Prime Rate”, (b) the greater of federal funds effective rate and the overnight

bank funding rate determined by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York from time to time plus 0.50%
per annum and (c) the one-month Adjusted Term SOFR Rate plus 1.00% per annum,
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plus, (A) in the case of Adjusted Term SOFR Rate borrowings, a spread of 1.75% per annum and (B) in the
case of Alternate Base Rate borrowings, a spread of 0.75% per annum.

Interest payable on the Revolving Facility is based on either:

+ the term secured overnight financing rate, plus 0.10% credit spread adjustment for all interest periods
(the "Adjusted SOFR Rate"), which is subject to a 0.0% floor;

or

+ the Alternate Base Rate, which is defined as the highest of (a) the rate of interest last quoted by The
Wall Street Journal as the “Prime Rate”, (b) the greater of federal funds effective rate and the overnight
bank funding rate determined by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York from time to time plus 0.50%
per annum and (c) the one-month Adjusted SOFR Rate plus 1.00% per annum,

plus, (A) in the case of Adjusted SOFR Rate borrowings, a spread of 1.75% to 2.25% per annum depending on
a total debt to EBITDA ratio and (B) in the case of Alternate Base Rate borrowings, spreads ranging from 0.75%
to 1.25% per annum depending on a total debt to EBITDA ratio.

The Term Facility amortizes in quarterly installments, which commenced on July 1, 2021, at a rate of
1.00% per annum. Murphy USA is also required to prepay the Term Facility with a portion of its excess cash
flow, a portion of the net cash proceeds of certain asset sales and casualty events (subject to certain
reinvestment rights) and the net cash proceeds of issuances of indebtedness not permitted under the Credit
Agreement. The Credit Agreement allows Murphy USA to prepay, in whole or in part, the Term Facility
outstanding thereunder, together with any accrued and unpaid interest, with prior notice but without premium or
penalty other than breakage and redeployment costs.

The credit agreement contains certain covenants that limit, among other things, the ability of the
Company and certain of its subsidiaries to incur additional indebtedness or liens, to make certain investments,
to enter into sale-leaseback transactions, to make certain restricted payments, to enter into consolidations,
mergers or sales of material assets and other fundamental changes, to transact with affiliates, to enter into
agreements restricting the ability of subsidiaries to incur liens or pay dividends, or to make certain accounting
changes. The Revolving Facility credit agreement also impose total leverage ratio and secured net leverage
ratio financial maintenance covenants which are tested quarterly. Pursuant to the total leverage ratio financial
maintenance covenant, the Company must maintain a total leverage ratio of not more than 5.0 to 1.0 with an
ability in certain circumstances to temporarily increase that limit to 5.5 to 1.0 and a maximum secured net
leverage ratio of not more than 3.75 to 1.0 with an ability in certain circumstances to temporarily increase that
limit to 4.25 to 1.0. The Credit Agreement also contains customary events of default.

Pursuant to the credit agreement's covenant limiting certain restricted payments, certain payments in
respect of our equity interests, including dividends, when the total leverage ratio, calculated on a pro forma
basis, is greater than 3.0 to 1.0, could be limited. At December 31, 2023, our total leverage ratio was 1.68 to
1.0 which meant our ability at that date to make restricted payments was not limited. If our total leverage ratio,
on a pro forma basis, exceeds 3.0 to 1.0, any restricted payments made following that time until the ratio is once
again, on a pro forma basis, below 3.0 to 1.0 would be limited by the covenant, which contains certain
exceptions, including an ability to make restricted payments in cash in an aggregate amount not to exceed the
greater of $115.6 million, or 4.5% of consolidated net tangible assets over the life of the credit agreement.

Supplemental Guarantor Financial Information

The following is a description of the guarantees with respect to the Senior Notes and the Credit
Facilities, for which MOUSA is primary obligor, and for which the Company and certain 100% owned
subsidiaries provide full and unconditional guarantees on a joint and several basis. See "—Debt" above for
additional information concerning the Company's outstanding indebtedness, all of which is guaranteed as
described below. See also Note 9 "Long-Term Debt" in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for
the three years ended December 31, 2023.
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The Senior Notes and related guarantees rank equally with all of our and the guarantors’ existing and
future senior unsecured indebtedness and effectively junior to our and the guarantors’ existing and future
secured indebtedness (including indebtedness with respect to the Credit Facilities) to the extent of the value of
the assets securing such indebtedness. The Senior Notes and related guarantees are structurally subordinated
to all of the existing and future third-party liabilities, including trade payables, of our existing and future
subsidiaries that do not guarantee the notes.

All obligations under the Credit Facilities are guaranteed by the Company and the same subsidiary
guarantors that guarantee the Senior Notes. All obligations under the Credit Facilities, including the guarantees
of those obligations, are secured by certain assets of the Company, MOUSA, and the other guarantors.

The combined assets, liabilities and results of operations of MOUSA and the guarantors are not
materially different from corresponding amounts presented in the consolidated financial statements included
herein. MOUSA. is our primary operating subsidiary and generated the vast majority of our revenues for the
year ended December 31, 2023 and accounted for the vast majority of our total assets as of December 31,
2023. In the event MOUSA itself were unable to service the Company's consolidated debt obligations, our
business and financial condition would be materially adversely impacted.

Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes our aggregate contractual fixed and variable obligations as of
December 31, 2023.

Less than 1 More than 5
(Millions of dollars) Total year 1-3 years 4-5 years years
Debt obligations $ 17446 $ 150 $ 309 § 698.7 $ 1,000.0
Operating lease obligations 794.3 53.1 104.1 101.3 535.8
Purchase obligations 2 664.5 354.7 292.2 9.4 8.2
Asset retirement obligations 164.2 — — — 164.2
Other long-term obligations,
including interest on
long-term debt 460.9 81.4 160.3 131.7 87.5
Total $ 38285 $§ 504.2 $ 587.5 § 9411 $ 1,795.7

"For additional information, see Note 9 “Long-Term Debt” in the accompanying audited consolidated financial statements.

2Primarily includes ongoing new retail store construction in progress at December 31, 2023, commitments to purchase land, take-or-pay
supply contracts and other services. See Note 18 “Commitments” in the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2023.

Capital Spending

Capital spending and investments in our Marketing segment relate primarily to the acquisition of land
and the construction of new Company stores. Our Marketing capital is also deployed to improve our existing
stores, which we refer to as sustaining capital. We use sustaining capital in this business as needed to ensure
reliability and continued performance of our stores. We also invest in our Corporate and other assets
segment which is primarily technology related.
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The following table outlines our capital spending and investments by category for the three years
ended December 31, 2023:

Years Ended December 31,

(Millions of dollars) 2023 2022 2021
Marketing:
Company stores $ 2320 $ 2457 $ 221.2
Terminals 5.7 — 2.5
Sustaining capital 51.8 33.4 21.8
Corporate and other assets 54.6 26.7 32.0
Total $ 3441 § 3058 $ 277.5

We currently expect capital expenditures for the full year 2024 to range from approximately $400 million
to $450 million, including $275 million to $315 million for retail growth, approximately $75 million to $80 million
for maintenance capital, with the remaining funds earmarked for other corporate investments and other strategic
initiatives. See Note 18 “Commitments” in the audited consolidated financial statements for the three years
ended December 31, 2023, included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Critical Accounting Policies

Goodwill and intangible assets

Goodwill represents the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred over the net assets
acquired and liabilities assumed and is tested annually for impairment, or more frequently if there are indicators
of impairment. Acquired finite-lived intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives and are reviewed for impairment when events or circumstances indicate that the asset group to
which the intangible assets belong might be impaired. The Company revises the estimated remaining useful life
of these assets when events or changes in circumstances warrant a revision. If the Company revises the useful
life, the unamortized balance is amortized over the use life on a prospective basis. Indefinite-lived intangibles
are tested annually for impairment, or more often if indicators warrant.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Individual retail stores are reviewed for impairment periodically or whenever events or circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Our primary indicator that operating store
assets may not be recoverable is consistent negative cash flow over a twenty-four month period for those retail
stores that have been open in the same location for a sufficient period to allow for meaningful analysis of
ongoing results. We also monitor other factors when evaluating retail stores for impairment, including individual
store execution of operating plans and local market conditions.

When an evaluation is required, the projected future undiscounted cash flows to be generated from
each retail store over its remaining economic life are compared to the carrying value of the long-lived assets of
that store to determine if a write-down of the carrying value to fair value is required. When determining future
cash flows associated with an individual retail store, we make assumptions about key variables such as sales
volume, gross margins and expenses. Cash flows vary for each retail store year to year. Changes in market
demographics, traffic patterns, competition and other factors impact the overall operations of certain of our
individual retail store locations. Similar changes may occur in the future that will require us to record impairment
charges. We have not made any material change in the methodology used to estimate future cash flows of
retail store locations during the past three years.

Our impairment evaluations are based on assumptions we deem to be reasonable. If the actual results
of our retail stores are not consistent with the estimates and judgments, we have made in estimating future cash
flows and determining fair values, our actual impairment losses could vary positively or negatively from our
estimated impairment losses. Providing sensitivity analysis if other assumptions were used in performing the
impairment evaluations is not practical due to the significant number of assumptions involved in the estimates.
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Tax Matters

We are subject to extensive tax liabilities imposed by multiple jurisdictions, including income taxes,
indirect taxes (excise/duty, sales/use, and gross receipts taxes), payroll taxes, franchise taxes, withholding
taxes and ad valorem taxes. New tax laws and regulations and changes in existing tax laws and regulations are
continuously being enacted or proposed that could result in increased expenditures for tax liabilities that cannot
be predicted at this time. In addition, we have received claims from various jurisdictions related to certain tax
matters. Tax liabilities include potential assessments of penalty and interest amounts.

We record tax liabilities based on our assessment of existing tax laws and regulations. A contingent loss
related to a transactional tax claim is recorded if the loss is both probable and estimable. The recording of our
tax liabilities requires significant judgments and estimates. Actual tax liabilities can vary from our estimates for a
variety of reasons, including different interpretations of tax laws and regulations and different assessments of
the amount of tax due. In addition, in determining our income tax provision, we must assess the likelihood that
our deferred tax assets will be recovered through future taxable income. Significant judgment is required in
estimating the amount of valuation allowance, if any, that should be recorded against those deferred income tax
assets. If our actual results of operations differ from such estimates or our estimates of future taxable income
change, the valuation allowance may need to be revised. However, an estimate of the sensitivity to earnings
that would result from changes in the assumptions and estimates used in determining our tax liabilities is not
practicable due to the number of assumptions and tax laws involved, the various potential interpretations of the
tax laws, and the wide range of possible outcomes. The Company is occasionally challenged by taxing
authorities over the amount and/or timing of recognition of revenues and deductions in its various income tax
returns. Although the Company believes it has adequate accruals for matters not resolved with various taxing
authorities, gains or losses could occur in future years from changes in estimates or resolution of outstanding
matters. See Note 11 “Income Taxes” in the accompanying audited consolidated financial statements for the
three-year period ended December 31, 2023 for a further discussion of our tax liabilities.

Asset Retirement Obligations

We operate above ground and underground storage tanks at our facilities. We recognize the estimated
future cost to remove these underground storage tanks (“USTs”) over their estimated useful lives. We record a
discounted liability for the fair value of an asset retirement obligation with a corresponding increase to the
carrying value of the related long-lived asset at the time a UST is installed. We depreciate the amount added to
cost of the property and recognize accretion expense in connection with the discounted liability over the
remaining life of the UST.

We have not made any material changes in the methodology used to estimate future costs for removal
of a UST during the past three years. We base our estimates of such future costs on our prior experience with
removal and normal and customary costs we expect to incur associated with UST removal. We compare our
cost estimates with our actual removal cost experience, if any, on an annual basis, and if the actual costs we
experience exceed our original estimates, we will recognize an additional liability for estimated future costs to
remove the USTs. Because these estimates are subjective and are currently based on historical costs with
adjustments for estimated future changes in the associated costs, the dollar amount of these obligations could
change as more information is obtained. There were no material changes in our asset retirement obligation
estimates during 2023, 2022, or 2021. See also Note 10 “Asset Retirement Obligation” in the accompanying
audited consolidated financial statements for the three-year period ended December 31, 2023.

Business combinations

We account for business combinations using the purchase method of accounting. The purchase price
of an acquisition is measured as the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration transferred. The purchase
price is allocated to the fair values of the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed at date
of acquisition, with any excess recorded as goodwill. These fair value determinations require management to
make estimates which are based on all available information and may involve the use of assumptions with
respect to the timing and amount of future revenues and expenses, the weighted average cost of capital, and
royalty rates associated with the transaction and the assets or liabilities acquired. This judgment and
determination affect the amount of consideration paid that is allocable to assets and liabilities acquired in the
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business purchase transaction. The purchase price allocation may be provisional during a measurement period
of up to one year to provide reasonable time to obtain the information necessary to identify and measure the
assets acquired and liabilities assumed. Any such measurement period adjustments are recognized in the
period in which the adjustment amount is determined. Transaction costs associated with the acquisition are
expensed as incurred.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains certain statements or may suggest “forward-looking”
information (as defined in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995) that involve risk and
uncertainties, including, but not limited to our M&A activity, anticipated store openings and associated capital
expenditures, fuel margins, merchandise margins, sales of RINs, trends in our operations, dividends, and share
repurchases. Such statements are based upon the current beliefs and expectations of the Company’s
management and are subject to significant risks and uncertainties. Actual future results may differ materially
from historical results or current expectations depending upon factors including, but not limited to: the
Company's ability to realize projected synergies from the acquisition of QuickChek and successfully expand our
food and beverage offerings; our ability to continue to maintain a good business relationship with Walmart;
successful execution of our growth strategy, including our ability to realize the anticipated benefits from such
growth initiatives, and the timely completion of construction associated with our newly planned stores which
may be impacted by the financial health of third parties; our ability to effectively manage our inventory, manage
disruptions in our supply chain and our ability to control costs; geopolitical events, such as Russia's invasion of
Ukraine and the conflicts in the Middle East, that impact the supply and demand and prices of crude oil; the
impact of severe weather events, such as hurricanes, floods and earthquakes; the impact of a global health
pandemic, and the government reaction in response thereof; the impact of any systems failures, cybersecurity
and/or security breaches of the company or its vendor partners, including any security breach that results in
theft, transfer or unauthorized disclosure of customer, employee or company information or our compliance with
information security and privacy laws and regulations in the event of such an incident; successful execution of
our information technology strategy; reduced demand for our products due to the implementation of more
stringent fuel economy and greenhouse gas reduction requirements, or increasingly widespread adoption of
electric vehicle technology; future tobacco or e-cigarette legislation and any other efforts that make purchasing
tobacco products more costly or difficult could hurt our revenues and impact gross margins; efficient and proper
allocation of our capital resources, including the timing, declaration, amount and payment of any future
dividends or levels of the company's share repurchases, or management of operating cash; the market price of
the Company's stock prevailing from time to time, the nature of other investment opportunities presented to the
Company from time to time, the Company's cash flows from operations, and general economic conditions;
compliance with debt covenants; availability and cost of credit; and changes in interest rates. The Company
undertakes no obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements to reflect subsequent events, new
information or future circumstances.

Item 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Commodity Price Risk

We are exposed to market risks related to the volatility in the price of crude oil and refined products
(primarily gasoline and diesel) used in our operations. These fluctuations can affect our revenues and
purchases, as well as the cost of operating, investing, and financing activities. We make limited use of
derivative instruments to manage certain risks related to commodity prices. The use of
derivative instruments for risk management is covered by operating policies and is closely monitored by our
middle-office function and the Company’s senior management.

As described in Note 14 “Financial Instruments and Risk Management” in the accompanying audited
consolidated financial statements, there were short-term commodity derivative contracts in place at December
31, 2023 to hedge the purchase price of refined products. A 10% increase or decrease in the respective
benchmark price of the commodities underlying these derivative contracts would have been immaterial to the
Company. Changes in the fair value of these derivative contracts generally offset the changes in the value for
an equivalent volume of these products.
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Interest Rate Risk

We have exposure to interest rate risks related to volatility of our floating rate term loan with a balance
as of December 31, 2023, of $390.0 million and to our cash flow revolver facility which currently is undrawn.
Both of these loans are tied to SOFR interest rates which can move in either direction and cause fluctuations in
our interest expense recognized in any period and in our cash flows related to interest payments made. We
make limited use of interest rate swaps to hedge a portion of our exposure to these rate movements. The
acquisition of any interest rate derivatives is undertaken by senior management when appropriate with
delegated authority from the appropriate Board level committee.

Iltem 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Information required by this item appears on Pages F-1 through F-39, which follow the exhibit index of
the Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Iltem 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None
Item 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures.

Our management has evaluated, with the participation of our principal executive and financial officers,
the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15 under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934) as of the end of the period covered by this report and has concluded that our disclosure
controls and procedures were effective and appropriately allowed for timely decisions regarding required
disclosures as of December 31, 2023.

Internal Control over Financial Reporting

The SEC, as required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, adopted rules that generally
require every company that files reports with the SEC to evaluate its effectiveness of internal controls over
financial reporting.

Management has conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over
financial reporting based on the criteria set forth in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on the results of this evaluation,
management concluded that the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was effective as of
December 31, 2023. Management’s report is included on page F-1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. KPMG
LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, has made an independent assessment of the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, and their
report is included on page F-4 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

There were no changes in the Company'’s internal controls over financial reporting that occurred during
the fourth quarter of 2023 that have affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Iltem 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None

Item 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS

None
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Part Il
Iltem 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Certain information regarding executive officers of the Company is included under the caption
“Executive Officers of the Registrant” in Part | of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Other information required
by this item is incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s definitive Proxy Statement for the 2024 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders under the captions “Election of Directors” and “Committees”.

Murphy USA has adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, which can be found under the
Corporate Governance tab at http://ir.corporate.murphyusa.com. Stockholders may also obtain free of charge a
copy of the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics by writing to the Company’s Secretary at P.O. Box 7300, El
Dorado, AR 71730-5836. Any future amendments to or waivers of the Company’s Code of Business Conduct
and Ethics will be posted on the Company’s Internet Web site.

Iltem 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Information required by this item is incorporated by reference to Murphy USA's definitive Proxy
Statement for the 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the captions “Compensation Discussion and
Analysis” and “Compensation of Directors” and in various compensation schedules.

Iltem 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Information required by this item is incorporated by reference to Murphy USA's definitive Proxy
Statement for the 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the captions “Security Ownership of Certain
Beneficial Owners,” “Security Ownership of Management,” and “Equity Compensation Plan Information.”

Iltem 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE

Information required by this item is incorporated by reference to Murphy USA's definitive Proxy
Statement for the 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the caption “Review, Approval or Ratification of
Transactions with Related Persons.”

Iltem 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Information required by this item is incorporated by reference to Murphy USA's definitive Proxy
Statement for the 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the caption “Audit Committee Report.”
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Part IV
Iltem 15. EXHIBIT and FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) 1. Financial Statements — The consolidated financial statements of Murphy USA Inc. and
consolidated subsidiaries are located or begin on the pages of this Annual Report on Form 10-K as indicated
below.

INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Report of Management - Consolidated Financial Statements 1
Report of Management - Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 1
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (PCAOB ID 185) 2
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 4
Consolidated Balance Sheets 6
Consolidated Income Statements 7
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income 8
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 9

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity 10
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 1"
Note 1 - Description of Business and Basis of Presentation 1"
Note 2 - Significant Accounting Policies 11
Note 3 - Revenues 15
Note 4 - Inventories 16
Note 5 - Marketable Securities 16
Note 6 - Property, Plant and Equipment 18
Note 7 - Goodwill and Intangible Assets 18
Note 8 - Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities 19
Note 9 - Long-Term Debt 19
Note 10 - Asset Retirement Obligations (ARO) 22
Note 11 - Income Taxes 22
Note 12 - Incentive Plans 24
Note 13 - Employee and Retiree Benefit Plans 28
Note 14 - Financial Instruments and Risk Management 28
Note 15 - Earnings Per Share 29
Note 16 - Other Financial Information 30
Note 17 - Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value 30
Note 18 - Commitments 32
Note 19 - Contingencies 33
Note 20 - Leases 34
Note 21 - Recent Accounting and Reporting Rules 37
Note 22 - Business Segments 37
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2. Financial Statement Schedules

Schedule Il — Valuation Accounts and Reserves 39

All other financial statement schedules are omitted because they are either not applicable or the
required information is included in the consolidated financial statements or notes thereto.

3. Exhibits — The following is an index of exhibits that are hereby filed as indicated by asterisk (*), that
are considered furnished rather than filed, or that are incorporated by reference. Exhibits other than those listed
have been omitted since they either are not required or are not applicable.

Exhibit Description
Number
2.1 Separation and Distribution Agreement, dated August 30, 2013, between Murphy Oil

Corporation and Murphy USA Inc. (incorporated by reference to Murphy USA’s Current Report
on Form 8-K filed September 5, 2013)

2.2 Agreement and Plan of Merger by and amount Quick Chek Corporation, Murphy USA NJ,
Inc., Murphy USA Inc. and Fortis Advisors LLC, a Shareholder Representative, dated
December 12, 2020 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to Murphy USA's Current Report
on Form 8-K filed February 1, 2021)

2.3 Amendment to Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of January 29, 2021, by and among
Murphy USA Inc., Quick Chek Corporation, Murphy USA NJ, Inc. and Fortis Advisors LLC
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.2 to Murphy USA's Current Report on Form 8-K filed
February 1, 2021)

3.1 Murphy USA Inc. Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated by
reference to Murphy USA's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed November 8, 2013)

3.2 Murphy USA Inc. Amended and Restated Bylaws (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1
Murphy USA's Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 18, 2022)

4.1 Indenture (including form of notes) dated as of April 25, 2017 among Murphy Oil USA, Inc.,

Murphy USA Inc., as a guarantor, the other guarantors party thereto and U.S. Bank National
Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Murphy USA's Current
Report on Form 8-K filed April 25, 2017)

4.2 Indenture dated as of September 13, 2019 among Murphy Oil USA, Inc., Murphy USA Inc., as
a guarantor, the other guarantor party thereto and UMB Bank, N.A., as trustee (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Murphy USA's Current Report on Form 8-K filed September 13,
2019)

4.3 Indenture dated as of January 29, 2021, by and among Murphy Oil USA, Inc., Murphy USA
Inc., as a guarantor, the other guarantors party thereto and UMB Bank, N.A., as trustee
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Murphy USA's Current Report on Form 8-K filed
February 1, 2021)

4.4 Description of Registrant's Securities registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934

10.1 Tax Matters Agreement, dated August 30, 2013, between Murphy Oil Corporation and Murphy
USA Inc. (incorporated by reference to Murphy USA’'s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
September 5, 2013)

10.2 Severance Protection Agreement dated as of August 20, 2013 between Murphy USA and R.
Andrew Clyde, (incorporated by reference to Murphy USA’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
August 22, 2013)t

10.3 Murphy USA Inc. 2013 Long-Term Incentive Plan, as amended and restated effective as of
February 9, 2017)7 (incorporated by reference to Murphy USA Inc's Annual Report on Form
10-K filed February 22, 2017)

10.4 Murphy USA Inc. 2013 Stock Plan for Non-Employee Directors (incorporated by reference to
Murphy USA's Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-191131) filed September 12,
2013)t
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10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

Murphy USA Inc. Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan, as amended and restated, on
October 1, 2018 and effective January 1, 2019 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to
Murphy USA's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed February 19, 2019) t

Form of Murphy USA 2013 Long-Term Incentive Plan Option Grant Agreement (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to Murphy USA Inc's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed February
19, 2021)t

Form of Murphy USA 2013 Long-Term Incentive Plan RSU Agreement (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.11 to Murphy USA Inc's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed February
19, 2021)t

Form of Murphy USA 2013 Long-Term Incentive Plan Performance Share Agreement
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to Murphy USA Inc's Annual Report on Form 10-K
filed on February 19 2021)t

Form of Murphy USA 2013 Non-Employee Director Award (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.13 to Murphy USA Inc's Annual Report on Form 10-K file February 19, 2021)t

Murphy USA Inc. 2019 Annual Incentive Plan, as amended and restated, on February 7, 2019
and effective as of January 1, 2019 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to Murphy
USA's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed February 19, 2019)t

Credit Agreement, dated as of January 29, 2021, by and among Murphy USA Inc., Murphy Oil
USA, Inc., Royal Bank of Canada, as term administrative agent, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A,,
as revolving administrative agent, and the lenders party thereto (incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.1 to Murphy USA's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed February 1, 2021)

Form of Murphy USA 2013 Long-Term Incentive Plan Option Agreement (February 2023
grants) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to Murphy USA Inc's Annual Report on
Form 10-K filed February 15, 2023)1

Form of Murphy USA 2013 Long-Term Incentive Plan RSU Agreement (February 2023
grants)(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to Murphy USA's Inc's Annual Report on
Form 10-K filed on February 15, 2023)t

Form of Murphy USA 2013 Long-Term Incentive Plan Performance Stock Unit Agreement
(February 2023 grants) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to Murphy USA Inc's
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed February 15, 2023)1

Form of Murphy USA 2013 Non-Employee Director Equity Grant (February 2023 grants)
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to Murphy USA Inc's Annual Report on Form 10-K
filed February 15, 2023)t

Form of Murphy USA 2013 Non-Employee Director Cash Deferral Equity Grant (February
2023 grants) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 Murphy USA Inc's Annual Report on
Form 10-K filed February 15, 2023)

Murphy USA Inc. 2023 Omnibus Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99 to
Murphy USA Inc's Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-271777) filed May 9,
2023t

First Amendment Agreement, dated as of March 8, 2023, to the Credit Agreement dated as of
January 29, 2021, among Murphy USA Inc., Murphy Oil USA, Inc., the Lenders party thereto,
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Revolving Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent, and
Royal Bank of Canada, as Term Administrative Agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.1 to Murphy USA Inc's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed May 4, 2023)

Form of 2023 Omnibus Incentive Plan Option Grant Agreement (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to Murphy USA Inc's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed August 3, 2023)t

Form of 2023 Omnibus Incentive Plan Performance Share Agreement (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Murphy USA Inc's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed August 3,
2023)t

Form of 2023 Omnibus Incentive Plan RSU Agreement (Non-Employee Director Award)
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Murphy USA Inc's Quarterly Report on Form 10-
Q filed August 3, 2023)t
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10.22

10.23

10.24*

21*

22*
23.1*

31.1*

31.2*

32.1%

32.2*

97.1*
101. INS

101. SCH*
101. CAL*
101. DEF*
101. LAB*

101. PRE*
104

* Filed herewith

Form of 2023 Omnibus Incentive Plan RSU Agreement (Employees) (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.4 to Murphy USA Inc's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed August 3,
2023)t

Second Amendment Agreement, dated as of June 26, 2023, to the Credit Agreement dated as
of January 29, 2021, as amended as of March 8, 2023, by and among Murphy USA, Inc., the
Lenders party thereto, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. as Revolving Administrative Agent and
Collateral Agent, and Royal Bank of Canada, as Term Administrative Agent (incorporated by
refere)znce to Exhibit 10.5 to Murphy USA Inc's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed August 3,
2023

Murphy USA Inc 2019 Annual Incentive Plan, as amended and restated, on November 30,
2023 and effective January 1, 20241

List of Subsidiaries of Murphy USA

List of Subsidiary Guarantors and Issuers of Guaranteed Debt
Consent of KPMG LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Certification required by Rule 13a-14(a) pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002 of Principal Executive Officer

Certification required by Rule 13a-14(a) pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002 of Principal Financial Officer

Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 of Principal Executive Officer

Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 of Principal Financial Officer

Murphy USA Inc 2023 Financial Restatement Compensation Recoupment Policy

Inline XBRL Instance Document - the instance document does not appear in the Interactive
Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL documents

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels Linkbase Document

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase

Cover Page Interactive Data File - the cover page interactive data file does not appear in the
Interactive Data file because its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document

T Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

None
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

MURPHY USA, Inc.

By: /s/ R. Andrew Clyde Date: February 15, 2024

R. Andrew Clyde, President

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below
on February 15, 2024 by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities indicated.

/s/ R. Madison Murphy /s/ David B. Miller
R. Madison Murphy, Chairman and Director David B. Miller, Director
/s/ R. Andrew Clyde /s/ Jeanne L. Phillips
R. Andrew Clyde, President and Chief Jeanne L. Phillips, Director

Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ Claiborne P. Deming /sl Jack T. Taylor
Claiborne P. Deming, Director Jack T. Taylor, Director
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David L. Goebel, Director Rosemary Turner, Director
/s/ Fred L. Holliger /s/ Mindy K. West
Fred L. Holliger, Director Mindy K. West, Executive Vice President, Fuels,

Treasurer, and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

/sl James W. Keyes /s/ Donald R. Smith, Jr.
James W. Keyes, Director Donald R. Smith, Jr.

Vice President and Controller
(Principal Accounting Officer)
/s/ Diane N. Landen

Diane N. Landen, Director
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REPORT OF MANAGEMENT- CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The management of Murphy USA Inc. is responsible for the preparation and integrity of the accompanying
consolidated financial statements and other financial data. The statements were prepared in conformity with
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles appropriate in the circumstances and include some amounts
based on informed estimates and judgments, with consideration given to materiality.

An independent, registered public accounting firm, KPMG LLP, has audited the Company’s consolidated
financial statements in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board and
provides an objective, independent opinion about the Company’s consolidated financial statements. The Audit
Committee of the Board of Directors appoints the independent registered public accounting firm; ratification of
the appointment is solicited annually from the shareholders. KPMG LLP’s opinion covering the Company’s
consolidated financial statements can be found on page F-2.

The Board of Directors appoints an Audit Committee annually to implement and to support the Board’s oversight
function of the Company’s financial reporting, accounting policies, internal controls and independent registered
public accounting firm. This Committee is composed solely of directors who are not employees of the
Company. The Committee meets routinely with representatives of management, the Company’s internal audit
team and the independent registered public accounting firm to review and discuss the adequacy and
effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls, the quality and clarity of its financial reporting, the scope and
results of independent and internal audits, and to fulfill other responsibilities included in the Committee’s
Charter. The independent registered public accounting firm and the Company’s internal audit team have
unrestricted access to the Committee, without management presence, to discuss audit findings and other
financial matters.

REPORT OF MANAGEMENT — INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting,
as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f). The Company’s internal controls have been designed
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
consolidated financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. All internal
control systems have inherent limitations, and therefore, can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to
the reliability of financial reporting and preparation of consolidated financial statements.

Management has conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting based on the criteria set forth in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in 2013. Based on the results of this evaluation,
management concluded that the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was effective as of
December 31, 2023.

KPMG LLP has performed an audit of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting and their opinion
thereon can be found on page F-4.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors
Murphy USA Inc.:

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Murphy USA Inc. and subsidiaries (the
Company) as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the related consolidated income statements, statements of
comprehensive income, statements of cash flows, and statements of changes in equity for each of the years in
the three-year period ended December 31, 2023, and the related notes and financial statement schedule I
(collectively, the consolidated financial statements). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2023 and 2022,
and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended
December 31, 2023, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States) (PCAOB), the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023,
based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission, and our report dated February 15, 2024 expressed an
unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are
a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the
Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the
Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements
are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to
assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or
fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test
basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits
also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well
as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the
consolidated financial statements that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit
committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial
statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication
of a critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as
a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the
critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Assessment of impairment triggering events related to property, plant and equipment

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company assesses its property, plant
and equipment for potential impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value of the asset or asset group may not be recoverable. The property, plant and equipment
balance, at cost less accumulated depreciation, as of December 31, 2023 was $2,571.8 million. Some
retail sites may generate negative cash flow or experience events that indicate carrying values might not
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be recovered, indicating a higher risk that these retail sites might be impaired. This requires the
Company to consider profitability and retail site specific factors when evaluating its retail sites for
impairment in order to determine whether or not an impairment triggering event has occurred.

We identified the assessment of impairment triggering events related to property, plant and equipment as
a critical audit matter. The determination of the asset group level, the evaluation of retail site profitability,
and the assessment of retail site specific factors involved challenging auditor judgment, as changes to
those factors could have a significant impact on the Company’s assessment of an impairment triggering
event.

The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter. We
evaluated the design and tested the operating effectiveness of certain internal controls related to the
Company’s triggering events assessment process over property, plant and equipment, including controls
related to the identification of impairment triggers. We evaluated the asset group level at which the
Company’s analysis was performed. We assessed the Company’s methodology of identifying retail site
specific factors to be considered in the triggering events analysis, including length of the time period used
by the Company to evaluate retail site profitability to identify triggering events. We also compared the
historical cash flows by asset group to the general ledger information to assess the reliability of the
information used.

s/ KPMG LLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2013.

Dallas, Texas
February 15, 2024
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors
Murphy USA Inc.:

Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We have audited Murphy USA Inc. and subsidiaries’ (the Company) internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2023, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. In our opinion, the Company
maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023,
based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2023 and 2022,
the related consolidated income statements, statements of comprehensive income, statements of cash flows,
and statements of changes in equity for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2023,
and the related notes and financial statement schedule Il (collectively, the consolidated financial statements),
and our report dated February 15, 2024 expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial
statements.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and
for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying
Report of Management — Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm
registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with
the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included
obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material
weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on
the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in
the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide
reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the
company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company;
and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use,
or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
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Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Dallas, Texas
February 15, 2024
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Murphy USA Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(Millions of dollars, except share amounts)
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Marketable securities, current

Accounts receivable—trade, less allowance for doubtful accounts of
$1.3in 2023 and $0.3 in 2022, respectively

Inventories, at lower of cost or market
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Marketable securities, non-current
Property, plant and equipment, at cost less accumulated depreciation
and amortization of $1,739.2 in 2023 and $1,553.1 in 2022, respectively
Operating lease right of use assets, net
Intangible assets, net of amortization
Goodwill
Other assets
Total assets
Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Current liabilities
Current maturities of long-term debt
Trade accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Income taxes payable
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt, including capitalized lease obligations
Deferred income taxes
Asset retirement obligations
Non-current operating lease liabilities
Deferred credits and other liabilities
Total liabilities
Stockholders' Equity
Preferred Stock, par $0.01, (authorized 20,000,000 shares,
none outstanding)
Common Stock, par $0.01, (authorized 200,000,000 shares,

46,767,164 shares issued at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively)

Treasury stock (25,929,836 and 25,017,324 shares held at
December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively)
Additional paid in capital (APIC)
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive income (AOCI)
Total stockholders' equity
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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December 31,

2023 2022
117.8 $ 60.5
7.1 17.9
336.7 281.7
341.2 319.1
23.7 476
826.5 726.8
4.4 4.4
2,571.8 2,459.3
452.1 449.6
139.8 140.4
328.0 328.0
175 14.7
43401 $ 4,123.2
150 $ 15.0
834.7 839.2
23.1 —
872.8 854.2
1,784.7 1,791.9
329.5 327.4
46.1 433
450.3 444.2
27.8 21.5
3,511.2 3,482.5
0.5 0.5
(2,957.8) (2,633.3)
508.1 518.9
3,278.1 2,755.1
— (0.5)
828.9 640.7
43401 $ 4,123.2




(Millions of dollars except per share amounts)
Operating Revenues
Petroleum product sales '
Merchandise sales
Other operating revenues
Total operating revenues
Operating Expenses
Petroleum product cost of goods sold '
Merchandise cost of goods sold
Store and other operating expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Selling, general and administrative
Accretion of asset retirement obligations
Acquisition related costs
Total operating expenses

Gain (loss) on sale of assets
Income (loss) from operations

Other income (expense)
Investment income
Interest expense
Other nonoperating income (expense)
Total other income (expense)
Income before income taxes
Income tax expense (benefit)
Net Income

Murphy USA Inc.
Consolidated Income Statements

Years Ended December 31,

Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Common Share:

Basic
Diluted

Weighted-average shares outstanding (in
thousands):

Basic

Diluted
Supplemental information:
' Includes excise taxes of:

2023 2022 2021
$ 17,1044 $ 19,2301 $ 13,410.8
4,089.3 3,903.2 3,677.7
335.7 312.8 272.0
21,529.4 23,446.1 17,360.5
15,929.7 17,910.1 12,535.5
3,285.9 3,136.1 2,976.1
1,014.8 976.5 827.3
228.7 220.4 212.6
240.5 232.5 193.6
3.0 2.7 2.5
— 15 10.4
20,702.6 22,479.8 16,758.0
(0.8) 2.1 15
826.0 968.4 604.0
6.9 3.0 0.1
(98.5) (85.3) (82.4)
— (2.3) 0.2
(91.6) (84.6) (82.1)
734.4 883.8 521.9
177.6 210.9 125.0
$ 556.8 $ 672.9 $ 396.9
$ 2591 $ 28.63 $ 15.14
$ 2549 $ 28.10 $ 14.92
21,493 23,506 26,210
21,843 23,950 26,604
$ 22912 $ 2,180.2 $ 2,041.7

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Murphy USA Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

Years Ended December 31,

(Millions of dollars)

Net income $

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax
Interest rate swap:
Realized gain (loss)
Unrealized gain (loss)
Marketable securities:
Unrealized gain (loss)
Reclassified to interest expense (interest rate swap):
Realized (gain) loss reclassified to interest expense
Amortization of unrealized gain to interest expense

Deferred income tax expense (benefit)

Other comprehensive income (loss)

Comprehensive income $

2021
556.8 $ 6729 $ 396.9
— — (0.1)
_ _ 0.1
0.1 _ —
— — 0.1
0.6 0.9 0.9
0.7 0.9 1.0
0.2 0.2 0.3
0.5 0.7 0.7
557.3 $ 673.6 397.6

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Murphy USA Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended December 31,
(Millions of dollars) 2023 2022 2021

Operating Activities
Net income $ 556.8 $ 6729 $ 396.9

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash
provided by operating activities

Depreciation and amortization 228.7 2204 212.6
Deferred and noncurrent income tax charges
(benefits) 2.0 31.5 19.0
Accretion of asset retirement obligations 3.0 2.7 25
Amortization of discount on marketable securities (0.4) (0.1) —
(Gains) losses from sale of assets 0.8 (2.1) (1.5)
Net (increases) decrease in noncash operating
working capital (42.1) 44 .8 82.8
Other operating activities - net 35.2 24.6 25.1
Net cash provided (required) by operating
activities 784.0 994.7 737.4
Investing Activities
Property additions (335.6) (305.3) (274.7)
Payments for acquisition, net of cash acquired — — (641.1)
Proceeds from sale of assets 2.4 8.8 3.4
Investment in marketable securities (12.8) (22.2) —
Redemptions of marketable securities 24.0 — —
Other investing activities - net (1.6) (0.6) (1.8)
Net cash provided (required) by investing
activities (323.6) (319.3) (914.2)
Financing Activities
Purchase of treasury stock (333.2) (806.4) (355.0)
Dividends paid (33.4) (29.9) (27.3)
Borrowings of debt 8.0 5.0 892.8
Repayments of debt (23.4) (20.2) (224.3)
Debt issuance costs — — (9.9)
Amounts related to share-based compensation (21.1) (19.8) (6.7)
Net cash provided (required) by financing
activities (403.1) (871.3) 269.6
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents
and restricted cash 57.3 (195.9) 92.8
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at
January 1 60.5 256.4 163.6
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at
December 31 $ 117.8 § 60.5 $ 256.4

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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(Millions of dollars, except share
amounts)

Balance as of December 31,
2020

Net income

Gain on interest rate hedge and
unrealized gain on marketable
securities, net of tax

Cash dividends declared, ($1.04
per share)

Dividend equivalent units accrued
Purchase of treasury stock
Issuance of treasury stock

Amounts related to share-based
compensation

Share-based compensation
expense

Balance as of December 31,
2021

Net income

Gain on interest rate hedge and
unrealized gain on marketable
securities, net of tax

Cash dividends declared, ($1.27
per share)

Dividend equivalent units accrued
Purchase of treasury stock

Issuance of treasury stock

Amounts related to share-based
compensation

Share-based compensation
expense

Balance as of December 31,
2022

Net income

Gain on interest rate hedge and
unrealized gain on marketable
securities, net of tax

Cash dividends declared, ($1.55
per share)

Dividend equivalent units accrued
Purchase of treasury stock

Issuance of treasury stock

Amounts related to share-based
compensation

Share-based compensation
expense

Balance as of December 31,
2023

Murphy USA Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity

Common Stock

Treasury Retained
Shares Par Stock APIC Earnings AOCI Total
46,767,164 $ 05 $(1,4909) $ 5333 $1,7431 $ (19 $ 784.1
— — — — 396.9 — 396.9
— — — — — 0.7 0.7
_ _ — — (27.3) — (27.3)
— — — 0.3 (0.3) — —
— — (355.0) — — — (355.0)
— — 6.6 (6.5) — — 0.1
— — — (6.7) — — (6.7)
— — — 14.4 — — 14.4
46,767,164 0.5 (1,839.3) 534.8 2,112.4 (1.2) 807.2
— — — — 672.9 — 672.9
— — — — — 0.7 0.7
— — — — (29.9) — (29.9)
— — — 0.3 (0.3) — —
— — (806.4) —_ — — (806.4)
— — 124 (12.4) — — —
— — — (19.8) — — (19.8)
— — — 16.0 — — 16.0
46,767,164 0.5 (2,633.3) 518.9 2,755.1 (0.5) 640.7
— — — — 556.8 — 556.8
— — — — — 0.5 0.5
— — — — (33.4) — (33.4)
— — — 0.4 (0.4) — —
— — (336.2) — — — (336.2)
— — 11.7 (11.9) — — (0.2)
— — — (21.1) — — (21.1)
— — — 21.8 — — 21.8
46,767,164 $ 0.5 $(2,957.8) 508.1 $ 3,278.1 $ — 828.9



Murphy USA Inc.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1 — Description of Business and Basis of Presentation

The business of Murphy USA Inc. and its subsidiaries (“Murphy USA”, "we", "our", "us", or the “Company”)
primarily consists of the U.S. retail marketing business that was separated from its former parent company,
Murphy Oil Corporation (“Murphy Oil”), plus other assets, liabilities and operating expenses of Murphy Oil that
were associated with supporting the activities of the U.S. retail marketing operations. Murphy USA was
incorporated in March 2013. The separation was approved by the Murphy Oil board of directors on August 7,
2013, and was completed on August 30, 2013 through the distribution of 100% of the outstanding capital stock
of Murphy USA to holders of Murphy Oil common stock on the record date of August 21, 2013. Following the
separation, Murphy USA is an independent, publicly traded company, and Murphy Oil retains no ownership
interest in Murphy USA. On January 29, 2021, MUSA acquired 100% of Quick Chek Corporation ("QuickChek"),
a privately held convenience store chain with a strong regional brand that consisted of 156 stores at the time of
acquisition, located in New Jersey and New York, in an all-cash transaction.

Murphy USA markets refined products through a network of retail gasoline stores and to unbranded wholesale
customers. In addition, we operate non-fuel convenience stores in select markets. The Company owns and
operates a chain of retail stores under the brand name of Murphy USA® and Murphy Express, most of which are
located in close proximity to Walmart stores, and also has a mix of convenience stores with and without retail
gasoline that operate under the name of QuickChek®. At December 31, 2023, the Company had a total of 1,733
Company stores in 27 states, of which 1,577 were branded as Murphy and 156 were the QuickChek brand.
The Company also has certain product supply and wholesale assets, including product distribution terminals
and pipeline positions.

Murphy Oil USA, Inc. and certain of its subsidiaries operate on a calendar year basis, while the QuickChek
subsidiaries use a weekly retail calendar where each quarter has 13 weeks. For 2023, the QuickChek results
cover the period December 31, 2022 to December 29, 2023 and for 2022, the QuickChek results cover the
period January 1, 2022 to December 30, 2022 and for 2021 covered the period January 29, 2021 (date of
acquisition) to December 31, 2021. The difference in the timing of the period ends is immaterial to the overall
consolidated results.

Note 2 - Significant Accounting Policies

PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION — These consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance
with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“U.S. GAAP”) and include the accounts of Murphy USA Inc.
and its subsidiaries for all periods presented. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions within the
consolidated financial statements have been eliminated.

REVENUE RECOGNITION — Revenue is recognized when obligations under the terms of a contract with our
customers are satisfied; generally, this occurs with the transfer of control of our petroleum products,
convenience merchandise, Renewable Identification Numbers ("RINs") and other assets to our third-party
customers. Revenue is measured as the amounts of consideration we expect to receive in exchange for
transferring goods or providing services. Excise and sales tax that we collect where we have determined we
are the principal in the transaction have been recorded as revenue on a jurisdiction-by-jurisdiction basis.

The Company enters into buy/sell and similar arrangements when petroleum products are held at one location
but are needed at a different location. The Company often pays or receives funds related to the buy/sell
arrangement based on location or quality differences. The Company accounts for such transactions as non-
monetary exchanges under existing accounting guidance and typically reports these on a net basis in its
Consolidated Income Statements. See Note 3 "Revenues" for additional information.

SHIPPING AND HANDLING COSTS - Costs incurred for the shipping and handling of motor fuel are included
in Petroleum product cost of goods sold in the Consolidated Income Statements. Costs incurred for the
shipping and handling of convenience store merchandise are included in Merchandise cost of goods sold in the
Consolidated Income Statements.
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Murphy USA Inc.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TAXES COLLECTED FROM CUSTOMERS AND REMITTED TO GOVERNMENT AUTHORITIES - Excise and
other taxes collected on sales of refined products and remitted to governmental agencies are included in
operating revenues and operating expenses in the Consolidated Income Statements. Excise taxes on
petroleum products collected and remitted were $2.3 billion in 2023, $2.2 billion in 2022, and $2.0 billion in
2021.

CASH EQUIVALENTS — Short-term investments, which include government securities, money market funds
and other instruments with government securities as collateral, that have a maturity of three months or less from
the date of purchase are classified as cash equivalents.

MARKETABLE SECURITIES — The Company considers highly liquid treasury notes, corporate debt securities,
and other funds with original maturities of more than three months to be marketable securities. Securities with
less than one year to maturity are included in short-term marketable securities, and all other securities are
classified as long-term marketable securities. Marketable securities are classified as held-to-maturity when the
Company has both the positive intent and ability to hold the securities to maturity and are carried at amortized
cost. Marketable securities are classified as available-for-sale when the Company does not have the intent to
hold securities to maturity to allow flexibility in response to liquidity needs and are carried at fair value. The
Company records securities at fair value on its consolidated balance sheets, with unrealized gains and losses
reported as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). See Note 5 "Marketable
Securities" and Note 17 "Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value" for additional information on our policy
and the fair value measurement of the Company's marketable securities.

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE — The Company’s accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount and do
not bear interest. The accounts receivable primarily consists of amounts owed to the Company from credit card
companies and by customers for wholesale sales of refined petroleum products. The allowance for doubtful
accounts is the Company’s best estimate of the amount of probable credit losses on these receivables. The
Company reviews this allowance for adequacy at least quarterly and bases its assessment on a combination of
current information about its customers and historical write-off experience. Any trade accounts receivable
balances written off are charged against the allowance for doubtful accounts. The Company has not
experienced any significant credit-related losses in the past three years.

INVENTORIES - Inventories of petroleum products are valued at the lower of cost, generally applied on a last-
in, first-out (“LIFO”) basis, or market. Any increments to LIFO inventory volumes are valued based on the first
purchase price for these volumes during the year. Merchandise inventories held for resale are generally valued
at average cost. Materials and supplies are valued at the lower of average cost or net realizable value.

VENDOR ALLOWANCES AND REBATES — Murphy USA receives payments for vendor allowances, volume
rebates and other related payments from various suppliers of its convenience store merchandise. Vendor
allowances for price markdowns are credited to merchandise cost of goods sold during the period the related
markdown is recognized. Volume rebates of merchandise are recorded as reductions to merchandise cost of
goods sold when the merchandise qualifying for the rebate is sold. Slotting and stocking allowances received
from a vendor are recorded as a reduction to cost of sales over the period covered by the agreement.

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS — The Company accounts for business combinations under the purchase method
of accounting. The purchase price of an acquisition is measured as the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration transferred. The purchase price is allocated to the fair values of the tangible and intangible
assets acquired and liabilities assumed, with any excess recorded as goodwill. These fair value determinations
require judgment and may involve the use of significant estimates and assumptions. The purchase price
allocation may be provisional during a measurement period of up to one year to provide reasonable time to
obtain the information necessary to identify and measure the assets acquired and liabilities assumed. Any such
measurement period adjustments are recognized in the period in which the adjustment amount is determined.
Transaction costs associated with the acquisition are expensed as incurred.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - Additions to property, plant and equipment, including renewals and

betterments, are capitalized and recorded at cost. Certain marketing facilities are primarily depreciated using
the composite straight-line method with depreciable lives ranging from 16 to 25 years. Gasoline stores,
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Murphy USA Inc.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

improvements to gasoline stores and other assets are depreciated over 3 to 50 years by individual unit on the
straight-line method. The Company capitalizes interest costs as a component of construction in progress on
individually significant projects based on the weighted average interest rates incurred on its long-term
borrowings. Total interest cost capitalized was $2.4 million in 2023, $1.1 million in 2022 and $2.1 million in
2021.

The Company has undertaken like-kind exchange ("LKE") transactions under the Federal tax code in an effort
to acquire and sell real property in a tax efficient manner. The Company generally enters into forward
transactions, in which property is sold and the proceeds are reinvested by acquiring similar property; and
reverse transactions, in which property is acquired and similar property is subsequently sold. A qualified LKE
intermediary is used to facilitate these LKE transactions. Proceeds from forward LKE transactions are held by
the intermediary and are classified as restricted cash on the Company's balance sheet because the funds must
be reinvested in similar properties. If the acquisition of suitable LKE properties is not completed within 180 days
of the sale of the Company-owned property, the proceeds are distributed to the Company by the intermediary
and are reclassified as available cash and applicable income taxes are determined. An exchange
accommodation titleholder, a type of variable interest entity, is used to facilitate reverse like-kind exchanges.
The acquired assets are held by the exchange accommodation titleholder until the exchange transactions are
complete. If the Company determines that it is the primary beneficiary of the exchange accommodation
titleholder, the replacements assets held by the exchange accommodation titleholder are consolidated and
recorded in Property, Plant and Equipment on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The unspent proceeds that
are held in trust with the intermediary are recorded as noncurrent assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheet as
the cash was restricted for the acquisition of similar properties. At December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company
had no open LKE transactions with an intermediary.

GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS — Goodwill represents the excess of the aggregate of the
consideration transferred over the net assets acquired and liabilities assumed and is tested annually for
impairment, or more frequently if there are indicators of potential impairment. Acquired finite-lived intangible
assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, and are reviewed for impairment
when events or circumstances indicate that the asset group to which the intangible assets belong might be
impaired. The Company revises the estimated remaining useful life of these assets when events or changes in
circumstances warrant a revision. If the Company revises the useful life, the unamortized balance is amortized
over the useful life on a prospective basis. See Note 7 "Goodwill and Intangible Assets" for additional
information.

IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS — Long-lived assets, which include property and equipment and finite-lived assets,
are tested for recoverability whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of
the asset may not be recoverable. Indefinite-lived intangible assets are tested annually. A long-lived asset is
not recoverable if its carrying amount exceeds the sum of the undiscounted cash flows expected to result from
its use and eventual disposition. If a long-lived asset is not recoverable, an impairment loss is recognized for
the amount by which the carrying amount of the long-lived asset exceeds its fair value, with fair value
determined based on discounted estimated net cash flows or other appropriate methods.

ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS — The Company records a liability for asset retirement obligations
(“ARQO”) equal to the fair value of the estimated cost to retire an asset. The ARO liability is initially recorded in
the period in which the obligation meets the definition of a liability, which is generally when the asset is placed in
service. The ARO liability is estimated using existing regulatory requirements and anticipated future inflation
rates. When the liability is initially recorded, the Company increases the carrying amount of the related long-
lived asset by an amount equal to the original liability. The liability is increased over time to reflect the change in
its present value, and the capitalized cost is depreciated over the useful life of the related long-lived asset. The
Company reevaluates the adequacy of its recorded ARO liability at least annually. Actual costs of asset
retirements such as dismantling service stores and site restoration are charged against the related liability. Any
difference between costs incurred upon settlement of an asset retirement obligation and the recorded liability is
recognized as a gain or loss in the Company’s Consolidated Income Statements.

ENVIRONMENTAL LIABILITIES — A liability for environmental matters is established when it is probable that an
environmental obligation exists and the cost can be reasonably estimated. If there is a range of reasonably
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Murphy USA Inc.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

estimated costs, the most likely amount will be recorded, or if no amount is most likely, the minimum of the
range is used. Related expenditures are charged against the liability. Environmental remediation liabilities have
not been discounted for the time value of future expected payments. Environmental expenditures that have
future economic benefit are capitalized.

INCOME TAXES — The Company accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability method. Under this
method, income taxes are provided for amounts currently payable and for amounts deferred as tax assets and
liabilities based on differences between the financial statement carrying amounts and the tax bases of existing
assets and liabilities. Deferred income taxes are measured using the enacted tax rates that are assumed will
be in effect when the differences reverse. The Company routinely assesses the realizability of deferred tax
assets based on available positive and negative evidence including assumptions of future taxable income, tax
planning strategies and other pertinent factors. A deferred tax asset valuation allowance is recorded when
evidence indicates that it is more likely than not that all or a portion of these deferred tax assets will not be
realized in a future period. The accounting principles for income tax uncertainties permit recognition of income
tax benefits only when they are more likely than not to be realized.

The Company has elected to classify any interest expense and penalties related to the underpayment of income
taxes in Income tax expense in the Consolidated Income Statements.

DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES — The fair value of a derivative instrument is
recognized as an asset or liability in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. Upon entering into a
derivative contract, the Company may designate the derivative as either a fair value hedge or a cash flow
hedge, or decide that the contract is not a hedge, and therefore, recognize changes in the fair value of the
contract in earnings. The Company documents the relationship between the derivative instrument designated
as a hedge and the hedged items as well as its objective for risk management and strategy for use of the
hedging instrument to manage the risk. Derivative instruments designated as fair value or cash flow hedges are
linked to specific assets and liabilities or to specific firm commitments or forecasted transactions. The Company
assesses at inception and on an ongoing basis whether a derivative instrument accounted for as a hedge is
highly effective in offsetting changes in the fair value or cash flows of the hedged item. A derivative that is not a
highly effective hedge does not qualify for hedge accounting. The change in the fair value of a qualifying fair
value hedge is recorded in earnings along with the gain or loss on the hedged item. The effective portion of the
change in the fair value of a qualifying cash flow hedge is recorded in Accumulated other comprehensive
income (AOCI) in the consolidated Balance Sheets until the hedged item is recognized currently in earnings. If
a derivative instrument no longer qualifies as a cash flow hedge and the underlying forecasted transaction is no
longer probable of occurring, hedge accounting is discontinued and the gain or loss recorded in Accumulated
other comprehensive income is recognized immediately in earnings. If a hedge is de-designated, hedge
accounting will no longer apply and from that time the gain and losses will be recognized in earnings and any
accumulated amounts in other comprehensive income will be amortized to earnings over the remaining life of
the underlying instrument. See Note 14 "Financial Instruments and Risk Management" and Note 17 "Assets
and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value" for further information about the Company’s derivatives.

STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION — The fair value of awarded stock options, restricted stock, restricted stock
units and performance stock units is determined based on a combination of management assumptions for
awards issued. The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model for computing the fair value of stock
options. The primary assumptions made by management included the expected life of the stock option award
and the expected volatility of the Company’s common stock prices. The Company uses both historical data and
current information to support its assumptions. Stock option expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over
the requisite service period of three years. The Company uses a Monte Carlo valuation model to determine the
fair value of performance-based stock units that are based on performance compared against a peer group and
the related expense is recognized over the three-year requisite service period. Management estimates the
number of all awards that will not vest and adjusts its compensation expense accordingly. Differences between
estimated and actual vested amounts are accounted for as an adjustment to expense when known. See Note
12 "Incentive Plans" for a discussion of the basis of allocation of such costs.

USE OF ESTIMATES - In preparing the financial statements of the Company in conformity with U.S. GAAP,

management has made a number of estimates and assumptions related to the reporting of assets, liabilities,
revenues, and expenses and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Actual results may differ from
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the estimates. On an ongoing basis, we review our estimates based on currently available information.
Changes in facts and circumstances may result in revised estimates.

Note 3 — Revenues
Revenue Recognition

The following table disaggregates our revenue by major source for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022,
and 2021.

Years Ended December 31,

(Millions of dollars) 2023 2022 2021
Marketing Segment
Petroleum product sales (at retail) ' $ 15,2799 §$ 17,1989 §$ 12,022.7
Petroleum product sales (at wholesale) 1,824.5 2,031.2 1,388.1
Total petroleum product sales 17,104 .4 19,230.1 13,410.8
Merchandise sales 4,089.3 3,903.2 3,677.7
Other operating revenues:
RINs 328.6 305.8 265.3
Other revenues 2 6.6 6.3 6.1
Total marketing segment revenues 21,528.9 23,4454 17,359.9
Corporate and Other Assets 0.5 0.7 0.6
Total revenues $ 21,5294 $ 23,446.1 $ 17,360.5

" Includes excise and sales taxes that remain eligible for inclusion under Topic 606
2 Primarily includes collection allowance on excise and sales taxes combined with other miscellaneous items

Marketing segment

Petroleum product sales (at retail). For our retail store locations, the revenue related to petroleum product sales
is recognized as the fuel is pumped to our customers. The transaction price at the pump typically includes
some portion of sales or excise taxes as levied in the respective jurisdictions. Those taxes that are collected for
remittance to governmental entities on a pass through basis are not recognized as revenue and they are
recorded to a liability account until they are paid. Our customers typically use a mixture of cash, checks, credit
cards and debit cards to pay for our products as they are received. We have accounts receivable from the
various credit/debit card providers at any point in time related to product sales made on credit cards and debit
cards. These receivables are typically collected in two to seven days, depending on the terms with the
particular credit/debit card providers. Payment fees retained by the credit/debit card providers are recorded as
store and other operating expenses.

Petroleum product sales (at wholesale). Our sales of petroleum products at wholesale are generally recorded
as revenue when the deliveries have occurred and legal ownership of the product has transferred to the
customer. Title transfer for bulk refined product sales typically occurs at pipeline custody points and upon
trucks loading at product terminals. For bulk pipeline sales, we record receivables from customers that are
generally collected within a week from custody transfer date. For our rack product sales, the majority of our
customers' accounts are drafted by us within 10 days from product transfer.

Merchandise sales. For our retail store locations, the revenue related to merchandise sales is recognized as
the customer completes their purchase at our locations. The transaction price typically includes some portion of
sales tax as levied in the respective jurisdictions. Those taxes that are collected for remittance to governmental
entities on a pass through basis are not recognized as revenue and they are recorded to a liability account until
they are paid. As noted above, a mixture of payment types are used for these revenues and the same terms for
credit/debit card receivables are realized.
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With respect to merchandise sales revenue we must determine whether we are the principal or agent for some
categories of merchandise such as scratch-off lottery tickets, lotto tickets, newspapers and other small
categories of merchandise. For scratch-off lottery tickets, we have determined we are the principal in the
majority of the jurisdictions and therefore we record those sales on a gross basis. We have some categories of
merchandise (such as lotto tickets) where we are the agent and the revenues recorded for those transactions
are our net commission only.

The Company offers loyalty programs through each of its branded retail locations. The customers earn rewards
based on their spending or other promotional activities. These programs create a performance obligation which
requires us to defer a portion of sales revenue to the loyalty program participants until they redeem their
rewards. The rewards may be redeemed for free or discounted merchandise or cash discounts at all stores and
on fuel purchases at Murphy branded stores. Earned rewards expire after an account is inactive for a period of
90 days at Murphy branded stores, while certain QuickChek rewards require use within the month. We
recognize loyalty revenue when a customer redeems an earned reward. Deferred revenue associated with both
rewards programs are included in Trade accounts payable and accrued liabilities in our Consolidated Balance
Sheet. The deferred revenue balances at December 31, 2023 and 2022 were immaterial.

RINs sales. For the sale of RINs, we recognize revenue when the RIN is transferred to the counter-party and
the sale is completed. Receivables from our counter-parties related to the RIN sales are typically collected
within five days of the sale.

Other revenues. ltems reported as other operating revenues include collection allowances for excise and sales
tax and other miscellaneous items and are recognized as revenue when the transaction is completed.

Accounts receivable

Trade accounts receivable on the balance sheet represents both receivables related to contracts with
customers and other trade receivables. At December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, we had $178.2 million
and $164.1 million of receivables, respectively, related to contracts with customers recorded. All of the trade
accounts receivable related to contracts with customers outstanding at the end of each period were collected
during the succeeding quarter. These receivables were generally related to credit and debit card transactions
along with short term bulk and wholesale sales from our customers, which have a very short settlement window.

Note 4 — Inventories

Inventories consisted of the following:

December 31,

(Millions of dollars) 2023 2022
Petroleum products - FIFO basis $ 3312 $ 367.0
Store merchandise for resale - FIFO basis 209.1 1921
Less LIFO reserve (212.1) (250.7)
Total petroleum products and store merchandise inventory 328.2 308.4
Materials and supplies 13.0 10.7
Total inventories $ 3412 $ 319.1

At December 31, 2023 and 2022, the replacement cost (market value) of LIFO inventories exceeded the LIFO
carrying value for petroleum products by $209.7 million and $249.1 million, respectively, and store merchandise
for resale by $2.4 million and $1.6 million, respectively.

Note 5 — Marketable Securities
The Company invests a portion of its excess operational cash in marketable securities. The goal of the

Company's investment policy, in order of priority, are as follows: (1) preservation of principal, (2) maintaining a
high degree of liquidity to meet cash flow requirements, and (3) deliver competitive returns subject to prevailing
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market conditions and the Company's stated objectives related to safety and liquidity. Nothing in the policy is
intended to indicate that management must invest excess operational cash; it merely allows it subject to specific
limitations.

Securities are generally required to have a final maturity of 24 months or less with a weighted average maturity
for the portfolio of no longer than 12 months and must have an active secondary market. Investments may
include U.S. Treasury bills, notes and bonds, U.S. Agency securities, repurchase agreements, certificates of
deposit, institutional, government money market funds that maintain a stable $1.00 net asset value, domestic
and foreign commercial paper, municipal securities, domestic and foreign debt issued by corporations or
financial institutions with the primary objective of minimizing the potential risk of principal loss. The Company
determines the classification of its marketable securities based on its investment strategy at the time of
purchase. All marketable securities in the periods presented have been classified as available-for-sale.

The amortized cost and carrying value (fair value) of marketable securities and the balance sheet location at
December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 consist of the following:

December 31, 2023

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated
(Millions of dollars) Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
Available-for-sale securities:
Marketable securities current
U.S. Government bonds $ 3.0 — — 3 3.0
U.S. Corporate bonds 3.9 — — 3.9
Investment income receivable 0.2 — — 0.2
7.1 — — 7.1
Marketable securities non-current
U.S. Corporate bonds 29 — — 2.9
Non U.S. Corporate bonds 1.5 — — 1.5
4.4 — — 4.4
Total marketable securities $ 115 §$ —  $ — $ 11.5

December 31, 2022

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated
(Millions of dollars) Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
Available-for-sale securities:
Marketable securities current
U.S. Government bonds $ 8.8 — — 3 8.8
U.S. Corporate bonds 6.0 — — 6.0
Non U.S. Corporate bonds 3.0 — — 3.0
Investment income receivable 0.1 — — 0.1
17.9 — — 17.9
Marketable securities non-current
U.S. Corporate bonds 4.4 — — 4.4
Total marketable securities $ 223 $ — % — 22.3
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The amortized cost basis and fair value of the Company's available-for-sale marketable securities at December
31, 2023, by contractual maturity, are as follows:

(Millions of dollars) Amortized Cost Fair Value

Less than 1 year $ 114 § 11.4

1to 2 years — —
Total $ 114 $ 11.4

There was no impairment on any available-for-sale marketable securities as of December 31, 2023 or
December 31, 2022.

Note 6 — Property, Plant and Equipment

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Estimated
(Millions of dollars) Useful Life Cost Net Cost Net
Land $ 655.7 $ 655.7 $ 6452 § 645.2
Real estate finance leases 1 to 40 years 149.2 110.9 147.7 122.2
Pipeline and terminal facilities 16 to 25 years 93.8 49.9 83.7 42.5
Retail gasoline stores 3 to 50 years 3,136.3 1,623.7 2,897.7 1,536.4
Buildings 20 to 45 years 74.9 46.7 71.0 47.2
Other 3 to 20 years 201.1 84.9 167.1 65.8

$ 43110 $ 25718 $ 40124 § 24593

Depreciation expense of $227.7 million, $219.4 million and $211.6 million was recorded for the years ended
December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Note 7 — Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The Company's goodwill is assigned to its Marketing segment and none of the goodwill is deductible for tax
purposes.

December 31,

(Millions of dollars) 2023 2022
Goodwill $ 3280 $ 328.0

We amortize intangible assets subject to amortization on a straight-line basis based on the period for which the
economic benefits of the asset or liability are expected to be realized. The intangible assets subject to
amortization includes pipeline space, which is being amortized over a 40-year life, and the intangible lease
liability acquired from QuickChek which is being amortized over the remaining life of the underlying leases.

Intangible assets subject to amortization at December 31, 2023 and 2022 consisted of the following:

Remaining Useful

Life (in years) December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
(Millions of dollars) Cost Net Cost Net
Intangible assets subject to amortization:
Pipeline space 31.7 $ 396 § 317  § 396 $ 32.7
Intangible lease
liability 10.4 (9.1) (7.3) (9.1) (7.9)
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Remaining Useful

Life (in years) December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
(Millions of dollars) Cost Net Cost Net
Total intangible assets subject to
amortization 30.5 24 .4 30.5 24.8
Intangible assets not subject to
amortization, indefinite lives:
Trade name 115.4 115.4 115.4 115.4
Liquor licenses — — 0.2 0.2
Total intangible assets not subject to
amortization 115.4 115.4 115.6 115.6
Intangible assets, net of amortization 3 1459 $ 1398 $ 1461 $ 140.4

Note 8 — Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities

Trade accounts payable and accrued liabilities consisted of the following:

December 31,

(Millions of dollars) 2023 2022
Trade accounts payable $ 520.3 $ 547.6
Excise taxes/withholdings payable 108.5 93.2
Accrued insurance obligations 55.9 51.8
Accrued taxes other than income 43.4 44.6
Accrued compensation and benefits 50.1 46.6
Current operating lease liabilities 221 20.5
Other 34.4 34.9
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 834.7 $ 839.2

Note 9 — Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt consisted of the following:

December 31,

(Millions of dollars)

5.625% senior notes due 2027 (net of unamortized discount of $1.3 at
2023 and $1.6 at 2022)

4.75% senior notes due 2029 (net of unamortized discount of $3.6 at
2023 and $4.2 at 2022)

3.75% senior notes due 2031 (net of unamortized discount of $4.4 at
2023 and $5.1 at 2022)

Term loan due 2028 (effective interest rate of 7.23% at 2023 and 5.95%
at 2022) net of unamortized discount of $0.6 at 2023 and $0.7 at 2022

Capitalized lease obligations, autos and equipment, due through 2027
Capitalized lease obligations, buildings, due through 2059
Unamortized debt issuance costs

Total long-term debt
Less current maturities

Total long-term debt, net of current $

2023 2022
208.7 $ 298.4
496.4 495.8
495.6 494.9
389.4 393.3

3.1 2.3
123.6 131.3
(7.1) (9.1)
1,799.7 1,806.9
15.0 15.0
1,784.7 $ 1,791.9
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Senior Notes

On April 25, 2017, Murphy Oil USA, Inc. ("MOUSA"), our primary operating subsidiary, issued $300 million of
5.625% Senior Notes due 2027 (the "2027 Senior Notes") under its existing shelf registration statement. The
2027 Senior Notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by the Company and by the Company's
subsidiaries that guarantee our Credit Facilities (as defined below). The indenture governing the 2027 Senior
Notes contains restrictive covenants that limit, among other things, the ability of the Company, MOUSA, and the
restricted subsidiaries to incur additional indebtedness or liens, dispose of assets, make certain restricted
payments or investments, enter into transactions with affiliates or merge with or into other entities.

On September 13, 2019, MOUSA, issued $500 million of 4.75% Senior Notes due 2029 (the “2029 Senior
Notes”). The net proceeds from the issuance of the 2029 Senior Notes were used to fund, in part, the tender
offer and redemption of a prior note issuance. The 2029 Senior Notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed
by the Company and by the Company's 100% owned subsidiaries that guarantee our Credit Facilities. The
indenture governing the 2029 Senior Notes contains restrictive covenants that are essentially identical to the
covenants for the 2027 Senior Notes.

On January 29, 2021, MOUSA issued $500 million of 3.75% Senior Notes due 2031 (the "2031 Senior Notes"
and, together with the 2027 Senior Notes and the 2029 Senior Notes, the "Senior Notes"). The net proceeds
from the issuance of the 2031 Senior Notes were used, in part, to fund the acquisition of QuickChek and other
obligations related to that transaction. The 2031 Senior Notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by the
Company and by the Company's subsidiaries that guarantee our Credit Facilities. The indenture governing the
2031 Senior Notes contains restrictive covenants that are essentially identical to the covenants for the 2027 and
2029 Senior Notes.

The Senior Notes and related guarantees rank equally with all of our and the guarantors’ existing and future
senior unsecured indebtedness and effectively junior to our and the guarantors’ existing and future secured
indebtedness (including indebtedness with respect to the Credit Facilities) to the extent of the value of the
assets securing such indebtedness. The Senior Notes are structurally subordinated to all of the existing and
future third-party liabilities, including trade payables, of our existing and future subsidiaries that do not
guarantee the notes.

Revolving Credit Facility and Term Loan

Our credit agreement consists of both a cash flow revolving credit facility and a senior secured term loan.

The credit agreement provides for a senior secured term loan in an aggregate principal amount of $400 million
(the “Term Facility”) (which was borrowed in full on January 29, 2021) and revolving credit commitments in an
aggregate amount equal to $350 million (the “Revolving Facility”, and together with the Term Facility, the “Credit
Facilities”). The outstanding balance of the term loan was $390 million at December 31, 2023 and $394 million
at December 31, 2022. The term loan is due January 2028, and we are required to make quarterly principal
payments of $1 million, which began on July 1, 2021. As of December 31, 2023, we had no outstanding
borrowings under the Revolving Facility and had $6.2 million in outstanding letters of credit (which reduces the
amount available to borrow under the Revolving Facility).

Interest payable on the Term Facility is based on either:

* the term overnight financing rate, plus the applicable Alternative Reference Rate Committee ("ARRC")
recommended credit spread adjustment (the “Adjusted Term SOFR Rate”);

or

* the Alternate Base Rate, which is defined as the highest of (a) the rate of interest last quoted by The
Wall Street Journal as the “Prime Rate”, (b) the greater of federal funds effective rate and the overnight
bank funding rate determined by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York from time to time plus 0.50%
per annum and (c) the one-month Adjusted Term SOFR Rate plus 1.00% per annum,
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plus, (A) in the case of Adjusted Term SOFR Rate borrowings, a spread of 1.75% per annum and (B) in the
case of Alternate Base Rate borrowings, a spread of 0.75% per annum.

Interest payable on the Revolving Facility is based on either:

» the term secured overnight financing rate, plus 0.10% credit spread adjustment for all interest periods
(the "Adjusted SOFR Rate"), which is subject to a 0.0% floor;

or

« the Alternate Base Rate, which is defined as the highest of (a) the rate of interest last quoted by The
Wall Street Journal as the "Prime Rate", (b) the greater of the federal funds effective rate and the
overnight bank funding rate determined by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York from time to time
plus 0.50% per annum and (c) the one-month Adjusted SOFR Rate plus 1.00% per annum,

plus, (A) in the case of Adjusted SOFR Rate borrowings, a spread of 1.75% to 2.25% per annum depending on
a total debt to EBITDA ratio and (B) in the case of Alternate Base Rate borrowings, spreads ranging from 0.75%
to 1.25% per annum depending on a total debt to EBITDA ratio.

The Term Facility amortizes in quarterly installments, which commenced on July 1, 2021, at a rate of 1.00% per
annum. Murphy USA is also required to prepay the Term Facility with a portion of its excess cash flow, a portion
of the net cash proceeds of certain asset sales and casualty events (subject to certain reinvestment rights) and
the net cash proceeds of issuances of indebtedness not permitted under the Credit Agreement. The credit
agreement allows Murphy USA to prepay, in whole or in part, the Term Facility outstanding thereunder, together
with any accrued and unpaid interest, with prior notice but without premium or penalty other than breakage and
redeployment costs.

The credit agreement contains certain covenants that limit, among other things, the ability of the Company and
certain of its subsidiaries to incur additional indebtedness or liens, to make certain investments, to enter into
sale-leaseback transactions, to make certain restricted payments, to enter into consolidations, mergers or sales
of material assets and other fundamental changes, to transact with affiliates, to enter into agreements restricting
the ability of subsidiaries to incur liens or pay dividends, or to make certain accounting changes. The Revolving
Facility credit agreement also impose total leverage ratio and secured net leverage ratio financial maintenance
covenants which are tested quarterly. Pursuant to the total leverage ratio financial maintenance covenant, the
Company must maintain a total leverage ratio of not more than 5.0 to 1.0 with an ability in certain circumstances
to temporarily increase that limit to 5.5 to 1.0 and a maximum secured net leverage ratio of not more than 3.75
to 1.0 with an ability in certain circumstances to temporarily increase that limit to 4.25 to 1.0. The Credit
Agreement also contains customary events of default.

Pursuant to the credit agreement's covenant limiting certain restricted payments, certain payments in respect of
our equity interests, including dividends, when the total leverage ratio, calculated on a pro forma basis, is
greater than 3.0 to 1.0, could be limited. At December 31, 2023, our total leverage ratio was 1.68 to 1.0 which
meant our ability at that date to make restricted payments was not limited. If our total leverage ratio, on a pro
forma basis, exceeds 3.0 to 1.0, any restricted payments made following that time until the ratio is once again,
on a pro forma basis, below 3.0 to 1.0 would be limited by the covenant, which contains certain exceptions,
including an ability to make restricted payments in cash in an aggregate not to exceed the greater of
$115.6 million or 4.50% of consolidated net tangible assets over the life of the credit agreement.

All obligations under the credit agreement are guaranteed by Murphy USA and the subsidiary guarantors party
thereto, and all obligations under the credit agreement, including the guarantees of those obligations, are
secured by certain assets of Murphy USA, Murphy Oil USA, Inc. and the guarantors party to the guarantee and
collateral agreement in respect thereof.
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Note 10 — Asset Retirement Obligations (ARO)

The majority of the ARO recognized by the Company at December 31, 2023 and 2022 is related to the
estimated costs to dismantle and abandon certain of its retail gasoline stores. The Company has not recorded
an ARO for certain of its marketing assets because sufficient information is presently not available to estimate a
range of potential settlement dates for the obligation. These assets are consistently being upgraded and are
expected to be operational into the foreseeable future. In these cases, the obligation will be initially recognized
in the period in which sufficient information exists to estimate the obligation.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending aggregate carrying amount of the ARO is shown in the following
table:

December 31,

(Millions of dollars) 2023 2022

Balance at beginning of period $ 433 $ 39.2

Accretion expense 3.0 2.7

Settlement of liabilities (3.1) (2.3)

Liabilities incurred 29 3.7
Balance at end of period $ 461 § 43.3

The estimation of future ARO is based on a number of assumptions requiring professional judgment. The
Company cannot predict the type of revisions to these assumptions that may be required in future periods due
to the lack of availability of additional information.

Note 11 — Income Taxes

The components of income before income taxes for each of the three years ended December 31, 2023 and
income tax expense (benefit) attributable thereto were as follows:
Years Ended December 31,

(Millions of dollars) 2023 2022 2021
Income (loss) before income taxes $ 7344 $ 883.8 $ 521.9
Income tax expense (benefit)
Federal - Current $ 1415 $ 1435 $ 86.2
Federal - Deferred 3.5 33.0 14.4
State - Current and deferred 32.6 34.4 24 .4
Total $ 1776 § 2109 § 125.0

The following table reconciles income taxes based on the U.S. statutory tax rate to the Company’s income tax
expense (benefit).
Years Ended December 31,

(Millions of dollars) 2023 2022 2021
Income tax expense based on the U.S. statutory tax rate $ 1542 $ 1856 § 109.6
State income taxes, net of federal benefit 25.0 28.0 19.2
Federal credits (2.6) (2.9) (2.2)
Other, net 1.0 0.2 (1.6)
Total $ 1776 $ 2109 § 125.0
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An analysis of the Company’s deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities at December 31, 2023 and 2022
showing the tax effects of significant temporary differences is as follows:

December 31,

(Millions of dollars) 2023 2022
Deferred tax assets
Property costs and asset retirement obligations $ 64 $ 59
Employee benefits 12.9 10.7
Operating leases liability 99.2 97.6
Other deferred tax assets 13.5 13.6
Total gross deferred tax assets 132.0 127.8
Deferred tax liabilities
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (327.9) (316.0)
State deferred taxes (29.4) (30.5)
Operating leases right of use assets (94.9) (94.4)
Other deferred tax liabilities (9.3) (14.3)
Total gross deferred tax liabilities (461.5) (455.2)
Net deferred tax liabilities $ (329.5) $ (327.4)

In management’s judgment, the deferred tax assets in the preceding table will more likely than not be realized
as reductions of future taxable income or utilized by available tax planning strategies.

As of December 31, 2023, the earliest year remaining open for Federal audits and/or settlement is 2020 and for
state audits and/or settlement is 2019. Although the Company believes that recorded liabilities for unsettled
issues are adequate, additional gains or losses could occur in future periods from resolution of outstanding
unsettled matters.

The FASB'’s rules for accounting for income tax uncertainties clarify the criteria for recognizing uncertain income
tax benefits and require additional disclosures about uncertain tax positions. Under U.S. GAAP the financial
statement recognition of the benefit for a tax position is dependent upon the benefit being more likely than not to
be sustainable upon audit by the applicable taxing authority. If this threshold is met, the tax benefit is then
measured and recognized at the largest amount that is greater than 50 percent likely of being realized upon
ultimate settlement. Liabilities associated with uncertain income tax positions are included in Deferred Credits
and Other Liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of the consolidated liability for unrecognized income tax
benefits during the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 is shown in the following table:

Year Ended December 31,

(Millions of dollars) 2023 2022

Balance at January 1 $ 06 $ 0.5
Additions for tax positions related to prior years — 0.2
Expiration of statutes of limitation (0.1) (0.1)
Balance at December 31 3 05 $ 0.6

All additions or reductions to the above liability affect the Company’s effective tax rate in the respective period of
change. The Company accounts for any applicable interest and penalties on uncertain tax positions as a
component of income tax expense. Income tax expense for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and
2021 included immaterial amounts of interest and penalties, associated with uncertain tax positions. Of these
amounts shown in the table, $0.4 million and $0.5 million represent the amount of unrecognized tax benefits
that, if recognized, would impact our effective tax rate for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022,
respectively.
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During the next twelve months, the Company does not expect a material change to the liability for uncertain
taxes. Although existing liabilities could be reduced by settlement with taxing authorities or lapse due to statute
of limitations, the Company believes that the changes in its unrecognized tax benefits due to these events will
not have a material impact on the Consolidated Income Statement during 2024.

Total excess tax benefits for equity compensation recognized in the twelve months ended December 31, 2023,
2022 and 2021 were $2.9 million, $2.9 million and $4.9 million, respectively.

Note 12 — Incentive Plans
2013 Long-Term Incentive Plan

Effective August 30, 2013, certain of our employees began to participate in the Murphy USA 2013 Long-Term
Incentive Plan, which was subsequently amended and restated effective as of February 8, 2017 (the “MUSA
2013 Plan”). The MUSA 2013 Plan authorized the Executive Compensation Committee of our Board of
Directors (“the Committee”) to grant non-qualified or incentive stock options, stock appreciation rights, stock
awards (including restricted stock and restricted stock unit awards), dividend equivalent units, cash awards, and
performance awards to our employees. No more than 5.5 million shares of common stock were to be delivered
under the MUSA 2013 Plan and no more than 1.0 million shares of common stock were to be awarded to any
one employee, subject to adjustment for changes in capitalization. The maximum cash amount payable
pursuant to any “performance-based” award to any participant in any calendar year was $5.0 million.

During the period from August 30, 2013 to December 31, 2023, the Company granted a total of 2,995,854
awards from the MUSA 2013 Plan which leaves 2,504,146 remaining shares (after consideration of the
amendments made to the MUSA 2013 Plan in February 2014 by the Board of Directors). Any remaining shares
to be granted under this plan will be in the form of dividend equivalent units on outstanding nonvested shares
until the time when all shares are completely vested. At present, the Company expects to issue all shares that
vest out of existing treasury shares rather than issuing new common shares.

On May 4, 2023, the 2023 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan (the "MUSA 2023 Plan") was approved by
shareholders and became effective for all future grants for both employees and directors, as described later in
the footnote.

Beginning with its initial quarterly dividend in December 2020, the Company issues dividend equivalent units
("DEU") on all outstanding, unvested equity awards (except stock options) in an amount commensurate with
regular quarterly dividends paid on common stock. The terms of the DEU mirror the underlying awards and will
only vest if the related award vests. DEU's issued are included with grants in each respective table as
applicable.

STOCK OPTIONS (MUSA 2013 Plan) — The Committee fixes the option price of each option granted at no less
than fair market value (FMV) on the date of the grant and fixes the option term at no more than 7 years from
such date.

Most of the nonqualified stock options granted in 2023 to certain employees by the Committee were granted in
February 2023.
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Following are the assumptions used by the Company to value the original awards:

Years Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
Fair value per option grant $ 88.53 $ 51.46 $ 32.00
Assumptions
Dividend yield 0.5% 0.6% 0.8%
Expected volatility 33.1% 32.2% 32.3%
Risk-free interest rate 3.8% 1.8% 0.4%
Expected life (years) 4.9 4.7 4.6
Stock price at valuation date $ 263.48 $ 181.18 $ 126.00

Changes in options outstanding for Company employees during the period from December 31, 2022 to
December 31, 2023 are presented in the following table:

Weighted

Average
Weighted Remaining Aggregate
Average Contractual Intrinsic Value

Exercise Term (Millions of
2013 Plan — Options Number of Shares Price (Years) Dollars)
Outstanding at December 31, 2022 313,950 112.06
Granted 38,100 263.48
Exercised (61,000) 77.72
Outstanding at December 31, 2023 291,050 $ 139.07 39 $ 63.3
Exercisable at December 31, 2023 160,550 $ 97.72 29 $ 41.6

Additional information about stock options outstanding at December 31, 2023 is shown below:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Avg. Life Avg. Life
Range of Exercise Prices Remaining in Remaining in
per Option No. of Options Years No. of Options Years

$0.00 to $99.99 68,900 2.0 68,900 2.0
$100.00 to $149.99 128,900 3.7 91,650 3.5
$150.00 to $249.99 55,150 5.1 — —
$250.00 to $300.00 38,100 6.1 — —
291,050 3.9 160,550 29

RESTRICTED STOCK UNITS (MUSA 2013 Plan) — The Committee has granted time based restricted stock
units (RSUs) as part of the compensation plan for its executives and certain other employees since its inception.
The awards granted in the current year were under the MUSA 2013 Plan, are valued at the grant date fair value,
and vest over three years.
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Changes in restricted stock units outstanding for Company employees during the period from December 31,
2022 to December 31, 2023 are presented in the following table:

Weighted Average Grant Total Fair Value
2013 Plan — Employee RSUs Number of units Date Fair Value (Millions of Dollars)
Outstanding at December 31, 2022 149,366 $ 125.51
Granted 34935 §$ 260.96
Vested and issued (60,888) $ 80.23 § 16.1
Forfeited (4,157) $ 183.17
Outstanding at December 31, 2023 119,256 $ 186.47 $ 42.5

PERFORMANCE-BASED RESTRICTED STOCK UNITS (MUSA 2013 Plan) — In February 2023, the
Committee awarded performance-based restricted stock units (performance units) to certain employees. Half of
the performance units vest based on a three-year return on average capital employed (ROACE) calculation and
the other half vest based on a three-year total shareholder return (TSR) calculation that compares MUSA to a
group of 17 peer companies. The portion of the awards that vest based on TSR qualify as a market condition
and must be valued using a Monte Carlo valuation model. For the TSR portion of the awards, the fair value was
determined to be $330.18 per unit. For the ROACE portion of the awards, the valuation was based on the grant
date fair value of $263.48 per unit and the number of awards will be periodically assessed to determine the
probability of vesting.

Changes in performance-based restricted stock units outstanding for Company employees during the period
from December 31, 2022 to December 31, 2023 are presented in the following table:

Weighted Average Total Fair Value
2013 Plan — Employee PSU's Number of Units Grant Date Fair Value  (Millions of Dollars)
Outstanding at December 31, 2022 106,001 $ 160.03
Granted 62,380 $ 296.83
Vested and issued (72,799) $ 12183 $ 19.0
Outstanding at December 31, 2023 95582 $ 212.38 $ 341

2013 Stock Plan for Non-employee Directors

Effective August 8, 2013, Murphy USA adopted the 2013 Murphy USA Stock Plan for Non-employee Directors
(the “Directors Plan”). The directors for Murphy USA are compensated with a mixture of cash payments and
equity-based awards. Awards under the Directors Plan may be in the form of restricted stock, restricted stock
units, dividend equivalent units, stock options, or a combination thereof. An aggregate of 500,000 shares of
common stock shall be available for issuance of grants under the Directors Plan. Since 2013, 157,285 time-
based restricted stock units have been granted under the terms of the Directors Plan which leaves 342,715
shares available to be granted in the future.

RESTRICTED STOCK UNITS (Directors Plan) — The Committee has also granted time based RSUs to the non-
employee directors of the Company as part of their overall compensation package for being a member of the
Board of Directors. Awards prior to 2023 vest at the end of three years and those granted in 2023 vest at the
end of one year.

DEFERRED STOCK UNITS (2013 Directors Plan) — Effective January 1, 2023, non-employee directors can
elect to receive their annual cash retainers in the form of Deferred Stock Units ("DSUs"). The DSUs are
recognized at their fair value on the date of the grant. Director fees which are deferred into DSUs are calculated
and expensed each quarter by taking fees earned during the quarter and dividing by the closing price of our
common stock on the last trading day of the quarter. Each DSU represents the right to receive one share of
common stock following the completion of a director's service. In addition, beginning with the 2023 annual
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equity grants to non-employee directors, the directors may elect to defer receipt of their vested RSUs until their
service ends. These RSUs are included in the Director RSU table below, will vest in one year, and will
thereafter become deferred stock units.

Changes in restricted stock units outstanding for Company non-employee directors during the period from
December 31, 2022 to December 31, 2023 are presented in the following table:

. Weighted Average Total Fair Value
2013 Plan — Director RSUs and DSUs Number of Units Grant Date Fair Value  (Millions of Dollars)
Outstanding at December 31, 2022 26,923 $ 132.38
Granted 6,611 § 258.35
Vested and issued (9,880) $ 11019 $ 2.7
Outstanding at December 31, 2023,
including DSUs 23,654 $ 180.97 $ 8.4

During the three-month period ended March 31, 2023, we granted 421 DSUs and recorded director expense of
$0.1 million related to the grants under the 2013 Plan. Two DEU shares were granted and vested on these
DSUs during the year. At December 31, 2023 there were 423 Director DSUs outstanding with an average grant
date fair value of $258.35 under the 2013 Plan.

2023 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan

On May 4, 2023, the MUSA 2023 Plan became effective upon the approval of the Company's stockholders. The
MUSA 2023 Plan has been established to replace, on a prospective basis, the MUSA 2013 Plan and the 2013
Directors Plan, each of which expired on August 8, 2023. The MUSA 2023 Plan authorizes the Executive
Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors (“the Committee”) to grant to non-employee directors,
employees, and consultants of the Company, or any of its subsidiaries, stock options (incentive stock options
("ISOs") and nonqualified stock options ("NQSO")), stock appreciation rights ("SARs"), restricted stock,
restricted stock units ("RSUs"), performance awards or other cash-based awards and other stock-based
awards. The maximum number of shares available for issuance under the MUSA 2023 Plan shall not exceed in
the aggregate 1,725,000 shares (subject to certain adjustments). During the period from May 4, 2023 to
December 31, 2023, the Company granted a total of 1,544 awards from the MUSA 2023 Plan which
leaves 1,723,456 remaining shares. At present, the Company expects to issue all shares that vest out of
existing treasury shares rather than issuing new common shares.

DEFERRED STOCK UNITS — Non-employee directors can elect to receive their annual cash retainers in the
form of DSUs. The DSUs are recognized at their fair value on the date of the grant. Director fees which are
deferred into DSUs are calculated and expensed each quarter by taking fees earned during the quarter and
dividing by the closing price of our common stock on the last trading day of the quarter. Each DSU represents
the right to receive one share of common stock following the completion of a director's service.

Changes in restricted stock units outstanding for Company 2023 Plan during the period from December 31,
2022 to December 31, 2023 are presented in the following table:

Weighted Average Total Fair Value

2023 Plan — RSUs and Director DSUs Number of Units Grant Date Fair Value  (Millions of Dollars)
Outstanding at December 31, 2022 — $ —
Granted 1,544 % 335.69

Outstanding at December 31, 2023, including

DSUs 1,544 § 335.69 $ 0.6

During the period ended December 31, 2023, we granted 1,003 DSUs and recorded director expense of
$0.3 million related to the grants. At December 31, 2023, there were 1,004 Director DSUs vested and
outstanding with an average grant date fair value of $335.18 under the MUSA 2023 Plan.
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Amounts recognized in the financial statements by the Company with respect to all share-based plans are
shown in the following table:

Years Ended December 31,

(Millions of dollars) 2023 2022 2021
Compensation charged against income before income

tax benefit $ 218 § 16.0 §$ 14.4
Related income tax benefit recognized in income $ 46 $ 34§ 3.0

As of December 31, 2023, there was $25.9 million in compensation costs to be expensed over approximately
the next 1.7 years related to unvested share-based compensation arrangements granted by the
Company. Employees who have stock options are required to net settle their options in shares, after applicable
statutory withholding taxes are considered, upon each stock option exercise. Therefore, no cash is received
upon exercise. Total income tax benefits realized from tax deductions related to stock option exercises under
share-based payment arrangements were $0.8 million, $1.0 million, and $0.3 million for the years ended
December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively.

Note 13 — Employee and Retiree Benefit Plans

THRIFT PLAN — Employees of the Company may participate in defined contribution savings plans by
contributing up to a specified percentage of their base pay. The Company matches contributions for Murphy
USA eligible employees at 100% of each employee’s contribution with a maximum match of 6%. In addition, the
Company makes profit sharing contributions on an annual basis for Murphy USA employees. Eligible
employees receive a stated percentage of their base and incentive pay of which can range from 3% to 9%
based on participant's age, years of service, date of hire, subsidiary organization, or role. The Company
maintained the thrift plan of QuickChek on acquisition and matched 100% of the first 3% and 50% of the next
2% contributed by eligible employees in 2021 and 2022. Beginning in 2023, the QuickChek Corporation 401(k)
Retirement and Savings Plan and the Murphy Profit Sharing Plan were merged into the Murphy USA Savings
Plan. The Company’s combined expenses related to these plans were $23.8 million in 2023, $17.3 million in
2022 and $16.9 million in 2021. In addition, prior to 2023, eligible part-time employees participated in a
noncontributory profit sharing plan in which the Company could make discretionary employer contributions. The
Company's expenses related to this plan were $1.6 million in 2022 and $1.1 million in 2021.

SUPPLEMENTAL EXECUTIVE RETIREMENT — The Company provides a Supplemental Executive Retirement
Plan ('SERP'), a nonqualified deferred compensation plan for Murphy USA employees, to eligible executives
and certain members of management. The SERP plan is intended to restore qualified defined contribution plan
benefits restricted under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 to certain highly compensated individuals. The
liability balances, net of associated assets, were $7.6 million and $5.5 million, at December 31, 2023 and 2022,
respectfully.

Note 14 — Financial Instruments and Risk Management

DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS — The Company makes limited use of derivative instruments to manage certain
risks related to commaodity prices and interest rates. The use of derivative instruments for risk management is
covered by operating policies and is closely monitored by the Company’s senior management. The Company
does not hold any derivatives for speculative purposes, and it does not use derivatives with leveraged or
complex features. Derivative instruments are traded primarily with creditworthy major financial institutions or
over national exchanges such as the New York Mercantile Exchange (“NYMEX?”). For accounting purposes, the
Company has not designated commodity derivative contracts as hedges, and therefore, it recognizes all gains
and losses on these derivative contracts in its Consolidated Statement of Income. Certain interest rate
derivative contracts were accounted for as hedges and gain or loss associated with recording the fair value of
these contracts was deferred in AOCI until the anticipated transactions occur. As of December 31, 2023, all
current commodity derivative activity is immaterial.
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There were $1.0 million in cash deposits at December 31, 2023 and none at December 31, 2022 related to
commodity derivative contracts reported in Prepaid expenses and other current assets in the Consolidated
Balance Sheets. These cash deposits have not been used to increase the reported net assets or reduce the
reported net liabilities on the derivative contracts at December 31, 2023 and 2022.

Interest Rate Risks

An interest rate derivative that the Company used to effect the hedge entered into in August 2019 matured
during the year 2023. The amount of pre-tax gains in accumulated other comprehensive loss that was
reclassified into interest expense was $0.6 million, $0.9 million and $0.9 million for the three years ended
December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Note 15 — Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per common share is computed by dividing net income available to common stockholders by the
weighted average of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per common share
adjusts basic earnings per common share for the effects of stock options and restricted stock in the periods
where such items are dilutive.

On December 1, 2021, the Board of Directors approved a share repurchase authorization of up to $1 billion to
begin upon completion of the $500 million authorization made in October 2020. The 2021 authorization was
completed in October 2023. On May 2, 2023, the Board of Directors approved a new share repurchase
authorization of up to $1.5 billion to be executed by December 31, 2028.

During the year 2023, the total number of share repurchases were 1,026,300 common shares for $336.2 million,
at an average price of $327.55 per share, including excise tax accrued. The 2023 shares repurchased included
328,225 common shares for $120.7 million, at an average price of $367.66 per share, including excise tax
accrued, under the 2023 $1.5 billion authorization, leaving approximately $1.4 billion remaining available, as of
December 31, 2023, and included 698,075 common shares repurchased for $215.5 million, at an average price
of $308.69 per share, including excise tax accrued, which completed the December 2021 $1 billion
authorization.

During the years 2022 and 2021, the total number of share repurchases were 3,328,795 common shares for
$806.4 million, at an average price of $242.24 per share and 2,398,477 common shares for $355.0 million, at an
average price of $148.00 per share, respectively.

The following table provides a reconciliation of basic and diluted earnings per share computations for the years
ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021.

Years ended December 31,
(Millions of dollars except share and per share amounts) 2023 2022 2021

Earnings per common share:
Net income per share - basic
Net income attributable to common stockholders $ 556.8 $ 6729 $ 396.9

Weighted average common shares outstanding (in
thousands) 21,493 23,506 26,210

Earnings per common share $ 2591 § 2863 $ 15.14
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Years ended December 31,

(Millions of dollars except share and per share amounts) 2023 2022 2021
Earnings per common share - assuming dilution:
Net income per share - diluted
Net income attributable to common stockholders $ 556.8 $ 6729 $ 396.9
Weighted average common shares outstanding (in
thousands) 21,493 23,506 26,210
Common equivalent shares:
Share-based awards 350 444 394
Weighted average common shares outstanding -
assuming dilution (in thousands) 21,843 23,950 26,604
Earnings per common share assuming dilution $ 2549 § 28.10 § 14.92

We have excluded from the earnings-per-share calculation certain stock options and shares that are considered

to be anti-dilutive under the treasury stock method and are reported in the table below.

Years ended December 31,

Potentially dilutive shares excluded from the

calculation as their inclusion would be anti-dilutive 2023 2022 2021
Stock options 34,133 — 80,500
Restricted share units 44 — 1,562

Total anti-dilutive shares 34,177 — 82,062

Note 16 — Other Financial Information

CASH FLOW DISCLOSURES — Cash income taxes paid (received), net of refunds, were $128.0 million,
$199.7 million and $120.4 million for the three years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.
Interest paid, net of amounts capitalized, was $92.3 million, $81.6 million and $70.8 million for the years ended

December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

CHANGES IN WORKING CAPITAL -

Years ended December 31,

(Millions of dollars) 2023 2022 2021
Accounts receivable $ (56.3) $ 84.7) $ (18.9)
Inventories (22.1) (26.9) 11.1
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 25.2 (23.7) (3.6)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (12.0) 180.1 102.9
Income taxes payable 23.1 — (8.7)

Net decrease (increase) in noncash operating

working capital $ (42.1) $ 448 $ 82.8

Note 17 — Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value

The Company carries certain assets and liabilities at fair value in its Consolidated Balance Sheets. The fair
value hierarchy is based on the quality of inputs used to measure fair value, with Level 1 being the highest
quality and Level 3 being the lowest quality. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities. Level 2 inputs are observable inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1. Level

3 inputs are unobservable inputs which reflect assumptions about pricing by market participants.
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The Company's available-for-sale marketable securities consist of high quality, investment grade securities from
diverse issuers. We value these securities at the closing price in the principal active markets as of the last
business day of the reporting period. The fair values of the Company's marketable securities by asset class are
described in Note 5 "Marketable Securities" in these consolidated financial statements for the period ended
December 31, 2023. We value the deferred compensation plan assets, which consist of money market and
mutual funds, based on quoted prices in active markets at the measurement date. For additional information on
deferred compensation plans see also Note 13 "Employee and Retirement Benefit Plans" in these consolidated
financial statements for the period ended December 31, 2023.

At the balance sheet date, the fair value of commodity derivatives contracts was determined using NYMEX
quoted values and the value of the Interest rate swap derivative was derived by using level 3 inputs. The
carrying value of the Company’s Cash and cash equivalents, Accounts receivable-trade, Trade accounts
payable, and accrued liabilities approximates fair value. See also Note 14 "Financial Instruments and Risk
Management" in these consolidated financial statements for the period ended December 31, 2023, for more
information.

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis

The following table presents the Company's financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring
basis, as of December 31, 2023 and 2022:

December 31, 2023

(Millions of dollars) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair Value

Financial assets
Marketable securities, current

U.S. Government bonds $ — 5 30 $ — 5 3.0

U.S. Corporate bonds — 4.1 — 4.1
Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Fuel derivative — — 0.6 0.6
Marketable securities, non-current

U.S. Corporate bonds — 2.9 — 2.9

Non U.S. Government bonds — 1.5 — 1.5

Other assets
Deferred compensation plan assets 12.5 — — 12.5

Financial liabilities
Deferred credits and other liabilities
Deferred compensation plan liabilities (20.2) — — (20.2)
$ (7.7) $ 115 § 06 $ 4.4

December 31, 2022

(Millions of dollars) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair Value

Financial assets
Marketable securities, current:

U.S. Government bonds $ — 3 88 $ — 3 8.8
U.S. Corporate bonds — 6.1 — 6.1
Non U.S. Government bonds — 3.0 — 3.0
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December 31, 2022
(Millions of dollars) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair Value

Accounts receivable - trade:

Interest rate swap derivative — — 1.3 1.3
Marketable securities, non-current

U.S. Corporate bonds — 4.4 — 4.4
Other assets

Deferred compensation plan assets 9.5 — — 9.5

Financial liabilities
Deferred credits and other liabilities
Deferred compensation plan liabilities (14.7) — — (14.7)
$ (52) $ 22.3 $ 1.3 $ 18.4

Fair value of financial instruments not recognized at fair value

The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current
transaction between willing parties. The table below excludes Cash and cash equivalents, Accounts receivable-
trade, and Trade accounts payable and accrued liabilities, all of which had fair values approximating carrying
amounts. The fair value of Current and Long-term debt was estimated based on rates offered to the Company
at that time for debt of the same maturities. The Company has off-balance sheet exposures relating to certain
financial guarantees and letters of credit. The fair value of these, which represents fees associated with
obtaining the instruments, was nominal.

The following table presents the carrying amounts and estimated fair values of financial instruments held by the
Company at December 31, 2023 and 2022.

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Carrying Level 2 Carrying Level 2
(Millions of dollars) Amount Fair Value Amount Fair Value
Financial liabilities
Current and long-term debt,
excluding finance leases $ (1,673.0) $ (1,662.9) $ (1,673.3) $ (1,643.0)

Note 18 — Commitments

The Company leases land, gasoline stores, and other facilities under operating leases. During the next five
years, expected future rental payments under all operating leases are approximately $53.1 million in 2024,
$52.4 million in 2025, $51.7 million in 2026, $50.9 million in 2027, and $50.4 million in 2028.

Rental expense for noncancellable operating leases, including contingent payments when applicable, was
$60.7 million in 2023, $57.6 million in 2022 and $48.7 million in 2021.

Commitments for capital expenditures were approximately $301.9 million at December 31, 2023, including
$265.0 million approved for potential construction of future stores (including land) at year-end, along with
$16.7 million for improvements of existing stores, to be financed with our operating cash flow and/or incurrence
of indebtedness.
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The Company has certain take-or-pay contracts primarily to supply terminals with a noncancellable remaining
term of 6.8 years. At December 31, 2023, our minimum annual payments under our take-or-pay contracts are
estimated to be $8.3 million in 2024 and $8.3 million in 2025, $6.8 million in 2026, $4.7 million in 2027, and
$4.7 million in 2028.

Note 19 — Contingencies

The Company’s operations and earnings have been and may be affected by various forms of governmental
action. Examples of such governmental action include, but are by no means limited to: tax increases and
retroactive tax claims; import and export controls; price controls; allocation of supplies of crude oil and
petroleum products and other goods; laws and regulations intended for the promotion of safety and the
protection and/or remediation of the environment; governmental support for other forms of energy; and laws and
regulations affecting the Company’s relationships with employees, suppliers, customers, stockholders and
others. Because governmental actions are often motivated by political considerations, may be taken without full
consideration of their consequences, and may be taken in response to actions of other governments, it is not
practical to attempt to predict the likelihood of such actions, the form the actions may take or the effect such
actions may have on the Company.

ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS AND LEGAL MATTERS — Murphy USA is subject to numerous federal, state
and local laws, regulations and permit requirements dealing with the environment. Violation of such
environmental laws, regulations and permits can result in the imposition of significant civil and criminal
penalties, injunctions, and other sanctions. A discharge of hazardous substances into the environment could, to
the extent such event is not adequately insured, subject the Company to substantial expense, including the cost
to comply with applicable laws and regulations, claims by neighboring landowners, governmental authorities
and other third parties for any personal injury, property damage and other losses that might result.

The Company currently owns or leases, and has in the past owned or leased, properties at which hazardous
substances have been or are being handled. In connection with these activities, hazardous substances may
have been disposed of or released on or under the properties owned or leased by the Company or on or under
other locations where they have been taken for disposal. In addition, many of these properties have been
operated by third parties whose management of hazardous substances was not under the Company’s control.
Under existing laws, the Company could be required to remediate contaminated property (including
contaminated groundwater) or to perform remedial actions to prevent future contamination. Certain of these
contaminated properties are in various stages of negotiation, investigation, and/or cleanup, and the Company is
investigating the extent of any related liability and the availability of applicable defenses. With the sale of the
U.S. refineries in 2011, Murphy Oil retained certain liabilities related to environmental matters. Murphy Oil also
obtained insurance covering certain levels of environmental exposures. With respect to the previously owned
refinery properties, Murphy Oil retained those liabilities in the Separation and Distribution agreement that was
entered into related to the separation on August 30, 2013. With respect to any remaining potential liabilities,
based on information currently available to the Company, the Company believes costs related to these
properties will not have a material adverse effect on Murphy USA’s net income, financial position or liquidity in a
future period.

While it is possible that certain environmental expenditures could be recovered by the Company from other
sources, primarily environmental funds maintained by certain states, no assurance can be given that future
recoveries from these other sources will occur. As such, the Company has not recorded a benefit for likely
recoveries at December 31, 2023, however certain jurisdictions provide reimbursement for these expenses
which have been considered in recording the net exposure. The U.S. EPA currently considers the Company a
PRP at one Superfund site. As to the site, the potential total cost to all parties to perform necessary remedial
work at this site may be substantial. However, based on current negotiations and available information, the
Company believes that it is a de minimis party as to ultimate responsibility at the Superfund site. Accordingly,
the Company has not recorded a liability for remedial costs at the Superfund site at December 31, 2023. The
Company could be required to bear a pro rata share of costs attributable to nonparticipating PRPs or could be
assigned additional responsibility for remediation at this site or other Superfund sites. Based on information
currently available to the Company, the Company believes that its share of the ultimate costs to clean-up this
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site will be immaterial and will not have a material adverse effect on its net income, financial position or liquidity
in a future period.

Based on information currently available to the Company, the amount of future remediation costs to be incurred
to address known contamination sites is not expected to have a material adverse effect on the Company’s
future net income, cash flows or liquidity. However, there is the possibility that additional environmental
expenditures could be required to address contamination, including as a result of discovering additional
contamination or the imposition of new or revised requirements applicable to known contamination, and such
additional expenditures could be material.

Murphy USA is engaged in a number of other legal proceedings, all of which the Company considers routine
and incidental to its business. Currently, the City of Charleston, South Carolina and the state of Delaware have
filed lawsuits against energy companies, including the Company. These lawsuits allege damages as a result of
climate change and the plaintiffs are seeking unspecified damages and abatement under various tort theories.
At this early stage, the ultimate outcome of these matters remains uncertain, and neither the likelihood of an
unfavorable outcome nor the ultimate liability, if any, can be determined. Based on information currently
available to the Company, the ultimate resolution of those other legal matters is not expected to have a material
adverse effect on the Company’s net income, financial condition, or liquidity in a future period.

INSURANCE — The Company maintains insurance coverage at levels that are customary and consistent with
industry standards for companies of similar size. Murphy USA maintains statutory workers compensation
insurance with a deductible of $1.0 million per occurrence, general liability insurance with a deductible of
$3.0 million per occurrence, and auto liability insurance with a deductible of $0.3 million per occurrence. As of
December 31, 2023, there were a number of outstanding claims that are of a routine nature. The estimated
incurred but unpaid liabilities relating to these claims are included in Trade account payables and accrued
liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. While the ultimate outcome of these claims cannot presently be
determined, management believes that the accrued liability of $47.3 million will be sufficient to cover the related
liability and that the ultimate disposition of these claims will have no material effect on the Company’s financial
position and results of operations.

The Company has obtained insurance coverage as appropriate for the business in which it is engaged, but may
incur losses that are not covered by insurance or reserves, in whole or in part, and such losses could adversely
affect our results of operations and financial position.

TAX MATTERS — Murphy USA is subject to extensive tax liabilities imposed by multiple jurisdictions, including
income taxes, indirect taxes (excise/duty, sales/use and gross receipts taxes), payroll taxes, franchise taxes,
withholding taxes and ad valorem taxes. New tax laws and regulations and changes in existing tax laws and
regulations are continuously being enacted or proposed that could result in increased expenditures for tax
liabilities in the future. Many of these liabilities are subject to periodic audits by the respective taxing authority.
Subsequent changes to our tax liabilities because of these audits may subject us to interest and penalties.

OTHER MATTERS — In the normal course of its business, the Company is required under certain contracts
with various governmental authorities and others to provide financial guarantees or letters of credit that may be
drawn upon if the Company fails to perform under those contracts. At December 31, 2023, the Company had
contingent liabilities of $10.2 million on outstanding letters of credit. The Company has not accrued a liability in
its balance sheet related to these financial guarantees and letters of credit because it is believed that the
likelihood of having these drawn is remote.

Note 20 — Leases

The Company determines if an arrangement is a lease or contains a lease at inception. Operating lease right-
of-use assets and liabilities are recognized at commencement date based on the present value of lease
payments over the lease term. Leases with an initial term of 12 months or less are not recorded on the balance
sheet; we recognize lease expense for these leases on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The
Company's leases have remaining lease terms of approximately 1 year to 38 years, which may include the
option to extend the lease when it is reasonably certain the Company will exercise the option. Most leases
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include one or more options to renew, with renewal terms that can extend the lease term from 5 to 20 years or
more. The exercise of lease renewal options is at the Company's sole discretion. Due to the uncertainties of
future markets, economic factors, technology changes, demographic shifts and behavior, environmental
regulatory requirements and other information that impacts decisions as to store location, management has
determined that it was not reasonably certain to exercise contract options and they are not included in the lease
term. Additionally, short-term leases and leases with variable lease costs are immaterial. The Company
reviews all options to extend, terminate, or otherwise modify its lease agreements to determine if changes are
required to the right of use assets and liabilities.

As the implicit interest rate is not readily determinable in most of the Company's lease agreements, the
Company uses its estimated secured incremental borrowing rate based on the information available at
commencement date in determining the present value of lease payments.

Lessor — We have various arrangements for certain spaces for food service and vending equipment under
which we are the lessor. These leases meet the criteria for operating lease classification. Lease income
associated with these leases is immaterial. We also have certain areas where we sublease building and land
space to others. This lease income is immaterial.

Lessee — We lease land for 445 stores, one terminal, and various equipment. Our lease agreements do not
contain any material residual value guarantees and approximately 102 sites leased from Walmart contain
restrictive covenants, though the restrictions are deemed to have an immaterial impact.

Leases are reflected in the following balance sheet accounts:

. . December 31, December 31,
(Millions of dollars) Classification 2023 2022
Assets
Operating (Right-of-use) Operating lease right of use assets, net $ 4521 % 449.6

Property, plant, and equipment, at cost, less
accumulated depreciation of $42.6 in 2023

Finance and $30.5 in 2022 113.8 124.6
Total leased assets $ 565.9 $ 574.2
Liabilities
Current

Operating Trade accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 221 $ 20.5

Finance Current maturities of long-term debt 11.0 11.0
Noncurrent

Operating Non-current operating lease liabilities 450.3 4442

Long-term debt, including capitalized lease

Finance obligations 115.7 122.6

Total lease liabilities $ 599.1 § 598.3
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Lease Cost: Year Ended December 31,

(Millions of dollars) Classification 2023 2022 2021
Store and other operating

Operating lease cost expenses $ 551 §$ 522 § 431

Finance lease cost

Amortization of leased Depreciation & amortization

assets expense 15.0 15.9 14.8
Interest on lease liabilities Interest expense 8.9 9.1 8.2
Net lease costs $ 790 $ 772 $ 66.1

Cash Flow Information: Year Ended December 31,

(Millions of dollars) 2023 2022 2021

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of

liabilities
Operating cash flows required by operating leases $ 506 $ 456 $ 38.8
Operating cash flows required by finance leases $ 89 $ 91 §$ 8.2
Financing cash flows required by finance leases $ 114 §$ 112 $ 9.8

Maturity of Lease Liabilities:

(Millions of dollars) Operating leases  Finance leases

2024 $ 531 $ 19.1
2025 52.4 18.0
2026 51.7 16.8
2027 50.9 16.0
2028 50.4 15.5
After 2028 535.8 106.9
Total lease payments 794.3 192.3

less: interest 321.9 65.6
Present value of lease liabilities $ 4724 % 126.7

Lease Term and Discount Rate: Year Ended December 31,

2023
Weighted average remaining lease term In Years
Finance leases 12.2
Operating leases 15.1
Weighted average discount rate
Finance leases 6.8 %
Operating leases 6.6 %
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Note 21 — Recent Accounting and Reporting Rules

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-06, "Codification Amendments in Response to the SEC's
Disclosure Update and Simplification Initiative," which incorporates into the FASB Codification several
disclosure and presentation requirements in SEC Regulations S-X and S-K that overlap with US GAAP. While
the ASU is not expected to significantly affect entities currently subject to the corresponding SEC requirements,
certain disclosures currently presented outside the financial statements under Regulation S-K may need to be
relocated into the financial statements. If the SEC does not remove the existing disclosure requirements from
Regulations S-X or S-K by June 30, 2027, the corresponding pending content will be removed from the
Codification and will not become effective for any entities. The Company has determined this will not have a
material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements.

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07, "Segment Reporting: Improvements to Reportable Segment
Disclosures." The amendments in this Update improve financial reporting by requiring disclosure of incremental
segment information on an annual and interim basis for all public entities and clarifies that single reportable
segment entities must apply Topic 280 in its entirety. The amendments in this Update are effective for the
Company for the year beginning January 1, 2024, with early adoption permitted. The amendments should be
applied retrospectively to all prior periods presented in the financial statement. The Company has determined
this will not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements.

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, "Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures." This ASU
intends to enhance income tax disclosures, under Topic 740, to address investor requests for more
transparency about income tax information through improvements to income tax disclosures primarily related to
the rate reconciliation and income taxes paid information. The amendments in this Update improve the
transparency of income tax disclosures by requiring (1) consistent categories and greater disaggregation of
information in the rate reconciliation and (2) income taxes paid disaggregated by jurisdiction. The amendments
in this Update are effective for the Company for the year beginning January 1, 2025, with early adoption
permitted. The amendments should be applied on a prospective basis, with retrospective application permitted.
The Company has determined this will not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial
statements.

Note 22 — Business Segments

Our operations include the sale of retail motor fuel products and convenience merchandise along with the
wholesale and bulk sale capabilities of our product supply and wholesale group. As the primary purpose of the
product supply and wholesale group is to support our retail operations and provide fuel for their daily operation,
the bulk and wholesale fuel sales are secondary to the support functions played by these groups. As such, they
are all treated as one segment for reporting purposes as they sell the same products and have similar economic
characteristics. This Marketing segment contains essentially all of the revenue generating activities of the
Company. Results not included in the reportable segment include Corporate and Other Assets. The reportable
segment was determined based on information reviewed by the Chief Operating Decision Maker.

Segment Information Corporate and
(Millions of dollars) Marketing Other Assets Consolidated

Year ended December 31, 2023

Segment income (loss) $ 6309 $ (74.1) $ 556.8
Revenues from external customers $ 21,5289 $ 05 §$ 21,529.4
Investment income $ — 3 69 §$ 6.9
Interest expense $ (89) $ (89.6) $ (98.5)
Income tax expense (benefit) $ 2030 $ (25.4) $ 177.6
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Segment Information
(Millions of dollars)

Significant noncash charges (credits)
Depreciation and amortization
Accretion of asset retirement obligations
Deferred and noncurrent income taxes (benefits)
Additions to property, plant and equipment
Total assets at year-end

Segment Information

(Millions of dollars)

Year ended December 31, 2022

Segment income (loss)

Revenues from external customers

Investment income

Interest expense

Income tax expense (benefit)

Significant noncash charges (credits)
Depreciation and amortization
Accretion of asset retirement obligations
Deferred and noncurrent income taxes (benefits)

Additions to property, plant and equipment

Total assets at year-end

Segment Information
(Millions of dollars)

Year ended December 31, 2021
Segment income (loss)

Revenues from external customers
Investment income

Interest expense

Income tax expense (benefit)

Significant noncash charges (credits)
Depreciation and amortization
Accretion of asset retirement obligations
Deferred and noncurrent income taxes (benefits)

Additions to property, plant and equipment
Total assets at year-end
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Corporate and

Marketing Other Assets Consolidated
$ 2119 $ 168 $ 228.7
$ 30 $ — 3 3.0
$ (4.5) $ 65 $ 2.0
$ 2895 $ 546 $ 3441
$ 4,061.7 $ 2784 $ 4,340.1

Corporate and

Marketing Other Assets Consolidated
$ 7409 $ (68.0) $ 672.9
$ 23,4454 $ 07 $ 23,446.1
$ — 3 30 $ 3.0
$ (9.0) $ (76.3) $ (85.3)
$ 2321 $ (21.2) $ 210.9
$ 2048 $ 156 $ 220.4
$ 27 % — 3 2.7
$ 350 $ (3.5) $ 315
$ 2791 $ 267 $ 305.8
$ 3,7940 $ 3292 $ 4,123.2

Corporate and

Marketing Other Assets Consolidated
$ 4728 $ (75.9) $ 396.9
$ 17,359.9 $ 06 $ 17,360.5
$ — 3 01 $ 0.1
$ 81) $ (74.3) $ (82.4)
$ 1485 $ (235) $ 125.0
$ 1973 $ 153 $ 212.6
$ 25 § — 25
$ 226 $ (3.6) $ 19.0
$ 2455 $ 320 $ 2775
$ 3,569.4 $ 4788 $ 4,048.2
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SCHEDULE Il - VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
Murphy USA Inc.
Valuation Accounts and Reserves

(Millions of dollars)

2023
Deducted from assets accounts
Allowance for doubtful accounts

2022

Deducted from assets accounts
Allowance for doubtful accounts

2021

Deducted from assets accounts
Allowance for doubtful accounts

Charged
Balance at (Credited) to Balance at
January 1, Expense Deductions  December 31,
$ 0.3 1.0 — $ 1.3
$ 0.1 0.2 — 0.3
$ 0.1 — — 0.1
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OUR BOARD OF DIRECTORS

R. Madison Murphy, Chairman

Mr. Murphy has been involved in the energy sector for 40+ years. In addition to his executive leadership in finance, Mr. Murphy has served on the boards of
three other public companies in the energy, banking, and natural resources sectors, chairing one of these boards from 1994 to 2002. His experience in executive
and board leadership positions brings to the Board a unique business and financial perspective.

Executive Committee (Chair) and ex-officio of all Committees

R. Andrew Clyde, Director

As President and CEO, Mr. Clyde has led the operational, cultural, and strategic transformation of Murphy USA since its public inception, leveraging his 20 years
of management consulting experience serving integrated downstream and midstream energy firms, large independent c-store chains and a variety of small-box
retailers on similar engagements. His broad industry knowledge, analogous strategic and transformational experiences and insights into Murphy USA’s
customers and markets make Mr. Clyde a valuable member of our Board.

Executive Committee

Claiborne P. Deming, Director

Mr. Deming brings 40+ years of experience in the energy industry. His time as CEO provides valued insight into the Company’s strategy and operations.

Mr. Deming has served on the boards of two other public companies in the energy sector. He is the former Chair of an advisory committee to the Secretary

of Energy. Mr. Deming has served in an advisory role providing strategic and financial advice to investors, management teams, boards of directors, governmental
bodies, and other professionals and participants in the global energy industry. His deep understanding of the energy sector and strategy strengthens the Board’s
collective knowledge.

Executive Committee and Executive Compensation Committee (Chair)

David L. Goebel, Director

More than 40 years of experience in retail, food service, and hospitality provides Mr. Goebel with vast knowledge that benefits the Board. He brings unique
knowledge from his service in varying capacities as CEO, Board Chair, and director with three well-known, public company restaurant chains, as well as his
service on several private company boards, including QuickChek. His comprehensive experience in food and beverage, supply chain management, risk
assessment, risk management, succession planning, executive development, executive compensation, and strategic planning enables him to share valuable
insights and perspectives.

Audit Committee and Executive Compensation Committee

Fred L. Holliger, Director

Mr. Holliger’s career in the energy industry spans more than four decades in a variety of engineering, marketing, supply, and management positions,
including serving as CEO and Chair of the Board of a publicly traded petroleum refiner and convenience store operator. His broad knowledge of all aspects
of the downstream sector from refining to retail, make Mr. Holliger a unique asset for the Board.

Executive Compensation Committee and Nominating and Governance Committee

James W. Keyes, Director

Mr. Keyes’ executive leadership experience includes serving as CEO of two Fortune 500 companies. While leading 7-Eleven, Inc., he spearheaded the introduction
of fresh foods, built a nationwide network of commissaries, and a daily distribution system for fresh product delivery which resulted in the growth of fresh food
sales to over 20% of product mix. Mr. Keyes currently serves on one other public company board and has served on the boards of numerous private companies.
His industry knowledge and business expertise are invaluable to our Board.

Executive Committee and Executive Compensation Committee

Diane N. Landen, Director

With over 30 years of experience in communications and broadcast property ownership and management, Ms. Landen brings a special set of skills to the Board.
Ms. Landen has been an owner and served on the boards of private companies involved in oil and gas exploration and production and timber. The Board benefits
from her asset management experience and unique insights into communications, media, and natural resources industries.

Audit Committee and Nominating and Governance Committee (Chair)

David B. Miller, Director

Mr. Miller provides expertise in banking and finance. His leadership experience includes serving as Managing Partner of a firm he co-founded that is a leading
provider of private equity capital to the energy industry. In addition to having served on the boards of four publicly traded companies in the energy sector,

Mr. Miller has served on the boards of many private oil/gas exploration and production companies. He is a member of the National Petroleum Council, an
advisory committee to the Secretary of Energy. Mr. Miller’s broad energy industry knowledge and his leadership experience and expertise in business valuation,
capital structure and strategic relationships complement the collective strength and leadership of our Board.

Executive Compensation Committee and Nominating and Governance Committee

Hon. Jeanne L. Phillips, Director

The Honorable Ms. Phillips brings unique experience to the Board in the areas of governmental affairs and public policy having served in varying capacities at the
state, national, and international levels. In addition, as an executive of one of the largest privately-held family companies in the U.S. and its related affiliates, she has
extensive experience in the areas of corporate leadership, media relations, crisis communications, and sustainability which bolsters the Board’s ability to react to an
ever-changing business environment.

Audit Committee and Nominating and Governance Committee

Jack T. Taylor, Director

Mr. Taylor has extensive experience with financial and public accounting issues as well as a deep knowledge of the energy industry. He was a partner of KPMG,
LLP for 29 years. As an executive leader, Mr. Taylor was responsible for the execution of global strategy within all KPMG member firms in North and South
America, encompassing 40,000+ employees and $8B in revenue. He serves on the audit committees of two other publicly traded energy companies, and is Chair
of one of these committees. Mr. Taylor lends considerable expertise to our Board in finance, accounting, and energy matters.

Audit Committee (Chair) and Executive Compensation Committee

Rosemary L. Turner, Director

Ms. Turner has an impressive history in the logistics and distribution industry. She served as president of various UPS divisions applying her strengths of business
development, relationship management and operational stewardship. Ms. Turner has also served as director of two other publicly traded companies that are
leaders in the transport and distribution markets. Through her experience with the Philadelphia Federal Reserve Board and the San Francisco Federal Reserve
Board, which she formerly Chaired in 2021, Ms. Turner has an excellent understanding of the macro economy, state of markets and consumers, and evolving
payment systems. Our Board benefits from her deep experience in supply chain and logistics and finance.

Audit Committee and Nominating and Governance Committee
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